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CORPORATE INFORMATION AND FINANCIAL CALENDAR
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Liu Tingan (resigned on 6 April 2020)

Mr. Cheok Ho Fung

Mr. Shan Yongxin (appointed on 30 August 2019)

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
Mr. Mao Yumin (resigned on 21 August 2019)
Mr. Li Yongjun (Chairman,) (appointed on 30 August 2019)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Ng Man Kung

Mr. Lau Fai Lawrence

Mr. Mak Kwok Kei

COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. Su Zhiyang

AUDITOR

BDO Limited

Certified Public Accountants

25th Floor, Wing On Centre

111 Connaught Road Central
Hong Kong

LEGAL ADVISOR
Chiu & Partners

40th Floor, Jardine House
1 Connaught Place
Central

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Conyers Corporate Services (Bermuda) Limited

Clarendon House, 2 Church Street,
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Bermuda
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BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR AND

TRANSFER OFFICE IN HONG KONG

Tricor Tengis Limited
Level 54, Hopewell Centre
183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong

REGISTERED OFFICE
Clarendon House, 2 Church Street,
Hamilton HM11,

Bermuda

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS
IN HONG KONG

Unit 6812-13, 68th Floor,

The Center, 99 Queen’s Road Central,

Hong Kong

BRANCH OFFICE

1505 Bank of East Asia Harbour View Centre
56 Gloucester Road

Wanchai

Hong Kong

FINANCIAL CALENDAR

Half year results
Announced on 29 August 2019

Full year results
Announced on 27 March 2020

REGISTER OF MEMBERS
To be closed from Wednesday, 17 June 2020 to
Monday, 22 June 2020

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
To be held on Monday, 22 June 2020

DIVIDENDS
Interim : Nil
Final : Nil

COMPANY WEBSITE

www.hkbridge.com.hk
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BUSINESS PROFILE
EBREN

HKBridge Financial Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (together with the Company, the “Group”) are
principally engaged in (a) the manufacture and sales of a broad
range of printed circuit boards (“PCBs”), (b) the carrying out
of treasury investments, including investment in securities and
other related activities, and (c) the rendering of financial services
including asset management, investment and other consultancy
related services.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

ERFRE

Dear Shareholders,

| am pleased to present the annual results of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2019 (the “Year”).

BUSINESS REVIEW

As competition in the market of the manufacturing segment
had been intensified and the sales of PCBs products were
affected by the US-Sino trade war since 2018, the Group
continued to put much effort and resources in developing the
treasury investments and financial services related business,
which included investment in securities, advisory on securities,
asset management and consultancy and corporation solution
related services during the past two years.

For the manufacturing segment, it still operated at a minor
loss for the Year due to reduction in selling price as a result of
excess capacity being created by the US-Sino trade disputes in
the market. The Group has to forego some orders with severe
price reduction in order to secure its profit margin resulting in
reduction of total sales.

For treasury investments and financial services segments, the
financial results unfortunately suffered a significant loss during
the Year caused by (i) the significant reduction in the fair value
of the listed securities held by the Group due to the downturn
of the Hong Kong stock market and the downward share price
performance of the individual listed securities being held and
(ii) the impairment losses arisen as the result of the decrease
in the market value of the treasury investments segment and
financial services segment being affected by the current wide
capital market fluctuations during the Year. Meanwhile, the
regulated activities in Hong Kong and Mainland China, such as
Type 1 (Dealing in Securities), Type 4 (Advising on Securities),
Type 6 (Advising on Corporate Finance) and Type 9 (Asset
Management) under section 127(1) of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (Chapter 571, Laws of Hong Kong) (“SFO"), and the
restructuring business are full of complexity and too challenging
to develop the business.
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Chairman’s Statement

ERRE

OUTLOOK AND PROSPECTS

It is believed that the PCB market price is still under pressure
for the year 2020 with the imminent global economic downturn
due to the recent situation of the outbreak of Coronavirus
Disease 2019 (“COVID-19 outbreak”), resulting in a decrease
in the demand for PCBs and worsened by the excess capacity.
The Group will continue to improve its performance so as to
face this challenge.

Surrounded by the unstable investment environment and
financial market, the board (“Board”) of directors ("Directors”)
and the management of the Company considered that
the Group should concentrate more on improving the risk
management and control and compliance management in
relation to the inflow of sustainable returns while exploring the
opportunities in assets management and other financial services
related businesses, and also on enhancing the recoverability
of the transactions and maintaining the sufficient level of cash
flow.

Following the strategic upgrade and the implementation of
new strategic plan due to the change in major shareholders
of the Company (“Shareholders”), the Group has been
actively diversifying its business and will continue to better
utilize its available resources to develop and upgrade the
traditional manufacturing business in PCBs, to maintain the
treasury investment and financial services, and to explore
the scope of business for identifying new investment and
business development opportunities, such as, but not limited
to, the broad application of artificial intelligence technology in
telecommunications, the construction of intelligent cities and
financial technology.
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Chairman’s Statement

ER®RE

As part of building up the new brand name and corporate
image of the Group, the Company proposed to change its
name from “HKBridge Financial Holdings Limited” to “Renco
Holdings Group Limited”. The Group’s management believed
that it will enhance the identification and recognition of its
current business activities and future development with a clearer
and suitable corporate identity and image, in alignment with
the Group's long-term strategic targets. Due to the COVID-19
outbreak, the Company had convened the special general
meeting on 10 February 2020 to adjourn the said meeting to
a date, time and venue to be determined by the Board in due
course to, among other matters, adopt the new name and the
new Bye-laws of the Company.

APPRECIATION

I would like to express on behalf of the Board, my sincere
appreciation to the management team and all staff for their
dedication and commitment to make valuable contributions to
the Group during the Year and to thank all our Shareholders,
business partners and customers for their continuous support.
With our combined efforts, we are looking forward to
overcoming all those challenges and to achieving the Group’s
success in the years to come.

Liu Tingan
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 27 March 2020
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEEN W N2

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

For the Year, the Group recorded a total revenue of HK$208.94
million, representing a decrease of approximately 46.27% as
compared with the total revenue of HK$388.89 million for the
corresponding year in 2018. Such a decrease in revenue was
mainly due to realised and unrealised fair value losses of listed
securities incurred by treasury investments segment of the
Group and decrease of revenue from financial services segment.
The total revenue of the Group for the Year represented by
the manufacturing segment and financial services amounted
to HK$425.09 million (2018: HK$513.47 million) and HK$Nil
million (2018: HK$82.83 million), respectively. The loss for the
treasury investments segment was HK$216.15 million (2018:
HK$207.41 million).

Loss before income tax for the Year reported a net loss of
approximately HK$602.60 million (2018: HK$509.58 million),
which was mainly attributable to the realised and unrealised fair
value losses on financial investments held for trading through
profit or loss (“FVTPL") of approximately HK$228.44 million
and HK$137.58 million respectively and impairment loss on
trade receivables, other receivables, loan receivables and note
receivables of HK$185.38 million in total.

Loss attributable to owners of the Company for the Year
amounted to approximately HK$658.62 million, as compared
with the loss attributable to owners of the Company of
approximately HK$427.67 million for the corresponding year
in 2018. Basic loss per share attributable to owners of the
Company for the Year was approximately 29.83 Hong Kong
cents, as compared with the basic loss per share of 19.39 Hong
Kong cents for the corresponding year in 2018.
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FINAL DIVIDENDS

BUSINESS REVIEW

1 v ﬁ.
| L Management Discussion and Analysis
BEEN R RN
REIRE
The Board has resolved not to recommend any declaration of ZBEEZEEHARTEZZMAFEES R RKIARKE
final dividend payment for the Year (2018: HK$Nil). NRER(ZE—NEF:TFT) -
e AE)

Manufacturing business

During the Year, the principal business of the Group's
manufacturing segment remained unchanged and was involved
in the manufacture and sale of a wide range of PCBs.

Compared to the revenue for the year of 2018, the sales of
goods in the Group’s manufacturing segment decreased by
approximately 17.21% from approximately HK$513.47 million
in 2018 to approximately HK$425.09 million in 2019 whereas its
gross profit margin decreased from 11.26% in 2018 to 8.72%
in 2019.

Treasury investments

During the Year, the Group’s treasury investment team
continued to make effective use of its available financial
resources in monitoring and making investment/disposal on a
wide variety of financial assets including investments in listed
and unlisted equities and debt securities, investment in funds,
and the provision of financial assistance to independent third
parties.

For the Year, the Group’s treasury investment segment recorded
a loss of approximately HK$442.80 million in the form of
realised and unrealised fair value losses and interest income.
The substantial fair value losses arising from the adverse
market price changes of listed securities held by the Group was
mainly due to the downturn of the Hong Kong stock market
and the downward share price performance of the individual
listed securities during the Year. The impairment losses arisen
as a result of the increase in credit-impaired receivables of the
treasury investment segment.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEEN R LD

Financial services

The Group currently has obtained the licenses to conduct
Type 1 (Dealing in Securities), Type 4 (Advising on Securities),
Type 6 (Advising on Corporate Finance) and Type 9 (Asset
Management) under section 127(1) of the SFO and to
participate in the debt, asset and shareholding restructuring
business in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC").

Asset management

During the Year, the Group continued to act as general partner
of several offshore private funds launched by the Group
which were related to investments under the concept of One
Belt One Road (the "OBOR"). Besides, the Group has set up
several offshore private funds (the “HKBridge Funds”) for
investments in listed equity security investments and unlisted
debt investments.

Up to 31 December 2019, the Group made a total sum of
contributions of approximately HK$1.56 billion to some of the
funds. Out of the total of 14 investment funds established by
the Group during the years of 2017 and 2018, 9 were related
to OBOR and 5 were related to HKBridge Funds, the aggregated
amount of assets under management was approximately
HK$4.11 billion.

The Group gradually started to build its credential in the asset
management business and established a solid foundation for
further development in the years to come.

Investment, consultancy and corporation solution services
For investment, consultancy and corporation solution services,
the Group built up a professional team with investment banking
and corporate finance experience and exposures in order to
improve the efficiency and quality of services.

During the Year, the Group did not engage in any consultancy

and corporate solution services due to the current capital market
fluctuations.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EIR B R

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Liquidity and Financial Resources

The Group generally finances its operations through a
combination of internally generated cash flows, shareholders’
equity and borrowings from banks and the independent third
parties.

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had total equity of
approximately HK$2,178.78 million (31 December 2018:
HK$2,846.15 million) and net debts (trade payables, other
payables and accruals, loans from Directors, and borrowings
less bank balances and deposits) of approximately HK$2,058.60
million (31 December 2018: HK$2,027.67 million), representing
a gearing ratio, defined as net debts over total equity plus net

debts, of 48.58% (31 December 2018: 41.60%).

The Group's net current assets of approximately HK$1,851.53
million (31 December 2018: HK$1,129.24 million) consisted
of current assets of approximately HK$3,493.48 million (31
December 2018: HK$2,988.01 million) and current liabilities
of approximately HK$1,641.95 million (31 December 2018:
HK$1,858.77 million), representing a current ratio of 2.13 (31
December 2018: 1.61).

As at 31 December 2019, the Group’s current assets consisted
of approximately HK$19.45 million (31 December 2018:
HK$134.03 million) held as bank balances and deposits, which
were mainly denominated in HK$ and RMB.

The Group’'s manufacturing segment’'s current assets also
consisted of approximately HK$109.09 million (31 December
2018: HK$107.59 million) as trade receivables. Debtors turnover
days was 94 days (31 December 2018: 77 days).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEEN R LD

The Group's inventories decreased from approximately
HK$57.94 million as at 31 December 2018 to approximately
HK$56.34 million as at 31 December 2019. Inventory turnover
days in the Group’s manufacturing segment was 53 days (31
December 2018: 46 days). Trade payables decreased from
approximately HK$131.14 million as at 31 December 2018 to
approximately HK$113.32 million as at 31 December 2019.
Creditors turnover days was approximately 107 days (31
December 2018: 105 days).

Interest-bearing Borrowings

The bank loans were secured by certain buildings and right-
of-use asset related to leasehold land, corporate guarantee of
the Company and personal guarantee of a Director during the
Year. As at 31 December 2019, bank loans of approximately
HK$139.37 million (31 December 2018: HK$120.05 million)
carried fixed interest rates ranging from 2.58% to 4.35% per
annum (31 December 2018: 1.00% to 4.35% per annum).

As at 31 December 2019, other loans with independent third
parties amounting to approximately HK$640.00 million (31
December 2018: HK$890.00 million) were unsecured, interest-
bearing at a rate of 3% per annum (31 December 2018: 3% to
7.5% per annum) and repayable within the next twelve months
(31 December 2018: HK$450,000,000 and HK$440,000,000 of
which are repayable within the next twelve months and within
the next 2 years respectively). The remaining balance of other
loans was secured by equity interests in certain subsidiaries of
the Group’s manufacturing segment and other security and
guarantee, bearing interest at a rate of 5% to 8% per annum
(31 December 2018: 5% per annum) and HK$188,889,000 and
HK$660,000,000 of which are repayable within the next twelve
months and within the next 3 years respectively.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EIR B R

Apart from the secured borrowings described above, there were
loans advanced by Mr. Cheok Ho Fung, an executive Director
("Mr. Cheok"”) of HK$90.05 million at an effective interest rate
of 7% per annum (2018: 7% per annum). The maturity date of
the aforesaid loans was 2 January 2019 which has been expired
without a new loan agreement. The loan is now repayable on
demand and is subject to mutual negotiation for extension
and repayment terms and conditions in the foreseeable future.
Furthermore, there was another loan advanced by Mr. Liu
Tingan (“Mr. Liu”), a former executive Director, of HK$1.00
million which is non-interest bearing and has no fixed terms
of repayment. The financial assistances provided by Mr. Cheok
and Mr. Liu were connected transactions under Chapter
14A of the Rules (“Listing Rules”) Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”). However, they are fully exempted from
the reporting, announcement and independent shareholders’
approval requirements pursuant to the Listing Rules.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

As at 31 December 2019, the Group held financial assets at
FVTPL of approximately HK$333.86 million of which the club
debenture of HK$4.27 million was classified as non-current
assets and the listed equity investments of HK$329.59 million
was classified as current assets in the Consolidated Statement of
Financial Position of the Group.
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EERBGERBZVBEDBEEBR AR S
FTERAR ([BX])EH LA (LS
RADBUAZE T ZBER S - AT - BiRIE
FTHRAEEZEARERETHR 2 ERBILR
BHLEZRTE -

BEAKRE
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Subscription of Interest in Funds RBEES o
Listed below are the particulars of the Group’s major unlisted TXHJVAEEZETEBIFLIMESKREZHF
fund investments: 15

Approximate

Cost/ percentage of Fair value
Fair value Subscribe/ Fair value investments  Return for the  (loss)/gain for
as at (Disposal) as at attributable year ended  the year ended
1 January during 31 December  to the Group's 31 December 31 December
Name of unlisted funds Notes  Location 2019 the year 2019 total assets 2019 %019
E3
ZB-nE
BE +ZAZt-8
R=Z-N§ RZB-1%  REGLEE ZE-nE LEEZ
-B-Az AFERHE/ +-B=1-8 §E@Ez t=B=t-H AVHE
FLTESER Mt #E BA/ATE (HE) ZATE BREAN  LEEZER  (BB) /K&
(HK$'000) (HK$000) (HK$'000) (HK$'000) (HK$'000)
(F%7) (F%7) (F#7) (F%7) (F%7)
Partners Special Opportunities Fund | (@) Cayman Islands 207,187 (171,465) N/A N/A - (35,722)
(the "Partners Fund")
Partners Special Opportunities Fund | @ FHEHE 207,187 (171,465) TEA TER - (35,722)
([EXE2])
Huarong International Fortune () Cayman Islands - - - 0.00% - -
Innovation LP (the “Huarong Fund")
Huarong International Fortune b FEES - - - 0.00% - -
Innovation LP ([E&E%])
Hong Kong Bridge One Belt One Road ¢/  Cayman Islands 595,000 (632,955) N/A N/A N/A 37,955
Natural Resource Fund LP
(the “Natural Resource Fund")
Hong Kong Bridge One Belt One Road © FHEES 595,000 (632,955) TER TER TER 37,955
Natural Resource Fund LP
([EAERER])
Hong Kong Bridge One Belt One Road (@  Cayman Islands 595,000 (630,057) N/A N/A N/A 35,057
Fixed Income Fund LP
(the “Fixed Income Fund")
Hong Kong Bridge One Belt One Road @ HEES 595,000 (630,057) TER TER TER 35,057
Fixed Income Fund LP
([EEhuES])
14 HKBridge Financial Holdings Limited Annual Report 2019
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Partners Fund

On 25 January 2017, the Group contributed HK$200
million into the Partners Fund. The Partners Fund is
managed by Grand Highlight Investments Limited
(Partners Investment Management Limited tendered its
resignation as the manager of the Partners Fund with
effect from 4 September 2019), with the objective of
generating long term capital appreciation for its investors.
The subscription of the Partners Fund constituted a
disclosable transaction under Chapter 14 of the Listing
Rules and further details of which were set out in the
Company’s announcements dated 25 January 2017 and
22 October 2019 respectively.

According to the placing memorandum of the Partners
Fund, the investment objective of the Partner Fund
is to generate long term capital appreciation for its
shareholders and the Partners Fund will seek to achieve
its investment objective primarily by investing in debt
securities or equity securities of both private and listed
companies in Hong Kong or elsewhere or in such other
financial instruments as the investment adviser(s) may
determine. The Group received the cumulated return
from Partners Fund of HK$36,000,000 as at 31 December
2019.

With reference to the investment objectives of the
Partners Fund and the extensive experience and skills of
the directors of the Partners Fund and the manager, the
Board believes that the subscription of the Partners Fund
will enable the Group to capture investment opportunities
and further diversify the Group’s investment portfolio.
The subscription is also in alignment with the Group's
expansion plan on carrying out financial investments
by investing in high yield equity and debt products to
maximise the long-term investment return of the Group.
During the Year, the Group obtained joint control of the
Partners Fund. The Partners Fund has been transferred to
“Investments in joint ventures” since then.

(a)
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Huarong Fund

On 10 April 2017, the Group contributed HK$340
million in Huarong Fund as one of the limited partners.
Huarong Fund is managed by Huarong International
Capital Limited, an exempted company incorporated in
the Cayman Islands with limited liability. The net proceeds
raised by Huarong Fund were used to acquire not more
than HK$2.23 billion of shares in Fullshare Holdings
Limited, a company of which the shares are listed on the
Stock Exchange (HKSE Stock Code: 607), and such other
assets with mutual consent by all limited partners of
Huarong Fund. The contributions made to Huarong Fund
constituted a disclosable transaction under Chapter 14 of
the Listing Rules and further details of which were set out
in the Company’s announcements dated 23 December
2016, 8 December 2017, 11 December 2017, 26 March
2018, 3 July 2018, 2 October 2018, 3 January 2019, 16
August 2019 and 22 October 2019 respectively.

Pursuant to a share charge agreement entered into on 22
March 2017 with two chargers which are independent
parties of the Group, 69,120,000 Zall Shares (as
defined below) were provided in favour of the Group's
subscription of interest in Huarong Fund as security for
the full and punctual performance of all the secured
liabilities. The Group recognised the fair value of Zall
Shares of HK$293,000,000 as derivative financial asset as
at 31 December 2018.

As at 31 December 2019, with reference to the
substantial fair value losses arising from the adverse
market price changes of the listed securities held by
Huarong Fund, the fair value of the investment in
Huarong Fund was zero (31 December 2018: zero) if the
distribution net sale proceeds of the Huarong Fund was
calculated.

The Group is in the process of litigation in connection
with the Huarong Fund. Further announcement(s) will be
published regarding any significant developments on the
litigation as and when appropriate.

HKBridge Financial Holdings Limited Annual Report 2019
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Natural Resource Fund

On 14 May 2017 and 12 March 2018, the Group
contributed HK$220 million and HK$375 million
respectively in Natural Resource Fund, while the Group
also acted as the general partner of the Natural Resource
Fund, as the second-tier limited partners. Further
details of the Natural Resource Fund were set out in
the Company’s announcements dated 14 May 2017, 12
March 2018 and 22 October 2019 respectively.

According to the Amended and Restated Limited
Partnership Agreement of the Natural Resource Fund,
the primary purpose of the Natural Resource Fund is
to achieve long-term capital appreciation, principally
through investing in equity, equity-related investments,
fixed income securities, debt instruments and loans in
connection with energy, mining or agricultural businesses,
or infrastructure relating to any of the foregoing.

On 16 May 2019, all parties of the Natural Resource Fund
entered into a memorandum of understanding to agree
that the first-tier limited partner has withdrawn from the
partnership and have no further or continuing interests
in the partnership upon receipt of all contributions and
returns on 29 March 2019. Under such circumstances
and according to the accounting policy of the Group,
the investment in Natural Resource Fund shall be
derecognized from financial assets at FVTPL and its assets,
liabilities and results have been consolidated to the Group
since then.

With reference to the investment objectives of the
Natural Resource Fund, the general partner continues to
look for a new first-tier limited partner to expand the
fund investing activities. The Board considers that all the
subscription of interests in the Natural Resource Fund
were beneficial to the Group and its shareholders as a
whole, by generating the returns from medium to long
term investments and to enhance the experience of assets
management in the coming years.

(c)
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Fixed Income Fund

On 14 May 2017 and 12 March 2018, the Group
contributed HK$220 million and HK$375 million
respectively in Fixed Income Fund, while the Group also
acted as the general partner of the Fixed Income Fund,
as the second-tier limited partners. Further details of
the Fixed Income Fund were set out in the Company's
announcements dated 14 May 2017, 12 March 2018 and
22 October 2019 respectively.

According to the Amended and Restated Limited
Partnership Agreement of the Fixed Income Fund, the
primary purpose of the Fixed Income Fund is to achieve
long-term capital appreciation, principally through
investing in fixed income securities, debt instruments
and loans, including without limitation loans, convertible
bonds, fixed income securities, money market, convertible
securities.

On 16 May 2019, all parties of the Fixed Income Fund
entered into a memorandum of understanding to agree
that the first-tier limited partner has withdrawn from the
partnership and have no further or continuing interests
in the partnership upon receipt of all contributions and
returns on 29 March 2019. Under such circumstances
and according to the accounting policy of the Group, the
investment in Fixed Income Fund shall be derecognized
from financial assets at FVTPL and its assets, liabilities and
results have been consolidated to the Group since then.

With reference to the investment objectives of the Fixed
Income Fund, the general partner continues to look for a
new first-tier limited partner to expand the fund investing
activities. The Board considers that all the subscription
of interests in the Fixed Income Fund was beneficial to
the Group and its shareholders as a whole, by generating
the returns from medium to long term investments and
to enhance the experience of assets management in the
coming years.
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Subscription of Listed Securities

Listed below are the particulars of the Group’s major listed

equity investment:

ALY
F o BaD
Management Discussion and Analysis
Y IR DT
‘J.
RBELTERS

TXHIIARE 2T Z FTHBRERE 2FE

As at 31 December 2019

For the year ended
31 December 2019

R=Z-h%t=B=1-H BE-E-hET-A=1-BLEE
Approximate
Cost/ percentage of
Fair value investments
Approximate as at attributable
Number of  percentage of 1 January Market Market  to the Group's Dividend Disposal Fair value
Name of investees Notes shares interest held 2019 prices value total assets received loss loss
RZB-hE REMEREE
fisERE -f-82 EEAE
RREAAEE Wi Ke#E ZENESE  AA/ATE mfE i ZBNED BRRE LEEE  ATEER
(HK$000) (HK$000) (HK$ 000) (HK$000) (HK$000)
(FET) (F/E7) (FET) (F#T) (FET)
SuperRobotics Limited
(HKSE Stock Code: 8176)
("SuperRobotics”)
(the "SuperRobotics Shares Batch 1) (e} 64,148,063 12.67% 186,029 2.90 186,029 4.14% N/A N/A N/A
BABRERAA (FERRARGRSR:
8176) ([BAZ#])
([E-HBARERR]) G} 64,148,063 12.67% 186,029 2.90 186,029 4.14% TER TR il
SuperRobotics Limited
(HKSE Stock Code: 8176)
("SuperRobotics Shares Batch 2") ) 41,666,666 8.23% 250,000 2.90 120,833 2.69% N/A N/A (129,167)
BABRERAT
(ERBIARARE:8176)
([E-HBARERR]) Ui 41,666,666 8.23% 250,000 2.90 120,833 2.69% TER TR (129,167)
Huarong Investment Stock
Corporation Limited
(HKSE Stock Code: 2277)
("Huarong”) 9 84,170,000 4.63% 31,143 0.27 22,726 0.51% N/A N/A (8,417)
ERRERMARLA
(BRBIARARSE: 277)
(I£8)) [ 84,170,000 4.63% 31,143 027 22,726 0.51% TR TR (8,417)
Crown International Corporation Limited
(HKSE Stock Code: 727) ("Crown”) ) 60,000,000 1.75% 51,600 N/A N/A N/A N/A (3,600) N/A
ERRREBERAT
(BERBIHARARE:727)
([2E)) () 60,000,000 1.75% 51,600 T@ER @R @R i (3,600 i
Zall Smart Commerce Group Limited
(HKSE Stock Code: 2098) ("Zall") b)&() 69,120,000 0.59% 293,000 N/A N/A N/A N/A (224,839) N/A
EREREEARLT
(BRBIARARE:2098)
(18] B R 69,120,000 0.59% 293,000 TER TER TER TER (224,839) TER
—E-AEFH EAEERMERARLE 19
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Absolute Return Fund

On 6 December 2019, the Group entered into a deed
of adherence and assignment, pursuant to which the
Group acquired the interest of 75% of HKBridge Absolute
Return Fund, L.P. (the “Absolute Return Fund”) at the
consideration of HK$160,000,000 to become one of
the limited partners, while the Group also acted as the
general partner and manager of the Absolute Return
Fund. The fair value of SuperRobotics Shares Batch 1
being asset/portfolio investment under the Absolute
Return Fund at the date of acquisition amounted to
HK$186,029,000. Further details of the Absolute Return
Fund were set out in the Company’s announcement
dated 6 December 2019. The Absolute Return Fund has
become a subsidiary of the Group since 6 December
2019.

The Absolute Return Fund’s investment objective is to
generate returns by investing all or substantially all its
assets in equity securities of portfolio companies in the
industry of in-flight wireless network engineering and
services with their main business in Hong Kong (the
"Portfolio Investment”). The Absolute Return Fund
may choose to invest all or substantially all of its assets
in a single investment. It is therefore possible that the
underlying investments of the Portfolio Investment will be
concentrated.

With reference to the investment objectives of the
Absolute Return Fund, the Absolute Return Fund
currently holds the Portfolio Investment in relation to the
broad application of artificial intelligence technology in
telecommunications and the construction of intelligent
cities. The general partner and manager are continuing to
research on the industry of high and new technology to
expand the fund investing activities. The Board considers
that the subscription of interests in the Absolute Return
Fund was beneficial to the Group and its shareholders as
a whole, by generating the returns from medium to long
term investments and to enhance the experience of assets
management in the coming years.

HKBridge Financial Holdings Limited Annual Report 2019

(e)

BHOHEEE

RZE—NF+_A B xXEBF]
VETRBERZE Bt ~A5EK
K {&160,000,000/% T Y B HKBridge
Absolute Return Fund, L.P. (4B %@ %R
HE ) 275%Em UKABREE A
Z— MAEBENETEERFES 2T

BERBAFRLEIE - RIIEBE it
ABgRD (EARYHRREASE N ZE
E/HAERE) 2N F1EA186,029,000
B -EHBRHEIRES 2 E—TFHB
HRAARRBPAE-ZTE—NFE+_AN
BzR&E -BEEFRESCEE T —NF
‘f’_ﬂ/\aﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁzwg/&ﬁ"

BUOBES I REBRE/BEBHESR
MABABOEERERNRITERBE
TERERBTERZREEG AR (EX
REBLUREE) ([HERE]) ZBA

é’*#?i@%& CBHEIHME D AEEGH
EHMRBARBDEERENE—RE-H

U:t CHERE ZHBRERERERT -

K2EBHERES CREBE B0
FEC BRI AEARE EBEEALE
ERIBRBENMRERESERM 2 EZE
A-EBABARKIETEENESTR
ﬁq%% NEAESKRETH -EFER
B REBBYELORES 2SN ARE
FERPRAKEDRLNLEEEEEE
R HMEAEERERRERMS
B Ho

:mL\ fidig



(f)

Management Discussion and Analysis

EIR B R

SuperRobotics Shares Batch 2

On 23 November 2016, the Group agreed to enter
into a placing letter with a placing agent, pursuant to
which, among others, the Group (i) subscribed for a
total number of 35,416,666 shares (“SuperRobotics
Shares”) in SuperRobotics at a subscription price of
HK$4.80 each, of which its shares are listed on the GEM
of the Stock Exchange (HKSE Stock Code: 8176) and (ii)
acquired 6,250,000 SuperRobotics Shares from New Cove
Limited (a then substantial shareholder of SuperRobotics)
at a purchase price of HK$4.80 each. On 5 December
and 14 December 2016, the above two transactions
were completed respectively, and a total consideration of
approximately HK$200.0 million (exclusive of stamp duty,
trading fees, transaction levies and brokerage) was paid
out by the Group. Further details of the subscription and
acquisition of SuperRobotics Shares Batch 2 were set out
in the Company’s announcement dated 23 November
2016.

The principal activities of SuperRobotics are the provision
of engineering products and related services and the sales
of beauty products and provision of therapy services.

The Board noted that the robust development of the
robotic industry in the PRC represents an enormous
potential for market expansion for SuperRobotics in the
future. The construction of intelligent cities has been in
full swing based upon the artificial intelligent technology.
The wide application of intelligent robotics covers from
police use to various aspects such as services and security.
The investment team of the Group considered that the
long-term investment in SuperRobotics would generate
the returns to the Group after the realization and the
large-scale expansion of the use of relevant technologies
in the future.

(f)
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Huarong Shares

On 8 December 2017, the Group acquired a total
number of 88,000,000 shares (“Huarong Shares”) in
Huarong (whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange
(HKSE Stock Code: 2277)) through a broker from an
independent third party at a price of HK$0.90 per
share. The total consideration of HK$79.20 million for
the acquisition of Huarong Shares was financed by the
net proceeds received from the exercise of a put option
during 2017. On 5 February 2018 and 6 February 2018,
the Group further acquired a total of 2,600,000 Huarong
Shares at the average price of HK$1.32 per share through
a broker from an independent third party. Further details
of the acquisition in 2017 were set out in the Company's
announcement dated 8 December 2017.

The principal activities of Huarong are direct investments,
financial services and others and foundation and
substructure construction services.

Due to the unexpected continuing downturn share
price performance of Huarong, the Group’s investment
team decided to minimise the continuing unrealised
losses by completing the disposal of a total number of
6,430,000 Huarong Shares through a broker at the total
consideration of approximately HK$3.35 million during
the year of 2018.

The Board noted that Huarong generated a stable
revenue from direct investment and financial services
but suffered significant impairment losses in financial
investments. The investment team of the Group
considered that the core business operation of Huarong
would be improved in the future.
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Crown Shares

On 28 December 2017, the Group acquired a total
number of 80,000,000 shares (“Crown Shares”) in
Crown (whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange
(HKSE Stock Code: 727)) from an independent third party
at the total consideration of HK$70.00 million. Such
acquisition did not constitute a notifiable transaction on
the part of the Company pursuant to Chapter 14 of the
Listing Rules. On the same date, the Group entered into a
put option arrangement pursuant to which the grantor of
the put option agreed to purchase the Crown Shares from
the Group at a predetermined agreed exercise price.

The principal activities of Crown are investment in
property, property development, hotel operations, and
financial consultancy services in the PRC.

During the years of 2018 and 2019, the Group decided to
minimise the continuing unrealised losses by completing
the disposal of all 80,000,000 Crown Shares to recover
the total amount of HK$70.00 million. The Group has
received the amount of the abovesaid consideration and
ceased to have interest in Crown Shares since January
2019.
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Zall Shares

Shares of Zall (“Zall Shares”) are the pledged securities
in favour of the Group as security of the Group’s
investment in Huarong Fund.

The principal activities of Zall are the business in
constructing and operating B2B trading platforms for
consumer goods, agricultural products, chemicals, plastic
raw materials, black and nonferrous metals, etc.,
provide services such as finance, property, logistics, cross-
border trading and supply chain management based
on the trading scenario and transaction data, and also
to develop and operate large-scale, consumer product
focused wholesale shopping malls.

and to

During the Year, the Board continued to evaluate the
risk of the recoverability of the principal amount of
the investment. To minimize the loss of investment in
Huarong Fund, the Group has disposed of all 69,120,000
Zall Shares through a broker for HK$68,324,451 during
the Year.

HKBridge Financial Holdings Limited Annual Report 2019

(i)

EER G

SRz ([FERE ) RUALAKES
R AZERES (FRAKERENE
BES 2B

ERZIEEBRERLELHEM
REmM LT -ZHRVE BEREE
TEEBBRHFE  WERNKHIHRM
REOBBERESH VE DR BRE
SREEBEBRERY  TERLKE
AESHERNPLERSER-

RAFE EFCREFTERERERS
BZER - RTREFNLHERES 2R
BRA AEERAFEDEBRLLIA
68,324,4518 JT i & 2 #669,120,000A%
SRR



b
Management Discussion and Analysis

EIR B R

PROVISION OF FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE

During the Year, the Group also engaged in the provision of
financial assistance to some independent third parties. As at 31
December 2019, the total outstanding receivables in relation to
this activity amounted to approximately HK$2,548.93 million (31
December 2018: HK$1,441.40 million) and those transactions
that were summarised below were relatively significant to the
Group at the time of entering into the relevant agreements
between the Group and those relevant independent third parties
respectively.

Zhanjiang Advance

On 22 March 2017, the Group entered into a loan facility
agreement with BT & F i ZERZE AR 2R (“Zhanjiang
Borrower"”) and the guarantors for the provision of a loan
facility of not more than RMB200 million (“Loan Facility”).
Details in relation to the provision of financial assistance was
sent out in the Company’s announcement dated 22 March
2017.

Due to the default of repayment and failure of the negotiation
for the settlement of the Loan Facility, the Group filed
a statement of claims (#&F7X) on 30 June 2019 at the
Intermediate People’s Court of Shaoguan AR ™+ # A RIAR
(“Shaoguan Court”) against the Zhanjiang Borrower and the
guarantors to claim for the principal amount of the Loan Facility
of RMB200.00 million and the interest accrued which remained
outstanding amounted to approximately RMB60.75 million as
at 30 June 2019. Subsequent to the filing, the Group received
a notice of acceptance for litigation proceedings ( 5 32 £ {4 3@
HE ) issued by Shaoguan Court on 16 July 2019. On 24 July
2019, the Group paid the required litigation fee to Shaoguan
Court to confirm the first hearing of the said litigation
proceedings which was originally scheduled to be held on 20
August 2019, but was adjourned to be held on 14 January
2020. Details in relation to the legal proceedings was set out in
the Company’s announcement dated 25 July 2019.
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On 2 February 2020, the Group was informed by Shaoguan
Court that the date of the first hearing of the said litigation
proceedings was adjourned to a date and time to be determined
in due course due to the COVID-19 outbreak.

The Group has already taken legal actions in order to
claim against the assets of the Zhanjiang Borrower and the
guarantors, and will also continue to consult with PRC legal
advisors for further legal actions. Further announcement(s) will
be made regarding any significant developments on the above
litigation as and when appropriate.

Weihai Advance

On 16 August 2017, the Group and a lending agent entered
into the entrusted loan agreement pursuant to which the Group
agreed to grant the entrusted loan to Weihai Guosheng Runhe
Property Development Co. Ltd. (EI/SEBBBEREEARAA)
("Weihai Borrower”), a company established in the PRC with
limited liability for the amount of RMB150 million for a term
of two years, which carried an expected rate of return of 18%
per annum. The provision of financial assistance to the Weihai
Borrower constituted a disclosable transaction under Chapter 14
of the Listing Rules and further details of which were set out in
the Company’s announcement dated 16 August 2017.

On 8 January 2019, the Group had fully received the principal

amount of RMB150 million and all accrued interest from Weihai
Borrower.
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Zhonghong Advance

On 25 January 2018, the Group entered into a loan agreement
with Zhonghong Holding Co., Ltd. (the “Zhonghong
Borrower”) in the amount of RMB200 million (“Zhonghong
Advance”). To secure the recovery of the principal amount of
the provision of financial assistance and to reduce the risk of
impairment loss, on 13 September 2018, the Group filed an
application for arbitration proceedings at the Shenzhen Court
of International Arbitration (the “SCIA") against Zhonghong
Borrower and the relevant guarantors for the breach of the
supplemental agreements and the guarantee agreement dated
3 September 2018. On 18 September 2018, the Group received
the notice of acceptance for arbitration proceedings issued by
the SCIA. Further details of the Zhonghong Advance in relation
to the provision of financial assistance and the abovesaid
developments on the arbitrations were set out in the Company’s
announcements dated 13 February 2018, 19 March 2018, 25
May 2018, 6 September 2018, 20 September 2018 and 3 May
2019 respectively.

The Group will continue to consult with PRC legal advisors
for further legal actions against Zhonghong Borrower and
the relevant guarantors. Further announcement(s) will be
made regarding any significant developments on the above
arbitrations as and when appropriate.

Meanwhile, in order to increase the recoverability of the
Zhonghong Advance, the Group has been exploring potential
buyers or property developers with high reputation during the
past two years to set up the restructuring arrangement between
Zhonghong Borrower and existing creditors of Zhonghong
Borrower.
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FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

Sales of the Group's products in manufacturing segment are
principally denominated in US dollars and the purchases of
materials and payments of operational expenses are mainly
denominated in US dollars, HK dollars and RMB. Most of
the Group’s purchases and expenses during the Year are
denominated in RMB. As such, the Group had incurred a net
exchange gain of HK$3.13 million for the Year (2018: loss of
HK$6.72 million) due to the depreciation of RMB.

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had not entered into any
financial instruments for hedging purpose. Nevertheless, the
Board will continue to monitor foreign exchange exposure in
the future and will consider hedging such exposure to minimise
exchange risk should the need arise.

RISK AND UNCERTAINTIES

Macroeconomic Risk

The Group is operating in a highly competitive business
and economic environment, the manufacturing segment in
particular. Manufacturing segment is in a turmoil, being greatly
affected by the recent Sino-US trade war and its customers
which are highly volatile, combined with the rising labour and
production costs. The Group’s manufacturing segment has to
compete with its competitors on various factors such as product
variety, product performance, customer service, quality, pricing,
new product innovation, timely delivery and brand recognition.

On the other hand, volatility in the Hong Kong securities
market may affect the Group’s performance on listed securities
investments resulting in fluctuations in unrealised fair value
gains or losses. An interest rate hike is likely and will not
only affect the Group’s cost of borrowings, but also costs of
purchase of materials.
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Credit Risk

The Group has policies in place to ensure that sales are made
and services are provided to customers with an appropriate
credit history. The Group mainly trades with recognised and
creditworthy third parties. It is the Group’s policy that credit
terms are granted subject to in-depth credit verification
procedures. In addition, trade receivable balances are
monitored on an ongoing basis and trade receivable balances
of manufacturing segment are substantially covered by credit
insurance. In this regard, the management team considers
that the Group’s credit risk under the manufacturing segment
is minimal. Since the Group mainly trades with recognised
and creditworthy third parties, there is no requirement for
collaterals.

In respect of loans to associates, loan receivables and note
receivables, the Group assesses the background and financial
conditions of the debtors, and requests securities pledged from
the debtors and/or guarantee as collaterals from the debtors’
related parties in order to minimise credit risk.

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk, which will cause
a financial loss to the Group due to the failure to perform
an obligation by the counterparties arising from the carrying
amount of the respective recognised financial assets, was stated
in the consolidated statement of financial position of the Group
as at 31 December 2019.

Foreign Currency Risk

As the PCBs business is operating in the PRC, the Company
faces foreign currency risks due to the exchange gain/loss from
exchange rate fluctuations as well as the currency conversion
risk due to converted net asset value fluctuations of investment
projects in the PRC. To effectively manage the foreign currency
risk, the Company closely monitors foreign exchange markets
and utilises multiple strategic approaches, such as optimising
cash management strategy and deploying project finance
instruments, to contain foreign exchange risk.
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NUMBER AND REMUNERATION OF EMPLOYEES
As at 31 December 2019, excluding those employed by the
Company’s associates, the Group had 1,183 employees (31
December 2018: 1,353 employees). For the Year, our total staff
costs amounted to HK$149.25 million (31 December 2018:
HK$182.52 million).

Under the Group’s remuneration policy, employees are rewarded
in line with market rate and in compliance with statutory
requirements of all jurisdictions where it operates. Employees
are also granted discretionary bonus subject to the individual’s
performance and business results of the Group.

The Group follows a policy of encouraging its subsidiaries to
send their staff to attend training classes or seminars that are
related directly or indirectly to the Group’s businesses.

SHARE AWARD SCHEME

On 17 May 2016, the Company adopted a share award scheme
(the “Share Award Scheme”), which is not subject to the
provisions of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules. The purposes of
the Share Award Scheme are (i) to provide those eligible persons
with an opportunity to acquire a proprietary interest in the
Company, (ii) to encourage and retain such individual to work
with the Company; and (iii) to provide additional incentive for
them to achieve performance goals, with a view to achieving
the objectives of increasing the value of the Company and
aligning with the interests of those eligible persons directly to
shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”) through
their ownership of shares in the Company (the “Shares”).
Further details of the Share Award Scheme in relation to the
adoption, amendments and fulfilments were set out in the
Company’s announcements and circulars dated 17 May 2016,
7 June 2016, 21 June 2016, 5 July 2016, 24 August 2016, 14
September 2016, 30 September 2016, 31 March 2017 and 3
April 2018 respectively.
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At the special general meetings held on 20 July 2016 and
27 October 2016 respectively, each of Mr. Liu and Mr. Zhou
Huorong (“Mr. Zhou") as the then executive Directors of the
Company was entitled under the certain vesting conditions to
receive an aggregate of 60,000,000 new Shares in the following
five years respectively pursuant to the Share Award Scheme.

Up to the date of this report, 12,000,000 Shares awarded
under the Share Award Scheme (“Award Shares”) for the year
of 2016 and 12,000,000 Award Shares for the year of 2017
were issued and vested to Mr. Liu, 12,000,000 unissued Award
Shares for the year of 2018 were forfeited. Mr. Liu indicated his
willingness to relinquish his right of entitlement to 12,000,000
unissued Award Shares for year of 2019 and 12,000,000
unissued Award Shares for the year of 2020 voluntarily.
Furthermore, a total of 12,000,000 Award Shares for the year
of 2016 were issued and vested to Mr. Zhou and the remaining
48,000,000 unissued Award Shares became lapsed due to Mr.
Zhou ceased to be an executive Director with effect from 26 July
2017.

Mr. Liu, as the former executive Director and Chief Executive
Officer of the Company, proposed the Board to consider the
termination of the Share Award Scheme in order to reduce
the operating cost and due to the changes of the operating
strategies of the Group as reported at the Board meeting held
on 27 March 2020. The Board resolved (i) to enter into an
agreement with Mr. Liu for the termination and cancellation of
the remaining 24,000,000 unissued Award Shares, and (ii) to
terminate and cancel the Share Award Scheme, and as a result,
no further grant of Award Shares will be made thereunder with
effect from 27 March 2020.
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CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
As at 31 December 2019, the Group had no significant capital

commitments (31 December 2018: HK$Nil).

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING YEAR

Since the COVID-19 outbreak in early 2020, a series of
precautionary and control measures have been and continued to
be implemented across the PRC. The epidemic caused temporary
disruption in business. It may foresee temporary impact on the
sale and operation of the manufacturing segment and financial
services segment in the first half year of 2020. As at the date of
this report, the Group was not aware of any material effect on
the financial results of the Group as a result of the COVID-19
outbreak. The Group will actively work utmost on epidemic
prevention and control, and daily operation management to
reduce the impact of the epidemic on the Group's operations
and financial performance.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from
Wednesday, 17 June 2020 to Monday, 22 June 2020, both
days inclusive. In order to qualify for the attendance of the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company to be held
on Monday, 22 June 2020, share transfer forms accompanied by
relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company's
Branch Share Registrar and Transfer Office in Hong Kong, Tricor
Tengis Limited, Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road
East, Hong Kong, not later than 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, 16 June
2020.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

EEERBWE

CODE ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
PRACTICES

The Board and the management of the Company are of the
opinion that during 2019, the Group has properly operated
in accordance with the “Corporate Governance Code and
Corporate Governance Report” (the “CG Code”) which sets out
(a) the code provisions (which are expected to comply with);
and (b) the recommended best practices (which are for guidance
only) in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. The Group has
complied with the code provisions and one of the recommended
best practices of the CG Code for the period from 1 January
2019 to 31 December 2019 except for one deviation of code
provisions as stated in the section headed “Compliance with CG
Code” below.

The Board is committed to the principles of transparency,
accountability and independence highlighted by the CG Code
to better enhance the value of the Shareholders and proper
management of corporate assets in the following ways:

1. ensuring the decision-making process, risk management
process, internal audit and controls, disclosure of
information and the communication with stakeholders are
carried out in accordance with good management practices
and compliance with the respective regulatory standards;

2. cultivating a culture of integrity, transparency and
accountability for the Company, its staff and the Directors
and emphasising the importance of their roles in such an
environment; and

3. adopting quality standards widely recognised to foster
quality management in every aspect of daily operations to
enhance the performance and value of the Company as a
whole.
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Corporate Strategy

The primary objective of the Company is to enhance long-
term business return for Shareholders. To achieve this objective,
the Group's strategy is to place high emphasis on achieving
long-term financial performance and maintaining the Group's
strong financial profit. The Chairman’s Statement and the
Management Discussion and Analysis contain discussions and
analyses of the Group’s performance and the basis on which
the Group generates or preserves value over the longer term,
and the basis on which the Group will execute its strategy for
achieving the Group’s objectives.

COMPLIANCE WITH CG CODE

The Directors confirm that, for the Year, the Company acted in
compliance with the code provisions set out in the CG Code
contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules save for the
deviation mentioned below:

During the Year, Mr. Liu has been acting as an executive
Director, the chairman of the Board as well as the chief
executive officer of the Company. This arrangement deviates
from the provision of A.2.1 of the CG Code, which provides
that the roles of chairman and chief executive should be
separate and should not be performed by the same individual.
The division of responsibilities between the chairman and chief
executive should be clearly established and set out in writing.

The Directors are of the opinion that such arrangement
during the Year enabled stronger leadership for managing the
Company and carried out effective and efficient management
and solid business and strategic planning. The Directors believe
that such arrangement did not have a material adverse impact
on the corporate governance of the Company during the Year.
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The Company has in practice complied with the requirements
under C.3.3 of the CG Code relating to risk management and
internal control during the year 2019. The Board has complied
with the existing terms of reference for the audit committee
of the Board (the "Audit Committee”) so as to fulfill the
requirements under C.3.3 of the CG Code.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
BY DIRECTORS OF LISTED ISSUERS (THE
“"MODEL CODE")

The Company has adopted its own code of conduct (the “Own
Dealing Code”) regarding securities transactions by Directors
on terms no less exacting than the required standard set out in
the Model Code in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules.

The Company, having made specific enquiries, confirms that
each member of the Board complied with the Own Dealing
Code throughout the Year. Members of the Company’'s
management, who, due to their positions in the Company, are
likely to be in possession of inside information, also complied
with the provisions of the Own Dealing Code.

The Own Dealing Code has been uploaded to the Company’s
website.

CHANGES IN THE COMPOSITION OF THE
BOARD DURING THE YEAR

Mr. Mao Yumin resigned as a non-executive Director with effect
from 21 August 2019 due to his intention to concentrate on the
pursuit and development of his other business activities. Further
details were set out in the Company’s announcement dated 21
August 2019.

With effect from 30 August 2019, Mr. Shan Yongxin has
been appointed as an executive Director and a member of the
executive committee of the Board and Mr. Li Yongjun has been
appointed as a non-executive Director. Further details were set
out in the Company’s announcement dated 30 August 2019.
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS BEE®

As at 31 December 2019, the Board consisted of seven W-ZE—AE+-_A=+—H BFe€hHt%H
Directors, with a variety and a balance of skills and experience EF#HMK FEAES BT s MiGH
in accounting, banking, manufacturing, marketing, finance and E MR EZRE  TRBMNMER - HE 2
investment professions. Their biographical particulars are set EEHRAFRFET4ZN B -FHIEEZEKE
out on pages 74 to 91 of this annual report. List of Directors R#AKZEZTFHERHEAE KBED EH 55
and Their Role and Function, which sets out the members and % AT 4336 K 2K A R) 493 ©

composition of the Board, has been uploaded on the Stock

Exchange's website and the Company’s website.

Members of the Board and their respective attendance to Board EZEZE€RENMKERNAFERNRIT EETES S
meetings and general meetings held during the Year are as #MBREAEZEHFERMT:
follows:

Number of Number of

attendance at  attendance at

Board general

meetings meetings

Exgel BREXE

Names of Directors EEnE ZHER Z HE X

Executive Directors HITESE

Mr. Liu Tingan (the Chairman and Chief — BIiE & (FEHTHAEE)

Executive Officer) 6/6 1/1
Mr. Cheok Ho Fung (Deputy Chairman) BARSE (BIEE) 2/6 0/1
Mr. Shan Yongxin BRASAE (RZFE—NF

(appointed on 30 August 2019) NA=+HEZF) 2/2 0/0
Non-executive Director HEHTEE
Mr. Mao Yumin EFEHRREE(RZF—AF

(resigned on 21 August 2019) NAZ+—HEF) 3/3 11
Mr. Li Yongjun FXERE(RZF—NF

(appointed on 30 August 2019) NA=+HEZF) 2/2 0/0
Independent Non-executive Directors BV FEHITEE

(“INEDs”) ([BrHHTEE])

Mr. Ng Man Kung RHEE 6/6 1/1
Mr. Lau Fai Lawrence 2L 6/6 11
Mr. Mak Kwok Kei BRELE 6/6 1/1
The number of Board meetings held during the Year was 6. RFEEERITONEETESEH -
The number of general meeting held during the Year was 1. RFEEERITIRARRERG -
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During the Year, the Company had reached the minimum
requirement of three INEDs forming more than one-third of
the Board, all of whom have accounting and related financial
management expertise. They dedicated to provide the Company
with professional advice with respect to the steady operation
and development of the Company. They also exercised
supervision and coordination to safeguard the interests of the
Company and its Shareholders.

Each INED during the Year had provided an annual confirmation
of independence to the Company pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules. Based on such annual confirmation received from
each of the INEDs, the Company considers that all INEDs are still
considered to be independent during their tenure of office in
the Company for the purpose of Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

All existing non-executive Director and INEDs have signed letters
of appointment with the Company for a term of not more
than three years, and will be subject to retirement by rotation
and re-election at the annual general meeting of the Company
pursuant to the Bye-laws of the Company and the requirements
of the Listing Rules.

The remuneration of non-executive Directors is reviewed by
the remuneration committee of the Board (“Remuneration
Committee”) and is fixed from time to time by the Board
subject to the authority granted pursuant to the Company’s
Bye-laws by the Shareholders at the Company’s general
meetings.

As at the date of this report, the members of the Board are Mr.
Liu Tingan (executive Director, Chairman of the Board and Chief
Executive Officer), Mr. Cheok Ho Fung (executive Director and
Deputy Chairman), Mr. Shan Yongxin (executive Director), Mr. Li
Yongjun (non-executive Director), Mr. Ng Man Kung (INED), Mr.
Lau Fai Lawrence (INED) and Mr. Mak Kwok Kei (INED).
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THE OPERATION OF THE BOARD

One of the main responsibilities of the Board is to supervise and
direct the management of the Company (the “Management”)
to operate under good corporate governance in order to
maximise value of the Shareholders while balancing the interest
of its various stakeholders. The Board holds meetings quarterly
so as to monitor the performance and discuss the business
development of the Company against the budget, to discuss
and decide on major corporate, strategic and operational issues,
and to evaluate any available investment opportunities.

The major duties performed by the Board are as follows:
1. setting the Company’s values and standards;

2. setting the objectives of the Company and responsibilities
of the Board and its various committees;

3. establishing the strategic direction for the Company;
4. setting targets for the management of the Group;

5. monitoring the performance of the management of the
Group;

6. reviewing the annual and interim results of the Group;

7. ensuring that a framework of prudent and effective
internal control is in place to assess and manage the risk
of the Group and implementing appropriate systems to
manage these risks;

8. overseeing the Company’s relationships with its
Shareholders, customers, the community, various
government authorities, interest groups and others;

9. identifying and assessing any matters of a substantial
Shareholder or a Director resulting in conflict of interest;

10. determining material acquisitions and disposals of assets,
investments, capital, projects, authority levels, major
treasury policies, risk management policies and key human
resources issues; and
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considering and determining issues which are the
responsibilities of the Board pursuant to the Company's
Memorandum of Association and Bye-laws and the
relevant laws and regulations in force by which the
Company is governed from time to time.

The Board is also responsible for the following corporate
governance duties:

to develop and review the Company’'s policies
and practices on corporate governance and make
recommendations on any amendment or updating (if any);

to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and the Company's
senior management;

to review and monitor the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to the Company’s
employees and Directors;

to review the Company's compliance with the CG Code
and disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report (the
“CG Report”) under the CG Code; and

to be responsible for performing any other corporate
governance duties and functions set out in the CG Code
and the Listing Rules (as amended from time to time), or
delegating the responsibility to a committee or committees
(if applicable).

During the Year, the Company had reviewed its corporate

governance policy by the Board in achieving high standards of
corporate governance duties. The Board will further develop and
review this policy regularly and at least annually so as to make

recommendations on any amendment or updating (if any).
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During the Year, the Board had delegated its authority to
the nomination committee of the Board (“Nomination
Committee”) to review its board diversity policy for the
Company and the terms of reference of the Nomination
Committee. The Board (via the reporting from the Nomination
Committee) had reviewed and considered the measurable
objectives set for implementing the Company’s board diversity
policy during the Year and would, together with the Nomination
Committee, regularly review the progress on achieving those
objectives.

The Board delegates to the Management in respect of the major
corporate matters as stated below:

1. preparation of the annual and interim results of the Group
to be approved by the Board;

2 execution of the corporate strategies and directions of the
Group adopted by the Board,;

3. implementation of sufficient systems of internal controls
and risk management procedures of the Group; and

4. carrying out daily business operations and decision-
makings of the Group, etc.

BOARD COMMITTEES

As an integral part of good corporate governance, the Board
has established various committees to oversee particular
aspects of the Company’s affairs. These committees are
governed by their respective terms of reference, which describe
the authorities and duties of these committees and will be
regularly reviewed and updated by the Board. These committees
include the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee,
the Nomination Committee, and the executive committee
(the "Executive Committee”) of the Board whose terms of
reference had been set out in writing respectively.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility to prepare the
financial statements that give a true and fair view of the state
of affairs of the Group. The Board was aware of material
uncertainties relating to events or conditions that might
cast significant doubt upon the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern which were detailed in note 3(b) to the
consolidated financial statements. Having considered the factors
in note 3(b), the Board has prepared the accounts on a going
concern basis.

The reporting responsibilities of the Company’s auditor, BDO
Limited, are set out in the Independent Auditor’'s Report on
pages 97 to 104 of the annual report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee is composed of three INEDs throughout
the Year.

The chairman of the Audit Committee is an INED who has
the appropriate professional qualifications and experience
in accounting or related financial management expertise as
required by the Listing Rules. The Audit Committee discharges
its responsibilities as follows and in accordance with its existing
terms of reference being adopted by the Board:

1. reviewing and monitoring the integrity of the interim and
annual results and financial statements of the Company
and of the Group and reviewing significant financial
reporting judgements;

2. reviewing and monitoring the reporting, accounting and
financial policies and practices of the Group;

3. reviewing and primarily responsible for making
recommendation to the Board on the appointment,
re-appointment, retirement, resignation or removal of
the Company’s external auditor and reviewing their
remuneration and terms of engagement, discussing their
audit plan and scope of audit, and monitoring the external
auditor’s independence, objectivity and effectiveness of the
audit process up to applicable standard, and also reporting
the issues raised by the external auditor, including but
not limited to those stated in their management letter
addressed to the Board, implementing policy on engaging
external auditor to supply non-audit services;
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42

acting as the key representative body for overseeing the
Company'’s relations with the external auditor;

reviewing the fairness and reasonableness of connected
transaction(s) or continuing connected transaction(s) of the
Company, if any;

ensuring full access by the respective responsible teams
of the Group under corporate governance function of any
concerns that may have arisen during the course of their
corporate governance works;

conducting annual review of the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control and risk management systems
as delegated by the Board and considering any findings
of major investigation of its internal control and risk
management matters; and ensuring the Group’s
management has discharged its duty to have an effective
internal control and risk management system including the
adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of
staff from the Group; and

reviewing arrangements which can be used by employees
of the Company, in confidence, to raise concerns about
possible improprieties in financial reporting, internal
control or other matters, and the whistleblowing policy
and system for employees which has been adopted by the
Board on 27 March 2012.
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During the Year, three Audit Committee meetings were held
(whereas all of which had been held with the attendance of
the Company’s external auditor) to review the financial results
and reports for the year ended 31 December 2018 and for
the six months ended 30 June 2019, risk management and
internal control processes, related party transactions, continuing
connected transactions and discloseable transactions (if any),
roles and responsibilities as well as works performed by the
teams under corporate governance function, and the re-election
of the Company’s external auditor.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the consolidated annual
results and financial statements of the Group for the Year,
including the significant accounting principles and practices
adopted by the Group.

This annual report has been reviewed by the Audit Committee.
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The attendance record of each member of the Audit Committee RAFE EBEREZEeKERNHeZZ HF
at its meetings during the Year is set out below: wo ek E S ZZDT :
Attendance
Members of Audit Committee ERZEERE HE=E
Mr. Lau Fai Lawrence (Chairman) RQIEFKAE (FE) 3/3
Mr. Ng Man Kung (Member) R E (KE) 3/3
Mr. Mak Kwok Kei (Member) BEEELE(KE) 3/3
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Auditor’s Remuneration

The Audit Committee is responsible for considering the
appointment and re-election of the external auditor and
reviewing any non-audit functions performed by the external
auditor, including whether such non-audit functions could lead
to any potential material adverse effect to the Company. During
the Year, the remunerations paid/payable to the external auditor,
BDO Limited, were as follows:

BB &
ERZECRAZRZAEREEIMNERHEE N
e E R NSRBI ETT 2 ER BB B
RS REYHARRABREMEEERT
NEEZIFRBRBE - RAFER  XEBER
SNERBEN BB EREREAMEBMERA
BIXNIATER:

Fee paid/
payable
Type of services provided by the external auditor /MNEZEMEHZREER Bt ERER
(HK$'000)
(F#&7T)
Audit services: BEART -
Audit of the financial statements for the year ended EZBE_ZEZ-NF+_A=+—8H
31 December 2019 IFFEZ2FEMBHREK 1,510
Non-audit services: FHEEIRT -
Review of continuing connected transaction(s) ERFERERS 10
Agreed-upon procedures on preliminary announcement #] %4& N 2 B ERF
of results 30
Agreed-upon procedures on interim financial statements BEMHEZE-ZF— L F A=+ HLNEA
for the six months ended 30 June 2019 LR BHRER 2 BERT 200
Report on environmental, social and governance MRFE g RELERRE 110
Subtotal: N 1,860
Tax services SRS 69
1,929
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Throughout the Year, three members of the Remuneration

Committee were INEDs.

The Remuneration Committee performs the following roles

and functions in accordance with its terms of reference and its
written remuneration policy adopted by the Board:

1.

ensuring formal and transparent procedures for overseeing,
developing and determining policies on the remuneration
packages of Directors and the Company’s senior
management;

assessing the achievement and performance and reviewing
the performance-based remuneration of executive
Directors and the Company’s senior management by
reference to the Company’s corporate goals;

approving the terms of executive Directors’ service
agreements or letters of appointment (as appropriate);

providing effective supervision and administration of the
Company’s share award or option schemes and other share
incentive schemes (if available);

(i) determining with delegated responsibility on
the remuneration packages of individual executive
Directors and the Company’s senior management or
(i) recommending to the Board on executive Directors’
and the Company’s senior management’s remuneration
packages whereas the Remuneration Committee adopted
the aforesaid model (ii) during the Year, and (iii) reviewing
the remuneration of non-executive Directors; and

ensuring that no Director or any of his associates is
involved in deciding his own remuneration.

During the Year, the Company has reviewed and made
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages
of Directors and the Company’s senior management.
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During the Year, two Remuneration Committee meetings were
held to discuss and review the remuneration packages and
bonus (if any) of executive Directors and other Directors and the
terms of their service agreements and letters of appointment,
and the remuneration policy of the Company and the Group as
well as the adoption of the share award scheme (with reference
to the Remuneration Committee’s terms of reference and Listing
Rules).

The attendance record of each member of the Remuneration
Committee at its meetings for the Year is set out below:

RAFE FHEESERITMAEE Uil
FRAATESREMES 2 H B RIEA
(nE) ERBHERZTEZGT A2E
RAEE 2 FHIE R - LA RIERA AR SR 5t 2
(2ZFMEZESRBEHRER EHHRA) -

RAGE SHFMEBGRAREGHL A
wEREYI T -

Attendance
Members of Remuneration Committee FMEEERE HE=E
Mr. Ng Man Kung (Chairman) RXHEE (FE) 2/2
Mr. Lau Fai Lawrence (Member) RENE (HE) 2/2
Mr. Mak Kwok Kei (Member) EREELE (KE) 2/2

NOMINATION COMMITTEE
Throughout the year, three members of the Nomination
Committee were INEDs.

The Nomination Committee performs the following roles and
functions in accordance with its nomination procedures and
criteria as follows and in accordance with its terms of reference
and its written nomination policies adopted by the Board:

1. determining the policy for the nomination of Directors
during the Year;

2. adopting the nomination procedures and the process
and criteria to select and recommend candidates for
directorship during the Year by considering the candidates’
past performance and experience, academic and working
qualifications, general market conditions in accordance
with the requirements set out in the Listing Rules and the
Company’s Bye-laws so as to make the composition of
the Board filled with a diverse and a balance of skills and
experience;
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3. reviewing regularly the roles of Directors and considering
any issue on conflict of interest, their performance and
conduct;

4. assessing the independence of INEDs pursuant to the
requirements set out in the Listing Rules; and

5. reviewing regularly the nomination policy and board
diversity policy of the Company to ensure the effectiveness
of these policies and to review any progress on achieving
those objectives in these policies.

The Board has adopted a nomination policy (the “Nomination
Policy”) to enhance its effectiveness. The Nomination Policy
is intended to provide a flexible set of guidelines for the
effective functioning of the Company’s nomination process.
The Board and the Nomination Committee intend to review
the Nomination Policy (together with the board diversity policy
(the “Diversity Policy”)) at least annually and anticipate
that modifications may be necessary from time to time as the
Company’s needs and circumstances evolve, and as applicable
if and where the legal obligations or requirements in the Listing
Rules or laws of Hong Kong or Bermuda or other regulations
change. The details of the Nomination Policy were set out
below:

Purpose

The purpose of the Nomination Policy is to describe the process
by which candidates of possible inclusion in the Company's
recommended slate of director nominees are selected. The
Nomination Policy is administered by the Nomination Committee
of the Board.
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Composition of the Board
The Nomination Committee will ensure that:

Nomination and selection criteria
The Nomination Committee will take into account the
Company’s current needs and the qualities needed for the

the Board will consist of Directors with a variety and
a balance of skills and experience in accounting,
manufacturing, marketing, finance, investment and legal
professions and with reference to the criteria set out in the
Board Diversity Policy;

the Company will always maintain the minimum number of
INEDs as required by the Listing Rules; and

regular assessment will be conducted on the independency
of INEDs for the purpose of Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules, and if there is any reason for doubting whether
such INED is still considered as independent pursuant to
the Listing Rules or other regulations, it may propose the
re-designation of the INED into other directorate position
in the Board.

Board's service, including but not limited to:

48

the ethical character, integrity and maturity of judgment of
the candidate;

the candidate’s experience at the policy-making level
in the industry and business, the PRC and Hong Kong
governments, education or other settings;

the candidate’s insight into material aspects of the
Company’s business;

the expertise of the candidate in areas that are useful to

the Company and complementary to the background and
experience of other Board members;
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the candidate’s willingness to take an active interest in the
Company’s affairs and obtain a general understanding of
its business, and to devote the required amount of time
to carrying out the duties and responsibilities of the Board
and various committees’ membership if being invited,;

the candidate’s willingness to report to the Board in a
timely manner any new change in his/her office held
in other public companies or organisations and other
significant commitments, the time involved, identities of
such public companies and organisations;

the willingness of the candidate to serve on the Board for
multiple terms;

the willingness of the candidate to refrain from engaging
in activities that may be in conflict with the Director’s
duties and responsibilities to the Company and its
Shareholders;

the candidate’s independence under the Listing Rules if
he/she is appointed as INED, and if the proposed INED
will be holding his/her seventh (or more) listed company
directorship, the reasons why the Board believes the
individual would still be able to devote sufficient time to
the Board, his/her perspectives, skills and experience that
he/she can bring to the Board and how the proposed INED
contributes to diversity of the Board;

the candidate’s service on other boards of directors of the
Group or of other companies (whether they are listed or
non-listed);

the candidate’s willingness to participate in continuous
professional development courses annually to be arranged
and funded by the Company;
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12. the candidate’s willingness to attend general meetings of
the Company;

13. the candidate’s obligation to disclose his/her information
on all civil judgments of fraud, breach of duty, or other
misconduct involving dishonesty (if any);

14. the candidate’s willingness to comply with the Listing Rules
and other regulatory requirements in full for discharging
Directors’ liabilities.

For those potential new director candidates who appear upon
first consideration to meet the Board’s selection criteria, the
Nomination Committee will conduct appropriate inquiries into
their background and qualifications and, depending on the
result of such inquiries, arrange for in-person meeting with the
potential candidates.

In the case of incumbent Directors whose terms of office are set
to expire, the Nomination Committee will review such Directors’
overall service to the Company during their terms of office in
the Company, and if feasible and appropriate, will conduct an
exit interview.

The Nomination Committee may use multiple sources for
identifying director candidates, including but not limited to:

1. its own contacts and referrals from other Directors,
members of the management of the Company, the
Company's professional advisors, and executive search
firms;

2. the director candidates being recommended by
Shareholders of the Company with the evaluation in
the same manner with other director candidates being
recommended by other sources; and
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3. making recommendations for director nominees to be
proposed to the Board for election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company. The Nomination
Committee will consider any written recommendation of
director candidates pursuant to bye-law 103 of the Bye-
laws of the Company. Recommendations must include the
candidate’s name, contact information and a statement of
the candidate’s background and qualifications, and must
be mailed to the registered office of the Company for the
attention of the chairman of the Board.

The Board has adopted a Diversity Policy of the Company to
enhance its effectiveness. In designing the Board’s composition,
the Diversity Policy has been considered from a number of
aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, ethnicity, regional and industry
experience, professional experience, skills, knowledge, length of
services and time to be devoted as a Director. The Company will
consider all measurable objectives for implementing the Diversity
Policy, and also take into account factors relating to its own
business model and specific needs from time to time. The Board
strives to ensure that it has the appropriate balance of skills,
experience and diversity of perspectives that are required to
support the execution of its business strategies and in order for
the Board to be effective. The ultimate decision will be based on
merit and contribution that the selected candidates will bring to
the Board. The details of the Diversity Policy were set out below:

1. Purpose
1.1 The Diversity Policy sets out the approach to diversity
on the Board.

2. Scope of Application
2.1 The Company recognises and embraces the benefits

of having a diverse Board to enhance the quality of its

performance; and

2.2 The Diversity Policy applies to the Board and does

not apply to diversity in relation to employees of the

Group.
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Diversity Policy Statement

3.1

3.2

3.3

In designing the Board’s composition, the Company
recognises and embraces the benefits of diversity in
Board members;

Board diversity has been considered from a number
of aspects, including but not limited to gender,
age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
regional and industry experience, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service;
and

The Nomination Committee reviews and assesses
the composition of the Board and makes
recommendations to the Board on appointment of
new Directors. All Board appointments will be based
on meritocracy, and candidates will be considered
against objective criteria, having due regard for the
benefits of the Board’s diversity.

Measurable Objectives

4.1

4.2

4.3

The Nomination Committee will discuss and agree
annually all measurable objectives for implementing
the Diversity Policy and achieving the Board's diversity
and recommend them to the Board for adoption;

Selection of candidates for Board members will
be based on a range of diversity perspectives,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, ethnicity, regional and
industry experience, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service, as well as the
criterion set out in the Company’s nomination policy.
The ultimate decision will be based on merit and
contribution that the selected candidates will bring to
the Board; and

The Board’s composition (including gender, ethnicity,
age, length of service, educational background,
professional experience, skills and knowledge) will
be disclosed in the Company’s CG Report annually
in accordance with the requirements of the Listing
Rules.
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5. Monitoring and Reporting

EEERRE
5. BEERER
5.1 The Nomination Committee will report annually, 51 REZESHEFREEERBRENR

in the CG Report, on the Board’'s composition
under diversified perspectives, and monitor the
implementation of the Diversity Policy.

6. Review of the Diversity Policy
6.1 The Nomination Committee will review the Policy
regularly, as appropriate, to ensure the effectiveness
of the Diversity Policy and to review any progress on
achieving those objectives in the Diversity Policy; and

6.2 The Nomination Committee will discuss any revisions
that may be required, and recommend any such
revisions to the Board for consideration and approval.

During the Year, two Nomination Committee meetings had been
held to discuss and review (i) the retiring Directors to be re-
elected at the 2019 annual general meeting of the Company; (ii)
the independence of the INEDs; (iii) the terms of appointment
of Directors; (iv) the structure, size and composition (including
the skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board; (v) the role,
performance and conduct of the existing Directors (including
but not limited to the issues on any conflict of interest); (vi)
any nomination of potential candidate in place of the resigned
Director(s) to the Board; and (vii) the nomination policy and
Diversity Policy (including its measurable objectives and progress
on achieving those objectives) of the Company (with reference
to the Nomination Committee’s terms of reference and Listing
Rules).
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The attendance record of each member of the Nomination
Committee at its meetings for the Year is set out below:

RAEE SRAFZEEMBRAGHZ LR
RN T

Attendance
Members of Nomination Committee REZEERE R
Mr. Mak Kwok Kei (Chairman) BREELE (/) 2/2
Mr. Ng Man Kung (Member) RXHEE (KE) 2/2
Mr. Lau Fai Lawrence (Member) RlZERA (HE) 2/2

Under the CG Code provision A.4.2, every Director including
should be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years. The

those appointed for a specific term,

Bye-laws of the Company has provided that at each annual
general meeting one-third of the Directors for the time being
(or, if their number is not a multiple of three, the number
nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office by
rotation such that every Director (including those appointed for
a specific term) shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least
once every three years.

Under the CG Code provision A.4.2, all Directors appointed
to fill a casual vacancy should be subject to election by the
Shareholders at the first general meeting of the Company after
appointment. The Bye-laws of the Company has provided that
the Board shall have power from time to time and at any time
to appoint any person as a Director either to fill a casual vacancy
or as an addition to the Board. Any Director so appointed shall
hold office only until the next following general meeting of the
Company and shall then be eligible for re-election, but shall not
be taken into account in determining the Directors who are to
retire by rotation at such meeting.
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EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE HITZEES

The Executive Committee operates with overall delegated HITZESCEEESR FTEERNELER-
authority from the Board. The Executive Committee carries out AERIEBEBALEHETLEBEZEET WIT1£8
the following tasks for the purposes of dealing with the affairs BT TBE :

relating to the day-to-day operations of the Group:

1. determining group strategies; 1. EBEESEBEERE:

2. setting targets for the management; 2. WMUEEBEZHIE:

3. reviewing business performance; 3. mAEBKRIR:

4. ensuring adequate funding; and 4. WMREBRWEZ R
5. examining major investments. 5. BEHEAKRE-

During the Year, the members of the Executive Committee are RAFE HITLZE K EBERELZEE (£
Mr. Liu Tingan (Chairman) (executive Director) and Mr. Cheok &) (#{7&=%) hEaELLE (BIEE) (81T
Ho Fung (Deputy Chairman) (executive Director) and Mr. Shan ZE)RERSZLE (MTESR) (R-T— 1
Yongxin (executive Director) (appointed on 30 August 2019). FNAR=+HEZE) -

During the Year, no Executive Committee meeting had been AEEIEBITHITZECSH-
held.
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TRAINING AND SUPPORT FOR DIRECTORS
The Group provides briefings,
training opportunities to develop and refresh the Directors’
knowledge and skills so as to keep them abreast of their
collective responsibilities and to put more emphasis on the
importance of roles, functions and duties of Directors.

reading materials and other

The Group continuously updates Directors on the latest
developments regarding the Listing Rules and other applicable
regulatory requirements, to ensure compliance and enhance
their awareness of good corporate governance practices, and

EERIRXE
AEERUHNE HMEAHNREwEIRE
NEREEREEZ MM REE BREEZ
BRAKERE FESLTAAERZAS
B RBEZEEM-

AEEFERLTRINREMEREEREZ
HESRFTERAEZRESHER NERE
TREFCEERFR URSBEHZEZER
ZEB NEERREENBZEATHES

to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed

LA

a

During the Year and as required by and in compliance with the RARFE  RIFEDLEST
CG Code, the Directors participated in the following trainings: ™

nd relevant.

Types of Training

BIZBE EFCL2HE)

Name of Directors BEEng EIER
Executive Directors HITESE
Mr. Liu Tingan BlERfE

(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer) (EEFTEAAE) A - C
Mr. Cheok Ho Fung SrRE%E - - C
Mr. Shan Yongxin (appointed on BREBEE (RZFE—NF

30 August 2019) NA= +E£%*§?§/f) A - C
Non-executive Director HHITEE
Mr. Mao Yumin (resigned on ERREE (R=ZF—NF

21 August 2019) /lﬁf+—5r;%/f) A B -
Mr. Li Yongjun (appointed on FKREEE (RZFE-NF

30 August 2019) NA=Z1THEZF) A - C
INEDs BUHHITEE
Mr. Ng Man Kung Rtk st A - -
Mr. Lau Fai Lawrence GBS A - -
Mr. Mak Kwok Kei BREELLE A - C

A:  attending seminars/conferences/forums (via different means) A: HE#HTGE @@k, SwE(EB1TEE
&)
B:  giving talks at seminars/conferences/forums B: RMF® @k imiE FEITEE
C:  self-reading: (newspapers, journals & updates re: global & Hong C: BE: (HKE 5 PJ&F%&%M B :IRIRR
Kong economy, business of the Group, updates on Listing Rules, BEERE AKEER FWHAR - EE2RE
directors’ duties, relevant statutory requirements) HHEERTE I RMER)
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CORPORATE MANAGEMENT, RISK
MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board established a whistleblowing policy on 27 March
2012 which deals with and governs proper and fair concerns
raised by the Group’s employees about any suspected
malpractice or misconduct regarding financial reporting, internal
control or other matters within the Group. The Audit Committee
shall review regularly this policy and ensure that arrangements
are in place for independent and fair investigation of these
matters and for appropriate following-up action.

The responsible teams of different sections or departments
within the Group under corporate governance function play a
major role in monitoring the internal corporate governance of
the Group. They have unrestricted access to the information
that allow them to review all aspects of the Group’'s risk
management and governance processes in connection with
nature of compliance and legal requirements. It also has the
power to consult directly with the Audit Committee without the
consent of the Company’s management.

During the Year, the Group has complied with Principle C.2
of the CG Code by establishing appropriate and effective risk
management and internal control systems. Management is
responsible for the design, implementation and monitoring
of such systems, while the Board oversees management in
performing its duties on an ongoing basis. Main features of the
risk management and internal control systems are described in
the sections below:

Risk Management System

The Group adopts a risk management system which manages
the risk associated with its businesses and operations. The
system comprises the following phases:

o Identification: ldentify ownership of risks, business
objectives and risks that could affect the achievement of
objectives.

e Evaluation: Analyse the likelihood and impact of risks and
evaluate the risk portfolio accordingly.
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o Management: Consider the risk responses, ensure effective
communication to the Board and on-going monitor the
residual risks.

Based on the enterprise risk assessments conducted in 2019, no
significant risk was identified which might materially affect the
Group's businesses and operations.

Internal Control System

The Company has an internal control system in place which is
compatible with the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations
of the Treadway Commission (“COSO") 2013 framework. The
framework enables the Group to achieve objectives regarding
effectiveness and efficiency of operations, reliability of financial
reporting and compliance with applicable laws and regulations.
The components of the framework are shown as follows:

° Control Environment: A set of standards, processes and
structures that provide the basis for carrying out internal
controls across the Group.

o Risk Assessment: A dynamic and iterative process for
identifying and analyzing risks to achieve the Group’s
objectives, forming a basis for determining how risks
should be managed.

o Control Activities: Actions established by policies and
procedures to help ensure that management directives to
mitigate risks to the achievement of objectives are carried
out.

e Information and Communication: Internal and external
communication to provide the Group with the information
needed to carry out day-to-day controls.

o Monitoring: Ongoing and separate evaluations to ascertain

whether each components of internal control is present
and functioning.

58 HKBridge Financial Holdings Limited Annual Report 2019

s EBE - EEEREY BREEZESAMN
BBNFEE TR

RER T - NFETHRERRFME LEER
AERHAREXRGLREEFEATENIMNE
KR -

AR

QA B # E #F A Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission
([COSO ) —E—=FERHNANIEIZE R
FZIERSAEE R ERA M S ERE L WEE - W
BHREAEERETERERELERNE R
ERNAEK LD ETIAT

s EARE —ERAKEETAIERE
AR R R 2R

o ERiFIETHEEMKREBENBIE AR
ARDITERAEEBRORERE FKE
TE FE a0 {a] & 3R R B B0 AR 4R

s EBZH RERRLRIEFWILIZITE
AREREATT & 2 B R K R B DA K B 1R
PE B3R ©

o EBRERE MASERMETEEZES
T & &LV R B M SN AR B 5@

o

o EE HENEMFEARARABEZEN
EEEREEFHELEFEEE-



Corporate Governance Report
ERELRSE

In order to enhance the Group’s system of handling inside
information, and to ensure the truthfulness, accuracy,
completeness and timeliness of its public disclosures, the Group
also adopts and implements an inside information policy and
procedures to the Group's directors, officers and all relevant
employees. The term “relevant employee” refers to employee
of the Group, because of his office or employment, who is
likely to be in possession of the unpublished inside information.
The above mentioned persons are also recommended to
make reference to the “Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside
Information” issued by the Securities and Futures Commission in
June 2012. Certain reasonable measures have been taken from
time to time to ensure that proper safeguards exist to prevent a
breach of disclosure requirement in relation to the Group, which
include:

e  The access of information is restricted to a limited number
of employees on a need-to-know basis. Employees who
are in possession of inside information are fully conversant
with their obligations to preserve confidentiality.

o Confidentiality agreements are in place when the Group
enters into significant negotiations.

o The executive Directors are designated persons who speak
on behalf of the Company when communicating with
external parties such as the media, analysts or investors.

o Internal controls on handling and dissemination of inside
information.

Based on the internal control reviews conducted in 2019, no
significant control deficiency, which might affect the reliability
and effectiveness of the Group’s internal controls was identified.

Internal Auditors

The Group has an internal audit (“IA") function, which consists
of professional staff with relevant expertise (such as Certified
Public Accountant). The IA function is independent from the
Group’s daily operation and carries out appraisal of the risk
management and internal control systems by conducting
interviews, walkthroughs and tests of operating effectiveness.

REARNEEREAREENRG RERE
NRABRENEEE EREN - TBERREE
AEBTRALAAEEEE FMAERE
BEBEEERABBEERRLER - [1HER
Bl —FHEEEBUIEAMAAREEARL
BMHMABRHBERZAEERE - L AL TRER
FLHBEEN T —_FXRAREZIAE
HEWEES - AEEESTRRIETAEE
M EREHBERED LERABEAEEN
BEMRE EPEHE:

e ERTHBENEERS

SEEEEUHE - %
BABHBENERERMESE

MRZmET

s AKBETERNERBHELRER

2
x °©

s HTEFNDEIRAL(MEE HITE
RIREE)BBERRAARESTNIETE
N

s HMEBRERBMABBEETIAMEE-

RER-_T-NFETHAIEEEZ L E
LRI AERETRE ERTEIAKENR
HRESIR 2 Al S R R

R EB &
AEBERIABEZ([ABER])DE 2
EABHBEERNBENEEAR (NEMEE
fb) - AMERNEBLINAEEN A ELE
FBEBETER BFRREZ A EEN
FHRABREERNBEERTEITHE

TE-AFEFH RESRMEEARALT 59



Corporate Governance Report
ERERME

An IA plan has been approved by the Board. According to the
established plan, a review of the risk management and internal
control systems is conducted annually and the results are
reported to the Board through the Audit Committee.

Effectiveness of the Risk Management and Internal
Control Systems

The Board is responsible for the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group and ensuring review of the
effectiveness of these systems has been conducted annually.
Several areas have been considered during the Board’s review,
which include but not limited to (i) the changes in the nature
and extent of significant risks since the last annual review,
and the Group's ability to respond to changes in its business
and the external environment; (ii) the scope and quality of
Management’s ongoing monitoring of risks and of the internal
control systems.

The Board, through its review and the review made by IA
function and the Audit Committee during the Year, concluded
that the risk management and internal control systems were
effective and adequate. Such systems, however, are designed
to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives and can only provide reasonable and not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss. It
is also considered that the resources, staff qualifications and
experience of relevant staff were adequate and the training
programs and budget provided were sufficient.

OPERATION RISKS

The Group has implemented appropriate policies and procedures
for all major operations. The Management closely monitors
the procurement process and performs due diligence check on
suppliers. The quality assurance department and the reliability
department ensure the stability of the manufacturing process
and monitor products quality. The Group also strives to promote
human resources reforms and comprehensively enhances cost
management. At the same time, the Management also keeps
a close eye on every investment process to ensure that they
have exercised due care towards those investments made. By
establishing clear policies and a well-documented business
process, the exposure to operation risks is considered as
minimal.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS AND COMMUNICATION

The Board established a shareholders’ communication policy
on 27 March 2012 for maintaining an on-going dialogue with
the Shareholders and other stakeholders and encouraging them
to communicate actively with the Company. This policy sets
out the principles of the Company, in relation to shareholders’
communications, with the objective of ensuring that its
communications with the Shareholders and other stakeholders
(including potential investors) with ready, equal and timely
access to balanced and understandable information about the
Company (including its financial performance, strategic goals
and plans, material developments, governance and risk profile),
in order to enable the Shareholders and other stakeholders
to exercise their rights in an informed manner mainly through
the Company’s corporate communications (such as interim
and annual reports, announcements and circulars, notices of
meetings, proxy forms and listing documents), annual general
meetings and other general meetings, as well as disclosure on
the website of the Company.
annual

Interim reports,

associated explanatory documents etc are sent to the

reports and circulars and

Shareholders and are also posted on the Stock Exchange's
website (www.hkex.com.hk) and the Company’s website
(www.hkbridge.com.hk) under a dedicated “Investor Relations”
section in plain language and in both English and Chinese
versions or where permitted, in single language, and will
be updated on a regular basis and in a timely manner. The
Company’s website provides the Shareholders with the
corporate information, such as principal business activities, the
development of corporate governance and the corporate social
responsibilities of the Group such as environmental protection,
etc.
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Shareholders are provided with contact details of the Company,
such as telephone hotline, fax number, email address and postal
address (as indicated below), in order to enable them or even
the Board to make any enquiry that they may have with respect
to the Company or the Group. In addition, if the registered
Shareholders have any enquiries about their shareholdings and
entitlements to dividend, they can contact Tricor Tengis Limited,
the Company’s Hong Kong Branch Share Registrar and Transfer
Office through the online holding enquiry service at www.
tricoris.com or by email to is-enquiries@hk.tricorglobal.com or
hotline at (852) 2980 1333 or fax at (852) 2810 8185 or in
person at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East,
Hong Kong.

The Company will not normally deal with verbal or anonymous
enquiries. However, Shareholders may send their enquiries to
the following contacts:

: Unit 6812-13, 68th Floor,
The Center, 99 Queen’s Road Central,

Principal place of
business in Hong

Kong Hong Kong
For the attention of Chairman of the
Board/Chief Executive Officer/Company
Secretary
Telephone : (852) 2710 2323

Fax . (852) 2323 8137
Email . investor.relations@hkbridge.com.hk

The Company’s general meeting allows the Directors, members
of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and
the Nomination Committee, respectively and its external
auditor to meet and communicate with its Shareholders and
to answer Shareholders’ questions. The Company will ensure
that the Shareholders’ views can be properly communicated to
the Board. For each substantially separate issue at a general
meeting, a separate resolution should be proposed by the
chairman of that meeting, for instances, nomination of persons
as Directors by means of a separate resolution. The Procedures
for Shareholders to Propose a Person for Election as a Director
of the Company has been uploaded on the website of the
Company.
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The proceedings of general meeting are reviewed from time
to time to ensure that the Company follows good corporate
governance practices. Notice of an annual general meeting
(whether for the passing of a special resolution and/or an
ordinary resolution) shall be called by not less than twenty
business days' notice or twenty-one days' notice (whichever is
longer) in writing at the least and a special general meeting
called for the passing of a special resolution shall be called by
twenty-one days’ notice in writing at the least, and a general
meeting of the Company (other than an annual general meeting
or a meeting for the passing of a special resolution) shall be
called by ten business days’ notice or fourteen days’ notice
(whichever is longer) in writing at the least (whereas the notice
shall be exclusive of the day on which it is served or deemed
to be served and of the day for which it is given), and the
accompanying circular also sets out details of each proposed
resolution and other relevant information as required under the
Listing Rules.

The chairman of the general meeting exercises his power under
the Company’s Bye-laws to put each proposed resolution to the
vote by way of a poll, save for the resolutions (if any) proposed
by the chairman of the meeting regarding the approval on the
procedural and administrative matters as defined in the Listing
Rules. The procedures for demanding and conducting a poll are
explained at the general meeting prior to the polls being taken.
Shareholders who are entitled to attend and vote at a general
meeting are entitled to ask about the poll voting procedures
and details of the proposed resolutions at the general meeting
whose questions should be answered during the general
meeting prior to the conduction of poll voting. Announcement
on poll voting results of general meeting will be posted on the
Stock Exchange’s website and the Company’s website.

During the Year, there was no significant change in the
Company’s Memorandum of Association and Bye-laws.

The Company continues to commit to a proactive policy of
promoting investor relations and effective communication with
the Shareholders and analysts by better utilising the Company's
website (www.hkbridge.com.hk) as a channel to disclose the
Company's updated information and corporate communications
to the Shareholders, stakeholders and the public on a timely
basis.
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Shareholders Rights

The Directors, pursuant to Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda
(as amended) (“Companies Act”) and notwithstanding
anything in the Company’s Bye-laws shall, on the requisition
of the Shareholders holding at the date of the deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital of the
Company as at the date of the deposit carries the right of voting
at general meetings of the Company, forthwith proceed duly to
convene a special general meeting of the Company.

The requisition must state the purposes of the general meeting,
and must be signed by the requisitionists and deposited
at the Company’s registered office, and may consist of
several documents in like form each signed by one or more
requisitionists.

If the Directors do not within twenty-one days from the date of
the deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene a general
meeting, the requisitionists, or any of them representing more
than one half of the total voting rights of all of them, may
themselves convene a general meeting, but any general meeting
so convened shall not be held after the expiration of three
months from the said date.

A general meeting convened by the requisitionists shall be
convened in the same manner, as nearly as possible, as that in
which general meetings are to be convened by the Directors.

Any number of Shareholders representing not less than
one-twentieth (1/20) of the total voting rights of all the
Shareholders or not less than 100 Shareholders, may make
a requisition in writing to the Company to do the following
(which will be done at the expense of the requisitionists unless
the Company otherwise resolves):

(i) to give the Shareholders a notice of the next annual
general meeting and notice of any resolution which may
properly be moved and is intended to be moved at that
meeting; and/or
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(i) to circulate to the Shareholders a notice of any general
meeting sent to them any statement of not more than one
thousand (1,000) words with respect to the matter referred
to in any proposed resolution or the business to be dealt
with at that meeting.

A copy of the requisition signed by the requisitionists, or two
or more copies which between them contain the signatures
of all the requisitionists, must be deposited at the registered
office and the principal place of business in Hong Kong of the
Company.

(i)  in the case of a requisition requiring notice of a resolution,
not less than six weeks before the meeting; and

(i) in the case of any other requisition, not less than one week
before the meeting,

and there must be deposited or tendered with the requisition a
sum reasonably sufficient to meet the Company’s expenses in
giving effect thereto.

However please note that if, after a copy of the requisition
requiring notice of a resolution has been deposited at the
principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong,
an annual general meeting is called for a date six weeks or
less after the copy has been deposited, the copy though not
deposited within the time limit stated above shall be deemed to
have been properly deposited for the purposes thereof.

Any reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionists by
reason of the failure of the Directors duly to convene a general
meeting shall be repaid to the requisitionists by the Company.

Dividend Policy

The Company considers stable and sustainable returns to
the Shareholders to be the goal. The dividend policy aims
at enhancing transparency of the Company and facilitating
the Shareholders and investors to make informed investment
decisions relating to the Company.
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According to the dividend policy, while the Company intends to
declare and pay dividends in the future, the payment and the
amount of any dividends will depend on a number of factors,
including but not limited to:

(i)  the Group's actual and expected financial performance;

(ii)  the Group’s expected working capital requirements, capital
expenditure requirements and future expansion plans;

(iii) profits available for distribution, retained earnings and
distributable reserves of the Company and each of the
members of the Group;

(iv) the Group's liquidity position;

(v) the general economic conditions and other internal or
external factors that may have an impact on the business
or financial performance and position of the Group; and

(vi) any other factors that the Board deems appropriate and
relevant.

The Company in general meeting may declare dividends
in any currency but no dividends shall exceed the amount
recommended by the Board. The recommendation of the
dividends by the Company shall be determined at the sole
discretion of the Board and shall be subject to any restrictions
under the Companies Act and every other Act of Bermuda, the
Bye-laws of the Company and any applicable laws, rules and
regulations. Any declaration of annual dividend for the financial
year ended of the Company will be subject to the approval by
the Shareholders. The dividend policy adopted by the Board is
intended for the Company to maintain adequate cash reserves
to meet its capital requirements, fund its future growth and
enhance shareholder value when dividends are recommended.

The dividend policy will continue to be reviewed by the Board
from time to time and there can be no assurance that dividends

will be proposed or declared in any particular amount for any
given period.

27 March 2020
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eREPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

ESERE

The Directors present their report and the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
Details of the principal activities of the subsidiaries are set out
in note 38 to the consolidated financial statements. There were
no significant changes in the nature of the Group’s principal
activities during the Year.

Details of the analysis of the Group’s revenue for the Year by
geographical location are set out in note 6 to the consolidated
financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A discussion on the Group’s business review, and operating
and financial performance during the Year and a discussion
on the Group's future business development as well as the
Group's financial key performance indicators are included
in the “Chairman’s Statement” on pages 5 to 7 and the
“Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 8 to 32 of this
annual report.

Particulars on the Group’s environment policies and key
relationships with employees, customers, suppliers and others
were set out in the ESG Report on pages 270 to 299 of this
annual report. All these disclosures form part of the content of
the Report of the Directors.
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RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group is now operating in a highly competitive business
and economic environment,
segment. Manufacturing segment is greatly affected by its
customers which are highly volatile combined with rising labour

in particular, the manufacturing

and production costs. The Group’s manufacturing segment
has to compete with its competitors on various factors such
as product variety, product performance, customer service,
quality, pricing, new product innovation, timely delivery and
brand recognition. On the other hand, volatility in Hong Kong
securities market may affect the Group’s performance on listed
securities investments resulting in fluctuations in unrealised fair
value gains or losses. Rising in interest rate is highly likely and
this will affect not only the Group’s costs of borrowings but
also costs of purchases on materials. In addition to risks and
uncertainties mentioned above, the Group is also subject to
market risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and capital risk arising from
the normal course of the Group’s business and further details
of which are set out in note 43 to the consolidated financial
statements.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Group continues to commit to comply with the relevant
laws and regulations such as the Companies Act, Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance Cap 622 (“Companies Ordinance”), the
Listing Rules, and laws and regulations implemented by relevant
jurisdictions. The Company believes the existing laws and
regulations do not have any significant effect on the Group's
activities during the Year.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group’s loss for the Year and the state of affairs of the
Group at that date are set out in the consolidated financial
statements on pages 105 to 268.

The Board has resolved not to recommend any declaration of
dividend payment for the Year (31 December 2018: Nil).
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SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and assets and liabilities
of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from
the audited consolidated financial statements, is set out on
page 269. This summary does not form part of the audited
consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movement in the Company’s issued share capital for
the Year are set out in note 34 to the consolidated financial
statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s Bye-laws which would oblige the Company to offer
new shares on a pro rata basis to the existing Shareholders
though there are no restrictions against such rights under the
laws of Bermuda.

PURCHASE, SALES OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during
the Year.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group during
the Year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity on page 110.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

In accordance with the Companies Act, the contributed surplus
of the Company is available for distribution or payment of
dividends to the Shareholders provided that immediately
following such distribution or payment, the Company is able to
pay off its debts as and when they fall due.
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As at 31 December 2019, the Company’s reserves include share
premium of approximately HK$2,559,569,000 which may be
available for dividend distribution upon the passing of special
resolution by the Shareholders at the general meeting to reduce
the share premium amount and transfer it to contributed surplus
after offsetting with the accumulated losses of the Company.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the Year, the revenue from the largest and the five largest
customers amounted to approximately 14% (2018: 24%) and
45% (2018: 73%) of the Group’s revenue respectively.

For the Year, the purchase of materials from the largest and the
five largest suppliers amounted to approximately 16% (2018:
14%) and approximately 51% (2018: 44%) of the Group's total
purchases respectively.

None of the Directors, or any of their close associates or any
Shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the Directors,
own more than 5% of the number of issued shares of the
Company) has any interest in any of the five largest customers
and suppliers of the Group for the Year.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing
the consolidated financial statements of the Group on a going
concern basis, with supporting assumptions or qualifications as
necessary, for each financial period which give a true and fair
view of the financial affairs of the Group.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this report and based on information that is
publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of
the Directors, the Company has maintained the minimum public
float of 25% as required by the Listing Rules.
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Report of the Directors

Tenancy Agreement

EEgWmE
CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS BEBEXS
HEWH=R
On 26 May 2017, Topsearch Printed Circuits (HK) Limited R-ZT—+FHA -+ B EERSEER
(“Topsearch PC (HK)") as a tenant (an indirect wholly-owned (&B)ER A ([EERE] AQ 72 E#E

subsidiary of the Company), entered into a tenancy agreement
(the “Tenancy Agreement”) with Keentop Investment Limited
as a landlord (an investment holding company and a connected
person of the Company as defined under the Listing Rules,
which is beneficially owned as to 50% by each of Mr. Cheok,
an executive Director and his spouse, Mrs. Cheok Chu Wai Min)
in respect of the lease of the properties known as House 7 and
the Garden appurtenant thereto and Car Parking Spaces Nos.
7A and 7B on Basement Floor, Las Pinadas, No. 33 Shouson Hill
Road, Hong Kong for a lease term of three years commencing
from 1 June 2017 to 31 May 2020 (both days inclusive) as
director’s quarters provided to Mr. Cheok and his family.

Keentop Investment Limited charged Topsearch PC (HK) a
monthly rental of HK$165,000 (exclusive of rates, management
fee and other outgoings) and a monthly management fee
of HK$18,000. The annual cap under Tenancy Agreement is
HK$2,350,000. The terms of the Tenancy Agreement have been
negotiated on an arm’s length basis and are considered as fair
and reasonable and on normal commercial terms and in the
interests of the Company and the Shareholders as a whole. The
Tenancy Agreement is exempt from Shareholders’ approval,
annual review and all disclosure requirements under the Listing
Rules.

In respect of the Tenancy Agreement which constitute
continuing connected transaction of the Company, the INEDs
have reviewed the said transaction and confirmed that the said
transaction has been entered into:

(1) after arm’s length negotiation and for the purpose of and
in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(2) on normal commercial terms; and
(3) according to the Tenancy Agreement governing them on

terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of
the Shareholders as a whole.
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The Board confirmed that the Company’s external auditor
was engaged to report on the Group’s continuing connected
transaction in accordance with Hong Kong Standard
on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) "“Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical
Financial Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740
“Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under
the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. The auditor has issued their
unqualified letter(s) containing their findings and conclusions in
respect of the continuing connected transaction and confirmed
the matters set out in Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules as
follows. The auditor has reported their conclusions to the Board
stating that:

(@) nothing has come to the auditor’s attention that causes
them to believe that the said transaction has not been
approved by the Board;

(b) nothing has come to the auditor’s attention that causes

them to believe that the said transaction was not entered
in all material respects,
Tenancy Agreement governing the said transaction; and

into, in accordance with the

(c) with respect to the aggregate amount of each of the said
transaction, nothing has come to the auditor’s attention
that causes them to believe that the said transaction has
exceeded the annual capped amounts fixed in Tenancy
Agreement.
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Report of the Directors

EERHE

DIRECTORS
The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this report
were:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Liu Tingan (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Cheok Ho Fung (Deputy Chairman)

Mr. Shan Yongxin (appointed on 30 August 2019)

Non-executive Director:
Mr. Mao Yumin (resigned on 21 August 2019)
Mr. Li Yongjun (appointed on 30 August 2019)

INEDs:

Mr. Ng Man Kung
Mr. Lau Fai Lawrence
Mr. Mak Kwok Kei

In accordance with the Listing Rules and Bye-law 99 of the
Company's Bye-laws, at each annual general meeting, one-third
of the Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not a
multiple of three (3), the number nearest to but not less than
one-third) shall retire from office by rotation such that every
Director (including those appointed for a specific term) shall be
subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

Pursuant to the Listing Rules and Company’s Bye-law 102(B) of
the Company’s Bye-laws, the Board shall have power from time
to time and at any time to appoint any person as a Director
either to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the Board.
Any Director so appointed shall hold office only until the next
following general meeting of the Company and shall then be
eligible for re-election, but shall not be taken into account in
determining the Directors who are to retire by rotation at such
meeting.

=
RAFERBERAGERRZESTR:

BITEE:

RIS et (X EHRITHAEE)

SRESEE (FIEME)

BR&ERE (RZF-NFNA=1THEZE)

HHATEE:
ERREE (RZF-NFNA=-F—HEFL)
FPKREXRE (RZF-NFNNA=1THEZE)

BYHHTESE:
RXHEE
XL
EEERLE

BRI EHRARARR Z @8 ARIFE9%E 1
EERBFAEL BER=02Z—2EF (MW
EFEHEAF=Q)zEH AImEEEFAIR
R ZER)ARAEER BERES
(BREFEEHZIES) AELB=FHRAE
R—IRe

Rz EARRI R AR RABARRIFE102B) 1% &
EZARTBREEREREZEEMNALHE
EFENEARESFSTRAMAEZTZTE - ALK
HWEZREZESZEH BEZEREARARAR
RAE YA EREEET HEHIET AR
ZERWMEREIZETARA-

TE-AFEFH RESRMEEARALT 73



Report of the Directors

EXgWmE

Accordingly, Mr. Shan Yongxin (executive Director) and Mr.
Li Yongjun (non-executive Director) shall retire from office by
rotation pursuant to Bye-law 102(B) of the Company’s Bye-
laws, and Mr. Lau Fai Lawrence (INED) and Mr. Ng Man Kung
(INED) shall retire from office by rotation pursuant to Bye-law
99 of the Company's Bye-laws, all at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company.

All the retiring Directors being eligible, offer themselves for
re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company.

None of the Directors offering themselves for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company has any
service contract with the Company in respect of any unexpired
period which is not determinable by the Company within one
year without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Mr. Liu Tingan (“Mr. Liu”)

Mr. Liu, aged 58, is an executive Director, the chairman of the
Board, the chief executive officer of the Company and the
chairman of the Executive Committee since 22 March 2016.
Since his appointment, Mr. Liu is responsible for the overall
strategic and business development of the Group. Mr. Liu
graduated from the Jiangxi University of Finance and Economics,
China with a bachelor’s degree in Economics in 1983. He
attained a master’s degree in Economics at Renmin University of
China in 1987. In 1990, Mr. Liu joined a scholarship programme
in Monetary Policy and Financial Markets launched by the
University of Oxford, the United Kingdom. Mr. Liu has over 30
years of experience in finance management.
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Mr. Liu was the managing director and chief investment officer
of Reorient Financial Group Limited. Mr. Liu was also the
managing director of Reorient Global Limited (being a subsidiary
of Yunfeng Financial Group Limited (formerly known as Reorient
Group Limited) (HKSE Stock Code: 0376) from July to December
2015. He was the deputy chairman and president of China
Life Insurance (Overseas) Company Limited from June 2008 to
March 2015. Mr. Liu worked at China Life Insurance Company
Limited (“China Life") (HKSE Stock Code: 2628) and was the
board secretary general and spokesman of China Life between
November 2003 and May 2008. He was the general manager of
the investment centre of former China Life between September
2000 and May 2004. Mr. Liu has been the council member of
Hong Kong Institute of Directors since 2014 and was the deputy
chairman of Hong Kong Institute of Directors from 2014 to
2018. Mr. Liu was a member of Insurance Advisory Committee
of the Government of HKSAR from 2010 to 2016, a member of
Financial Services Development Council of the Government of
HKSAR from 2013 to 2017, a member of the Listing Committee
of the Stock Exchange from 2010 to 2015. From 2008 to
2015, he was the executive director of the Hong Kong Chinese
Enterprises Association.
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On 8 March 2016, the Company has entered into a service
agreement with Mr. Liu on his appointment as an executive
Director, Chairman, Chief Executive Officer for a term of three
years commencing on 22 March 2016. The term is renewable
automatically for successive term of three years on the same
terms and conditions, unless notified by either party in writing
of its decision not to renew the agreement. Such agreement
may be terminated by either party as agreed which should not
exceed one year. He is subject to retirement by rotation and
re-election at the annual general meeting of the Company
pursuant to the Company's Bye-laws. His remuneration will
be approved by the Board subject to the authority granted by
the Shareholders to authorise the Board to fix the Directors’
remuneration at the annual general meeting of the Company
with reference to his duties and responsibilities with the
Company and the prevailing market situation and shall be
reviewed by the Remuneration Committee from time to time.

Mr. Liu's service agreement was renewed automatically for
successive term of three years on the same terms and conditions
therein on 22 March 2019. Subsequently, he entered into a
supplemental agreement with the Company on 28 June 2019 to
change some conditions in relation to his basic salary, fixed and
discretionary bonus and Share Award Scheme under the clause
of remuneration and benefits which had been reviewed by the
Remuneration Committee of the Board and approved by the
Board with reference to his duties and responsibilities with the
Company and the prevailing market situation. Save as disclosed
above, the other clauses in the service agreement remain
unchanged.

Under the employment agreement with Mr. Liu, he was entitled
to receive an annual remuneration of HK$13,099,000 and an
annual discretionary bonus subject to the approval of the Board.
The remuneration and benefits were determined with reference
to Mr. Liu's past working experience, duties and responsibilities
with the Company and the prevailing market situation.
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Save as disclosed above, Mr. Liu has not held any other position
with the Company or other members of the Group and he
has not held any directorship in any other public companies
the securities of which are listed on any securities market in
Hong Kong or overseas in the past three years. Other than
the relationship arising from being an executive Director,
the chairman of the Board, the chief executive officer of the
Company and the chairman of the Executive Committee, Mr.
Liu does not have any relationships with any other Directors,
senior management, substantial shareholders, or controlling
shareholders (as defined in the Listing Rules) of the Company.
Details of Mr.
positions in the shares or underlying shares and debentures
of the Company or its associated cooperations within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO as at 31 December 2019 have
been disclosed in this annual report on page 93 under the
section headed “Directors’ Interests in Shares and Underlying
Shares”. There are no other matters concerning Mr. Liu that
need to be brought to the attention of the Shareholders nor any
information required to be disclosed pursuant to sub-paragraphs
(h) to (v) of Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules.

Liu's interest or deemed interest and short

Mr. Cheok Ho Fung (“Mr. Cheok”)

Mr. Cheok (alias: Peter), aged 68, is an executive Director,
deputy chairman of the Board and a member of the Executive
Committee. He is also the founder of the Group.

Mr. Cheok has over 30 years of experience in the PCBs industry
and is also involved in the business of real estates development
in China, and other high-tech products.

Mr. Cheok had held the positions of financial controller and
various management positions in different multinational
companies involved in computer related products, application
systems, motor vehicles and agricultural equipment, ship
repairing and oil-rig construction, business-form printing and
PCBs manufacturing. Mr. Cheok has been a fellow member of
the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants since 1980,
a fellow member of the Chartered Institute of Management
Accountants since 1981 and the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants since 1990.
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Mr. Cheok has entered into a service agreement with the
Company on 30 May 2002 for an initial fixed term of three
years and shall continue thereafter for successive terms of one
year each commencing from the day immediately following
the expiry of the then current terms of the service agreement.
Such agreement may be terminated by either party by giving
not less than six months’ written notice to the other party.
He is subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the
annual general meeting of the Company pursuant to the Bye-
laws of the Company. His remuneration and performance
bonus was approved by the Board subject to the authority
granted by the Shareholders to authorise the Board to fix the
Directors’ remuneration at the annual general meeting of the
Company with reference to his duties and responsibilities with
the Company and the prevailing market situation and shall be
reviewed by the Remuneration Committee from time to time.
Under the employment agreement with Mr. Cheok, he was
entitled to receive an annual remuneration of HK$5,433,000
including the housing benefits in kind for the Year.

Prior to 15 January 2016, Mr. Cheok was one of the substantial
Shareholders (as defined under the Listing Rules), a director and
a shareholder of Inni International Inc. which was also one of
the substantial Shareholders.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Cheok has not held any other
position with the Company or other members of the Group
and he has not held any other directorships in any other public
companies the securities of which are listed on any securities
market in Hong Kong or overseas in the last three years. Other
than the relationship arising from being an executive Director,
deputy chairman of the Board and a member of the Executive
Committee, and being the father of Mr. Cheok Lup Yin, Eric,
Mr. Cheok does not have any relationships with any other
Directors and senior management, substantial shareholders or
controlling shareholders of the Company. Mr. Cheok has no
interest or deemed interest and short positions in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO) and there are no other matters concerning Mr. Cheok that
need to be brought to the attention of the Shareholders nor any
information required to be disclosed pursuant to sub-paragraphs
(h) to (v) of Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules.
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Mr. Shan Yongxin (“Mr. Shan”)

Mr. Shan, aged 40, is an executive Director of the Board and a
member of the Executive Committee. He joined the Group on
30 August 2019.

Mr. Shan obtained a Master’s degree in Economics from Central
University of Finance and Economics, the PRC in June 2004. He
was granted the qualification as a chartered financial analyst
("CFA") by CFA Institute certified by the Occupational Skill
Testing Authority of Ministry of Human Resources and Social
Security of the PRC in March 2010 and was registered as a
nonpracticing member of the Chinese Institute of Certified
Public Accountants since September 2011.

Mr. Shan has over 15 years of working experience in corporate
finance, merger and acquisition, audit consulting and financial
management. From August 2004 to July 2011, Mr. Shan worked
with PricewaterhouseCoopers in Beijing. He was a departmental
manager prior to leaving PricewaterhouseCoopers in Beijing. Mr.
Shan then served with PricewaterhouseCoopers in New Zealand
during the period from August 2011 to July 2014. He was a
senior manager prior to leaving PricewaterhouseCoopers in New
Zealand. From December 2014 to April 2016, Mr. Shan was the
finance-in-charge officer of Anbang Insurance Group (USA).
During the period from April 2016 to September 2018, Mr.
Shan worked with Beijing Orient Landscape & Environment Co.,
Ltd., whose shares are listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange
(stock code: 002310). He had served in its various subsidiaries
and was a vice-president of one of its various subsidiaries before
he left. Since March 2019, Mr. Shan has been serving as the
vice president of Eternal Glory Holdings Limited, a substantial
Shareholder of the Company.
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On 30 August 2019, the Company has entered into a service
contract with Mr. Shan on his appointments as an executive
Director and a member of the Executive Committee for an
initial term of three years commencing from 30 August 2019.
The term is renewable automatically for successive term of
three years on the same terms and conditions, unless not less
than thirty days’ notice given by either party in writing of its
decision not to renew the agreement. Such agreement may
be terminated by either party by giving not less than three
months’ written notice to the other party. He is subject to
retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual general
meeting of the Company pursuant to the Company’s Bye-laws.
His remuneration was approved by the Board subject to the
authority granted by the Shareholders to authorise the Board to
fix the Directors’ remuneration at the annual general meeting
of the Company with reference to his duties and responsibilities
with the Company and the prevailing market situation and
shall be reviewed by the Remuneration Committee from time
to time. Under the employment agreement with Mr. Shan, he
was entitled to an annual remuneration of HK$731,000 for
the period from 30 August 2019 (the date of his appointment)
to 31 December 2019 (i.e. HK$1,000,000 per annum from
30 August 2019 to 20 October 2019, and adjusted to
HK$3,000,000 per annum since 21 October 2019).

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Shan has not held any other
position with the Company or other members of the Group
and he has not hold any directorship in any other public
companies the securities of which are listed on any securities
market in Hong Kong or overseas in the past three years. Other
than the relationship arising from being an executive Director
of the Board and a member of the Executive Committee, Mr.
Shan does not have any relationships with any other Directors,
senior management, substantial shareholders or controlling
shareholders of the Company. Mr. Shan has no interest or
deemed interest and short positions in the shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company or its associated
corporations within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO, and
there are no other matters concerning Mr. Shan that need
to brought to the attention of the Shareholders nor any
information required to be disclosed pursuant to sub-paragraphs
(h) to (v) of Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules.
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Non-executive Director

Mr. Mao Yumin (“Mr. Mao”)

Mr. Mao, aged 65, joined the Group on 10 March 2017 as a
non-executive Director and resigned on 21 August 2019. He has
over 30 years of experience in the banking and financial sector.
Prior to Mr. Mao's retirement from China Construction Bank in
May 2016, he was the executive director and the chief executive
officer of China Construction Bank (Asia) from July 2013 to May
2016; he was the chief executive of China Construction Bank,
Hong Kong Branch from April 2011 to May 2016; the chief
investment officer of China Construction Bank from September
2007 to March 20171;
chairman of China Construction Bank (London) from January
2009 to June 2011; and the executive director and the vice
chairman of China Construction Bank (Asia) from September
2007 to March 2011. From March 2011 to January 2017, he
served as a non- executive director of China Construction Bank
International (Holdings) Limited.

the non-executive director and the

Mr. Mao was the non-executive director of Kong Sun Holdings
Limited (HKSE Stock Code: 0295) from April 2017 to May
2017. He was the executive director and chief executive officer
of Shanghai Aijian Corporation Limited from June 2006 to
July 2007 (a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange,
stock code: 600643). He was the senior vice president and the
executive director of Cathay International Holdings Limited (a
company listed on the London Stock Exchange, stock code: CTI),
from May 2003 to June 2006. He was the chief executive of
China Construction Bank, Hong Kong Branch from March 1997
to March 2003 and was the general manager of International
Department of China Construction Bank head office from May
1994 to December 1996.
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Currently, Mr. Mao holds directorships in various companies.
He has served as a non-executive director of JiangSu Zeyun
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd since June 2016 and Construction
Bank (Asia) Corporation Limited since August 2016. Since July
2016, he also has served as an independent director of each of
China Galaxy International Financial Holdings Limited, a licensed
corporation to conduct regulated activities under the SFO and
China Life Insurance (Overseas) Company Limited, a corporation
principally engaged in the provision of life insurance, investment
and provident fund services. Since 4 February 2019, he has
served as vice chairman and president of Macao Development
Bank.

Mr. Mao received his bachelor’'s degree in finance from Jiangxi
University of Finance and Economics in 1983 and completed
the Program for Management Development (the 70th Session)
in Graduate School of Business Administration of Harvard
University in 1995.

Mr. Mao has been appointed by the Board for an initial term
of three years commencing from 10 March 2017, which is
renewable automatically for successive term of three years
on the same terms and conditions, unless it is terminable by
either party by giving to the other three months’ prior notice in
writing. He is subject to retirement by rotation and re-election
at the annual general meeting of the Company pursuant to the
Company’s Bye-laws. His remuneration will be approved by the
Board subject to the authority granted by the Shareholders to
authorize the Board to fix the Directors’ remuneration at the
annual general meeting of the Company with reference to his
duties and responsibilities with the Company and the prevailing
market situation and shall be reviewed by the Remuneration
Committee from time to time. Under the employment
agreement with Mr. Mao, he was entitled to receive an annual
remuneration of HK$384,000 for the period from 1 January
2019 to 21 August 2019, being the last day of his engagement
with the Group. (i.e. HK$600,000 per annum since 23 July
2018).
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Save as disclosed above, Mr. Mao has not held any other
position with the Company or other members of the Group and
he has not hold any directorship in any other public companies
the securities of which are listed on any securities market in
Hong Kong or overseas in the past three years. Other than
the relationship arising from being a non-executive Director of
the Board, Mr. Mao does not have any relationships with any
other Directors, senior management, substantial shareholders
or controlling shareholders of the Company. Mr. Mao has no
interest or deemed interest and short positions in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or its
associated corporations within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO, and there are no other matters concerning Mr. Mao that
need to brought to the attention of the Shareholders nor any
information required to be disclosed pursuant to sub-paragraphs
(h) to (v) of Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules.

Mr. Li Yongjun (“Mr. Li”)
Mr. Li, aged 51, is a non-executive Director of the Board. He
joined the Group on 30 August 2019.

Mr. Li obtained a degree of Executive Master of Business
Administration from Cheung Kong Graduate School of Business
in the PRC in September 2008. He obtained a qualification
certificate as a senior engineer in the PRC in July 2001.
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Mr. Li has over 20 years’ working experience in enterprise
strategic decision making and corporate management. He is
currently the president of Yongxinhua Holding Group Co., Ltd.
(together with its subsidiaries, the “Yongxinhua Holding").
Mr. Li founded the Yongxinhua Holding in 2003, which is an
integrated and multipurpose corporation and a co-partner of
United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organisation
(UNESCO) in the world intangible cultural heritage industry.
Its principal activities include equity investment in financial
institutions, cultural industry integration and innovation
development, development and construction of cultural industry
park and protection of intangible cultural heritage. Since May
2018, Mr. Li has been serving as an executive director and
vice chairman of the board of directors of Crown International
Corporation Limited, a company whose shares are listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange (HKSE Stock Code: 727).
Mr. Li was the chief executive officer of Crown International
Corporation Limited from July 2018 to March 2019.

Mr. Li is also the Asia chairman of the Global Hope Coalition,
the vice chairman of the “Belt and Road” Silk Road Planning
Researching Center, the vice chairman of the China Industry
University Research Collaboration Association and the vice
chairman of the China Intangible Cultural Heritage Protection
Association.
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On 30 August 2019, the Company has entered into a service
contract with Mr. Li on his appointment as a non-executive
Director for an initial term of three years commencing from 30
August 2019, which is renewable automatically for successive
term of three years on the same terms and conditions, unless it
is terminable by either party by giving to the other one month’s
prior notice in writing. He is subject to retirement by rotation
and re-election at the annual general meeting of the Company
pursuant to the Company’s Bye-laws. His remuneration was
approved by the Board subject to the authority granted by
the Shareholders to authorize the Board to fix the Directors’
remuneration at the annual general meeting of the Company
with reference to his duties and responsibilities with the
Company and the prevailing market situation and shall be
reviewed by the Remuneration Committee from time to time.
Under the employment agreement with Mr. Li, he was entitled
to receive an annual remuneration of HK$203,000 for the
period from 30 August 2019 (the date of his appointment) to
31 December 2019 (i.e. HK$600,000 per annum).

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Li has not held any other position
with the Company or other members of the Group and he
has not held any directorship in any other public companies
the securities of which are listed on any securities market in
Hong Kong or overseas in the past three years. Other than
the relationship arising from being a non-executive Director
of the Board, Mr. Li does not have any relationships with any
other Directors, senior management, substantial shareholders,
or controlling shareholders of the Company. Details of Mr.
Li's interest or deemed interest and short positions in the
shares or underlying shares and debentures of the Company
or its associated corporation within the meaning of Part XV of
the SFO as at 31 December 2019 have been disclosed in this
annual report on page 93 under the section headed “Directors’
Interests in Shares and Underlying Shares”. There are no other
matters concerning Mr. Li that need to be brought to the
attention of the Shareholders nor any information required to be
disclosed pursuant to sub-paragraphs (h) to (v) of Rule 13.51(2)
of the Listing Rules.

ARARR_E—AENA=Z+HRZTXEEH
ZHEBRBIEVTES FTURBHE B=F
—NWENA=ZTRAARAS=F —FTHE
MEAIEERBER R G EBERS KRIEHE
F—HA RSB —HEE TR —EARNE
T 388 0 F LA AR LE o 18 AR IR AR A &) 48 45 48 B A
AARBRBAFRG LR RERRERET-
HFZHMEehARERARARRERAFRE LK
B BRESCETEENekbmESSM
VW EREFERNARRETZBERETR
ERITN RERFHES S TRETR R
BEFEATLZRERE BR_2Z—1F
NA=Z+H (EEZAZA)E-Z—hA&F+=
A=1+—HBMEMEAE#EKE203,0008T22
Fi& (BE4600,00087T) °

Br EXXFTIEBEEIN FEETEETARA K
REEEAMAKE QR 2 ERHEMEA - TR ER
BEZFREBBIEIMEABLFMS LETZ
FREMARAREEERESBA -BREE
EENTEETAMEE BRI THRERRD
AIMEMNES SATEE TEREHIER
BRERECMNEE-TEEN T —NF+=
A=+—B&EAQFSHAEER (EER (F
FH M ERE G EXVER) Bk - BEARMD RE
BETFREZEERABRZFBERAFRSE
BVEERIEERNROLRBEERND 2 =] —
BEE VEAWEMEEAFTIECEHEEASR
FEREREE MECMAERARE ETAHERNE
13 512QBEBNEVDER 2R EIFHBEE-

TE-AFEFH RESRMEEARALT 85



Report of the Directors

E=Zgms
INEDs BIYFHTES
Mr. Ng Man Kung (“Mr. Ng”) RXHEE ([RELE])

Mr. Ng, aged 68, is an INED. He joined the Group on 22
March 2016. He is currently the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee, a member of the Audit Committee and a member
of the Nomination Committee.

Mr. Ng graduated from Hong Kong Polytechnic University with
an attendance certificate in banking. Mr. Ng has been senior
management in banking industry of Hong Kong for 28 years. He
was appointed as the managing director and general manager
of Chiyu Banking Corporation Limited in 1992 and the vice-
chairman and chief executive of Chiyu Banking Corporation
Limited in 2001. He retired from Chiyu Banking Corporation
Limited in 2012. Mr. Ng was a member of the council of the
Hong Kong Polytechnic University from 1999 to 2003 and
was a member of Fujian Provincial Committee of the Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference from 1993 to 2013.
Mr. Ng served as a business consultant of China Orient Asset
Management (International) Holdings Limited from January
2014 to April 2015 and a non-executive director of Roma
Group Limited (HKSE Stock Code: 8072) from August 2017 to
December 2017. He has been appointed as the chairman of the
supervisory board of Well Link Bank in Macau since 31 March
2018.

Mr. Ng is currently the INED of Fujian Holdings Limited
(HKSE Stock Code: 181) since June 2014, the INED of ELL
Environmental Holdings Limited (HKSE Stock Code: 1395) since
September 2014, the INED of Guoan International Limited (HKSE
Stock Code: 143) since March 2016, the INED of Shanghai
Zendai Property Limited (HKSE Stock Code: 755) since May 2017
and the the INED of Green Future Food Hydrocolloid Marine
Science Company Limited (HKSE Stock Code: 1084) since
September 2019.
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Mr. Ng had signed a letter of appointment with the Company
as an INED for an initial term of three years effective from 22
March 2016. The term is renewable automatically for successive
terms of three years each commencing from the next day after
the expiry of the then current term of appointment, unless
terminated by not less than three months’ notice in writing
served by the INED or the Company expiring at the end of the
initial term or at any time thereafter. He is subject to retirement
by rotation and re-election at the annual general meeting of the
Company pursuant to the Bye-laws of the Company.

Mr. Ng was entitled to a director’s fee of HK$220,000 for the
Year. The director’s fee payable to Mr. Ng was approved by the
Board subject to the authority granted by the Shareholders to
authorise the Board to fix the Directors’ remuneration at the
annual general meeting of the Company with reference to his
duties and responsibilities with the Company and the prevailing
market situation and shall be reviewed by the Remuneration
Committee from time to time.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Ng has not held any other position
with the Company or other members of the Group and he
has not held any directorship in any other public companies
the securities of which are listed on any securities market in
Hong Kong or overseas in the past three years. Other than
the relationship arising from being an INED, the chairman
of the Remuneration Committee, a member of the Audit
Committee and a member of the Nomination Committee, Mr.
Ng does not have any relationships with any other Directors,
senior management, substantial shareholders, or controlling
shareholders of the Company. Mr. Ng has no interest or deemed
interest and short positions in the shares or underlying shares
and debentures of the Company or its associated corporations
within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO, and there are no
other matters concerning Mr. Ng that need to be brought to the
attention of the Shareholders nor any information required to be
disclosed pursuant to sub-paragraphs (h) to (v) of Rule 13.51(2)
of the Listing Rules.
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Mr. Lau Fai Lawrence (“Mr. Lau”)

Mr. Lau, aged 48, is an INED. He joined the Group on 22 March
2016. He is currently the chairman of the Audit Committee, a
member of the Nomination Committee and a member of the
Remuneration Committee.

Mr. Lau is currently a practising certified public accountant
in Hong Kong and a fellow member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants in the UK. Mr. Lau graduated
from The University of Hong Kong with a bachelor’s degree in
business administration in 1994 and obtained a master’s degree
in corporate finance from Hong Kong Polytechnic University in
2007.

Mr. Lau joined BBMG Corporation on 6 August 2008 as joint
company secretary and qualified accountant. Since 26 October
2012, Mr. Lau has been serving as the company secretary of
BBMG Corporation.

Before joining BBMG Corporation, Mr. Lau has served as the
group financial controller and qualified accountant of Founder
Holdings Limited (HKSE Stock Code: 418) and Peking University
Resources (Holdings) Company Limited (HKSE Stock Code:
618), both companies listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange. Mr. Lau is an executive director of Future World
Financial Holdings Limited (listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange) (HKSE Stock Code: 572). Mr. Lau is an INED
of each of Artini Holdings Limited (HKSE Stock Code: 789)
Titan Petrochemicals Group Limited (HKSE Stock Code: 1192)
and Tenwow International Holdings Limited (in provisional
liquidation) (HKSE Stock Code: 1219), all of these companies are
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, respectively.
Mr. Lau was an INED of Alltronics Holdings Limited (HKSE Stock
Code: 833) from March 2017 to December 2018 and Winto
Group (Holdings) Limited (HKSE Stock Code: 8238) from April
2019 to November 2019.

Mr. Lau has been appointed as the INED of Sinopharm Tech
Holdings Limited (HKSE Stock Code: 8156) since January 2020,
whose shares are listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange
and appointed as the INED of China Energine International
(Holdings) Limited (HKSE Stock Code: 1185) since March
2020, whose shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange.
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Mr. Lau had signed a letter of appointment with the Company
as an INED for an initial term of three years effective from 22
March 2016. The term of INED is renewable automatically for
successive terms of three years each commencing from the next
day after the expiry of the then current term of appointment,
unless terminated by not less than three months’ notice in
writing served by the INED or the Company expiring at the
end of the initial term or at any time thereafter. He is subject
to retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual general
meeting of the Company pursuant to the Bye-laws of the
Company.

Mr. Lau was entitled to a director’s fee of HK$220,000 for the
Year. The director’s fee payable to Mr. Lau was approved by the
Board subject to the authority granted by the Shareholders to
authorise the Board to fix the Directors’
annual general meeting of the Company with reference to his
duties and responsibilities with the Company and the prevailing
market situation and shall be reviewed by the Remuneration
Committee from time to time.

remuneration at the

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Lau has not held any other position
with the Company or other members of the Group and he
has not held any directorship in any other public companies
the securities of which are listed on any securities market in
Hong Kong or overseas in the past three years. Other than the
relationship arising from being an INED, the chairman of the
Audit Committee, a member of the Nomination Committee
and a member of the Remuneration Committee, Mr. Lau
does not have any relationships with any other Directors,
senior management, substantial shareholders, or controlling
shareholders of the Company. Mr. Lau has no interest or
deemed interest and short positions in the shares or underlying
shares and debentures of the Company or its associated
corporations within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO, and
there are no other matters concerning Mr. Lau that need
to be brought to the attention of the Shareholders nor any
information required to be disclosed pursuant to sub-paragraphs
(h) to (v) of Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules.
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Mr. Mak Kwok Kei (“Mr. Mak”)

Mr. Mak (alias: Eric), aged 34, is an INED. He joined the Group
on 17 July 2018. He is currently the chairman of the Nomination
Committee and a member of each of the Audit Committee and
the Remuneration Committee.

Mr. Mak has over ten years of experience in securities sales and
trading and capital markets advisory at various international
investment banks, specialising in initial public offerings and
capital fund raising for companies in Hong Kong and China.
He worked as a trainee in Credit Agricole Corporate and
Investment Bank (Hong Kong Branch), a financial services
company, where he was mainly engaged in transacting various
high grade corporate and government bonds with central
banks in Asia, from September 2009 to November 2010. He
also worked at Nomura International (Hong Kong) Limited, a
financial services company, as associate where he was mainly
engaged in both primary and secondary equity fund raising
activities for listed companies and high-net-worth individuals
in Asia, from November 2010 to August 2015. From October
2015 to June 2018, he has served as a managing director and
head of equity capital markets in Zhongtai International Capital
Limited, a corporate finance advisory company. He is primarily
responsible for providing capital markets advisory services to
clients and operating and managing the equity capital markets
franchise. Since January 2019, he has served as member of
executive committee and head of investment banking division
of Soochow Securities International Capital Limited (formerly
known as China Investment Securities (Hong Kong) Financial
Holdings Limited). He is in charge of the investment banking
division, including IPO sponsoring, debt and equity fund raising
and financial advisory.

Mr. Mak has been a limited partner in WI Harper Fund VI
LP, which is mainly engaged in venture capital investments in
healthcare and technology sectors, since May 2016.

Mr. Mak is currently an INED of Lapco Holdings Limited (HKSE

Stock Code: 8472), whose shares are listed on the GEM of the
Stock Exchange.
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Mr. Mak obtained a bachelor degree with first class honour in
applied business management from Imperial College London,
United Kingdom in August 2008 and subsequently obtained
a master degree in philosophy from University of Cambridge,
United Kingdom in October 2009.

Mr. Mak had signed a letter of appointment with the Company
as an INED for an initial term of three years effective from 17
July 2018. The term of INED is renewable automatically for
successive terms of three years each commencing from the next
day after the expiry of the then current term of appointment,
unless terminated by not less than three months’ notice in
writing served by the INED or the Company expiring at the
end of the initial term or at any time thereafter. He is subject
to retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual general
meeting of the Company pursuant to the Bye-laws of the
Company.

Mr. Mak was entitled to a Director fee of HK$220,000 for the
Year.The director’s fee payable to Mr. Mak was approved by the
Board subject to the authority granted by the Shareholders to
authorise the Board to fix the Directors’ remuneration at the
annual general meeting of the Company with reference to his
duties and responsibilities with the Company and the prevailing
market situation and shall be reviewed by the Remuneration
Committee from time to time.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Mak has not held any other
position with the Company or other members of the Group and
he has not held any directorship in any other public companies
the securities of which are listed on any securities market in
Hong Kong or overseas in the past three years. Other than the
relationship arising from being an INED, the chairman of the
Nomination Committee, a member of the Audit Committee
and a member of the Remuneration Committee, Mr. Mak does
not have any relationships with any other Directors, senior
management or substantial or controlling shareholders of the
Company. Mr. Mak has no interest or deemed interest and short
positions in the shares or underlying shares and debentures of
the Company or its associated corporations within the meaning
of Part XV of the SFO, and there are no other matters relating
to Mr. Mak that need to be brought to the attention of the
Shareholders, nor any information required to be disclosed
pursuant to sub— paragraphs (h) to (v) of Rule 13.51(2) of the
Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed above under the heading “Biographical Details
of Directors”, none of the Directors has or is proposed to have
a service contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries,
which is not determinable by the employer within one year
without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND EQUITY-
SETTLED SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION
BENEFITS, AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS

Details of the remuneration and equity-settled share-based
compensation benefits of the Directors and five highest paid
individuals are set out in notes 13 and 14 to the consolidated
financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in note 41 to the consolidated financial
statements, no Director or an entity connected with a Director
had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, in any
transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to the
business of the Group to which any member of the Group was a
party subsisting during the Year or as at 31 December 2019.

DIRECTORS' INTEREST IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the Year, none of the Directors or their respective close
associates had engaged in or had any interest in any business
apart from the Group’s business which competes or may
compete, either directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the
Group.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to Bye-law 178 of the Bye-laws of the Company
and subject to the provisions permitted by the Companies
Ordinance, every Director, or, other officers of the Company
shall be indemnified out of the assets of the Company against
all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which
he may incur or sustain in or about the execution of the duties
of his office. The permitted indemnity provision made by the
Company for the benefit of the Directors and other officers of
the Company is in force.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

1.

Directors’ interests in Shares

As at 31 December 2019, the interests and short positions
of the Directors, the chief executive of the Company in the
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company
or its associated corporation (within the meaning of Part
XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO,
or as otherwise required to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of
Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions
which they were taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO), or pursuant to the Model Code
were as follows:
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The Company AT
Percentage to
Nature of Number of total issued
Name of Director Capacity interest held ordinary shares share capital
EE 1T
BEEHR 54 EaEtE FEEBEREE RAE DL
Mr. Liu Tingan Beneficial owner Long position 36,306,000 1.64%
Bl w4t ERnfEBA e
Mr. Li Yongjun Interests of Long position 360,000,000 16.30%
corporation
controlled
FRERE REEZEHERZ HE
R

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2019, none
of the Directors or chief executive of the Company had
any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying
shares or debentures of the Company or its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or required
to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests or short positions which they were
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO)
or pursuant to the Model Code.
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2. Directors’ Interests in Share Options of the
Company
As at 31 December 2019, none of the Company's
Directors held share options of the Company because the
Company’s share option scheme had been expired on 30
May 2012.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

Long positions in Shares:

As at 31 December 2019, the interests and short positions of
every person, other than a Director or chief executive of the
Company in the shares and underlying shares of the Company
as recorded in the register required to be kept under Section
336 of the SFO were as follows:

2. EERAFRABEBREZES
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Number of Percentage to

Nature of ordinary total issued
Name of shareholders Notes Capacity interest shares held share capital
HE#T
REAS it &6 ERME FEEBERHE RAEB D
Youfu Investment Co., Ltd. (“Youfu”) (1) Beneficial owner Long position 902,316,957 40.87%
BRERKEERA R ([BER]) BERERA weE
Mr. Sun Mingwen (1) Interests of corporation  Long position 902,316,957 40.87%
controlled
FRBA X5 REEHEE 2 e
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share capital of Zhisheng and is deemed to be interested in the
170,097,333 Shares, representing approximately 7.70% of the
total issued Shares held by Zhisheng under the SFO.

Number of
Nature of ordinary Percentage of
Name of shareholders Notes Capacity interest shares held Issued capital
EERT
BRREW it B EEME FEBEEEREE BEBD L
Eternal Glory Holdings Limited (2)  Beneficial owner Long position 360,000,000 16.30%
("Eternal Glory")
KIEEEERAF ([KHFEEKE]) ERABA ey
Ms. Liu Xinjun (2)  Interests of corporation Long position 360,000,000 16.30%
controlled
BISTE LT REZESER 2 HeE
Zhisheng Enterprise Investment Co., (3)  Beneficial owner Long position 170,097,333 7.70%
Ltd. (“Zhisheng”)
BHexREER A ([EB]) EnBEAA we
Mr. Zhu Yanbin (3) Interests of corporation Long position 170,097,333 7.70%
controlled
KEMEE REZEGEE 2 ey
Notes: k=2
Mr. Sun Mingwen is the beneficial owner of the entire issued 1. FHRAXEAEABEREICDBTRAZEREES
share capital of Youfu and is deemed to be interested in the ARBEBELFRBEGRIBEEANERIFTEZ
902,316,957 Shares, representing approximately 40.87% of the 902,316,957iK AR 0 A A #E 2= - 15 B B I TR AR
total issued Shares held by Youfu under the SFO. AEEX)40.87% ©
Ms. Liu Xinjun is the spouse of Mr. Li Yongjun. The shares of 2. ZBIMEL+TATKELLEZEB kFEELEE
Eternal Glory are owned as to 50% by Mr. Li Yongjun and as 2RO BAEXRKELERBFELLILORIES
to 50% by Ms. Liu Xinjun. Thus, Mr. Li Yongjun and Ms. Liu 50%ME 7 o UL - AR IR FE 5 S HAE IR 0] - ZF K
Xinjun are deemed to be interested in the 360,000,000 Shares, BERERIFELIHRAR KT ELREIFTE
representing approximately 16.30% of the total issued Shares 360,000,0000% A% 7 A #E A #E 2=+ (h B B 1TARA
held by Eternal Glory under the SFO. BEE4)16.30% ©
Mr. Zhu Yanbin is the beneficial owner of the entire issued 3. SEBEAEABEBEACBITRAZEREES
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SUBSEQUENT EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

There are no significant events subsequent to 31 December
2019 which would materially affect the Group’s operating
and financial performance as of the date of this report, except
the matters which are set forth under the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report.

AUDITOR

A resolution for the re-appointment of BDO Limited, the
Company'’s retiring external auditor, and being eligible, who will
offer themselves for reappointment, would be proposed for the
consideration, and if thought fit, to be approved by members at
the Company’s forthcoming annual general meeting.

The financial statements of the Group for the Year have been
audited by BDO Limited and reviewed by the Audit Committee.

On behalf of the Board

Liu Tingan
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Hong Kong, 27 March 2020
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

18 M 1% B S

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF HKBRIDGE FINANCIAL
HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
HKBridge Financial Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (together the “Group”) set out on pages 105 to
268, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2019, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2019 and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS OF OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing ("HKSAs"”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements” section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's “Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants” (the “Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING
CONCERN

We draw attention to note 3(b) in the consolidated financial
statements, which indicates that the Group incurred a
consolidated net loss of approximately HK$658,686,000 during
the year ended 31 December 2019. As stated in note 3(b), this
condition, along with other matters as set forth in note 3(b) to
the consolidated financial statements, indicate the existence of
a material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. Our opinion is
not modified in respect to this matter.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion
on these matters.

Impairment assessment of loans to associates, note
receivables and loan receivables

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had loans to associates
of approximately HK$284,602,000, note receivables of
HK$1,184,960,000 and loan receivables of approximately
HK$1,363,967,000. impairment of
HK$321,870,000 in aggregate has been recognised on these
balances as at 31 December 2019.

Provision for

Assessing impairment of these balances is a subjective
area as it requires application of judgement and uses of
estimates. Judgement is applied in assessing the risk of
default of the underlying borrowers which include assessment
on creditworthiness, repayment history and day past due
information of the underlying borrowers. Estimates are also
required in assessing the recoverable amount of collaterals of
credit-impaired receivables.

We have identified impairment assessment of these balances as
a key audit matter due to considerable amount of judgement
and estimation being required in conducting impairment
assessment as mentioned in the foregoing paragraph.
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Refer to summary of significant accounting policies in note 4(i)
(ii), critical accounting estimates and judgements in note 5(b)
(iv) and disclosure of management’s impairment assessment of
loans to associates, note receivables and loan receivables in note
43(iii) to the consolidated financial statements, respectively.

Our response:
Our procedures in relation to management’s impairment
assessment on these balances included:

o Evaluating management’s impairment assessment
on the default risk of these balances by challenging
management’s views of probability of default events of
amounts outstanding.

o Challenging management'’s view of risk of default and loss
given default of these balances by:

- performing background search of the underlying
borrowers;

— evaluating other evidences including financial
information, day past due information and credit
rating of the underlying borrowers available;

—  evaluating the appropriateness of methodology and
assumptions adopted in estimating the fair value of
the collaterals with the assistance of our valuation
specialists;

— questioning management’'s knowledge of future
conditions that may impact expected receipts from
the underlying borrowers.

e Assessing the disclosures of the quantitative and qualitative
considerations in relation to credit risks on these balances,
by comparing these disclosures to our understanding of
the matter.
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Impairment assessment of property, plant and
equipment

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had property, plant and
equipment of approximately HK$280,555,000.

In carrying out the impairment review, management has
concluded that there is no impairment in respect of the
property, plant and equipment. This conclusion was based on
a value in use model that required significant management
judgement with respect to the discount rate and underlying cash
flows, in particular future revenue growth.

We have identified impairment assessment of property, plant
and equipment as a key audit matter due to considerable
amount of judgement and estimation being required in
conducting impairment assessment as mentioned in the
foregoing paragraph.

Refer to summary of significant accounting policies in note 4(r),
critical accounting estimates and judgements in note 5(b)(ii) and
disclosure of property, plant and equipment in note 17 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Our response:
Our audit procedures in relation to management’s impairment
assessment on property, plant and equipment included:

o Assessing management’s identification of cash generating
units based on the Group’s accounting policies and our
understanding of the Group's businesses.

e  Assessing the value-in-use calculation methodology
adopted by management.

o Comparing the current year actual cash flows with the
prior year cash flow projections.

o Challenging the reasonableness of key assumptions
(including long term growth rate and discount rate) based
on our knowledge of the business and industry.

o Reconciling input data to supporting evidences, such as

approved budgets and considering the reasonableness of
these budgets.
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OTHER INFORMATION IN THE ANNUAL REPORT
The directors are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in the
Company’s annual report, but does not include the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work
we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the
HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are also responsible for overseeing the Group's
financial reporting process. The Audit Committee assists the
directors in discharging their responsibility in this regard.
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AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE

AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This
report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with
Section 90 of the Bermuda Act 1981, and for no other purpose.
We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

o obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.
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o evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

o conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

o obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on
our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
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From the matters communicated with the directors, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

BDO Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Pak Tak Lun

Practising Certificate Number P06170

Hong Kong, 27 March 2020
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

meEaREdEZERER

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—_Z—_NFTA=+—HILEE

2019 2018

—E-hEF —ZE-N\F

Notes HK$'000 HK$'000

B &t THET FAT

Revenue U A 7 208,941 388,892

Cost of sales 5 & AR (388,026) (455,649)

Gross loss £i8 (179,085) (66,757)

Other income H At Y A 8 36,040 43,410

Other gains and losses H iz & &8 9 (248,200) (346,439)

Selling and distribution costs HE MDA (19,680) (23,229)

Administrative expenses THAX (124,270) (169,658)

Finance costs BEEMA 10 (79,212) (86,570)

Share of results of associates Rt E N2 ¥4 20 10,996 139,664

Share of results of joint ventures HEEREZEE 21 811 -
Loss before income tax FREH (Xd)

(expense)/credit EEAEE 11 (602,600) (509,579)
Income tax (expense)/credit s (), #ER 15 (56,086) 81,911
Loss for the year rEEFE (658,686) (427,668)
Other comprehensive income Hfh 2 mHUk =
Items that may be reclassified HEWEHSEEREZ

subsequently to profit or loss: BHE:

Exchange differences arising on MEBINEBEEZ

translation of foreign operations E W =58 (27,464) (16,887)

Share of other comprehensive HEE AR Z EAth

income of associates EE e (16,239) (28,258)
Net other comprehensive income HEgsgMnrEzEas
to be reclassified subsequently to RNEEHEMEEKZEFRE
profit or loss for the year (43,703) (45,145)
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

REBRm kEMERE KSR

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BE-Z-NF+-A=+—HLEFE

2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-NF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Mt it FET FHEIT
Item that will not be reclassified BT 2EHFIBEEEEZ
to profit or loss: BHE:
Gain on revaluation of property, M WEMEEZ
plant and equipment ER e 17 2,955 13,796
Income tax effect FRiSTHi & 33 (739) (3,449)
Net other comprehensive income not R EZHMTAIEH D EE
to be reclassified to profit or loss BamsHEth2EKEFRE
in subsequent periods 2,216 10,347
Other comprehensive income for the 7% [ H fib 2 m UK %5 -
year, net of tax kIR (41,487) (34,798)
Total comprehensive income rEETEHKRARE
for the year (700,173) (462,466)
Loss attributable to: LTALTEEEE:
Owners of the Company ZN/NIEZ RN (658,619) (427,668)
Non-controlling interests FEE IR A 2 (67) -
(658,686) (427,668)
Total comprehensive income UTATEAEZEKE
attributable to: HE:
Owners of the Company ZAN/NESIE Z SN (700,106) (462,466)
Non-controlling interests FE 12 AR 2 (67) -
(700,173) (462,466)
Loss per share BREE 16
Basic =N HK(29.83) cents  HK(19.39) cents
B4l AL
Diluted e HK(29.83) cents  HK(19.39) cents

Al

Al
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CONSOLIDATED STATE;'I\:/I.ENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

w2 # IR R

As at 31 December 2019
RZE—hE+=ZA=+—8

2019 2018
—E-hEF —ZE-N\F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
kg FHET FHET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment M- B REE 17 280,555 290,475
Payments for leasehold land held for RIFLEEHEFEE B2
own use under operating leases HE+ S 18 = 3,405
Right-of-use assets CTRAEEE 19 20,670 -
Interests in associates REERNF 2R 20 473,672 393,573
Interests in joint ventures NEEPEZER 21 172,276 -
Rental and utility deposits MehkARRBES 64 58
Financial assets at fair value BATEFARRZ
through profit or loss TREE 22 4,266 1,401,378
Goodwill EES 40 - -
Deposits paid RENE& 1,758 1,395
Deferred tax assets EEFLIAE B 33 50,145 72,598
Total non-current assets SEMEEELRE 1,003,406 2,162,882
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Inventories & 23 56,341 57,935
Payments for leasehold land held BELEESEREERZ
for own use under operating HEtmEs
leases 18 - 124
Trade receivables g 5 EKER 24 226,519 269,119
Contract assets BEHEE 25 = 32,974
Loan receivables W E = 26 1,363,967 1,081,403
Note receivables e =% 27 1,184,960 360,000
Prepayments, deposits and other TEM IR - R e RH MR
receivables B 312,656 426,685
Financial assets at fair value BERAFEFABR SR
through profit or loss BE 22 329,589 625,743
Bank balances and deposits SRITESREFER 28 19,449 134,031
Total current assets mEEERE 3,493,481 2,988,014
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

iR B MR &R

As at 31 December 2019
R=F-—NFT=HA=T—H

2019 2018
—E-hE —E-N\F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B2 FET FHETT
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Trade payables 2 5NN 29 113,319 131,139
Other payables and accruals Hh FE T RIE R FEET B A 245,423 538,763
Tax payable JE 1 B 18 215,133 137,069
Lease liabilities HEEE 19 8,767 -
Borrowings (R 30 968,256 765,451
Loan from a related company e —HBEBATER 37 - 200,000
Loans from directors KEEZEEXR EY) 91,055 86,351
Total current liabilities nBBELE 1,641,953 1,858,773
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEEE 1,851,528 1,129,241
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT BREERARBERE
LIABILITIES 2,854,934 3,292,123
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBEME
Lease liabilities HEAE 19 9,660 -
Borrowings & 30 660,000 440,000
Deferred tax liabilities REFRIBEEE 33 6,492 5,972
Total non-current liabilities FEREBEGBLEE 676,152 445,972
NET ASSETS EEFE 2,178,782 2,846,151
HKBridge Financial Holdings Limited Annual Report 2019
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

iR e MR R

As at 31 December 2019
RZF-NEF+ZA=+t—H

2019 2018
—E-hE —E-N\F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Kt FET FET
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BEXR#E
Share capital fi% 7% 34 220,800 220,800
Reserves & 35 1,910,412 2,625,351
Equity attributable to owners of the ANAR#E AEEE D
Company 2,131,212 2,846,151
Non-controlling interests e AR R 39 47,570 -
TOTAL EQUITY R 2,178,782 2,846,151
On behalf of the Board
REREE=S
Liu Tingan Lau Fai Lawrence
BEZ EIES
Director Director
2 2
ZE-hEF BESMERBRLAT 109



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

SERBEDR

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BE_ZT-NF+ZA=+—HIFE

Equity
Share-hased Retained attributable
compensation Property earnings/  to owners Non-
Share Share benefits ~ Contributed  revaluation  Translation Statutory  (accumulated of the  controlling Total
capital premium reserve surplus reserve reserve reserve losses) Company interests equity
HR A
BEEY g REER/ KDAEEA
BA& RHEE HHERGE E4zs EffRE BERE EEEE  (RiER) ERE  FERER BEAE
HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T T TEr iR iR TER T T T T
(Note 34) (Note 36) (Note (a)) (Note (b)) (Note 39)
(Wi#31) (Witse)  (Wiw) (Hit) (H#39)
At 1 January 2018 RZZ-\5-A-8 219,600 2,532,329 55,614 19,000 7,886 80,298 7335 398,89 3,320,958 - 3,320,958
Loss for the year RERER - - - - - - - (427,668) (427,668 - (427,668)
Exchange differences arising on REENEREL I ENZE
translation of foreign operations - - - - - (16,887) - - (16,887) - (16,887)
Gain on revaluation of property, EfENE BRRABE MR
plant and equipment - - - - 10,347 - - - 10,347 - 10,347
Share of other comprehensive income  (EBERE Z EH2ENE
of associates - - - - - (28,258) - - (28,258) - (28,258)
Total comprehensive income for the year  AFE2ENZEE - - - - 10,347 (45,145) - (427,668)  (462,466) - (462,466)
Issue of Award Scheme (Note 36) FREHE () 1,200 27,240 (28,440) - - - - - - - -
Equity-settled share-based BREENRNAER 2 EH
compensation benefits (Note 36) B (is6) - - (12,341) - - - - - (12,341) - (12,341)
At 31 December 2018 and RZE-NE+ZA=t-RBR
1 January 2019 —Z-nE-R-H 220800 2,559,569 14,833 19,000 18,233 35,153 1335 (28772) 2,846,151 - 2,886,151
Loss for the year TEEER - - - - - - - (658,619)  (658,619) (67)  (658,686)
Exchange differences arising on HEENEBELZERZE
translation of foreign operations - - - - - (27,464) - - (27,464) - (27,464)
Gain on revaluation of property, plant and  Efi#1% R R &2 K
equipment - - - - 2,216 - - - 2,216 - 2,216
Share of other comprehensive income  (EEHERE ZEH2ENE
of associates - - - - - (16,239) - - (16,239) - (16,239)
Total comprehensive income for the year - - - - 2,216 (43,703) - (658,619) (700,106) (67) (700,173)
Acquisition of a subsidiary (Vote 40) - - - - - - - - - 47,637 47,637
Equity-settled share-based
compensation benefits (Note 36) /A (36) - - (14,833) - - - - = (14,833) = (14,833)
At 31 December 2019 RZE-hnFrZA=t-A 20800 2,559,569 - 19,000 20,449 (8,550) 1335 (687,391) 2131212 4510 2178782
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
mEERZ2HXR

Notes.

(a)

The contributed surplus of the Group represents the difference
between the nominal value of the share capital of the subsidiaries
acquired as a result of the group reorganisation in prior years,
over the nominal value of the Company's shares issued in
exchange therefore.

Statutory reserve was appropriated each year on the basis of 10%
of the profit after taxation of certain subsidiaries established in
the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC") as determined by their
boards of directors in accordance with the Articles of Association
of the subsidiaries. This reserve should only be used for making up
losses, capitalisation into capital and expansion of production and
operation.

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BE " ZT-NF+_A=+—HIFE

Hrat

() AEBZEGRSEABETFESEEHEMK
B2 B R B IR A E B E AR B H U B (F
RRBABETZROEEZEZRE -

(b) EERBLNEFEETRTFEARKME ([H
B )AL 2 B A R 2 B&E MR 10% 2 E %
DR YHREESESREZWNE QR Z AL
ERANBTERE - &EBEERRIERMEER
BRERNRBEREEREE -
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
GERETRER

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BHE_ZT—hFE+-A=+—BHLEE

2019 2018
—E-hF —ZT-N\F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Cash flows from operating activities RETH2RERE
Loss before income tax (expense)/credit FTE®t () /HEea
&R (602,600) (509,579)
Adjustments for: T
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - -BWELZREBEIE
equipment 16,118 16,957
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CREEENE 9,833 -
Amortisation of payments for leasehold land RIEGLEHERFIEERZ
held for own use under operating leases HE L H S - 127
Interest income T B U A (149,971) (232,908)
Finance costs mEER 79,212 86,570
Share of results of associates RN e (10,996) (139,664)
Share of results of joint ventures ThEEDEEE (811) -
Fair value loss on equity investments at BRATETFABRZ
fair value through profit or loss RERE 2 AT EEE 137,584 425,277
Equity-settled share-based compensation EmAEE RN RER
benefits Z Fr AR A (14,833) (12,341)
Net loss/(gain) on disposal of property, plant & E  BE MEE 2
and equipment BiE S (e F8 2,809 (1,337)
Investment income from non-trading FEERAFERA
purpose financial assets at fair value BRZemEEZ
through profit or loss ‘EWA (28,715) (36,000)
Fair value gain on call option R 2 N ERE - (102,407)
Fair value (gain)/loss on non-trading purpose  3FE B X A FEF A
financial assets at fair value through BavesREEZ
profit or loss NFE (W), BB (37.365) 332,813
Fair value gain on derivative financial asset MTEEMEEZATE
Yz - (293,000)
Write-down/(reversal of write-down) of FEME (MoREm)
inventories 1,261 (4,882)
Impairment loss on trade receivables EH5RIKREFREESS 34,968 64
Impairment loss on loan receivables JE B BB (B B 1B 118,256 177,564
Impairment loss on loans to associates TEE R R 2 BERORE
&8 - 36,429
Impairment loss on other receivables H b WS IE R E 18 10,145 189,597
Impairment loss on note receivables FE U BB B & 18 22,014 -
Impairment loss on goodwill EE R EEE 17,088 -
Impairment loss on investment in an REEE R RIIRERE
associate &5 18 1,566 -
Bad debts written off 85 2 BR 81,846 -
Gain on modification of lease HE BRI E (104) -
Unrealised exchange differences AEBREH =R 13,423 4,902

HKBridge Financial Holdings Limited Annual Report 2019



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
RERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BE " ZT-NF+_A=+—HIFE

2019 2018
—g-nE —E-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FET
Operating loss before working capital EEESRBAI2KE
changes B8 (299,272) (61,818)
Increase in rental and utility deposits e kAAEEBZESIE M (6) -
(Increase)/decrease in inventories FE Em, md (418) 13,587
Decrease in contract assets BB ER D 32,974 28,674
(Increase)/decrease in trade receivables Z o BRF (Em),/
Vs (34,566) 51,746
Decrease/(increase) in loan receivables JEUWE FOR A (18 hn) 27,742 (496,752)
Decrease in equity instruments at BEAFEFABRZRA
fair value through profit or loss, net THERD  FEE 344,599 40,488
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, TN - e R EAM
deposits and other receivables JEUBR ZOR A (#8h0) 210,748 (306,973)
(Decrease)/increase in trade payables EHRMABER L),/
=Pl (17.820) 471
(Decrease)/increase in other EMEMERNMESTER
payables and accruals CRA) /10 (324,595) 287,191
Cash used in operations EEFAZzZR® (60,614) (443,386)
Tax paid =ENE 25 (6,643) (752)
Interests received B U F & 38,672 86,374
Net cash used in operating activities RETHFAZRESER (28,585) (357,764)
Cash flows from investing activities RETBHZRERE
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEWE BER&EZ
plant and equipment FTi5 518 201 5,384
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEME WEME&E (15,634) (35,761)
(Increase)/decrease in deposits paid Bftike (3gHm) (363) 4,694
Increase in non-trading purpose financial assets 3F B & 1% A FEH A B
at fair value through profit or loss 2R E E = (750,145)
Investment income from non-trading FEERATEFAER
purpose financial assets at fair value ZERMEEZIREWRA
through profit or loss - 27,000
(Increase)/decrease in note receivables FEURZE R (3E0) R (2,910) 750,000
(Increase)/decrease in loans to associates THE AR ZER
(3G n) m (86,908) 142,289
Premium received from granting of call option % i 32 88 #i#E ~ 2 Ue A
EE - 80,750
Payments for acquisition of subsidiaries WEMB AR 27K (159,980) -
Net cash (used in)/generated from REFTH (FTH) gz
investing activities REeFH (265,594) 224,211
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
mERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BE-Z-NF+-A=+—HLEFE

2019 2018
—E-hF —ZT-N\F
HK$°000 HK$'000
THET T T
Cash flows from financing activities METHZRERE
Lease payments HERH (11,485) -
New borrowings I E = 946,629 264,918
Repayment of borrowings BEER (713,274) (296,165)
Repayment of loans from a director M—REFEEER (2,366) (3,201)
Interests paid AT A A (39,551) (78,399)
Net cash generated from/(used in) MEFEME (A Z
financing activities BEEE 179,953 (112,847)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents BE&RBEESZEWHD
R (114,226) (246,400)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of E¥I2BRERBELZEEY
year 134,031 381,203
Effect of exchange rate changesoncash HBHERBEESZEWZ
and cash equivalents Exggogg (356) (772)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year ERCHEERBLZEY
represented by bank balances and cash HIRITABR MRS RE
(Note 28) (KtiE28) 19,449 134,031
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

o = B AR

GENERAL
HKBridge Financial Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted company with
limited liability and its shares are listed on the Main Board
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”).

As at 31 December 2019, in the opinion of the directors
of the Company, the Company has no immediate and
ultimate holding company.

The addresses of the registered office and principal place
of business of the Company are disclosed in the corporate
information to the annual report.

During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) was involved in

the following activities:

o manufacturing and sale of a broad range of printed
circuit boards;

o investment and trading of securities and related
treasury activities; and

o advising on securities and asset management services.

B-AFFH BESMERARLAF

—REH

BRERERBERAR (IARRA]RA
RETMALSERRERAR] Eik{)
REEBEIZGMAERRA (B
EREMe

R-ZE-NAF+_A=1t—H XRAE
ERR ARAYEERERZEERRD

NN W= 317 N S ek Bk
MRERZ NAEFHE -

RAFE  NRARREMB AR (5 A
SEIDREATER:

o BUENHETRMAL Z EIRIAREER :

s RENBEERFMHBERES K

s REFREBRLEHREEETERS-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M mR M E

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")
(a) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs - effective
on 1 January 2019
The HKICPA has issued a number of new or amended

EMBBUBRELER (TFEBH

BwEED])

() WM EETERHBREE
Bl —R-Z-NAF-A—HEX
BAGHHLGERGE THRAEE

HKFRSs that are first effective for the current
accounting period of the Group:

HKFRS 16

HK(FRIC)-Int 23

Amendments to HKFRS 9
Amendments to HKAS 19
Amendments to HKFRS 28
Annual Improvements to

HKFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle

Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle

Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle

Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle

Leases

Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatment

Prepayment Features with
Negative Compensation

Plan Amendment, Curtailment or
Settlement

Long-term Interests in Associates
and Joint Ventures

Amendments to HKFRS 3,
Business Combination

Amendments to HKFRS 11,
Joint Arrangements

Amendments to HKAS 12,
Income Taxes

Amendments to HKAS 23,
Borrowing Costs

B S HEERER AT L E
R BB RS EL:

EAMBREEANE HWE
1637

5 (BRMBRE MEHEENTREH
2EZ8%) -
AEE235%

EAMBREENE REBFEUREHE
9 2 BETA

BEAQHENE9  FHEABT BARLE
RZBIA

EANBREENE RBERARSELE
28 2 BRI A LR BER

EEAMBRELEL BEMBREENENR
“T-REE- ES =LA TN
T—+ERH
FEYE

EAMBREEN BEMBREER
“Z-RfFEZ ENREETHL
T-+FESL EHES
FEYE

EEMBRELER  BELENE2R
“F-RfE- FEH 2 BITA
T-tFEBHY
FEEYE

EAMBRELL BB ENELR
“T-REE- EE A
T—+ERH
FEYE

The impact of the adoption of HKFRS 16 Leases
has been summarised in below. The other new or
amended HKFRSs that are effective from 1 January
2019 did not have any significant impact on the
Group’s accounting policies.
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2.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

iR B W AR M A

ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL

REPORTING STANDARDS (“"HKFRSs")

(continued)

(a) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs — effective
on 1 January 2019 (continued)

HKFRS 16, Leases (“HKFRS 16”)

(i)

Impact of adoption of HKFRS 16

HKFRS 16 brings significant changes in
accounting treatment for lease accounting,
primarily for accounting for lessees. It replaces
HKAS 17 Leases (“HKAS 17"), HK(IFRIC)-
Int 4 Determining whether an Arrangement
contains a Lease (“HK(IFRIC)-Int 4"), HK(SIC)-
Int 15 Operating Leases-Incentives and HK(SIC)-
Int 27 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions
Involving the Legal Form of a Lease. From
a lessee’s perspective, almost all leases are
recognised in the statement of financial position
as right-of-use assets and lease liabilities, with
the narrow exception to this principle for leases
which the underlying assets are of low-value
or are determined as short-term leases. From a
lessor’s perspective, the accounting treatment
is substantially unchanged from HKAS 17. For
details of HKFRS 16 regarding its new definition
of a lease, its impact on the Group's accounting
policies and the transition method adopted by
the Group as allowed under HKFRS 16, please
refer to section (ii) to (iv) of this note.

2. RPWBERBMBHRE
BHmEEA]) (&)

i

B (T&E&R

(a) IR RETEBHBREE
Bl —RZZB-NAF-A—-HER
(%)
BEENBHREZERFI6KEE ([F
B BHREERF1635 )

() FHEEHBEIREERE 164
ZEE
FEMBHREERFE 165 S
EgstzestRE(XT2AY
EEAZEFRET R SR
EXEH -EBMAFLESHE
AIE17SREE ([EE gt 28
F175% 1) BB (BB % &R
TREZEE) REFINR
BELHELERHEE (A
(BRMERERELZES) —
2RFR]) BFE(FHRE
ZEg) B2EFISHRKLLH
E-EELEE (FHKREERE
) —REFE27RAE S RE

BErAEMANRZHAE - sl

AME  EFRAEHEGNIT

ANEAERREREEER

HERE EALHHEE (18R

BEREBKEBEEIREEREH

ME) A #%BsT IR A -5t h

MAME  BFfREREEES

RERIFE17RAKAMER - BRAEE

M HmEENF1GREUEEL

MER HUAKESHARRLZ

FERAEBERNE BB ®

FERA BB ZBERTT

EZ S BAREAMEEE
(iv)Ef o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BT #R R MY o
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B

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL

REPORTING STANDARDS (“"HKFRSs")

(continued)

(a) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs — effective
on 1 January 2019 (continued)

118

HKFRS 16 (continued)

(i)

RMWBRBYHHREEA ([FEY

1% 3 &

ZA]) (&)

(a) BRMHFTRETEBUBRESE
B —RZZB-AF-—A—HEX

(%)

BEBUBHEERE165 (&)

Impact of adoption of HKFRS 16 (continued) (i) FRAEBHEHREERE 165
ZE (B
The Group has applied HKFRS 16 using the AEECDFARFTEEEER
cumulative effect approach and recognised BB BHREERF165% &g
all the cumulative effect of initially applying VR ERBENBHREERE
HKFRS 16 as an adjustment to the opening 165 2B R ERR AN
balance of accumulated losses at the date of Ve ER B Y R BB
initial application. The comparative information HERZAR RN \F27%|
presented in 2018 has not been restated and ZHERENWEES  WIKES
continues to be reported under HKAS 17 Wi s 2R E165% 2 BE M
and related interpretations as allowed by the BT ATRERERESS
transition provision in HKFRS 16. HAE17TRREEREZ®R-
The following tables summarised the impact of TRBABEEREVBRE
transition to HKFRS 16 on statement of financial HEAIE16RBBE_T—N\F
position as of 31 December 2018 to that of 1 +—A=+—HE=-ZF—NF
January 2019 as follows (increase/(decrease)): —A—BZMBRAKRZTE -
RAT (38, Od) ) -
Statement of financial position as at 1 REZB-NF-A-—Bz#HH%
January 2019 O
HK'000
T T
Right-of-use assets ERREEE 22,599
Payments for leasehold land held BRBELEHEREBRZ
for own use under operating leases HELT A (3,529)
Lease liabilities (non-current) HEBE (GERS) 9,849
Lease liabilities (current) HEEEORE) 9,221
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

bR A B A5 SRR P 5
2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL 2. RN EBYEREER ([FEH
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") BmEER]) (&)
(continued)
(a) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs — effective (a) RAFELEITEEHMEREE

on 1 January 2019 (continued)

HKFRS 16 (continued)

Bl —RZZB-NAF-A—-HER

(%)

BEBUBHERERE165 (&)

(i) Impact of adoption of HKFRS 16 (continued) () BRANE BB & ERE169%
R (E)
The following reconciliation explains how the THHERFAEBEEGAE
operating lease commitments disclosed applying AIBV7T R BEER=_F—N
HKAS 17 at the end of 31 December 2018 could FH+Z A=t HE&R 2L
be reconciled to the lease liabilities at the date EHERENMANER T
of initial application recognised in the statement —NF-—A—BZBBHRAE
of financial position as at 1 January 2019: NERZRBEAB A ZHE
EBBETHER:
Reconciliation of operating lease REFEREHEAEEBEZY
commitments to lease liabilities iR
HK'000
T T
Operating lease commitments as of BHE_ZT-N\F+_A=+t—HZ
31 December 2018 BT EAE 23,889
Less: short term leases for which lease  J&l : FHEHIN —ZT— hF
terms end within 31 December 2019 +ZA=+—HAR&Z
RHAE (319)
Less: future interest expenses AR RF BT H (4,500)
Total lease liabilities as of BHE-_ZT-—NF—H—HZ
1 January 2019 HERERESE 19,070

The weighted average lessee’s incremental
borrowing rate applied to lease liabilities
recognised in the statement of financial position
as at 1 January 2019 is 12.45%.

RZZE—-NF—A—B EAR
EMBRARABRZEESR
B2 A AMETITIESE R
FE512.45% °
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B T HR AR M o
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B

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL

REPORTING STANDARDS (“"HKFRSs")

(continued)

(a) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs — effective
on 1 January 2019 (continued)

120

HKFRS 16 (continued)

(i)

The new definition of a lease

Under HKFRS 16, a lease is defined as a
contract, or part of a contract, that conveys the
right to use an asset (the underlying asset) for
a period of time in exchange for consideration.
A contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time when
the customer, throughout the period of use, has
both: (a) the right to obtain substantially all of
the economic benefits from use of the identified
asset and (b) the right to direct the use of the
identified asset.

For a contract that contains a lease component
and one or more additional lease or non-
lease components, a lessee shall allocate the
consideration in the contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-
alone price of the lease component and the
aggregate stand-alone price of the non-
lease components, unless the lessee apply the
practical expedient which allows the lessee
to elect, by class of underlying asset, not to
separate non-lease components from lease
components, and instead account for each
lease component and any associated non-lease
components as a single lease component.

The Group has elected not to separate non-
lease components and account for the lease
component and any associated non-lease
components as a single lease component for all
leases.
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RMWBRBYHHREEA ([FEY
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(%)

BEBUBHEERE165 (&)

(i)

HEZHEE

REFEVHERELEAE16
BHERAER—MNEHNREN
Z— 80 BRERER —BRERH
AER—REE (HRAEE)Z
ERAERRKE - EXPREME
ARG QFEBERD
Bl EERGET A KER
mEb)BRERNEREHRE
ZE - AANEEN—BEEA
ZHIERZE BB EEZEN

HEs—HEHEEAXT D K —
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—HEHEKE D
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2.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

iR B W AR M A

ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL

REPORTING STANDARDS (“"HKFRSs")

(continued)

(a) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs — effective
on 1 January 2019 (continued)

HKFRS 16 (continued)
(i) Accounting as lessee

Under HKAS 17, a lessee has to classify a
lease as an operating lease or a finance lease
based on the extent to which risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of a lease asset lie
with the lessor or the lessee. If a lease is
determined as an operating lease, the lessee
would recognise the lease payments under the
operating lease as an expense over the lease
term. The asset under the lease would not be
recognised in the statement of financial position
of the lessee.

Under HKFRS 16, all leases (irrespective of
they are operating leases or finance leases) are
required to be capitalised in the statement of
financial position as right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities, but HKFRS 16 provides accounting
policy choices for an entity to choose not to
capitalise (i) leases which are short-term leases
and/or (ii) leases for which the underlying asset
is of low-value. The Group has elected not to
recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
for leases for which at the commencement date
have a lease term less than 12 months. The lease
payments associated with those leases have
been expensed on straight-line basis over the
lease term.

The Group recognised a right-of-use asset and
a lease liability at the commencement date of a
lease. New accounting policies on leases of the
Group, which have been applied from 1 January
2019, are set out in note 4(h).

2. RPWBERBMBHRE
BHmEEA]) (&)

i

B (T&E&R

(a) M RETEBHBERESE
Al —R=ZFB-AF—-—A—BEX
(&)
EBBHREERF16% (&)

(i) 1ERAMAZ GFEET %
BEBEEAGTERE 175 - &M
AZERE A SR A BT
ERNEREEEERBGE R
aREHRRE  BHEESER
KEHESMERE - WS
ERKERE  BIAMEARBHER
KEMEBETZHENRRR
MEH s XH - HEBETZEE
e R &R A ZHBAKREK
KR ©

REZEVHERELEAE16
BomAEHE (THRAKEREE
KEEME) HARM BN K
RNEAEREREEEREE
BE EEFEMBREELF 16
RA-HEBRESTRRE
B LUEEBTEAMEG) AE I
EZHER/HNWEHEEER
BEEZHE -AXEDEED
FREEMRARARRDR12
BHAHERRBERAEEER
HERR ERFHERR M
ENREREEHANRERE
SEH e

AREEREE 2FR%H A HER
EREEENHEREBE - B-F
—NE-A-HBERARAE
BAEZ e BERE N T
4(h) °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A M RA N
2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL 2. R EBMBEHREER ([FEY
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") BHREED]) (&)
(continued)
(a) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs — effective (a) RAFE LEITEEHMBEREE
on 1 January 2019 (continued) Al —R=T-NF-HA—-—B&EXN
(%)
HKFRS 16 (continued) BEEYBHEEEREI165 (&)
(iv)  Transition (iv) #8%E
As mentioned above, the Group has applied WA LRt AEEEFERZR
HKFRS 16 using the cumulative effect approach IR LRERBR A EmELE
and recognised all the cumulative effect of A6 R BEREEM
initially applying HKFRS 16 as an adjustment S ERE165 2B REr
to the opening balance of accumulated losses TEBRLSNYBERBE (=
at the date of initial application (1 January T-NF—HA—B)HZEHEE
2019). The comparative information presented HiESR AE - RZE—\F
in 2018 has not been restated and continues 2V ZHBRERWEET] Wi
to be reported under HKAS 17 and related BERMBHREERF165 2@
interpretations as allowed by the transition BEUBRXMATEBRERS
provision in HKFRS 16. SEFEAE 7R RIEERER
5 o
The Group has recognised the lease liabilities at AEEERZ-_ZE—NF—H—
the date of 1 January 2019 for leases previously Ak ERAEESF LS
classified as operating leases applying HKAS TR EAREHEZHER
17 and measured those lease liabilities at the REEBE  WERHTHERNK
present value of the remaining lease payments, ZBEFEZSHERE KA
discounted using the Group’s incremental AEEBR-_ZE-—NF—-—HA—H
borrowing rate at 1 January 2019. 2382 1B RN AR o
The right-of-use assets were recognised based FRAEEEDRESNEESR
on the amount equal to the lease liabilities, BEroRER IHEE-Z
adjusted for any related prepaid and accrued —NFE—A—BRIRBMBEARR
lease payments recognised in the statement of RERZEAAEBEEN KRG
financial position immediately before 1 January MERNRIELAE-
2019.
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2.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

iR B W AR M A

ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL

REPORTING STANDARDS (“"HKFRSs")

(continued)

(a) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs — effective
on 1 January 2019 (continued)

HKFRS 16 (continued)
(iv)  Transition (continued)

The Group has applied the exemption of not to
recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
for leases with term that will end within 12
months of the date of initial application (1
January 2019) and accounted for those leases as
short-term leases.

In addition, the Group has also applied the
practical expedients such that: (i) HKFRS 16 is
applied to all of the Group’s lease contracts that
were previously identified as leases applying
HKAS 17 and HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 and (ii) not to
apply HKFRS 16 to contracts that were not
previously identified as containing a lease under
HKAS 17 and HK(IFRIC)-Int 4.

2. RMEBYBHREEA ([FEY
BHmEEA]) (&)

r THF

(a) IR RETEBHBREE
Bl —RZZB-NAF-A—-HER
(%)

BEBUBHERERE165 (&)

(iv) #BX (%)
AEBEERRB ARG R
RERBR(ZT—NF—HA—
B)Z 128 A NER 2 HERER
EREEENEERBEZH#HR
THZEREARSEHES -

AN REETFE AR THRE
A OE R EREEER
ZERIE175% R EE (B R
TREZEY) —REF4R
BRlSHEZAEEMERE
BREREBMBEREENS
165% R(D T EERIRIBERES
SPERENTRENEE (BEREY
HKHREREZES) —REFR4
HRAASBRREEZANER
FRAMBHREEAF165%
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SO mAM S
2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL EMEBMBEHREERN ([HEAH

124

REPORTING STANDARDS (“"HKFRSs")

(continued)

(a) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs — effective
on 1 January 2019 (continued)

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23 — Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatments

The Interpretation supports the requirements of HKAS
12, Income Taxes, by providing guidance over how
to reflect the effects of uncertainty in accounting for
income taxes.

Under the Interpretation, the entity shall determine
whether to consider each uncertain tax treatment
separately or together based on which approach
better predicts the resolution of the uncertainty.
The entity shall also assume the tax authority will
examine amounts that it has a right to examine and
have full knowledge of all related information when
making those examinations. If the entity determines
it is probable that the tax authority will accept an
uncertain tax treatment, then the entity should
measure current and deferred tax in line with its tax
filings. If the entity determines it is not probable,
then the uncertainty in the determination of tax is
reflected using either the “most likely amount” or the
“expected value” approach, whichever better predicts
the resolution of the uncertainty.

Amendments to HKAS 19 — Plan Amendments,
Curtailment or Settlement

The amendments clarify that on amendment,
curtailment or settlement of a defined benefit plan,
a company should use updated actuarial assumptions
to determine its current service cost and net interest
for the period. Additionally, the effect of the asset
ceiling is disregarded when calculating the gain or
loss on any settlement of the plan and is dealt with
separately in other comprehensive income.
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2.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")
(continued)
(a) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs - effective

on 1 January 2019 (continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 9 — Prepayment Features
with Negative Compensation

The amendments clarify that prepayable financial
assets with negative compensation can be measured
at amortised cost or at fair value through other
comprehensive income if specified conditions are met
— instead of at fair value through profit or loss.

Amendments to HKAS 28 - Long-term Interests
in Associates and Joint Ventures

The amendment clarifies that HKFRS 9 applies to
long-term interests (“LTI”) in associates or joint
ventures which form part of the net investment in the
associates or joint ventures and stipulates that HKFRS
9 is applied to these LTI before the impairment losses
guidance within HKAS 28.

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2015-2017
Cycle - Amendments to HKFRS 3, Business
Combinations

The amendments issued under the annual
improvements process make small, non-urgent
changes to standards where they are currently
unclear. They include amendments to HKFRS 3 which
clarifies that when a joint operator of a business
obtains control over a joint operation, this is a
business combination achieved in stages and the
previously held equity interest should therefore be
remeasured to its acquisition date fair value.

bR A B A5 SRR P 5
ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL 2. RN EBYEREER ([FEH

{m

BHmEEA]) (&)

(a) IRAHE]RETEBUBHREE
Bl —RZZB-AE-A—-HBEH
(%)

BB BB EERFEIN 2155 F—
EEEBEHFMRE R
ZAEFTARBTE - M & 1 E GRITF IS
N ARRAERAENSENES
BB E A IR B RN IR A FERT A
Hip 2R T A E MR
BAFEFABENTAGFE-

/

BEEBE BRI F285 2 T F— R
BELAAREELEZ R #i
ZIERTARBIR  BEM B RE LR
FOREANBRREE ARG E
CERZEEFE - HoNRBEER
ASAErRcREED ([REE
ml) WHREEBMEHRELEREI
BTN E B G ERE28RBERE
HEolERARNZERAER-

BB BHRERERN —FE-—LFE_F
—tFBHFERE — FEYE
HEERFEIN [ FBE O KT XK
RFEBEBRZPEMEZERT NS
35 55 30 T B R 2 TR ZE R 3R AR I
Ttz 88 ZSEPBEREY
BHmEENFIFRET A EEAR
EBHN—EBMAKREERFSHAK
EWIEFIRER  ZXBAHELE
B B R AT A 2 B R E M E
REWEBHZAFE.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
tRE B S R R M A

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL 2. RN EBVEREER ([FEH

126

REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") BHEEA]) (&)
(continued)

(a) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs — effective (a) RAFE LEITEEHMEREE

on 1 January 2019 (continued)

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle
- Amendments to HKFRS 11, Joint Arrangements

The amendments issued under the annual
improvements process make small, non-urgent
changes to standards where they are currently
unclear. They include amendments to HKFRS 11
which clarify that when a party that participates in,
but does not have joint control of, a joint operation
which is a business and subsequently obtains joint
control of the joint operation, the previously held
equity interest should not be remeasured to its
acquisition date fair value.

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle
- Amendments to HKAS 12, Income Taxes

The amendments issued under the annual
improvements process make small, non-urgent
changes to standards where they are currently
unclear. They include amendments to HKAS 12 which
clarify that all income tax consequences of dividends
are recognised consistently with the transactions that
generated the distributable profits, either in profit
or loss, other comprehensive income or directly in
equity.

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle
— Amendments to HKAS 23, Borrowing Costs

The amendments issued under the annual
improvements process make small, non-urgent
changes to standards where they are currently
unclear. They include amendments to HKAS 23 which
clarifies that a borrowing made specifically to obtain
a qualifying asset which remains outstanding after
the related qualifying asset is ready for its intended
use or sale would become part of the funds an entity
borrows generally and therefore included in the
general pool.
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2.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

iR B W AR M A

ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL

REPORTING STANDARDS (“"HKFRSs")

(continued)

(b) New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued
but are not yet effective
The following new/revised HKFRSs, potentially
relevant to the Group’s financial statements, have
been issued, but are not yet effective and have
not been early adopted by the Group. The Group's
current intention is to apply these changes on the
date they become effective.

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business'

Amendments to HKAS 1 and Definition of Material’
HKAS 8

Amendments to HKFRS 9, Interest Rate Benchmark Reform’
HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and ~ Sale or Contribution of Assets
HKAS 28 between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture?

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2020

2 The amendments were originally intended to be
effective for periods beginning on or after 1 January
2017. The effective date has now been deferred/
removed. Early application of the amendments of the
amendments continue to be permitted.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A M RA N
2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL 2. BMEBMBHREREL (FEY

REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") BwREEA]) (&)

(continued)

(b) New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued (b) BHEMEMRERZHT EIET
but are not yet effective (continued) BB B|REER (&)
Amendments to HKFRS 3 — Definition of a BB B HEEREIRZ T X —
Business ABES
The amendments clarify that a business must include, ZIERIARRE EBVABEREL —
as a minimum, an input and a substantive process BERAR—EBEEMLERE  mmEEH
that together significantly contribute to the ability BlEELH 2 NBERER L
to create outputs, together with providing extensive [BEEMBEIE] cERRHEEZES -
guidance on what is meant by a “substantive
process”.

Additionally, the amendments remove the assessment LA BRI ABUE M S 2 HERS
of whether market participants are capable of BREIMREMMBRK ZTEASBR
replacing any missing inputs or processes and REBED b BARKE [EL ]
continuing to produce outputs, whilst narrowing the RIEBIz2ER EHBEIRAREP
definition of “outputs” and a “business” to focus on $HE 7 oo RS P 1S 2 [B1 3R M FEFE (K
returns from selling goods and services to customers, B o
rather than on cost reductions.
An optional concentration test has also been added ZIEFTRIMMABEMEREAR
that permits a simplified assessment of whether an AFEERKEs —AEBREER
acquired set of activities and assets is not a business. B IEFETE 2 71 o
Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 — Definition BEERETERFIRREBETEAR
of Material FFE T — EEMES
The amendments clarify the definition and ZIEFTRNEE [EXR] 2 EHE KR
explanation of “material”, aligning the definition B EMARBMBmEENRES
across all HKFRS Standards and the Conceptual ERZEE B UHBBEESER
Framework, and incorporating supporting BRI REMATES
requirements in HKAS 1 into the definition.
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2.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")
(continued)
(b) New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued

but are not yet effective (continued)
Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7
— Interest Rate Benchmark Reform

The amendments modify some specific hedge
accounting requirements to provide relief from
potential effects of the uncertainties caused by
interest rate benchmark reform. In addition, the
amendments require companies to provide additional
information to investors about their hedging
relationships which are directly affected by these
uncertainties.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 - Sale or
Contribution of Assets between an Investor and
its Associate or Joint Venture

The amendments clarify the extent of gains or losses
to be recognised when an entity sells or contributes
assets to its associate or joint venture. When the
transaction involves a business the gain or loss is
recognised in full, conversely when the transaction
involves assets that do not constitute a business the
gain or loss is recognised only to the extent of the
unrelated investors’ interests in the joint venture or
associate.

The directors so far concluded that the application
of these new pronouncements is not likely to
have a significant impact on the Group’s financial
performance and financial position upon application.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RAEMBHRENE
3. BASIS OF PREPARATION 3. MREE
(a) Statement of compliance (a) &HREH
The consolidated financial statements have been mEMBmRIREBERBEEATAEY
prepared in accordance with all applicable HKFRSs, BmEER BT ER([BEE
Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and TR RBRE (5B [ BB BR
Interpretations (hereinafter collectively referred to as X)) A REBE R THED 2 5=
the “HKFRS”) and the disclosure requirements of the HEMRB I G ETBRERE
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. In addition, the REABMERZMAERARZS LT
consolidated financial statements include applicable MA(TEMRADBRECERER
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the FIE-
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”).
(b) Basis of measurement and going concern (b) FTEEERFELKERR

130

assumption

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group
recorded consolidated net loss of approximately
HK$658,686,000 and had net cash flows used in
operating activities of HK$28,585,000. As at 31
December 2019, the Group had cash and cash
equivalents of approximately HK$19,449,000,
and outstanding interest bearing borrowings
of approximately HK$1,628,256,000, of which
HK$968,256,000 were due for repayment or renewal
within the next twelve months after 31 December
2019. These conditions indicate the existence of a
material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The directors of the Company consider the Group
will have sufficient working capital to finance its
operations and financial obligations as and when
they fall due, and accordingly, are satisfied that it
is appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial
statements on a going concern basis after taking into
consideration of the followings:

) enhancing the collection of loan and note

receivables by monitoring repayments when they
fall due;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

iR B W AR M A

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
(b) Basis of measurement and going concern

(c)

assumption (continued)

i)  The Group will actively negotiate with the
lenders for debts restructuring and the renewal
of the Group's borrowings when they fall due
in order to secure necessary funds to meet
the Group's working capital and financial
requirements in the foreseeable future. In the
opinion of the Directors, the Group will be able
to roll over or refinance the borrowings upon
their maturity;

iii) taking steps to reduce discretionary expenses
and administrative costs;

iv) identifying new investment and business
development opportunities to increase the
Group's profitability; and

v)  the Group is actively exploring the availability of
various sources of financing.

Should the Group be unable to continue as a going
concern, adjustments would have to be made to
write down the value of assets to their recoverable
amounts, to provide for any further liabilities which
might arise and to reclassify non-current assets and
liabilities as current asset and liabilities respectively.
The effect to these adjustments has not been
reflected in the consolidated financial statements.

Functional and presentation currency

The consolidated financial statements are presented
in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$"), which is the same as
the functional currency of the Company.

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise
the financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries. Inter-company transactions and balances
between group companies together with unrealised
profits are eliminated in full in preparing the
consolidated financial statements. Unrealised losses
are also eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of impairment on the asset transferred, in
which case the loss is recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
tRE B S R R M A

4.

132

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
(a) Basis of consolidation (continued)

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of
during the year are included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income from the dates of acquisition or up to the
dates of disposal, as appropriate. Where necessary,
adjustments are made to the financial statements of
subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line
with those used by other members of the Group.

Changes in the Group's interests in subsidiaries that
do not result in a loss of control are accounted for
as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the
Group’s interest and the non-controlling interest
are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative
interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference between
the amount by which the non-controlling interest
is adjusted and the fair value of the consideration
paid or received is recognised directly in equity and
attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary,
the profit or loss on disposal is calculated as the
difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value
of the consideration received and the fair value of any
retained interest and (ii) the previous carrying amount
of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the
subsidiary and any non-controlling interest. Amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income
in relation to the subsidiary are accounted for in the
same manner as would be required if the relevant
assets or liabilities were disposed of.

Subsequent to acquisition, the carrying amount
of non-controlling interests that represent present
ownership interests in the subsidiary is the amount
of those interests at initial recognition plus such non-
controlling interest’s share of subsequent changes
in equity. Total comprehensive income is attributed
to such non-controlling interests even if this results
in those non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance.
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4.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

iR B W AR M A

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
(b) Subsidiaries

(c)

A subsidiary is an investee over which the Company
is able to exercise control.
an investee if all three of the following elements
are present: power over the investee, exposure, or

The Company controls

rights, to variable returns from the investee, and
the ability to use its power to affect those variable
returns. Control is reassessed whenever facts and
circumstances indicate that there may be a change in
any of these elements of control.

Associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence and that is neither a subsidiary
nor a joint arrangement. Significant influence is the
power to participate in the financial and operating
policy decisions of the investee but not control or
joint control over those policies.

Associates are accounted for using the equity method
whereby they are initially recognised at cost and
thereafter, their carrying amount are adjusted for
the Group’s share of the post-acquisition change
in the associates’ net assets except that losses in
excess of the Group's interest in the associate are not
recognised unless there is an obligation to make good
those losses.

Profits and losses arising on transactions between
the Group and its associates are recognised only to
the extent of unrelated investors’ interests in the
associate. The investor’'s share in the associate’s
profits and losses resulting from these transactions
is eliminated against the carrying value of the
associate. Where unrealised losses provide evidence
of impairment of the asset transferred they are

recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(c)

(d)

Associates (continued)

Any premium paid for an associate above the
fair value of the Group's share of the identifiable
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired is
capitalised and included in the carrying amount of
the associate. Where there is objective evidence that
the investment in an associate has been impaired,
the carrying amount of the investment is tested for
impairment in the same way as other non-financial
assets.

Joint arrangements

The Group is a party to a joint arrangement where
there is a contractual arrangement that confers joint
control over the relevant activities of the arrangement
to the Group and at least one other party. Joint
control is assessed under the same principles as
control over subsidiaries.

The Group classifies its interests in joint arrangements
as either:

—  Joint ventures: where the group has rights to
only the net assets of the joint arrangement; or

—  Joint operations: where the group has both the

rights to assets and obligations for the liabilities
of the joint arrangement.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

iR B W AR M A

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(d)

Joint arrangements (continued)
In assessing the classification of interests in joint
arrangements, the Group considers:

The structure of the joint arrangement;

—  The legal form of joint arrangements structured
through a separate vehicle;

—  The contractual terms of the joint arrangement
agreement; and

—  Any other facts and circumstances (including any
other contractual arrangements).

The Group accounts for its interests in joint ventures
in the same manner as investments in associates (i.e.
using the equity method — see note 4(c)).

Any premium paid for an investment in a joint
venture above the fair value of the Group’s share
of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities acquired is capitalised and included in the
carrying amount of the investment in joint venture.
Where there is objective evidence that the investment
in a joint venture has been impaired the carrying
amount of the investment is tested for impairment in
the same way as other non-financial assets.
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4.

136

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
(e) Goodwill

Where the fair value of identifiable assets and
liabilities exceed the aggregate of the fair value
of consideration paid, the amount of any non-
controlling interest in the acquiree and the acquisition
date fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity
interest in the acquiree, the excess is recognised
in profit or loss on the acquisition date, after re-
assessment.

Goodwill is measured at cost less impairment losses.
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill
arising from an acquisition is allocated to each of the
relevant cash-generating units that are expected to
benefit from the synergies of the acquisition. A cash-
generating unit is the smallest identifiable group of
assets that generates cash inflows that are largely
independent of the cash inflows from other assets
or groups of assets. A cash-generating unit to which
goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
annually, by comparing its carrying amount with its
recoverable amount (see note 4(r)), and whenever
there is an indication that the unit may be impaired.

For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a financial
year, the cash-generating unit to which goodwill
has been allocated is tested for impairment before
the end of that financial year. When the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit is less than the
carrying amount of the unit, the impairment loss
is allocated to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill allocated to the unit first, and then to the
other assets of the unit pro-rata on the basis of the
carrying amount to each asset in the unit. However,
the loss allocated to each asset will not reduce the
individual asset’s carrying amount to below its fair
value less cost of disposal (if measurable) or its value
in use (if determinable), whichever is the higher. Any
impairment loss for goodwill is recognised in profit or
loss and is not reversed in subsequent periods.
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iR B W AR M A

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(f)

Property, plant and equipment

The building component of owner-occupied leasehold
properties is stated at valuation less accumulated
depreciation. Revaluations are performed with
sufficient regularity to ensure that the carrying
amount does not differ materially from that which
would be determined using fair values at the end of
the reporting period.
revaluation are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity under the heading
of property revaluation reserve. Decreases in value

Increases in value arising on

arising on revaluation are first offset against increases
on earlier valuations in respect of the same property
and thereafter recognised in profit or loss. Any
subsequent increases are recognised in profit or loss
up to the amount previously charged and thereafter
to the property revaluation reserve.

Upon disposal, the relevant portion of the property
revaluation reserve realised in respect of previous
valuations is released from the property revaluation
reserve to retained earnings.

Other property, plant and equipment are stated at
cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses.

The cost of property, plant and equipment includes its
purchase price and the costs directly attributable to
the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will
flow to the Group and the cost of the item can
be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the
replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and
maintenance are recognised as an expense in profit
or loss during the financial period in which they are
incurred.
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A M RA N
4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. FTESTHEEX (&)
(continued)
(f) Property, plant and equipment (continued) f) NE -BRERRE (&

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated so as Y- HEREEREMGFIFERE

to write off their cost or valuation net of expected HANRBEZREETUITE - UG EK

residual value over their estimated useful lives on a AN (HIBRTEET IR EBE) #E - REW

straight-line basis. The useful lives, residual value and SR AERAFH FREERT

depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if EXeTUSHNAR(HER) -

appropriate, at the end of each reporting period. The AIfERAFEBRNT

useful lives are as follows:

Buildings Over the lease terms BF B’ T

ranging from 30E50F 2

30 to 50 years 78 &9

Leasehold improvements 5 years MEMEEE 54

Plant and machinery 10 years 5 f 25 105

Furniture, fixtures and 5 years R HE R 54

equipment B
Motor vehicles 5 years TE Sic=
Moulds, dies, test fixtures 4 years 8 E B ORI 44
and pins KERERE

An asset is written down immediately to its WEEREERRNEGFITRES

recoverable amount if its carrying amount is higher BEAEARMAZEAIKE S5 -

than the asset’s estimated recoverable amount.

The gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, HEME WERKEEE 2WEmK

plant and equipment is the difference between the B R EMERIEFEEART

net sale proceeds and its carrying amount, and is EMERZEZR TREERKRER

recognised in profit or loss on disposal. W o
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iR B W AR M A

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(9)

(h)

Payments for leasehold land held for own use
under operating leases (accounting policies
applied until 31 December 2018)

Payments for leasehold land held for own use
under operating leases represent up-front payments
to acquire long-term interests in lessee-occupied
properties. These payments are stated at cost and are
amortised over the period of the lease on a straight-
line basis as an expense.

Leasing
Accounting policies applied from 1 January 2019

All leases (irrespective of they are operating leases or
finance leases) are required to be capitalised in the
statement of financial position as right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities, but accounting policy choices
exist for an entity to choose not to capitalise (i) leases
which are short-term leases and/or (ii) leases for
which the underlying asset is of low-value. The Group
has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities for low-value assets and leases for
which at the commencement date have a lease term
less than 12 months. The lease payments associated
with those leases have been expensed on straight-line
basis over the lease term.
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4.

140

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
(h) Leasing (continued)

Accounting policies applied from 1 January 2019
(continued)

Right-of-use asset

The right-of-use asset should be recognised at
cost and would comprise: (i) the amount of the
initial measurement of the lease liability (see below
for the accounting policy to account for lease
liability); (ii) any lease payments made at or before
the commencement date, less any lease incentives
received; (iii) any initial direct costs incurred by the
lessee and (iv) an estimate of costs to be incurred
by the lessee in dismantling and removing the
underlying asset to the condition required by the
terms and conditions of the lease, unless those costs
are incurred to produce inventories. Except for right-
of-use asset that meets the definition of a class of
property, plant and equipment to which the Group
applies the revaluation model, the Group measures
the right-of-use assets applying a cost model.
Under cost model, the Group measures the right-
to-use at cost, less any accumulated depreciation
and any impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liability. Right-of-use assets
are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the
shorter of the lease terms and estimated useful lives
of the assets as follows:

Leasehold land Over the lease terms
Buildings Shorter of lease terms or 20 years
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4.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

iR B W AR M A

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
(h) Leasing (continued)

Accounting policies applied from 1 January 2019
(continued)

Lease liability

The lease liability is recognised at the present value
of the lease payments that are not paid at the date
of commencement of the lease. The lease payments
are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the
lease, if that rate can be readily determined. If that
rate cannot be readily determined, the Group uses
the Group’s incremental borrowing rate.

The following payments for the right-to-use the
underlying asset during the lease term that are
not paid at the commencement date of the lease
are considered to be lease payments: (i) fixed
payments less any lease incentives receivable: (ii)
variable lease payments that depend on an index
or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate
as at commencement date; (iii) amounts expected
to be payable by the lessee under residual value
guarantees; (iv) the exercise price of a purchase
option if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise
that option and (v) payments of penalties for
terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the
lessee exercising an option to terminate the lease.

Subsequent to the commencement date, the Group
measures the lease liability by: (i) increasing the
carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease
liability; (i) reducing the carrying amount to reflect
the lease payments made; and iii) remeasuring the
carrying amount to reflect any reassessment or lease
modifications, e.g., a change in future lease payments
arising from change in an index or rate, a change
in the lease term, a change in the in substance
fixed lease payments or a change in assessment to
purchase the underlying asset.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
(h) Leasing (continued)

()

Accounting policies applied until 31 December
2018

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the
terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership to lessee. All other leases
are classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessee

Assets held under finance leases are initially
recognised as assets at their fair value or, if lower,
the present value of the minimum lease payments.
The corresponding lease commitment is shown as a
liability. Lease payments are analysed between capital
and interest. The interest element is charged to profit
or loss over the period of the lease and is calculated
so that it represents a constant proportion of the
lease liability. The capital element reduces the balance
owed to the lessor.

The total rentals payable under the operating leases
are recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis
over the lease term. Lease incentives received are
recognised as an integrated part of the total rental
expense, over the term of the lease.

Financial instruments

(i) Financial assets
A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable
without a significant financing component) is
initially measured at fair value plus, for an item
not at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL"),
transaction costs that are directly attributable
to its acquisition or issue. A trade receivable
without a significant financing component is
initially measured at the transaction price.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

iR B W AR M A

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

()

(i)

Financial assets (continued)

All regular way purchases and sales of financial
assets are recognised on the trade date, that is,
the date that the Group commits to purchase or
sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally
established by regulation or convention in the
market place.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are
considered in their entirely when determining
whether their cash flows are solely payment of
principal and interest.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group’'s business model
for managing the asset and the cash flow
characteristics of the asset. There are two
measurement categories into which the Group
classifies its debt instruments:

Assets that are held for
collection of contractual cash flows where
those cash flows represent solely payments of

Amortised cost:

principal and interest are measured at amortised
cost. Financial assets at amortised cost are
subsequently measured using the effective
interest rate method. Interest income, foreign
exchange gains and losses and impairment
are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain on
derecognition is recognised in profit or loss.
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e M mR M E

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. FESIHE (&)

(continued)
(i) Financial instruments (continued) (i) €@MITH(Z
(i) Financial assets (continued) (i) =HEE (&)

Debt instruments (continued)

FVTPL: Financial assets at FVTPL include
financial assets held for trading, financial
assets designated upon initial recognition at
FVTPL, or financial assets mandatorily required
to be measured at fair value. Financial assets
are classified as held for trading if they
are acquired for the purpose of selling or
repurchasing in the near term. Derivatives,
including separated embedded derivatives, are
also classified as held for trading unless they are
designated as effective hedging instruments.
Financial assets with cash flows that are not
solely payments of principal and interest are
classified and measured at FVTPL, irrespective
of the business model. Notwithstanding the
criteria for debt instruments to be classified at
amortised cost or at fair value through other
comprehensive income, as described above,
debt instruments may be designated at FVTPL
on initial recognition if doing so eliminates, or
significantly reduces, an accounting mismatch.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

iR B W AR M A

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

()

(i)

(i)

Financial assets (continued)

Equity instruments

On initial recognition of an equity investment
that is not held for trading, the Group could
irrevocably elect to present subsequent
changes in the investment’s fair value in
other comprehensive income. This election is
made on an investment-by-investment basis.
Equity investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income are measured at fair
value. Dividend income are recognised in profit
or loss unless the dividend income clearly
represents a recovery of part of the cost of
the investments. Other net gains and losses
are recognised in other comprehensive income
and are not reclassified to profit or loss. All
other equity instruments are classified as FVTPL,
whereby changes in fair value, dividends and
interest income are recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment loss on financial assets

The Group recognises loss allowances for
expected credit loss (“ECLs”) on trade
receivables, contract assets and financial assets
measured at amortised cost. The ECLs are
measured on either of the following bases:
(1) 12-month ECLs: these are the ECLs that
result from possible default events within the
12 months after the reporting date: and (2)
lifetime ECLs: these are ECLs that result from
all possible default events over the expected
life of a financial instrument. The maximum
period considered when estimating ECLs is the
maximum contractual period over which the
Group is exposed to credit risk.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
(i) Financial instruments (continued)

(ii) Impairment loss on financial assets

(continued)

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of
credit losses. Credit losses are measured as the
difference between all contractual cash flows
that are due to the Group in accordance with
the contract and all the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive. The shortfall is then
discounted at an approximation to the assets’
original effective interest rate.

The Group has elected to measure loss
allowances for trade receivables and contract
assets using HKFRS 9 simplified approach and
has calculated ECLs based on lifetime ECLs.
The Group has established a provision matrix
that is based on the Group’s historical credit
loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking
factors specific to the debtors and the economic
environment.

For other debt financial assets, the ECLs are
based on the 12-month ECLs. However, when
there has been a significant increase in credit
risk since origination, the allowance will be
based on the lifetime ECLs.

When determining whether the credit risk of a
financial asset has increased significantly since
initial recognition and when estimating ECLs,
the Group considers reasonable and supportable
information that is relevant and available
without undue cost or effort. This includes both
quantitative and qualitative information analysis,
based on the Group’s historical experience
and informed credit assessment and including
forward-looking information.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

iR B W AR M A

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

()

Financial instruments (continued)
(ii) Impairment loss on financial assets

(continued)

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a
financial asset has increased significantly if it is
more than 30 days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset to be
credit-impaired when: (1) the borrower is
unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the
Group in full, without recourse by the Group to
actions such as realising security (if any is held);
or (2) the financial asset is more than 90 days
past due.

Interest income on credit-impaired financial
assets is calculated based on the amortised
cost (i.e. the gross carrying amount less loss
allowance) of the financial asset. For non credit-
impaired financial assets interest income is
calculated based on the gross carrying amount.

(iii) Financial liabilities

The Group classifies its financial liabilities,
depending on the purpose for which the
liabilities were incurred. Financial liabilities
at FVTPL are initially measured at fair value
and financial liabilities at amortised costs are
initially measured at fair value, net of directly
attributable costs incurred.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

()

Financial instruments (continued)
(iii) Financial liabilities (continued)

Financial liabilities at FVTPL

Financial liabilities at FVTPL include financial
liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities
designated upon initial recognition as at FVTPL.

Financial liabilities are classified as held for
trading if they are acquired for the purpose
of sale in the near term. Derivatives, including
separated embedded derivatives, are also
classified as held for trading unless they are
designated as effective hedging instruments.
Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are
recognised in profit or loss.

Where a contract contains one or more
embedded derivatives, the entire hybrid contract
may be designated as a financial liability at
FVTPL, except where the embedded derivative
does not significantly modify the cash flows
or it is clear that separation of the embedded
derivative is prohibited.

Financial liabilities may be designated upon
initial recognition as at FVTPL if the following
criteria are met: (i) the designation eliminates or
significantly reduces the inconsistent treatment
that would otherwise arise from measuring
the liabilities or recognising gains or losses on
them on a different basis; (ii) the liabilities are
part of a group of financial liabilities which
are managed and their performance evaluated
on a fair value basis, in accordance with a
documented risk management strategy; or (iii)
the financial liability contains an embedded
derivative that would need to be separately
recorded.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

iR B W AR M A

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

()

(iii)

(iv)

Financial liabilities (continued)
Financial liabilities at FVTPL (continued)

Subsequent to initial recognition, financial
liabilities at FVTPL are measured at fair value,
with changes in fair value recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they arise, except
for the gains and losses arising from the Group's
own credit risk which are presented in other
comprehensive income with no subsequent
reclassification to the statement of profit or loss.
The net fair value gain or loss recognised in the
statement of profit or loss does not include any
interest charged on these financial liabilities.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities at amortised cost including
trade and other payables, amounts due to
related parties and borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest method. The related interest expense is
recognised in profit or loss.

Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss
when the liabilities are derecognised as well as
through the amortisation process.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial
asset or financial liability and of allocating
interest income or interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future
cash receipts or payments through the expected
life of the financial asset or liability, or where
appropriate, a shorter period.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
(i) Financial instruments (continued)

(v) Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct

issue costs.

(vi) Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract
that requires the issuer to make specified
payments to reimburse the holder for a loss
it incurs because a specified debtor fails to
make payment when due in accordance with
the original or modified terms of a debt
instrument. A financial guarantee contract
issued by the Group and not designated as at
FVTPL is recognised initially at its fair value less
transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the issue of the financial guarantee contract.
Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group
measures the financial guarantee contact at the
higher of: (a) the amount of the loss allowance,
being the ECL provision measured in accordance
with principles of the accounting policy set
out in (ii) above; and (b) the amount initially
recognised less, when appropriate, cumulative
amortisation recognised in accordance with the

principles of HKFRS 15.

(vii) Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset when
the contractual rights to the future cash flows
in relation to the financial asset expire or when
the financial asset has been transferred and the
transfer meets the criteria for derecognition in

accordance with HKFRS 9.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

iR B W AR M A

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
(i) Financial instruments (continued)

(vii) Derecognition (continued)

()

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the
obligation specified in the relevant contract is
discharged, cancelled or expires.

Where the Group issues its own equity
instruments to a creditor to settle a financial
liability in whole or in part as a result of
renegotiating the terms of that liability, the
equity instruments issued are the consideration
paid and are recognised initially and measured
at their fair value on the date the financial
liability or part thereof is extinguished. If the fair
value of the equity instruments issued cannot
be reliably measured, the equity instruments are
measured to reflect the fair value of the financial
liability extinguished. The difference between
the carrying amount of the financial liability or
part thereof extinguished and the consideration
paid is recognised in profit or loss for the year.

Contract assets and Contract liabilities

A contract asset is the right to consideration in
exchange for goods or services transferred to the
customer. If the Group performs by transferring goods
or services to a customer before the customer pays
consideration or before payment is due, a contract
asset is recognised for the earned consideration that
is conditional.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

()

(k)

Contract assets and Contract liabilities
(continued)

A contract liability is the obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the
Group has received a consideration (or an amount
of consideration that is due) from the customer. If a
customer pays the consideration before the Group
transfers goods or services to the customer, a contract
liability is recognised when the payment is made or
the payment is due (whichever is earlier). Contract
liabilities are recognised as revenue when the Group
performs under the contract.

Inventories

Inventories are initially recognised at cost, and
subsequently at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost comprises all costs of purchase, costs of
conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the

inventories to their present location and condition.

Raw materials are valued at cost on a weighted
average basis. Work in progress and finished goods
are valued at standard cost which approximates to the
actual cost determined on a weighted average basis
and comprises direct materials, direct labour and an
appropriate proportion of manufacturing overheads.

Net realisable value represents the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business less the
estimated costs of completion and the estimated cost
necessary to make the sale.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

iR B W AR M A

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

U]

Revenue recognition from contracts with
customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised
when control of goods or services is transferred
to the customers at an amount that reflects the
consideration to which the Group expects to be
entitled in exchange for those goods or services,
excluding those amounts collected on behalf of
third parties. Revenue excludes value added tax or
other sales taxes and is after deduction of any trade
discounts.

Depending on the terms of the contract and the laws
that apply to the contract, control of the goods or
service may be transferred over time or at a point in
time. Control of the goods or service is transferred
over time if the Group’s performance:

o provides all of the benefits received and
consumed simultaneously by the customer;

° creates or enhances an asset that the customer
controls as the Group performs; or

o does not create an asset with an alternative use
to the Group and the Group has an enforceable
right to payment for performance completed to
date.

If control of the goods or services transfers over
time, revenue is recognised over the period of
the contract by reference to the progress towards
complete satisfaction of that performance obligation.
Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the goods or
service.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

U]

Revenue recognition from contracts with
customers (continued)

When the contract contains a financing component
which provides the customer a significant benefit
of financing the transfer of goods or services to
the customer for more than one year, revenue is
measured at the present value of the amounts
receivable, discounted using the discount rate that
would be reflected in a separate financing transaction
between the Group and the customer at contract
inception. Where the contract contains a financing
component which provides a significant financing
benefit to the Group, revenue recognised under that
contract includes the interest expense accreted on the
contract liability under the effective interest method.
For contracts where the period between the payment
and the transfer of the promised goods or services is
one year or less, the transaction price is not adjusted
for the effects of a significant financing component,
using the practical expedient in HKFRS 15.

(i) Revenue from the provision of services
Performance fee income is recognised when the
Group, being the fund manager, is entitled to
earn the fee as stipulated in the relevant fund
agreements. The income is recognised over the
term of the fund and is due for settlement every
half year. No credit period is granted to the
customers.

Consultancy fee income is recognised over time
when relevant services are provided. Invoices are
issued when services are provided and no credit
period is granted to the customers.

Arrangement fee income is recognised at a point
in time when relevant services are provided.
Invoices are issued when services are provided
and no credit period is granted to customers.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

iR B W AR M A

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
(I) Revenue recognition from contracts with
customers (continued)

(i)

(ii)

Revenue from the provision of services
(continued)

Service income is recognised over time when the
relevant services are provided.

Tooling income is recognised over time when the
relevant services are provided.

Sales of goods

Revenue from the sales of goods is recognised
at the point in time when control of the asset
is transferred to the customer. Customers are
generally granted with credit terms of 30 to 120
days. Some customers are entitled to volume-
based rebates whereas some of them are
entitled to a fixed percentage of rebate based
on monthly settlement. The Group applies most-
likely amount method to estimate the variable
consideration. The rebates were offset with
trade receivables.

(m) Revenue recognition from other sources
Realised fair value gains or losses on securities trading
are recognised on a trade date basis, whilst unrealised
fair value gains or losses are recognised on change in
fair value at the end of reporting period.

Interest income is accrued on a time basis on the
principal outstanding at the applicable interest rate.

Dividend income is recognised when the right to

receive the dividend is established.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(n)

Income taxes
Income taxes for the year comprise current tax and
deferred tax.

Current tax is based on the profit or loss from
ordinary activities adjusted for items that are non-
assessable or disallowable for income tax purposes
and is calculated using tax rates that have been
enacted or substantively enacted at the end of
reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary
differences between the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and
the corresponding amounts used for tax purposes.
Except for recognised assets and liabilities that affect
neither accounting nor taxable profits, deferred tax
liabilities are recognised for all temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which deductible temporary differences can
be utilised. Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates
appropriate to the expected manner in which the
carrying amount of the asset or liability is realised or
settled and that have been enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of reporting period.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences arising on investments in
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures, except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of
the temporary difference and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

iR B W AR M A

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(n)

(o)

Income taxes (continued)

Income taxes are recognised in profit or loss except
when they relate to items recognised in other
comprehensive income in which case the taxes are
also recognised in other comprehensive income or
when they relate to items recognised directly in equity
in which case the taxes are also recognised directly in
equity.

Foreign currency

Transactions entered into by group entities in
currencies other than the currency of the primary
economic environment in which they operate (the
“functional currency”) are recorded at the rates
ruling when the transactions occur. Foreign currency
monetary assets and liabilities are translated at
the rates ruling at the end of reporting period.
Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated
at this rates prevailing on the date when the fair
value was determined. Non-monetary items that
are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the translation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they arise. Exchange differences arising on
the retranslation of non-monetary items carried at
fair value are included in profit or loss for the period
except for differences arising on the retranslation of
non-monetary items in respect of which gains and
losses are recognised in other comprehensive income,
in which case, the exchange differences are also
recognised in other comprehensive income.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
(o) Foreign currency (continued)

(p)

On consolidation, income and expense items
of foreign operations are translated into the
presentation currency of the Group (i.e. HK$) at
the average exchange rates for the year, unless
exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the
period, in which case, the rates approximating to
those ruling when the transactions took place are
used. All assets and liabilities of foreign operations
are translated at the rate ruling at the end of
reporting period. Exchange differences arising, if
any, are recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity as foreign exchange
reserve. Exchange differences recognised in profit or
loss of group entities’ separate financial statements
on the translation of long-term monetary items
forming part of the Group’s net investment in the
foreign operation concerned are reclassified to other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity as
translation reserve.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative
exchange differences recognised in the translation
reserve relating to that operation up to the date of
disposal are reclassified to profit or loss as part of the
profit or loss on disposal.

Employee benefits

(i) Short term employee benefits
Short term employee benefits are employee
benefits (other than termination benefits) that
are expected to be settled wholly before twelve
months after the end of the annual reporting
period in which the employees render the
related service. Short term employee benefits
are recognised in the year when the employees
render the related service.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

iR B W AR M A

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(p)

(a)

Employee benefits (continued)

(iij) Defined contribution retirement plans
Contributions to defined contribution retirement
plans are recognised as an expense in profit
or loss when the services are rendered by the
employees.

Termination benefits
Termination benefits are recognised on the

(iii)

earlier of when the Group can no longer
withdraw the offer of those benefits and
when the Group recognises restructuring costs
involving the payment of termination benefits.

Share-based compensation benefits

The Group operates a share award scheme (the
“Share Award Scheme”), which is an equity-settled
shared-based compensation plan under which share
awards are granted to employees as part of their
remuneration package.

Where share awards are awarded to employees
and others, the fair value of the services received
is measured by reference to the fair value of the
share awards at the date of grant. Such fair value is
recognised in profit or loss over the vesting period
with a corresponding increase in the share-based
compensation reserve within equity. Non-market
vesting conditions are taken into account by adjusting
the number of equity instruments expected to vest at
the end of each reporting period so that, ultimately,
the cumulative amount recognised over the vesting
period is based on the number of share awards that
eventually vest.

Where the terms and conditions of share awards are
modified before they vest, the increase in the fair
value of the share awards, measured immediately
before and after the modification, is also recognised
in profit or loss over the remaining vesting period.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(r)

Impairment of other assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group
reviews the carrying amounts of its property, plant
and equipment; right-of-use assets (applicable from
1 January 2019); interests in leasehold land held for
own use under operating leases (applicable until 31
December 2018); and interests in associates and joint
ventures to determine whether there is any indication
that these assets have suffered an impairment loss or
an impairment loss previously recognised no longer
exists or may have decreased.

If the recoverable amount (i.e. the greater of the fair
value less costs of disposal and value in use) of an
asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount,
the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its
recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised
as an expense immediately, unless the relevant asset
is carried at a revalued amount under another HKFRS,
in which case the impairment loss is treated as a
revaluation decrease under that HKFRS.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses,
the carrying amount of the asset is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, to
the extent that the increased carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal
of an impairment loss is recognised as income
immediately, unless the relevant asset is carried at a
revalued amount under another HKFRS, in which case
the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a
revaluation increase under that HKFRS.
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iR B W AR M A

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(r)

(s)

(t)

Impairment of other assets (continued)

Value in use is based on the estimated future cash
flows expected to be derived from the asset or cash
generating unit, discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the asset or cash generating unit.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised when there is
reasonable assurance that they will be received
and that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to them. Grants that compensate the Group
for expenses incurred are recognised as revenue
in profit or loss on a systematic basis in the same
periods in which the expenses are incurred. Grants
that compensate the Group for the cost of an asset
are deducted from the carrying amount of the asset
and consequently are effectively recognised in profit
or loss over the useful life of the asset by way of
reduced depreciation expense.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain
timing or amount when the Group has a legal or
constructive obligation arising as a result of a past
event, which it is probable will result in an outflow of
economic benefits that can be reasonably estimated.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow
of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations,
the existence of which will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
events, are also disclosed as contingent liabilities
unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits
is remote.

TESTEE (F)

(r)

(s)

(t)

HitbEERE (&
EAZEBEDRIEABGIRE EEX
ReELBM 2 fFARREREE
E - RERR R SRR EENRT
M EAREREENREELE
I 2 5 E BB oz B Al B 3R R BE 3R o

BUF R

fie] & T W E % BE U B BRI A B - T AR
KB ETE P 2R RIBUT
RS T AR - MEANKEAESL
S 2 fRR R E A P S 2 [A) — BfE A
BEREGHNBRERSPA - HER
SEEERAZHMBEAREE KR
EEFMGR EERRNEREEZAfE
RERURDITER 2 AR ER

BERER -

BERIREE
MASEERESEMHAR DAFN
HEE R MK A e EBURER z R
- BB M EIR RS A B b (b
At AlEsREREREASE L
BEREREE -

A AR RERR BB A et it B ik &
AR S MZEEKEER
FARBE ELENRRE 2 EER
IRBIER SN o (2 PAZE A Sk B A — TR
SZHBREGTAREREFELZ
AREEE TEREAXAEBE K
BRI Z R ORAIBRIN -

TE-AFEFH RESRMEEARALT 161



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

=
B

B T HR AR M o

4.

162

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
(u) Related parties
(@) A person or a close member of that person’s
family is related to the Group if that person:

(i)  has control or joint control over the Group;

(i)  has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is @ member of key management personnel
of the Group.

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions apply:

(i)  The entity and the Group are members of
the same group (which means that each
parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is
related to the others).

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which
the other entity is a member).

(iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same
third party.

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third
entity and the other entity is an associate
of the third entity.

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of the employees
of the Group or an entity related to the
Group.
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iR B W AR M A

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
(u) Related parties (continued)
(b) (continued)
(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled
by a person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of
key management personnel of the entity
(or of a parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group
of which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to the
Group or to the Company’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence,
or be influenced by, that person in their dealings with
the entity and include:

(i)  that person’s children and spouse or domestic
partner;

(ii) children of that person’s spouse or domestic
partner; and

(iii) dependents of that person or that person’s
spouse or domestic partner.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, the
directors are required to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on
historical experience and other factors that are considered
to be relevant. Actual results differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised
if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

(a) Critical judgments in applying accounting

policies

(i) Consolidation of funds set up by the Group
The Group acts as a fund manager to a number
of investment funds and contributed capital
as limited partner in several of these funds.
The Group also receives management and
performance fees that vary with the returns
of some of the investment funds. When
determining whether the Group controls these
funds, the level of aggregate expected economic
returns of the Group in these funds and the level
of investors’ rights to remove the fund manager
are considered.
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iR B W AR M A

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty

(i)

(ii)

Estimation of useful lives of property, plant
and equipment

Iltems of property, plant and equipment are
depreciated on a straight line basis over their
estimated useful lives after taking into account
the estimated residual values. The estimated
useful lives are based on the expected lives of
those property, plant and equipment items. The
useful lives of property, plant and equipment
could change significantly as a result of
technical obsolescence. When the actual useful
lives of property, plant and equipment, due to
the change of commercial and technological
environment, are different from their estimated
useful lives, such difference will impact the
depreciation charges.

Impairment of property, plant and
equipment

The Group assesses annually whether property,
plant and equipment have any indication of
impairment,
accounting policies. The determining of the
recoverable amounts requires the use of
judgement and estimates on future operating
cash flows and discount rates adopted. Where
the actual cash flows are different from the
original estimate, a material change in the
amount of impairment may arise.

in accordance with the relevant
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 5. TEEMHERMATTIREMZ
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION FEXRR (£)
UNCERTAINTY (continued)
(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(continued)
(iii) Fair value measurement

(b) A FHEEMZETERIER (&)

(iii) A-FEE

A number of assets and liabilities included
in the Group’s financial statements require
measurement at, and/or disclosure of, fair value.

The fair value measurement of the Group's
financial and non-financial assets and liabilities
utilises market observable inputs and data as far
as possible. Inputs used in determining fair value
measurements are categorised into different
levels based on how observable the inputs used
in the valuation technique utilised are (the ‘fair
value hierarchy’):

Level 1: Quoted prices in active markets for
identical items (unadjusted);

Level 2: Observable direct or indirect inputs
other than Level 1 inputs;

Level 3: Unobservable inputs
(i.e. not derived from market data).

The classification of an item into the above
levels is based on the lowest level of the inputs
used that has a significant effect on the fair
value measurement of the item. Transfers of
items between levels are recognised in the
period they occur.
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iR B W AR M A

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)
(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(continued)
(iii) Fair value measurement (continued)

The Group measures a number of items at fair
value:

—  Revalued buildings — Property, Plant and
Equipment (Note 17)

- Financial instruments (Note 22)
For more detailed information in relation to

the fair value measurement of the items above,
please refer to the applicable notes.

(iv) Impairment of loans to associates, note

receivables and loan receivables

The Group assesses at the end of the reporting
period the ECLs of loans to associates, note
receivables and loan receivables in accordance
with the three-stage model set out in
accounting policy notes 4(i)(ii)) and 43(iii) on
individual or collectively basis, as appropriate.
The Group estimates risk of default of the
debtors and the ECL rates considering factors
such as days past due of the receivables,
debtors’ creditworthiness, past repayment
history, the recoverable amount of the securities
and the timing of future cash inflows, then
adjusted for existing market condition including
forward looking estimates at the end of the
reporting period.

If the financial condition of its debtors was to
deteriorate so that the actual impairment loss
might be higher than expected, the Group
would be required to revise the basis of making
the allowance.
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5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 5. FEEGHERATHTIREMEZ
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION FERR (&)
UNCERTAINTY (continued)
(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty (b) HFFFHEMZEERER(E)
(continued)
(v) Provision for ECLs on trade receivables (v) ESENREZZABEEER
B
The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate REBFABEBEETEREG
ECLs for trade receivables of manufacturing DEHME SEKEXRTEHEE
segment. The provision rates are based on days BE -BEXRDERABELUES
past due for groupings of various customer BEANTRZEFHHHES (B
segments that have similar loss patterns (i.e., RiIE EmER BEPER R
by geography, product type, customer type and ARARERERGES D)@
rating, and coverage by credit insurance). HBASGES/E-
The provision matrix is initially based on the BEEERVIEASERAT
Group's historical observed default rates. The AERENETE - AEE R
Group will calibrate the matrix to adjust the BAREREAFAERBEEES
historical credit loss experience with forward- BEBEREEER - RERE
looking information. At each reporting date, the HE Y@ BRELORE
historical observed default rates are updated o 5 3T - N FRORI OB AR R (A
and changes in the forward-looking estimates B A A E ARME ) F RIS SR
including forecast economic conditions (i.e. BB T LAD T o
gross domestic products) are analysed.
The assessment of the correlation among HABRIINELEOX  TEA
historical observed default rates, forecast KERARTBHEEEE ZHE
economic conditions and ECLs is a significant BRI R D —THE 25T -
estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to TN EERENRBEHIRRE
changes in circumstances and forecast economic b B T8 RI£8 7B AR 5 B B ML AR 8K
conditions. The Group's historical credit loss R AEEMELEEBELER
experience and forecast of economic conditions RGBRRATEB T RBREE
may also not be representative of customer's PRARNEERENER - B
actual default in the future. The information AEEEKE SRR ZERE
about the ECLs on the Group's trade receivables EBEBERRNGAYBHRERN
is disclosed in note 43(iii) to the consolidated FE43(IN I E -
financial statements.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION

UNCERTAINTY (continued)

(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(continued)

TESTHHERMATABRESEZ
ETERR (&

(b) AFFFHEEMZETERIER (&)

(vi) Estimation the incremental borrowing rate

for lease liabilities

The Group cannot readily determine the interest
rate implicit in a lease, and therefore, it uses
an incremental borrowing rate (“IBR"”) to
measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of
interest that the Group would have to pay to
borrow over a similar term, and with a similar
security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset
of a similar value to the right-of-use asset in a
similar economic environment. The IBR therefore
reflects what the Group “would have to pay”,
which requires estimation when no observable
rates are available (such as for subsidiaries
that do not enter into financing transactions)
or when it needs to be adjusted to reflect the
terms and conditions of the lease. The Group
estimates the IBR using observable inputs
(such as market interest rates) when available
and is required to make certain entity-specific
estimates.
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6. SEGMENT REPORTING

(a) Reportable segments

(a)

The Group determines its operating segments based
on the reports reviewed by the chief operating
decision-maker that are used to strategic decisions.

The Group has three reportable segments. The
segments are managed separately because each
segment offers different products and services and
requires different strategies. The following summary
describes the operations in each of the Group's

reportable segments:

Manufacturing -
segment

Treasury investments —
segment

Financial services -
segment

Manufacture and sales
of printed circuit
boards

Investment in securities
and other related
activities

Advisory on securities,
asset management
and consultancy and
corporation solution
services

Inter-segment transactions, if any, are priced with
reference to prices charged to external parties for

similar order.
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LRE B AR MY R
6. SEGMENT REPORTING (continued) 6. DEEHE(£F)
(a) Reportable segments (continued) () AREDE (&)
Manufacturing Treasury investments Financial services Total
B BHERE SRR @i
2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
“E-REF ZE3-\F ZE-nf ZF-\F ZE-nfF ZT-\F ZE-nF ZT)\F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$"000 HK$'000
THr Ti#n T#r Ti#En TEr Ti#n FEr TR
Revenue from external customers REMBEFZIMA 425,001 513,467  (216,150)  (207,408) - 82,833 208941 388,892
Reportable segment loss IRESEER (25922)  (15808)  (442,800) (305,383)  (103,320)  (125,000)  (572,042) (446,191
Interest income A 43 58 149,928 232,850 - - 149,971 232,908
Finance costs BEER (14,761)  (14,258)  (64,451)  (72312) - - (19212)  (86,570)
Depreciation of property, nE BERZE
plant and equipment & (14007)  (14611) @111 (1,677) - (669)  (16,118)  (16957)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets £REEERE (3.851) - (5,982) - - - (9,833) -
Release of payments of BREELEHE
leasehold land held for own use  #{EERHE it
under operating lease E’ﬁﬁ% - (127) - - - - = (127)
(Write-down)/reversal of write- 2 & #5 (#51) /
down of inventories & lil (1,261) 4,882 - - - - (1,261) 4,882
Share of results of associates 15 GERNRZEE - - 10,99 139,664 - - 10,996 139,664
Share of results of joint ventures HA%E 7 25 - - 811 - - - 811 -
Impairment loss on trade “”%Wﬂ? Wi
receivables E# (278) (64)  (16,715) - (17,979 - (34,968) (64)
Impairment loss on loan ERERHESR
receivables - - (118,256) (177,564 - - (118,256)  (177,564)
Impairment loss on note ERFEHESE
receivables - - (22,014) - - - (22,014) -
Impairment loss on other Hi MR A
receivables B# - - - - (10,145) (189,597)  (10,145)  (189,597)
Impairment loss on loans to BYBERRZER
associates WEESE - - - (36,429) - - = (36,429)
Impairment loss on investment KB & A& 2R E
in an associate REBE - - (1,566) - - - (1,566) -
Impairment loss on goodwill HERESR - - (17,088) - - - (17,088) -
Bad debts written off HMEEE - - (6,650) - (75,196) - (81,846) -
Net (loss)/gain on disposal of ﬁ'ﬂ%% T
property, plant and equipment B)/hEFE - 1337 (2,809) - - - (2,809) 1337
Reportable segment assets TRENEEE 475,216 500,251 3,594,758 3,914,963 414,830 628,285 4,484,804 5,043,499
Interests in associates REER ﬂZf’éﬁn - - 413672 393573 - - 473672 393573
Interests in joint ventures Reghiia - - 172,276 - - - 172,276 -
Additions to non-current assets ?‘Eimiﬂﬁﬁ 13,939 28,280 168,712 7,481 - - 182,651 35,761
Reportable segment liabilities BEC N (450,450)  (409,986) (1,540,628) (1,351,317)  (111,894)  (406,373) (2,102,972) (2,167,676)
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AR TS MEMN
6. SEGMENT REPORTING (continued) 6. DHEME (&)
(a) Reportable segments (continued) () THESE (£)

AmESfEER BENBBYER:

Reconciliation of reportable segment profit or loss,

assets and liabilities:

2019 2018
—2-h#F —T-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Profit or loss B
Reportable segment loss Al FRE D FEEE (572,042) (446,191)
Equity-settled share-based EREEURNDAERZ
compensation benefits = B 1 A 14,833 12,341
Other unallocated staff cost B ARDBE TR (45,391) (75,729)
Consolidated loss before income Frig®i (i) e
tax (expense)/credit LEEE (602,600) (509,579)
2019 2018
—E-hEF —ZET—N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FE&ET
Assets BE
Reportable segment assets Al sREDEEE 4,484,804 5,043,499
Unallocated bank balances RAOBIBITEHRNTF R
and deposits 12,083 107,397
Consolidated total assets CAEBELE 4,496,887 5,150,896
2019 2018
—E-hF —E-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Liabilities =Rt
Reportable segment liabilities AR ESEEE 2,102,972 2,167,676
Tax payable FE 518 215,133 137,069
Consolidated total liabilities e BaEeEE 2,318,105 2,304,745
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iR & B % 2R P R
6. SEGMENT REPORTING (continued) 6. DE®E (&)
(b) Geographical information (b) HEEHR
The following table provides an analysis of the TEREHRAEBRBINATE 2K
Group's revenue from external customers and non- AAKRBERIAINZIERBEE
current assets other than financial instruments (FEFRBEE]) 29T
("Specified non-current assets”).
Revenue from external Specified non-current
customers (Note) assets
REMAEFZBA
(Bra) BEERBEE
2019 2018 2019 2018

—E-hE ZE-NF ZE-RE ZT-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FER FET FER FET
Hong Kong (place of domicile) &% (A7t 2h) (211,901) (200,188) 197,767 13,170
The People’s Republic of HEE AR ELAE
China ("PRC") ([HE]) 142,337 269,011 466,626 476,476
Singapore N 21,569 16,342 = -
Thailand R E 174 160 - -
Malaysia BREE 2,063 2,398 = -
Germany = 47,085 66,348 - -
Poland g | 24,678 722 = -
Other Europe Countries HBUMER 93,746 108,564 = -
United States of America EFHEARH 24,792 33,141 = -
Korea 82 5 2,477 9,831 - -
Japan SN 57,346 66,801 - -
Others Hit 4,575 15,762 = -
Total st 420,842 589,080 466,626 476,476
208,941 388,892 664,393 489,646
Note: Hiat -
Revenue is attributed to countries on the basis of the WATIREFRE# 2 BRE 5 o

customer’s location.
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iRE BT R AR MY
6. SEGMENT REPORTING (continued) 6. DE®E (&)
(c) Information about major customers () EBEXEEZEFZER
Revenue from major customers who have individually REXFERFR (BEREERLKAZ
contributed to 10% or more of the total revenue of 10% kA E) WA BRI T -

the Group are disclosed as follows:

2019 2018
ZE-hF —T-N\F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET T T
Customer A3 BEPA3 N/ATIE A 94,659
Customer B* = FB* 57,285 66,637
Customer C* BECH 37,294 50,134
Customer D4 BFED4 39,757 40,557
Customer E24 EPE4 30,368 N/AA i A
Customer F23 SR 27,123 N/A 3 A
Customer G24 EFEG24 25,519 N/AZ 3 3
Customer H# EPH2 4 24,678 N/AA i A
Customer 123 BRI 21,986 N/A 3 A
Customer J23 BFE)23 21,986 N/AT 3 3
L The customer contributed less than 10% of the ! ZEFRBE-T-NFT_A=+—
Group's revenue for the year ended 31 December B IEF AR B2 MG RSB IRAT
2019. E10% °
2 These customers contributed less than 10% of the ’ ZEEFRBE-F-/\F+-A=+—
Group's revenue for the year ended 31 December B IEFEATE B2 A S AR IR
2018. &10% °
2 Included in the treasury investment and financial ’ ATAMBRE ke iRs o8-
service segments.
. Included in the manufacturing segment. ! ATABGED M -
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IRE B R R R
REVENUE 7. WA
An analysis of revenue is as follows: WAZDHTT
2019 2018
—B-hEF —E-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Revenue from contracts with customers: B A XU A :
Sales of goods HEEm 425,091 513,467
Corporate solution service income P ERRFTRRBEA
(Note) (K1at) - 19,763
Management fee and performance EEEBRESIEBRA
fee income - 63,070
Total revenue from contracts with BEPERHRAERE
customers 425,091 596,300
Revenue from other sources: H At R 2 WA
Fair value loss on trading purpose HRXZGEHZRAFE
equity investments at FVTPL, net TABRIBRTRE 2
NFEEE FRE
— Realised loss —B#EEE (228,439) (14,843)
— Unrealised loss — R IH (137,584) (425,277)
(366,023) (440,120)
Interest income FEMA
— Loan and note receivables —ERERREE 141,040 232,712
- Loan to an associate —BTHERAZER 8,833 -
Total revenue from other sources R B H A R 2 WA B 58 (216,150) (207,408)
208,941 388,892
Note: Bt
Corporate solution services income mainly represent investment CEBATRBRBWAEZREEEN 2/
referral, financial services and other consultancy related services Rl 75 K2 o th B8 5 4R 28 AR 75 LU o
income.
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WA (&)

EFEHBA

(i) WAEHGH
BE-ZT-NF+-A=t—BL#F

7. REVENUE (continued) 7.
Revenue from contracts with customers
(i) Disaggregated revenue information
For the year ended 31 December 2019

176

A

E
Treasury Financial
Manufacturing investments services Total
B BBRE SRRE @5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Segments k] THER THER THER TR
Types of goods or services EmBREER
Sales of goods HEEm 425,091 - - 425,091
Management fee and ERERENERA
performance fee income = - - _
Total revenue from contracts with ~ BF A 4R AL
customers 425,091 - - 425,091
Timing of revenue recognition ~ WARREY
Goods transferred at a REGBEEBNER
point in time 425,091 - - 425,091
Service transferred over time BERE S B AR T - - = -
Total revenue from contracts with ~~ B A KM AL E
customers 425,091 - - 425,091
Geographical markets 138 5
PRC H 105,930 - - 105,930
Hong Kong N 40,656 - - 40,656
Singapore N 21,569 - - 21,569
Thailand RE 174 - - 174
Malaysia BRAET 2,063 - - 2,063
Germany = 47,085 - - 47,085
Poland RE 24,678 - - 24,678
Other Europe Countries HEABUNER 93,746 - - 93,746
United States of America EF SN ¥ 24,792 - = 24,792
Korea e 2,477 - - 2,477
Japan A7 57,346 - - 57,346
Other countries/regions HttER /@ 4,575 - - 4,575
Total revenue from contracts with ~ BEF A 4R AL
customers 425,091 - - 425,091
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REVENUE (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(i) Disaggregated revenue information (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2018

e
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
RE IS SRR MY
7. WA (&)
BEFEEHWA (&)
(i) UWAEZHRBEH(Z)

BE_T-\F+-_A=t—HL*HF

E
Treasury Financial
Manufacturing investments services Total
g% FHRE SRR @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Segments ¥ TAET FAET FHET FTET
Types of goods or services EmBRBER
Sales of goods HEE M 513,467 - - 513,467
Corporate solution service ERRATRRBEKA
income - - 19,763 19,763
Management fee and EREBERENBRA
performance fee income - - 63,070 63,070
Total revenue from contracts with &P A HIW A\ EE
customers 513,467 - 82,833 596,300
Timing of revenue recognition W AT EE
Goods transferred at a REFHHEEZNED
point in time 513,467 - 51,150 564,617
Service transferred over time Bebs e A RS - - 31,683 31,683
Total revenue from contracts with &P A HIW A\ E%E
customers 513,467 - 82,833 596,300
Geographical markets BT S
PRC HE 150,281 - 19,763 170,044
Hong Kong &% 43,117 - 63,070 106,187
Singapore CRIIE 16,342 - - 16,342
Thailand EE] 160 - - 160
Malaysia SRER 2,398 - - 2,398
Germany =H 66,348 - - 66,348
Poland i 722 - - 722
Other Europe Countries HBUNER 108,564 - - 108,564
United States of America EFBRERE 33,141 - - 33,141
Korea HE 9,831 - - 9,831
Japan A 66,801 - - 66,801
Other countries/regions HEBAR/ R 15,762 - - 15,762
Total revenue from contracts with &P A HIW A\ EE
customers 513,467 - 82,833 596,300
There was no inter-segment sales between segments RMEFEAN SREGTEETHSE

and therefore the amount on sales to external
customers by segment is as the same as total revenue
from contracts with customers by segment in both
years.

BHHE - FibiR D 885

D Y A I 3B =

FELHHESRERRD B ONE
Fa#®WA#EMER -
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RE B TS IR R M
8. OTHER INCOME 8. HfbWA
2019 2018
—E-hF —E-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHETT
Bank interest income ERITH B UL A 98 196
Service income AR 7% A 1,181 1,353
Investment income BEWA 28,715 36,000
Government grants (Note) B RE (M at) 1,508 1,266
Tooling income TEREBRA 2,643 2,829
Others E 1,895 1,766
36,040 43,410
Note: Kiat -
Government grants mainly represent reimbursement of export BHEZRERBETREREETBRNTE
credit insurance paid under a concession policy in Guangdong BT R EERRE -

province, the PRC.
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0175 R MY R

9. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES

9. Hittlhm RE#E

2019 2018
—E-hEF i AN
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHEIT
Net exchange gain/(losses) b s (1) F88 3,127 (6,716)
Impairment loss on trade receivables 2 5 R WERFOREEE
(Note 24) (K1it24) (34,968) (64)
Impairment loss on other receivables H A & WK IE R (B B 18
(Note 43(iii)) (K3 a£43(ii)) (10,145) (189,597)
Impairment loss on loan receivables & W B FORE B 1B
(Note 26) (Htit26) (118,256) (177,564)
Impairment loss on note receivables ERE B R E IR
(Note 27) (B1it27) (22,014) -
Impairment loss on loans to associates & T Ef & QA 2 BEFURE
(Note 20) B8 (friE20) - (36,429)
Impairment loss on investment in an REE AR 2 IREREEE
associate (Note 20) (B7at20) (1,566) -
Impairment loss on goodwill (Note 40) P ER{EE B (H1:£40) (17,088) -
Unrealised fair value gain/(loss) on IR HE MR AT ERA
non-trading purpose financial assets BasemEERERA
at FVTPL FEKE (EE) 37,365 (332,813)
Unrealised fair value gain on derivative T4 & @& E A Z IR A FE
financial asset W 25 = 293,000
Realised fair value gain on call option REREDER A TEKSE - 102,407
Bad debts written off 84 2 AR (81,846) -
Net (loss)/gain on disposal of property, HEWE WEMEREZ
plant and equipment (E18) MWz %88 (2,809) 1,337
(248,200) (346,439)
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iR A B TS R ER M
10. FINANCE COSTS 10. MEEH
2019 2018
—E-hF —E-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Interest on: A
— Lease liabilities —-HE&AE 2,927 -
— Borrowings —fEE 66,992 74,613
— Loan from a related company ——EEB AR EX 3,156 6,000
— Loans from a director ——ZEEER 6,137 5,957
79,212 86,570
11. LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX EXPENSE/ M. FI8BxH (ER)AEE
(CREDIT)
This is arrived at after charging/(crediting): e MR (GEA)
2019 2018
—E-hF —ZE-NF
HK$°000 HK$'000
THET T T
Auditor’s remuneration % 50N B & 2,383 3,078
Cost of inventories recognised as BRAEXE ZHFEKAR
expenses 218,391 277,259
Write-down/(reversal of write-down) of  F&EMRE, (HMUE B [El)
inventories (included in cost of sales) (T AHERA) 1,261 (4,882)
Employee costs (Note 12) BEKAKN (Hit12) 149,252 182,515
Depreciation of property, plant and M- BEREEITE
equipment 16,118 16,957
Depreciation of right-of-use assets* CRAREERE 9,833 -
Release of payments for leasehold land R IRIE G E A EHH1E
held for own use under operating BRAZHEHETHHESES
leases™ - 127
Short term lease expenses RHEERX 319 -
Gain on modification of lease CHE A& (104) -
Minimum lease payments under operating 18 #& & s & 5+ £ BI| 551 75%
leases on land and buildings under THERBFIKEHEZ
HKAS 17* REHEE* - 12,604
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RE MR T
11. LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX EXPENSE/ 1. BHRXE (ER)AER
(CREDIT) (continued) (#%&)
The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the G AEBEFREAXEENRERES
cumulative effect approach and adjusted the opening ISR ELENEICERABRNR=F— 1
balances at 1 January 2019 to recognise right-of-use F—H— B 2 BA9) 45 84 LARE R B 5 AT AR
assets relating to leases which were previously classified as BEBSGTENFI7TRDOBAKENE
operating leases under HKAS 17. After initial recognition of ZHERHEREEE - R-_Z—NF
right-of-use assets at 1 January 2019, the Group as lessee is —A—BUIPHER @Eﬁﬁ%ﬁ@fﬁ rEE
required to recognise the depreciation of right-of-use assets, (ERAMAN)ERRECAEEENE
instead of the previous policy of recognising rental expenses MFEBTHEREERREFEERR
incurred under operating leases on a straight-line basis KEMEBETEEZHERX - REZH
over the lease term. Under this approach, the comparative 5 W B LB E K o R HtFE2(a) ©
information has not been restated. See note 2(a).
12. EMPLOYEE COSTS 12. EEAAE
2019 2018
—E-hF —ZE-)N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx FAT
Employee costs (including directors’ EBEKRAKN (BEESEME
remuneration (Note 13)) comprise: (Htat13) ) BIE:
— Wages and salaries —I;ﬁ&%trA 139,654 179,586
— Contributions to retirement benefits RRAE A GBI
scheme 20,011 11,626
— Equity-settled share-based —RmEEUARND A
compensation benefits (Note 36) B 2 %5 B e A
(K1et36) (14,833) (12,341)
— Other staff benefits —HMBE TR 4,420 3,644
149,252 182,515
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13. DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS

182

A

The emoluments paid or payable to each of the directors
were as follows:

13. EEM &

ENSENSES MW T

Contributions

Equity-settled

Salaries and to retirement  share-based
other benefit compensation
Fees benefits scheme benefits Total
BREEN
HeR RUKER  ROKER
ne Hitt iR FEMY ZEHEMEA @it
HK$"000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER TER TER
2019 —E-hE
Executive directors: HTES:
Liu Tingan g% - 13,081 18 (14,833) (1,734)
Cheok Ho Fung £ - 5,4337 - = 5,433
Shan Yongxin (Appointed on BRE(RZZ-NF
30 August 2019) NAZ+BEZ{E) 142 589 4 - 735
142 19,103 22 (14,833) 4,434
Non-executive directors: FHTES:
Mao Yumin (Resign on EHE (RZ2-NF
21 August 2019) NAZ+—HEE) 384 - - - 384
Independent non-executive BUFYTES:
directors:
Ng Man Kung Rt 220 - - - 220
Lau Fai Lawrence 2% 220 - - - 220
Mak Kwok Kei EEHE 220 - - - 220
Li Yongjun (Appointed on FKE
30 August 2019) (RZZ—NF
NA=ZTHEZA) 203 - - - 203
863 - - - 863
Total a5t 1,389 19,103 22 (14,833) 5,681
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13. DIRECTORS’' EMOLUMENTS (continued) 13. EEM < (&)
The emoluments paid or payable to each of the directors ENENSES 2T :

were as follows:

Contributions  Equity-settled
Salaries and  to retirement share-based

other benefit  compensation
Fees benefits scheme benefits Total
BREEN
ek RIVEH  ROAER
we Hip B R FEMRT ZEMER @5
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FiET FET T FET FHL
2018 ZE-N\%§
Executive directors: HTES:
Liu Tingan 2R - 18,580 18 (12,341) 6,257
Cheok Ho Fung £ - 5,424 - - 5,424
- 24,004 18 (12,341) 11,681
Non-executive director: FHITES:
Mao Yumin EHE 935 - - - 935
Independent non-executive BUFHTES:
directors:
Ng Man Kung RXH# 215 - - - 215
Lau Fai Lawrence 2% 215 - - - 215
Mak Kwok Kei (Appointed on FEE(R=2-/\F
17 July 2018) tATHBEZAE) 101 - - - 101
Ngai Wai Fung (Resign on REE(R_Z-N\F
18 April 2018) mA+/\BEfE) 61 - - - 61
592 - - - 592
Total @gr 1,527 24,004 18 (12,341) 13,208
" Included in the amount is rental and management fee paid " ZeReRENEXEEEHEE 2R
for director’s quarter to a company beneficially owned by JEEEEHERERSE -
Mr. Cheok.
No emolument was paid to the directors as an inducement RAEFE HMERAESNME ER
to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for MAREE S MAREE 1% 2 RE)E HAE
loss of office during both years. No directors waived any of REBBEE-RMEFE EFHEME
their emoluments for both years. HEMME -
TE-AFEFH RESRMEEARALT 183
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e M mR M E

14. FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in
the Group, one (2018: two) is a director of the Company
whose emoluments are included in the disclosures in note
13 before. The emoluments of the remaining four (2018:
three) individuals are as follows:

14. EBBSHFMAL
AEBALBRSTMA LR — 2 (=T
—N\F ML) RERAES REZHE
RN EXH B3 BB -EBNE (=T
—NE:ZZ)ALTZHEMT:

2019 2018
—B-hEF AN
HK$'000 HK$'000
FE T FE&T
Salaries and other benefits e hEMET 9,337 12,302
Contributions to retirement benefit RIRE TR B3R
scheme 124 51
9,461 12,353
Their emoluments were within the following bands: BEZMEN FLATEHE :
2019 2018
—B-hEF AN
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
AE N
HK$Nil to HK$1,000,000 ZE L E 1,000,000 7T = -
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001/ T
2,000,000/ 7T 2 -
HK$2,000,001 to HK$4,000,000 2,000,001 2
4,000,000/ 7T 2 3
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e B RS R M A
15. INCOME TAX (EXPENSE)/CREDIT 15. B8 (X)) %
The amount of income tax expense/(credit) in the RieBam REMEIEKRRR ZFAERX
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other b (Fe)EemEE:
comprehensive income represents:
2019 2018
—E-hEF —ZE-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHEIT
Current tax — PRC Enterprise Income Tax BIEAF{E — B> #1575
— tax for the year —AREEBHIA 19,674 24,133
Current tax — Hong Kong Profits Tax BEARLIE — BB NS B
— tax for the year —AREEBIA 13,959 45,408
Deferred tax (Note 33) EIERIA (H7iE33) 22,453 (151,452)
Income tax expense/(credit) T8,/ (&) 56,086 (81,911)
Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of BEANSHREEBMEFERESELM
16.5% on estimated assessable profits arising from Hong FTERTGE R Z16.5%F Katie -
Kong during both years.
No Macau profits tax has been provided as the Macau HRARGE 2 RBFNB R ARMEFERN
subsidiary of the Company is exempted from Macau R R RPIFTISH 7B - i A 1 R P
Complementary Tax for both years. MR-
Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the BEPECEMERE ([REAERE])
“EIT Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, REEMETEBERED - 45 E H =t
the statutory tax rate of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries is BRARIZEEMER25% (ZE—N\F:
25% (2018: 25%). 25% ) °
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15. INCOME TAX (EXPENSE)/CREDIT (continued) 15. Fi8% (X H) & (&)
The income tax expense/(credit) for the year can be REEMBHRIE (Ee)B@BEREE
reconciled to loss before income tax expense/(credit) per BREkHEtME2EKSRRZAER ST E,
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other (&) AEEAE T 5 AR

186

comprehensive income as follows:

2019 2018
—E-NEF —E-)\F
HK$°000 HK$'000
THET T T
Loss before income tax expense/(credit)  FiiEfi sz, (%R ) FiEE (602,600) (509,579)
Tax on loss at the rates applicable RHRBERNAERERANE
to the jurisdictions concerned R ZEEBIE (99,459) (74,449)
Tax effect of exemption granted to RTRMFMBARZ
Macau subsidiary M MGEEE 3,048 2,772
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax ﬁ/,\ RPN E NG E
purpose or subject to capital gain tax MBAZBRGTE (11,139) (29,052)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible PRI MM H 2 B &
for tax purpose 27,444 20,823
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised ~ FERHBEBZHEFE 92,826 3,516
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses not &) FA 7t Al *ﬁﬁ* AR EE
previously recognised 2B E - (4,709)
Reversal of deferred tax assets B (Bl % B HE SR 2 IR AT
previously recognised MIBEE 42,403 -
Tax effect of other temporary Hih A ERERELEZ 2
differences not recognised fRﬂ‘%%% 963 (812)
Income tax expense/(credit) Frigfiz i,/ (%) 56,086 (81,911)
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IRE IR R M
16. LOSS PER SHARE 16. BREE
The calculation of basic and diluted loss per share KNP E ANEBLMEBRERNKESEET)
attributable to owners of the Company is based on the RAT8RAT& -
following data:
Loss B8
2019 2018
—E-hF = —\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET T T
Loss for the purpose of basic and AEEREARAREEEER
diluted loss per share REZEE (658,619) (427,668)
Number of shares g - §E|
2019 2018
—E-hF —E-NF
Weighted average number of ordinary T B SREAEBREAZ
shares for the purpose of basic loss T AR N 19 B
per share 2,208,000,000 2,205,073,973
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares: #&/BEET B 2 £
— share award scheme — R 1n BEEET &l N/A TEA N/A i A
Weighted average number of ordinary st ESREESEEBREHE Y
shares for the purpose of diluted loss T E AR eI 8
per share 2,208,000,000 2,205,073,973

No adjustment is made to the basis loss per share for the
year ended 31 December 2019 and 2018 as the dilutive
potential ordinary shares have an anti-dilutive effect on the

basic loss per share amounts presented.

HREEEEEBRYERENEBIRZY
THRAEREBEXE MUENEBE_FT
—NERF-N\F+_A=1t—HLF
Bz BREREBBELFE-
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17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 17. 9% - BERRE

Moulds,
Furniture, dies, test
Leasehold Plantand fixture and Motor fixtures
Buildings improvements ~ machinery  equipment vehicles and pins Total
BA.
HE B = £ER REEE
BF MELE R R AE RiE® @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHEL FHEL FHET FHET FET FET THET
At 31 December 2019 R=-Z-AE+=A
=t-H
At 1 January 2019 RZE-NE—-A—-AH
Cost or valuation Ak E 228,449 15,365 693,590 15,353 17,196 4,809 974,762
Accumulated depreciation R HTE RAERSE
and impairment loss - (8,079) (654,711) (9,868) (7,642) (3,987) (684,287)
Carrying amount EHE 228,449 7,286 38,879 5,485 9,554 822 290,475
At 1 January 2019, RZE-NE—HF—-H"
carrying amount EHE 228,449 7,286 38,879 5,485 9,554 822 290,475
Additions RE - 3,656 11,293 186 161 338 15,634
Disposals e - (4,100) (3.230) (779) - - (8113)
Depreciation provided TEERERRE
during the year (4,926) (652) (7,198) (900) (2,299) (143) (16,118)
Written back on disposal A H &5 [ - 1,570 3,233 300 - - 5,103
Revaluation gain BHENE 2,955 = = - - - 2,955
Exchange realignment R AR (7,567) (253) (1,409) (29) (90) (33) (9,381)
At 31 December 2019, RZE-N&E+-A8
carrying amount =t+—-0 KHE 218,911 1,507 41,564 4,263 1,326 984 280,555
At 31 December 2019 RZE-NE
+-A=+—-H 218,911 14,629 683,590 14,523 17,196 4,979 953,828
Cost or valuation Ak {h (B
Accumulated depreciation  RitTE RBERSE
and impairment losses - (7,122) (642,026) (10,260) (9,870) (3,995) (673,273)
Carrying amount EEE 218,911 1,507 41,564 4,263 7,326 984 280,555
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' iR e B TS R M R
17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 17. ¥ BERRE (&)
(continued)
Moulds,
Furniture, dies, test
Leasehold Plant and fixture and Motor fixtures
Buildings  improvements machinery equipment vehicles and pins Total
BA-
AL B
HE B EER BHRE
BT NEXE R B RE REH @it

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$"000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TBTL TBTL TBTL TBTL TBTL TBTL TBTL

At 31 December 2018 R-ZE-NE+=AH

=t+-A

At 1 January 2018 RZZ-N\$-H—H
Cost or valuation RAFM(E 228,774 14,141 717,730 11,512 13,323 4,911 990,391
Accumulated depreciation  ZitTE RFEREE

and impairment loss - (7,161) (691,825) (8,243) (7,346) (3,961) (718,536)

Carrying amount EEE 228,774 6,980 25,905 3,269 5977 950 271,855
At 1 January 2018, RZE-N\§-A-8"

carrying amount EEE 228,774 6,980 25,905 3,269 5977 950 271,855
Additions NE - 1,524 24,500 4,091 5,577 69 35,761
Disposals HE (1,129) (44) (29,388) - (1,548) - (32,109)
Depreciation provided FEERERRE

during the year (5,126) (1,000) (6,920) (1,844) (1,900) (167) (16,957)
Written back on disposal 1A EE &G 255 44 26,215 - 1,548 - 28,062
Revaluation gain EfRie: 13,796 - - - - - 13,796
Exchange realignment ERAE (8,121) (218) (1,433) 31) (100) (30) (9,933)

At 31 December 2018, RZE-N\F+=A
carrying amount =t+—-H -KAA 228,449 7,286 38,879 5,485 9,554 822 290,475

At 31 December 2018 RZE-NE+=A

=+—H
Cost or valuation KAHEE 228,449 15,365 693,590 15,353 17,19 4,809 974,762
Accumulated depreciation R T E RAERSE
and impairment losses - (8,079) (654,711) (9,868) (7,642) (3,987) (684,287)
Carrying amount REE 228,449 7,286 38,879 5,485 9,554 822 290,475
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EAMBEENE
17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 17. ¥ -BERRKRE (&)

190

(continued)

The Group’s buildings are situated in the PRC. At 31
December 2019, the Group’s buildings with a carrying
amount of approximately HK$218,911,000 (2018:
HK$225,575,000) were pledged to secure the bank loans
granted to the Group.

The Group’s buildings were revalued at the end of
reporting period based on market approach and with
reference to the valuation reports issued by Flagship
Appraisals and Consulting Limited, an independent firm of
professionally qualified valuers. The valuation reports used
depreciated replacement cost approach which is arrived at
using the aggregate amount of the new replacement cost
of the buildings, from which appropriate deductions may
then be made to allow for the age, condition, functional
obsolescence and environmental factor.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, a revaluation
gain of approximately HK$2,955,000 (2018: gain of
HK$13,796,000) on the Group’s buildings has been
recognised in other comprehensive income and credited
(2018: credited) to property revaluation reserve.

The following table presents the fair values of the Group’s
buildings measured at the end of reporting period on a
recurring basis, categorised into the three-level fair value
hierarchy. The level into which a fair value measurement
is classified and is determined with reference to the
observability and significance of the inputs used in the
valuation technique as follows:

AEBZEFHURFE - R=_Z— A
F+-ZA=1+—RH AEBEEEY
/218,911,000 L (=& — )\ F:
225,575,000 7T) 2 BFETER - ER
REBERBITERZER

RBERR AEE2BFRMEELL
2EWY A BREXRGEMBEEEENG
BRARARHAENGBERSETE MR-
ZEERERBAETSEXNANEL EHE
THMEENAERBRIELF LB R
S NRERRE MIRR R Z R E E HRIR
B o

HE-_ZE-AE+-_A=+—HIL&EE-
AEEEF RS E (AW 492,955,000
JT(ZF— )\ : Ig2513,796,0005 7T ) -
EREMEmKESERL T ADESEHRE
BARA(ZE—N\F 5T A) -

TREFNFEMRRG T ERLETEYL
BREBAFESHEOBNAKERFHL
FE-FEDMAFEFESRSEMEE
HEMABAENABREERERES
BT

2019 2018

—B-hEF —E-N\%F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FH&T

Level 3 BE=/ 218,911 228,449
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17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 17. % -BERRE (&£)
(continued)
A reconciliation of the opening and closing fair value BB EERTEFERNFVRERD
balance of Level 3 recurring fair value measurement is N EERERAT
provided below:
2019 2018
—E-hF —E-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET T T
Opening balance B9 & R
(Level 3 recurring fair value) (BE=ZEFHERFEE) 228,449 228,774
Disposals & - (1,129)
Depreciation provided for the year KEFFHRITE (4,926) (5,126)
Written back on disposals B B R ) - 255
Revaluation gain ERrl e 2,955 13,796
Exchange realignment ER (7,567) (8,121)
Closing balance H R4 84
(Level 3 recurring fair value) (BE=ZREFHERTFE) 218,911 228,449
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17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 17. ¥ -BERR®E (&£)
(continued)
The following table gives information about how the TR EBAEERFNATEEES
fair value of the Group's buildings are determined, as EARBBATEFEMERABGAEBR
well as the fair value hierarchy into which the fair value ABREEH AT EAZETRAFTESR
measurement is categorised, based on the degree to which EloMmER -

the inputs to the fair value measurement is observable.
As at 31 December 2019 R=ZF-AF+=ZA=+—H

Relationship of

Significant unobservable
Fair value Valuation unobservable inputs for
hierarchy technique input fair value Range
AABRREBAER
AFEER HEHE EXTAEERAE AP ENEE gE
Level 3 Depreciated New replacement costs The increase in the new RMB3,000 per
replacement cost per square metre are depreciated replacement ~ square metre
approach determined using costs per square metre
estimated current would result in an
cost of replacement increase in fair value

of the improvement
less allowance for
physical deterioration
and all relevant forms
of obsolescence and

optimisation.
=8 NEEERNZE BYHRKMEERNRABE BFAARMFTEEE BEARARE
RAIAEEHREEERAN  KAE MK EH 3,0007C

RERBRN—IEEY  RFEEN
AR RENBCREERE

Eo
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iR B W AR M A

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 17. ¥ - BERRZRE (£Z)
(continued)
As at 31 December 2018 R=-E—-N\F+=-A=+—H

Relationship of

Significant unobservable
Fair value Valuation unobservable inputs for
hierarchy technique input fair value Range
A BEBAER
DNFEER fEE 7% EXTHTEERAE ATV ENEE &E
Level 3 Depreciated New replacement costs The increase in the new RMB2,950 per square
replacement cost per square metre are depreciated replacement metre
approach determined using costs per square metre
estimated current would result in an
cost of replacement increase in fair value

of the improvement
less allowance for
physical deterioration
and all relevant forms
of obsolescence and

optimisation.
BE= WEEEXRAE BIHRKMEENERRA FFHAHMFTEESE BYHRARE
BRINMEAREEER KRAE NG G 2,9507T

AR EREBRAL -1 AT EEM
R A R e M B

B EE-
There were no changes to the valuation techniques during REZHERELEES o
the year.
The fair value measurement is based on the above A ufET;zE”LLﬁ?@%E’JE—K&E—ﬁH%
properties’ highest and best use, which does not differ BRET HAE ERABRTERR -
from their actual use.
Had the Group's buildings been stated at historical cost WMAEEEFRELKARZATE
less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses EREEBEE (BB)IE HER_-F
(if any), their carrying amount as at 31 December 2019 — W+ ZA=+T—Bz2HKEEK
would have been approximately HK$198,883,000 (2018: #)/198,883,0008 7L (=& — )\ & :
HK$210,709,000). 210,709,000/ 7T ) °
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18. PAYMENTS FOR LEASEHOLD LAND HELD

19.

194

FOR OWN USE UNDER OPERATING LEASES
The Group’s payments for leasehold land held for own use
under operating leases comprised of land use rights in the
PRC:

18. REKEHERFERAZHEEL

A
AEERBCERER AR RE L
7 4 50 4 o [ ) - St PR A ¢

2019 2018
—E-hE  —T-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FET
Analysed for reporting purpose as BERERED R
— Current assets MENEE - 124
— Non-current assets —ERBEE - 3,405
- 3,529

As at 31 December 2018, the Group's land use rights
with a carrying amount of approximately HK$3,529,000
were pledged to secure certain bank loans granted to the
Group.

Upon the initial application of HKFRS 16 on 1 January
2019, the balance was reclassified to right-of-use assets as
detailed in note 2(a).

LEASES

HKFRS 16 was adopted on 1 January 2019 without
restatement of comparative figures. For an explanation
of the transitional requirements that were applied as at
1 January 2019, see note 2(a). The accounting policies
applied subsequent to the date of initial application, 1
January 2019, as disclosed in note 4(h).
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R-ZE—N\F+_A=+—H KEHEK
(B #)3,529,000/8 7t 2 T {EA#ERE T
B EAREETERITERZIER-

R-E-NE—-—A—BVKRERTENK
WEEAE16HR  ZEBRETDRRE
REEE (FBRWE2a)) °

HE
ERMBRELEAE1GRER T —NF
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iR B W AR M A

19. LEASES (continued)

(@) The Group as lessee

19. HE (&)
(a) AEBEEBEBAA

The Group has lease contracts for office buildings
and staff quarters. Lump sum payments were made
upfront to acquire the interests in the leasehold
land in the PRC. Leases of office buildings and staff
quarters generally have lease terms ranging from
one to three years and lease payments are fixed over
the lease terms. One of the lease contracts for office
buildings includes an extension option which has
been included in lease terms for calculations of right-
of-use assets and lease liabilities below.

Certain leases of office buildings have lease terms of
12 months or less and the Group did not capitalised
these leases by applying the short-term lease
recognition exemption.

(i) Right-of-use assets
The movements of the carrying amounts of the
Group’s right-of-use assets during the year are
set out below:

AEBRARARERETIEENH
6K AEBEEEL —EBANK
HAWBETEEE T S - A
ABRETIBEEHENEEN RN
F-E=F MEEHARZBEMNK
REE -HF—BERAAENHEES
MR BERERERE ETETX
MERAEEEREEREMSEFA
HEMA-

MARBNETHENEENR12(E
ASEAT - A5 [ JE 22 B TH & 7
REe TEKZEHEEAR -

() BAEEZE
AEBEZERBEERAFE
ZEEEZSHIIWNT

Leasehold

land Buildings Total
HELTH# BF st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET THET TET
As at 1 January 2019 \—_Z—-NF—HA—H 3,529 19,070 22,599
Additions nNE - 11,516 11,516
Depreciation expense TERAX (123) (9,710) (9,833)
Modification of Lease MEEWR - (3,438) (3,438)
Exchange realignment P H AR (114) (60) (174)

As at 31 December 2019 RZZE—-N%F
+-A=+—8” 3,292 17,378 20,670

As at 31 December 2019, the Group's right-
of-use assets in respect of leasehold land
with carrying amount of approximately
HK$3,292,000 were pledged to secure certain
bank loans granted to the Group.

RZZE—hF+=ZA=+—8"
AEERMEE 43,292,000 7T
2EBRHEL M FRERE
ETHEF (ERAKEMEST
RITERZER-
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AN HRENTE
19. LEASES (continued) 19. HE (&)
(a) The Group as lessee (continued) (a) xEBEEREBA(F)
(ii) Lease liabilities (i) HEESE

HK$'000
FAT
As at 1 January 2019 W_ZE—-hF—H—H 19,070
New leases WHEE 11,516
Interest expense FEMRAX 2,927
Payments (NEN (11,485)
Modification of lease MEEBH (3,542)
Exchange realignment ME 5, 58 B (59)
As at 31 December 2019 RZE—NF+_A=+—H 18,427

Classified under: DR
Non-current portion IEREIL D 9,660
Current portion mENE D 8,767
18,427

Future lease payments are due as follows: REREERNRZBHABAT -
2019
—B-hF
Minimum
lease
payments Interest Present value
BEAENAR FE RE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHT FHT
Within 1 year 1R 10,462 1,695 8,767
110 5 years 1855 10,560 900 9,660
21,022 2,595 18,427
19 HKBridge Financial Holdings Limited Annual Report 2019
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fRE B S R R M 5T
19. LEASES (continued) 19. HE (&)
(a) The Group as lessee (continued) (a) xEBEEREBA(F)
(iii) Information in relation to short term leases (iii) BEEHHEZEF
2019
—ZE-hF
HK$'000
FERT
Short term lease expenses RHEERX 319
Aggregate undiscounted REIMEE 2 REEIR AR
commitments for short
term leases -
(iv) Disclosure regarding operating lease (iv) RIEZEBEERE17HEEH
commitment as at 31 December 2018 under R-E-NF+=-ZA=+—H
HKAS 17 CEEHERIEZHE
The Group had commitments for future AEBRTAHELEHER
minimum lease payments under non-cancellable T2 RRREREFKAELET
operating leases which fall due during the AT BAR B B8
period as follows:
2018
—E-N\F
HK$'000
FHET
Within one year —FR 12,379
In the second to fifth years FE_ZENF (BEEERE)
inclusive 11,510
23,889
Operating lease payments represent rentals KEMENRIEASEH
payable by the Group for its office properties REMEREIBEEEMN 2HE
and staff quarters. Leases were negotiated for o FERzHEFHNT—=
terms ranging from one to three years with fixed =F - REEHAZESA
rentals over the terms of the leases. E °
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20. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

198

20. RBEE QT 2R

2019 2018
—E-hE —E—N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHETT
Share of net assets other than goodwill  [E{EEE FE (FEKIN) 189,070 194,313
Goodwill on the acquisition WEEEAMNEE = 1,566
Loans to associates # THERNA 2B 288,638 234,123
477,708 430,002

Less: Allowance for doubtful debts B RERE AR
(Note 43(jii) (H15£43(ii)) (4,036) (36,429)
473,672 393,573

# As at 31 December 2019, except for a balance due from # R-EBE—NE+_A=+—8 KBEK—

an associate amounting to HK$86,908,000 which bears
interest at a rate of 12% per annum and is repayable on 31
December 2020, the amounts are unsecured, interest-free
with no fixed repayment terms. The loans to associates as
at 31 December 2018 were unsecured, interest-free with no
fixed repayment terms.
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iR B W AR M A

20. REEE NR 2 ()
BE-—Z-NAF+-A=+—RALFE
BB L AR MEERIMT

20. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)
Particulars of the Group's associates during the year ended
31 December 2019 are set out below:

Place of
incorporation or

Percentage of
ownership interest

establishment and indirectly held by Principal
Name operation the Group activities
18 AR S SRR 3L R rEEEMRESENEE
=L EE 31 EZEo TEXR
2019 2018
—E-1E ZE-N\F
AN TTREREHERER AT The PRC 45% 45%  Equity investment
("Shenzhen Shengda”) (Note (a))
A TREREHERER AT i iR E
(DRIEZE]) (Bita)
Hero Link Enterprises Limited British Virgin Islands - 18%  Equity investment
("Hero Link") (Note (b)) (the "BVI") /
Hong Kong
HECERARAR ([HE]) EBREAHE/BE iR E
(Htat®))
Jade Summit Holdings Limited BVI/The PRC 27.5% 27.5% Investment holding
("Jade Summit”) (Note (c)
REERBRAR ([4R]) EBELES/TH REZER
(Hi7t(c))

Vastline Limited (Note (c)) BVI/The PRC 27.5% 27.5% Investment holding

BEBRRATE (ML) EBRERHE/TH REZER

Asia Cosmos Limited (Note (c)) Hong Kong /The PRC 27.5% 27.5% Investment holding

SEARERRIA (M) BB/ HH RERK

BORISEHEREBR AR The PRC 27.5% 27.5% Property development

(Note (c))
BOHRIEHERERRAR B Lk
(H7t(c))

BEMZEEMER LT (Note (c) The PRC 27.5% 27.5% Wholesale, import and
export of construction
materials

FMEBEMBRRA (M) o B BEMAHEE  E RO

TE-AFEFH RESRMEEARALT

199



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M mR M E

20. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 20. AR E N T 2R (&

Notes: iz -

(@) The summarised financial information of Shenzhen (@) AEEEBHL2 A RIRENTHE
Shengda, a material associate of the Group, is set out RBEEFHT 0T
below:

200

A

2019 2018
—E-hF —E— )\
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHEIT
As at 31 December R+=HA=+—8
Current assets mENEE 369,720 584,004
Non-current assets ERBEE = -
Current liabilities e B & (373,910) (578,923)
Non-current liabilities FERBBEE = -
Net (liabilities)/assets (8@ BETH (4,190) 5,081
Group's effective interest AEBEREER 45% 45%
Group's share of net assets of the AEBELBERTZ
associate, excluding goodwill BEFE(TRERE) - 2,286
Goodwill on the acquisition (less WEEEEMHE
cumulative impairment) OB REHRE) = 1,566
Carrying amount of the investment KREREE - 3,852
For the year 31 December BEZE+=-B=+—BLEE
2019 2018
ZE-hF —E-N\F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FHERT FET
Other income H b U A 44 21
Loss for the year FEEE (9.334) (52,474)
Other comprehensive income H 2 E W (64) (431)
Total comprehensive income 2 E U S 425 (9,398) (52,905)
Loan to an associate THERAZ 86,908 -
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20. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

(b)

~ Notes to th_é'-'PCGJ'nsoIidated Financial Statements

ARE M ISR

20 R DRz iER (&)

Notes: (continued) Hiat - (#&)
The summarised financial information of Hero Link, a (b) ZANEEEERL N T HEDNBEER
material associate of the Group, is set out below: BEHWME :
2019 2018
—E-NF —ZT-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHERT FHT
As at 31 December R+=—A=+—8
Current assets mENE E N/A ~EHA 124,854
Non-current assets FRBEE N/A TEHA -
Current liabilities e B & N/A TEA (226,293)
Non-current liabilities ERBEE N/A FE A -
Net assets BESE N/A FEA (101,439)
Group's effective interest REEEHERER N/A FEH 18%
Group's share of net assets of the REEEEBERAEE
associate and carrying amount of the  JHF{E MR &R E(E
investment = -
From
1 January
2019 to Year ended
5 January 31 December
2019 2018
H-ZE—hF
—A—BZE HE_T—-N\F
—E2-A% +-A=+—H
—HER IFFE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHERT T T
Revenue YA = -
Loss for the period/year Hif F e (10,320) (223,349)
Other comprehensive income Hh 2wk - -
Total comprehensive income FHEWNEERE (10,320) (223,349)
Loan to an associate FT-HEBERRZER - 32,393
Less: Allowance for doubtful debts B RERE A = (32,393)

TE-NEFHR BEeRMERARLE
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20. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

Notes: (continued)

202

(b)

(@)

(continued)

During the current year, the Group’s representative resigned
as a director of Hero Link and the investment in Hero
Link has become a financial asset at FVTPL since then.
The above information represents revenue, loss and total
comprehensive income of Hero Link from 1 January 2019 to
the date it ceased to be the Group's associate.

The summarised financial information of the Jade Summit
and its subsidiaries, a material associate of the Group, is set
out below:

20. REHE AT 2R (&
Wizt : (%)

(b)

(©)

(%)
RAERE AEEZARBIHEZE
= MR EEZREC AR ABRAFE
FFABRENEREE - LA REER
TE-NF-A-BEETBRAEE
BENRBHZBA  BEREEKREE

.

Bl

REBEEBRLENARERENE R A
MM BER B ZEI T

2019 2018
—E-NF AL
HK$'000 HK$'000
FBT FET
As at 31 December R+=—A=+—8
Current assets mENE E 2,098,413 2,046,351
Non-current assets FERBEE 939 1,295
Current liabilities mBEE (348,382) (292,685)
Non-current liabilities ERBEE (1,063,441) (1,056,682)
Net assets BEEFE 687,529 698,279
Group's effective interest REBERER 27.5% 27.5%
Group's share of net assets of the AEEEGBRERAREE
associate and carrying amount of the  JFERREREE
investment 189,070 192,027
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20. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(@)

(continued)
For the year ended 31 December

Hat: (&)

© (#&)

20. REE& DT 2R (

o=

4% )

BE+-HA=+—HLFE

21.

2019 2018

—E-AF —N\F

HKS$'000 HK$'000

FET FET

Revenue WA - -

Profit for the year FERHN 48,229 673,530

Other comprehensive income H b 2w (58,978) (102,050)

Total comprehensive income FHEWN BT (10,749) 571,480

Loan to an associate F—MBERRZER 201,730 201,730

Less: Allowance for doubtful debts B RAREE S (4,036) (4,036)

197,694 197,694

INTRESTS IN JOINT VENTURES 21. REELE KR

2019 2018

—F-h#F —T-N\F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FE T FHTT

Share of net assets DIhEEFE 172,276 -
—NWEFTH BESMERERAR 203
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21. INTRESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (continued) 21. RE&8 X ER (&)

Notes: Htat -
(a) Particulars of the Group's joint ventures during the year (a) BEZZTE-—NFITZA=T—HLEFE"
ended 31 December 2019 are set out below: AEBESEPENFBEIHINAT
Place of Percentage of
incorporation or ownership interest
establishment and indirectly held by Principal
Name operation the Group activities
5 AR S B AR 3L % rEEBESENRER
£ BB ERZBEDL FTEEK
2019 2018

—B-NE —T-N\%F

Partners Special Opportunities Cayman Islands 66.7 % — Debt investments
Fund | (the “Fund”) (note (i)
Partners Special Opportunities 2B BEHRE

Fund | ([E= ) (#aa)

Grand Highlight Investments ~ BVI 50% — Fund management
Limited (note (ii))
Grand Highlight Investments HERZHE ESER

Limited ( 4752 (ii))

Notes: Hiat -

(i)  On 4 September 2019, the Group has obtained joint i) RZE—LFHLhAWNB XEEQD
control on the Fund through participation in the board FRL2HEESHEEEMMEES
of directors of the Fund. The Fund was a financial MEREHIE R N\E+=
asset at FVTPL of the Group as at 31 December 2018. A=+—HB E&ABAr5EKEAF

Bt A\EEHESREE -

(i)  The company was set up by the Group and another (i) ZRAFHEAKEENRS —BBIBKRRE
independent shareholder to jointly management the BRI AEREERESD -
Fund.

204 HKBridge Financial Holdings Limited Annual Report 2019



Notes to th;e_'"llncﬂnsolidated Financial Statements

ARE M ISR

21. REELEoER (&)
Bist: (&)

21. INTRESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(b) Summarised financial information of the Fund, a material (b) ES(AEEMNEAGLCE)ZHBE
B EHTI T

joint venture of the Group, is set out below:

2019
—E-NF
HK$’000
FTERT
As at 31 December R+=—HA=+—8

Current assets TN E E 259,369
Non-current assets ERBEE =
Current liabilities mE A& (955)
Non-current liabilities e EN=Q - =
Net assets BEFE 258,414
Group's effective interest AEBEREER 66.7%

Group's share of net assets of the Fund A%KEELESCEEFERKERBE
and carrying amount of the investment 172,276
From
4 September
2019 to
31 December
2019
H-ZZE—NF
LAmAZE
—E-hF
+ZRA=+—H
HK$'000
FHET
Revenue WA 11,305
Profit for the period ilapinl 1,217
Other comprehensive income H 2 mlas -
Total comprehensive income FHEMEERE 1,217

- AEFH BEEMEREFERAT 205
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21. INTRESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (continued) 21. REELEoER (&)

Notes: (continued) it - (#&)
() Summarised financial information in respect of the Group's (00 BFHREFRBUTEAZAEBRGZED
joint venture which is considered by the directors as EZUBERBEZ50T

immaterial is presented below:

2019
—E-AF
HK$'000
FET
Share of the joint venture’s results ElheEERFEEE
for the year =
Share of the joint venture’s total EEeEtEARAFELTMWEER
comprehensive income for the year =
Carrying amount of the Group's rEEGEREZEEE
joint venture =
22. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 22. AT EFT A ERZZEREE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
2019 2018
ZE-hF —E-N\F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FExT FET
Non-current assets: ERBEE
Unlisted fund investments, at fair value 3EEMESERE A FE
(Note (a)) 8 (Hata) - 1,397,187
Club debentures, at fair value LRERES RATERE 4,266 4,191
4,266 1,401,378
Current assets: MENEE
Listed equity investments, at fair value ~ EWRANIEE  EAFE
(Note (b)) SE (HiEDb)) 329,589 332,743
Derivative financial asset, at fair value MESHMEE RATE
tE - 293,000
329,589 625,743
206 HKBridge Financial Holdings Limited Annual Report 2019
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22. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

Notes:

(a)

On 14 May 2017, a wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company, as the general partner of an investment fund (the
“Investment Fund 1”), entered into a limited partnership
agreement (the “Limited Partnership Agreement |”) with
an independent third party (the “First-tier Limited Partner
I”) and another wholly owned subsidiary of the Company
(the “Second-tier Limited Partner 1”) in respect of the
subscription of interest to the Investment Fund I. Pursuant
to the Limited Partnership Agreement |, the First-tier Limited
Partner | and the Second-tier Limited Partner | contributed
HK$780 million and HK$220 million to Investment Fund |
respectively.

On the same day, a wholly owned subsidiary of Company, as
the general partner of an investment fund (the “Investment
Fund II”), entered into a limited partnership agreement (the
“Limited Partnership Agreement II”) with an independent
third party (the “First-tier Limited Partner 1I”) and another
wholly owned subsidiary of the Company (the “Second-tier
Limited Partner I1”) in respect of the subscription of interest
to Investment Fund Il. Pursuant to the Limited Partnership
Agreement Il, the First-tier Limited Partner Il and the
Second-tier Limited Partner Il contributed HK$780 million
and HK$220 million to Investment Fund Il respectively.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group
made further contributions of HK$375 million to each
of Investment Fund | and Investment Fund Il. As at 31
December 2018, Group's investments in Investment Fund
| and Investment Fund Il amounted to HK$1,190 million in
total.

22. Egﬂ?ﬁz—rxjﬁﬁ-ﬁz&@ﬁ%

(&

opE

(a)

TE-AFEFH RESRMEEARALT

R-ZZE—tFRA+THB  ARE2EM
BArA (ER—EREEES ([REES
—DZEBEBA)EBUIE=77([—
RERAEBA-DRARAZ—2&
MEBAR (I ZRBREBA—1FL
EREBWHE([BRABHHE 1) A
REMARBREES 2R -BEHR
ReBiHE— —BRERGBA K=
REREBA—DHAKEEE—HE
780,000,000 7T }2220,000,0007% 7T, ©

RBE -AARZ2ENBAR (ER—E&
BES ([REE2 -2 EBERA)
BEVE=7 ([-RBEREGBAZD K
ARABZ—2EMBRR ([ZHERE
BAZDIILEREBHZE ([EREE
HE=—]) ARFARBREES 24
S REBEERGRWHE " —QREREE
AZR—BEREBA=—DRIMEREES
— 11 #780,000,0007% 7t % 220,000,000
BT

BE-_ZT—)\F+ZA=1+—HLFE"
AEE I BMNKEEES —KEEES
—)¥#&375,000,0008 L - R =T — N\
+ZA=+—H ZAEERKEEEE K
WEREG Z 7% EA$£51,190,000,000
YT ©
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22. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

Notes: (continued)

22. ??/AM?E%MEE&Z%EEEE

Hiat - (%)

208

(@) (continued) (a) (%)
According to the Limited Partnership Agreement | and REEREYHE—_RERE%HE—"
Limited Partnership Agreement Il, in the event that the First- M—REREEA—R—REREEA
tier Limited Partner | and First-tier Limited Partner Il have not “REEEALERHRIHESEARE
received a distribution reaching a level equivalent of 6% per MEBEEZ DR B ERHERNE L
annum of its aggregate capital contributions calculated on AHEB(BEEHEEB BB IRBFE
a daily basis from the date of such capital contributions on BF6%ZKF ZHMARGBA—KZ
the date falling every 6 months from its first contribution BEREBRAZEREEES —RIEE
date, the Second-tier Limited Partner | and the Second- E® (FHFEINE BUE—RERER
tier Limited Partner Il shall make additional contributions to A—R—BREREBAZKBMELESR
the Investment Fund | and Investment Fund Il such that the HEF6%N I
First-tier Limited Partner | and the First-tier Limited Partner Il
shall receive an amount of 6% per annum of its aggregate
capital contributions.
During the year, the First-tier Limited Partner | and the First- REE —REREBA—RZ2—RER
tier Limited Partner Il have withdrawn from the Investment ERAZEDRREEERS —RIEE
Fund | and Investment Fund Il respectively. The Group has Ee-_ -l AEEEXNAREES —
become the sole investor in the Investment Fund | and REEES_HE—KREZ -NIELME
Investment Fund Il since then. The investments on unlisted EZRETHAREERBI D BUERR
fund is ceased to be an investment entity and have been BREATEFABGNEREE A5H
derecognised from financial assets at FVTPL. HKFRS 3 has EREAESMEREREDFEIRARRIE
been applied to account for the deemed acquisition. Further W BB =18 o 3 — BRI EE40 ©
details are set out in note 40.

(b) The above equity investments at 31 December 2019 and by RZE-—NEFRZE-—NF+A=+—

2018 were classified as held for trading and were, upon
initial recognition, designated by the Group as financial
assets at FVTPL.

Assuming the portfolio of the Group’s listed equity
investments has remained unchanged, the market value
of the Group's listed equity investments at the date of
approval of these financial statements was approximately
HK$251,346,000.
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23.

INVENTORIES 23. &

2019 2018
—E-hE —\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TE&T
Raw materials and consumables FER K R 38,915 37,912
Work in progress E& 19,057 15,377
Finished goods BIPK on 15,288 21,055
73,260 74,344
Less: Allowance for obsolete inventories &, : FRE 7 & Bt (16,919) (16,409)
56,341 57,935

24. TRADE RECEIVABLES 24. ESEWER
2019 2018
—2-aE  —TN\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHE T FET
Trade receivables 2 5 R 263,153 270,804
Less: Allowance for doubtful debts B REREE R (36,634) (1,685)
226,519 269,119

The Group’s trade receivables that are denominated in

AEBENFREBEERINEEEAINEE

a currency other than the functional currencies of the FHERNE ZEIERREINAT
relevant group entities are set out below:
2019 2018
—E-hF — N\
HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT FHET
Denominated in United States dollars UNET(IET])EHE
("Us$") 97,199 93,209
—hEFH BREMEBRARALF

A
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24. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

Customers of manufacturing segment are generally
granted with credit terms of 30 to 120 days while no credit
period will normally be granted to customers in treasury
investment and financial service segments. The ageing
analysis of trade receivables based on invoice date (net
of allowance for doubtful debts) at the end of reporting
period is as follows:

24,

EZRBWERR (&)

HENENEP —RERI0E1208 2=
Ef MUBREREBRBEOBNEP
—RIYEBEEH - RBREHRR REER
BHZ7 28 5 BUERR (R REEE)
ZHREDHAOT

2019 2018

—E-hEF —E-N\F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FH&TT

0 — 30 days 0%Z30H 39,983 53,315
31 - 60 days 31260H 42,123 35,676
61 — 90 days 61290H 27,269 30,311
Over 90 days 90H KAk 117,144 149,817
226,519 269,119

The ageing of trade receivables (net of allowance for

EBMERRENE 5 ERERR (FOERR

doubtful debts) which are past due but not impaired is as REE) 2BREEDITAT
follows:

2019 2018
—E-NEF —E-N\F
HK$°000 HK$'000
THET T T
0 - 30 days past due @ HI0E30H 14,191 61,959
31 - 90 days past due #HEA31E90H 1,197 98,718
Over 90 days past due #HAI90R LA £ 104,658 11,016
120,046 171,693

The Group recognised impairment loss on trade receivables
based on accounting policy stated in note 4(i)(ii).
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fRE B TS R M R
24. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued) 24. EFEWERN (&)
The movement in impairment loss on trade receivables RFEFEBEFPEAMELR S EKERTR
from contract with customers during the year is as follows: BEEBEHOT:
2019 2018
—E-hE —E-N\&
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET T T
At beginning of the year F4 1,685 1,641
Impairment loss recognised BB REEE 34,968 64
Exchange realignment PE 32 (19) (20)
At end of the year FR 36,634 1,685
Details of credit assessment of trade receivables of the AEBBSRKERZEETEFBIR
Group are set out in note 43(iii). Bt 5E43(iii) °
25. CONTRACT ASSETS 25. ENEE
2019 2018
—E-NF —E-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET T T
Investment referral services JEEN RS - 32,974
The contract assets were expected to be settled within one BREERHBER —FREN - RNFEH
year. No impairment of contract assets were recognised BERGHEERBE (ZZE—NF &) -
during the year (2018: Nil).
TE-AFEFH RESRMEEARALT 21
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26. LOAN RECEIVABLES

26. EER

2019 2018
—E-hEF —ET—N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Secured loan (Note (a)) BEWBER (Hit@) 1,659,787 1,083,483
Entrusted loan (Note (b)) EXER(HazE®m)) = 175,484
1,659,787 1,258,967
Less: Allowances for doubtful debts B REREE AR (295,820) (177,564)
1,363,967 1,081,403

Notes: Vo

(a) The balance represents secured loans to independent third
party corporate borrowers which bear fixed interest rates
ranging from 9% to 36% (2018: 9% to 36%) per annum
with loan period ranging from 12 months to 24 months.
These loans were secured by the following:

fund investments of a borrower;

interests in certain properties of a borrower;

equity investment owned by the shareholder of a
borrower;

listed shares owned by the related companies of a
borrower;

issued share capital of group companies of the
borrowers;

interest in rights to use of a number of sea areas
in the PRC owned by the group companies of the
borrowers; and

personal guarantees executed by the shareholders or
key management personnel of the borrowers.
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26. LOAN RECEIVABLES (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(b)

On 16 August 2017, the Group entered into the
entrusted loan agreement pursuant to which the Group
agreed to grant the entrusted loan to an independent
third party borrower (the “Borrower”) in the amount of
RMB150,000,000 (equivalent to HK$175,484,000) for a
term of two years (the “Loan”), which carries an expected
rate of return of 18% per annum. The Loan was secured by
(a) a pledge over the entire equity interest in the Borrower
by its sole equity holder; and (b) a charge created on certain
land use rights on a piece of a land located in the PRC, held
by the Borrower.

Included in the loan receivables is a short-term interest-free
loan amounted to HK$20,000,000 which was lent to a bond
issuer as mentioned in note 27. The loan is secured by the
borrower’s interest in certain bonds issued by a company
listed on the Stock Exchange.

27. NOTES RECEIVABLES

26. EWWE R (&)
WisE: ()

(b)

(©)

RZF—LtFNA+R A NEEF L
ZRERGE Bl AEERERBL
F=TEFATERADEBARE
150,000,0007T (4855 78175,484,000/8
TO)ZEFEF FHRME (EX])
TAHE KR SEF18% - EFAQ)ER
AZWE—BRAERA AR E 2 80 B
ZER: ROBERARFBMNRTE 2 —
8L 2 B T L (E MR 2R E
o

MM 27 AT 2 B AT AR 22
% B B 720,000,000/ 7T & 5t A JE U &
o BRTIBERAR —HEB R LT
REVBIT 2B T ES 2 s EEF -

27. EREE

2019 2018

—E-hEF —E-N\F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FExT FET

Secured B 1,206,974 360,000
Less: Allowances for doubtful debts B RERE G (22,014) -
1,184,960 360,000

The Group subscribed from third party issuers 5% — 10%
fixed redeemable coupon bonds. Both the principal and
interests on the bonds are repayable within the next year.
The bonds are secured by an issuer’s interests in certain
bonds issued by a company listed on the Stock Exchange
and personal guarantee executed by the director of certain
iSsuers.

AEEME=ZFZTARB%E10%E
EREXABRIES EHE A KAEY
BART—AFEEE ZZFBHFUETA
R—HEBRMEMARBITZATESZ
B RATEITANESELNGEAER
TEH I -
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28. BANK BALANCES AND DEPOSITS 28. SRITHBREXK
2019 2018
—E-hF —E-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FAT
Bank balances and cash RITEBR LIRS 19,449 134,031
At 31 December 2019 and 2018, bank balances carry RZB-—NFRZZE—N\F+ZA=+—
interest at prevailing deposit rates. B RITERHRRITERFNERGFE -
The Group's bank balances and cash that are denominated AEENEBERERIGEEEUINGS
in currencies other than the functional currencies of the FHEMRITERRESEHIINAT
relevant group entities are set out below:
2019 2018
—B-hEF —E-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT FAT
Denominated in Renminbi (“RMB") UARKE (TARY])HAE 51 11,563
Denominated in US$ AZETTEHE 3,903 33,777
Denominated in Great British Pound AT E 82 60
Denominated in Singapore (“SGD") PASR i3 oo (¥ ])
FHE 43 43
214 HKBridge Financial Holdings Limited Annual Report 2019

A



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

IRE IR R M
29. TRADE PAYABLES 29. EZEBMNERN
The ageing analysis of trade payables based on invoice REMEHR BEBEEZAHENN 2 EFHE
date at the end of reporting period is as follows: MNERZRERTAT :
2019 2018
—g-hE  —T-NE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
0 — 30 days 0£30H 31,162 23,435
31 - 60 days 31260H 24,960 21,896
61 — 90 days 61290H 26,314 24,946
Over 90 days 90H M E 30,883 60,862
113,319 131,139
The Group's trade payables that are denominated in AEBUHESEERIEEEUINGE
a currency other than the functional currencies of the FHERNE ZENERREINAT
relevant group entities are set out below:
2019 2018
—E-NF —E-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Denominated in US$ AZETTEHE 17,085 31,351
The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are B EMNERRTE ER —MKR60E120H
normally settled on terms of 60 to 120 days. The Group NEE - ARERENBRAREBIHE -
has financial risk management policies in place to ensure BRAABEANEFEIREEBRRNSGE-

that all payables are settled within the credit timeframe.
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30. BORROWINGS

216

30. f&K

2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T&T
Secured bank loans repayable within BER—FANEENEER

one year (Note (a)) RITER (MaF@E) 139,367 120,049

Other loans, unsecured (Note (b) EmER - EIEH
(Hiat®)) 640,000 890,000

Other loans, secured (Note (c)) EMEz 5EE
(Hat(c)) 848,889 195,402
1,628,256 1,205,451
Current portion BB &R 75 968,256 765,451
Non-current portion JEBNEAEE 660,000 440,000
1,628,256 1,205,451

Notes:

(a)

The bank loans are secured by certain buildings and
right-of-use assets in respect of leasehold land held by
the Group, corporate guarantee of the Company and
personal guarantee of Mr. Cheok Ho Fung (“Mr. Cheok”).
As at 31 December 2019, bank loans of approximately
HK$139,367,000 (2018: HK$120,049,000) carried fixed
interest rate ranged from 2.58% to 4.35% (2018: 1.00% to
4.35%) per annum.

As at 31 December 2019, unsecured other loans with
independent third parties amounting to approximately
HK$640,000,000 (2018: HK$890,000,000) are unsecured,
bear interest at a rate of 3% per annum (2018: 3% to
7.5% per annum) and are repayable within the next twelve
months (2018: HK$450,000,000 and HK$440,000,000 of
which are repayable within the next twelve months and
within the next 2 years respectively).
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RE MR T
30. BORROWINGS (continued) 30. @ (&)
Notes: (continued) Hiat: (&)
(c)  Secured other loans bears interest at a rate of 5% to 8% (0 EEMREMEREFEFEEZRSE (=
per annum (2018: 5% per annum) and HK$188,889,000 T NF:FHNESE)FE - MEF
and HK$660,000,000 of which are repayable within the 188,889,000/ JT &2660,000,000/% JT 7
next twelve months and within the next 3 years respectively. AEARARRTZEAARRRKIFAE
The balance is secured by: B -AREHRBEANTSEERA
= Corporate guarantee of the Company; — ARRRIZEEER:
- Equity interests in certain subsidiaries of the — RARFETHERRZKRE:
Company;
—  The Group's interest in an associate; - AEBER—HEE QR ZER
- Loan receivables with carrying amount of — BRT{E A243,115,0007% 7T 2 B I
HK$243,115,000; and B Kk
—  Shares in a listed company owned by a Cayman fund — BHASEXRIY HESESERZ—
set up by the Group over which the Group has no M E AR (285BI f 2 6l4E) iR
control. e
The borrowings that are denominated in a currency other NEREEEEREEBUIINEREE
than the functional currencies of the relevant group entities BB BT T
are set out below:
2019 2018
—EB-hEF SN
HK$’000 HK$'000
THERT FAET
Denominated in US$ LAZEITTEHE 52,700 30,394
31. LOAN FROM A RELATED COMPANY 31. —EHBEBATER
The loan was unsecured, bears interest at a rate of 3% LEHRAEER IRENKRIESELBR
per annum and repayable by 24 October 2019. The related —FE—NE+H -+ OB REE LA
company was beneficially owned by one of the substantial NEBHARNT —ZTEREERER -~
shareholders of the Company. The lender ceased to be a FE BEFIATBAANRRZETERE -

substantial shareholder of the Company during the year.
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32. LOANS FROM DIRECTORS 32. REEEEN
2019 2018
—E-hF —E-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FET
Unsecured loans from directors: RKEEEMEEAER:
— Non-interest bearing (note (a)) —NE B (K@) 1,000 -
— interest bearing at 7% and —RIEF R RARENR
repayable on demand —ZT—)N\F:
(2018: 2 January 2019) (note (b)) —E—hAF—HA=-H)
B& (Watmb)) 90,055 86,351
91,055 86,351
Notes: Kiat -
(@) The loan was advanced by Mr. Liu Tingan (“Mr. Liu”), an (@) BERTHARARATEZSIELZRE
executive director of the Company. (TRIEE]) LT
(b) The loans were advanced by Mr. Cheok, an executive (b) ZEEFHARAMITESTELER-

director of the Company.

The loans from Mr. Cheok that are denominated in KEREAEAENERTUNEHBEERSTED
currencies other than the functional currencies of the REEEINEE T ENERESN W
relevant group entities are set out below:

2019 2018

—E-hEF —ZE-N\F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHT FET

Denominated in RMB NAREE 1,911 1,977
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33. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES/(ASSETS)

33. EEBEERF (BEE)

The following are the major deferred tax liabilities/(assets) MRAFERBATEFREERN T ZRIEHIE
recognised and movements thereon during the current and B/ (BE)REZHHIINOT:
prior years:
Unrealised
fair value
Impairment change on
Accelerated of property, Impairment financial
tax Tax plantand  Revaluation  of financial instruments
depreciation losses  equipment  of property assets at FVTPL Total
RATEFA
BHENER
nE N BER IANKER
RERE REBE REAE NEER SREENE ATEEED st

HK$'000 HK$'000

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FETL FETL FETL FET FERL FERL FET
At 1 January 2018 RZE-N\E—A—H 3,185 (1,588) (1,597) 2,598 - 78,854 81,452
(Credited)/charged to profit (st AKEEEZ)
or loss during the year BAFEERNR
(Note 15) (Wi15) (3,185) 1,588 1,597 - (66,593) (84,859) (151,452)
Charged to reserve during B A E F&&EMNK
the year - - - 3,449 - - 3,449
Exchange realignment 5 AR - - - (75) - - (75)
At 31 December 2018 and R=F—/\F
1 January 2019 +ZA=+-Bk
—Z-NF—-F—H - - - 5,972 (66,593) (6,005) (66,626)
Charged/(credited) to BAREERZENL/
profit or loss during (GFAREERR)
the year (Note 15) (Hit15) - - - - 36,213 (13,760) 22,453
Charged to reserve during B AFEE &R
the year - - - 739 - - 739
Exchange realignment B R AR - - - (219) - - (219)

At 31 December 2019 RZFE-NE

6,492 (30,380) (19,765) (43,653)

At the end of reporting period, the Group had unused
tax losses arising from Hong Kong of approximately
HK$262,501,000 (2018: HK$130,215,000) for offsetting
against future taxable profit indefinitely. Deferred tax
assets have not been recognised in respect of these losses
as they have arisen in subsidiaries that have been loss-
making for several years and it is not considered probable
that taxable profit will be available against which the tax
losses can be utilised.

R BRI SR - A5 B AT M BR B AR MR IR 0 R
RERBENNEEEESNARAT
BB 18 #9262,501,000/8 7T ( —F— )\ 4
130,215,000 7T ) - B RNIEEFIE & E H
ZEHESEENMBARES BERBE
TRAI s A B A B E B B E N A ER
Maf Y EgZEEEREREEHRE
BE-

ZE-hEF BESMERBRLAT 219



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
tRE B S R R M A

33. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES/(ASSETS)

220

(continued)

At the end of reporting period, the Group has deductible
temporary differences of HK$301,610,000 (2018:
HK$88,888,000) in respect of unrealised fair value loss of
financial instruments at FVTPL, impairment of trade and
other receivables, the allowance for obsolete inventories
and impairment of property, plant and equipment. No
deferred tax asset has been recognised in relation to such
deductible temporary differences as it is not probable that
taxable profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences can be utilised.

Under the EIT Law, withholding tax is imposed on
dividends declared in respect of profits earned by PRC
subsidiaries from 1 January 2008 onwards. There is no
profit of the PRC subsidiaries available for distribution
subject to the withholding tax.

As at 31 December 2019, the Group has not recognised
the deferred tax liabilities of HK$5,409,000 (2018:
HK$11,664,000) in respect of the temporary difference
relating to the unremitted profits of a PRC subsidiary of
HK$54,089,000 (2018: HK$116,637,000) as the Company
controls the dividend policy of the subsidiary and it is
probable that the unremitted profit will not be distributed
in the foreseeable future.

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the Group did not
have other material unrecognised deferred tax.
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B Z=%8/5301,610,000/8 7T ( =& — )\ F:
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PAZEUINREREZERINNERT R
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R 4 e B B I8 1 B P R B A 2R 80 B
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R_FE—AF+-_A=+—"8 4&5H
VEREE—RPBEMNBAR 2 KE
it ¥ #1/54,089,0008 L (=T — N\ F:
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34. SHARE CAPITAL

34. R

Number of
ordinary shares
of HK$0.1 each

BEREE
0.18TZ
EEREE
("000) HK$'000
(F&%) FET
Authorised: EE
At 1 January 2018, R-_ZE—NF—-H—B8"
31 December 2018 and 2019 —E-N\ER=ZT-NF
+=—A=+—H 5,000,000 500,000
Issued and fully paid: ERITRAR:
At 1 January 2018 RZE—NE—H—H 2,196,000 219,600
Issue of Award Shares (Note) BITRERGD (A7) 12,000 1,200
At 31 December 2018 and 2019 RZE-NEFRZT—NF
+=—A=+—H 2,208,000 220,800

Note:

During the year ended 31 December 2018, 12,000,000 Award

Wi

HE-F—\F+-A=+—AILEE RA

Shares, were alloted and issued to Mr. Liu after the vesting ANEIR G ZEE R B GRGR T F

conditions of the Share Award Scheme of the Company have

been fulfilled in 2017.

ERK % B M2 B & E9712,000,0000%
HENES -
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AN HRENTE
35. RESERVES 35. f#f&
The Group rEE
Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group are AEBENREEHFBINGEERED
set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity. xe
The Company KATH
Share-based
compensation
Share benefits Accumulated
premium reserve losses Total
RERHAER
ROEE ZBARE 2tEE et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TFET FET FET FET
At 1 January 2018 RZZE-\F—H—H 2,532,329 55,614 (666,497) 1,921,446
Issue of Award Shares BITRERR

(Note 36) (H17t36) 27,240 (28,440) - (1,200)
Equity-settled share-based BREEURNABER

compensation benefits SR (fiE36)

(Note 36) - (12,3417) - (12,341)
Profit for the year FE A - - 194,154 194,154
At 31 December 2018 and ~ RZZT—\F

1 January 2019 +ZA=+—8k

“E-nEF-A—H 2,559,569 14,833 (472,343) 2,102,059
Equity-settled share-based BREEURNABER

compensation benefits s (fi36)

(Note 36) - (14,833) - (14,833)
Loss for the year FEER - - (177,729) (177,729)
At 31 December 2019 RZE-NF

+ZA=+—H 2,559,569 - (650,072) 1,909,497
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36. SHARE AWARD SCHEME

On 17 May 2016, the Company adopted the Share Award
Scheme, pursuant to which the Board may propose or
determine the grant of the Company’s shares to any
directors, employees or third party service providers of
the Group as their incentives and rewards so as (i) to
provide them with an opportunity to acquire a proprietary
interest in the Company; (ii) to encourage and retain such
individuals to work with the Company; and (iii) to provide
additional incentive for them to achieve performance
goals, subject to such conditions as the Board may
deem appropriate at its discretion. Further details of the
Share Award Scheme were set out in the Company's
announcements dated 17 May 2016.

On the same date, the Board resolved to award an
aggregate of 60,000,000 shares of the Company (the
“Award Shares”) to Mr. Liu, chairman and chief executive
officer of the Company, under the Share Award Scheme,
which will be vested in five equal batches on 31 March
2017, 2018, 2019, 2020 and 2021. The vesting of the
Award Shares is subject to satisfaction of vesting criteria
and conditions, including the Group’s achievement of
expected return percentage in each year in respect of
the Group's assets management and investment business
as approved by the Board. Further details of the grant
of the Award Shares were set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 17 May 2016 and circular dated 5
July 2016.

The grant of the Award Shares were approved by
independent shareholders of the Company at the special
general meetings held on 20 July 2016.

36.

TE-AFEFH RESRMEEARALT

B 17 R B 5t &
R-FB-—R"FRA+ER ARBERA—
TR R EhAT &) - Bt EE SR EEIOR
ERARABROBETHTRETENERR
BEZIGRENAEEIMNES EEXF
ZTRBREREBESERERZRE UOA
MERHEEMESAARNAAEER
(VBB M BRBZFEARRNRBRSE : &
(i) B RFR M ERNRIR B ROEEINER -
BRAB ) ZRFENEBHENARF A S
RIB-ARFAA+TERZRE-

RER ZEFERABRERNZEE
MARREFERITRBHEIALERTE
#60,000,000& & 2~ 7 B fp ([ 22 B) AR
m) ZEBRMER-_TE—+tF =%
—NF ZE-NF ZZETFR=-F
T F=ZA=t+—HOAME=EFE -
B BEFERGEBEERKEH (BES
FARAEBEEEERBRKEEB AN E
g EEeENTEHERESL)ER
B BRARLRERNOFBEHRAE
ARHBAE-T—X"FRA+EAZARSE
KBEAE-ZT—NFLtARAAZEK-

BRTRERNCEARRBURRN _-F
—RNFLAZTHETHRRENARE L
HUAE
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B 75 R MY &

36. SHARE AWARD SCHEME (continued)

224

The fair values of Awarded Shares were calculated based
on the market price of the Company’s shares at the grant
date.

There is no exercise price required under the Share Award
Scheme.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, second batch
of Award Shares of 12,000,000 shares was issued to Mr.
Liu following the vesting conditions of these award shares
being met in 2017.

As the Group did not achieve the expected return
percentage in respect of the assets management and
investment business for the year ended 31 December 2018
and 2019, the third and fourth batch of the Award Shares
were forfeited during the year ended 31 December 2018
and 2019 respectively.

Except the foregoing, no share awards were lapsed,
forfeited, exercised or transferred during the year ended
31 December 2019 (2018: Nil).

Out of the 12,000,000 (2018: 24,000,000) share awards
outstanding as at 31 December 2019, no share awards
were vested (2018: Nil) and were exercisable subsequent
to 31 December 2019. The Group recognised a reversal of
equity-settled shared based compensation benefits expense
of approximately HK$14,833,000 (2018: HK$12,341,000)
during the year ended 31 December 2019.
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36. SHARE AWARD SCHEME (continued) 36. R ERHE (&)
Details of the Award Shares granted under the Share RIRIR 0 SRENET B 2 B RN FEH
Award Scheme are as follows: AT
2019 —E-hEF
Number of Award Shares
RBRHHE
Date of Exercisable Fair value at Outstanding at Outstanding at
grant date grant date 1/1/2019 Exercised Forfeited 31/12/2019
“Z-nE
RZB-hE T=A
REL B -A—-H =t-H
RHAH AR ZAYE AT [BXixid 5514 AT
HK$
BT
Mr. Liu iy 20/7/2016 31/3/2020 237 12,000,000 - (12,000,000) -
“E-RE —BC-BE
tA=+tR =A=t-AH
20/7/2016 31/3/2021 237 12,000,000 - - 12,000,000
ZE-RE ZE--f
tA=+tR =A=t-A
24,000,000 - (12,000,000) 12,000,000
Weighted average fair value per award share (HK$) 2.37 - 2.37 2317
BREBRSH 2 NETFHLTEET)
Weighted average contractual lives (years) 1.25
MEFHEHNES(F)
2018 —E-N\F
Number of Award Shares
RERHEE
Date of Exercisable Fair value at Outstanding at Outstanding at
grant date grant date 111/2018 Exercised Forfeited ~ 31/12/2018
RZZ-N\F
\ P +=5
- ~ REEAE H - ~ } “t-H
KB ATE A zam réliﬂ BT BTt MR
BT
M. Liu Elp= 20/7/2016 371%/201\8& 237 12,000,000 (12,000,000) - -
FAcPB ZAzt-m
20/7/2016¢ 31/3/2019 237 12,000,000 - (12,000,000) -
TA-TA ZA=t-E
20/7/2016 31/3/2020 237 12,000,000 - - 12,000,000
“T-RF e 33
tAZ+R ZA=+-H
20{%/2016 31/3/2021 237 12,000,000 - - 12,000,000
—ZTN -
+tA=+H ZA=+-H
48,000,000  (12,000,000)  (12,000,000) 24,000,000
Weﬁﬁghted average fair value per award share (HK$) 2.37 2.37 2.37 2.37
SREBRGN ZMETHATE(ET)
Welghted average contractual lives (years) 1.74
MEFHENER (F)
—hEFH BREMEBRARALF 225
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37. HOLDING COMPANY STATEMENT OF 37. ERA MBI E

FINANCIAL POSITION

2019 2018
—F-h#F —TN\F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
K FET FET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment #1% & & & & 5,030 7,809
Right-of-use assets EREEE 9,490 -
Investments in subsidiaries BB AR ZIRE 231,744 227,744
Deferred tax assets RIERIEE E 3,414 33,833
Financial assets at FVTPL BAFEFABREZ
TREE 2,188 2,188
Total non-current assets FEREBEELE 251,866 271,574
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Other current assets EREEE 141,021 363,073
Amounts due from subsidiaries JEUZH B A 7 18 3,246,509 3,228,354
Loan receivables W E =K 412,259 422,840
Bank balances and cash RITEBREE S 2,152 68,178
Total current assets REEERE 3,801,941 4,082,445
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Other payables and accruals HiENERALEFTER 121,275 518,140
Lease liabilities HEaE 4,953 -
Amounts due to subsidiaries AN ENGIE 1,094,170 873,020
Loan from a director —BEZFEXR 1,000 -
Loan from a related company  — BB QA & E X = 200,000
Loans payable FERTE K 697,000 -
Total current liabilities mEBEAR 1,918,398 1,591,160
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEEE 1,883,543 2,491,285
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37. HOLDING COMPANY STATEMENT OF 37. ER A B HMBEMRREK (&)
FINANCIAL POSITION (continued)
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
iokza FExT FET
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT 2 EERFBH AR
LIABILITIES 2,135,409 2,762,859
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 3k HZs&a®E
Lease liabilities HEaE 5,112 -
Loans payable ERTER - 440,000
5,112 440,000
NET ASSETS BEEFEE 2,130,297 2,322,859
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BRAS Rk
Share capital [N 34 220,800 220,800
Reserves i 35 1,909,497 2,102,059
TOTAL EQUITY PR 2,130,297 2,322,859
On behalf of the Board REREFSE
Liu Tingan Lau Fai Lawrence
BER EIES
Director Director
- -
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38. SUBSIDIARIES 38. ff B 2 F)
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries as at 31 December RZE-—NF+_A=+—0 FEZWE
2019 are set out below: NEZ FIBEHSNNT -
Place of
incorporation or Issued share capital /
establishment/ paid-up registered Attributable equity interest  Principal
Name operations capital held by the Company activities
EMALRAKL, BRITRA/
B ERME EHRHEMER ERRRISEERE TEER
Directly Indirectly
H# B
Topsearch Industries (BVI) Limited  BVI/Hong Kong Ordinary shares 100% - Investment holding
US$13,085,640
Topsearch Industries (BVI) Limited XBEZEE /& i A%13,085,640% T REER
Topsearch International (Holdings) Hong Kong Ordinary shares - 100%  Investment holding
Limited HK$17,000,000
Deferred non-voting*
HK$20,000,000
ZEERE (BR)BERAF EE T i®R17,000,000/8 7T REZR
BRFERTRN
20,000,000/ 7T
Topsearch Printed Circuits (HK) Hong Kong Ordinary shares - 100%  Investment holding
Limited HK$1,702,319,277
FERGEER(FB)ERAF FF EiiR1,702,319,277 REZR
B
Topsearch Printed Circuits Macao  Macau Ordinary shares Macau - 100%  Sale of printed circuit boards
Commercial Offshore Company Pataca100,000
Limited
FERBRRAMEREERE  ORM AR 100,000 P91 HEERIRER
BRAA
ZEREEER (HT) BRAFC The PRC Registered capital - 100%  Manufacture of printed circuit
US$109,000,000 boards
ESRFHHEHER (B BRLT TE 14 4:109,000,000 HEEDRIRER
e
Topsearch Technologies Hong Kong Ordinary shares - 100%  Investment holding
Investment (Holdings) Limited HK$46,784,002
Topsearch Technologies £ 47 R 46,784,0025 T REER

Investment (Holdings) Limited
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Brave Unit Limited

RERLRE/BE

ERBRIET

—hEFH BRESMEEARLT

iR e B TS R M R
38. SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 38. B AR (&)
Place of
incorporation or Issued share capital /
establishment/ paid-up registered Attributable equity interest  Principal
Name operations capital held by the Company activities
EMALRKL, RERE/
A% ERME EHREMER ERRRIEERE TEER
Directly Indirectly
H# Bk
ZERE ﬁ% n’E] % The PRC Registered capital - 100%  Provision of information system
(BB ER HK$1,000,000 management services and
investment advisory services
FERGREE JE]HW HE & 71,000,000 ¢ REENZRERRE LREEH
(RE)ER ’A R
Brilliant Plus Investments Limited ~ BVI/Hong Kong Ordinary share US$1 100% - Investment holding
Brilliant Plus Investments Limited EBEZEE /&5 TmRIET REER
Hero Zone Investments Limited BVI/Hong Kong Ordinary share US$1 - 100%  Investment holding
Hero Zone Investments Limited ~ EBRZHE /& TmRIET REER
Hong Kong Bridge Investments  BVI/Hong Kong Ordinary share US$1 - 100%  Equity and debt investments
Limited (BVI)
Hong Kong Bridge Investments ~ XBERELZEHE /&S LTBRIET RERERRE
Limited
Hong Kong Bridge Investments Hong Kong Ordinary shares - 100%  Equity and debt investments
Limited (HK) HK$34,000,000
BRRERRAA EE i R34,000,000/8 7T REREBRE
Perfect Stage Investments Limited BVI/Hong Kong Ordinary share US$1 - 100%  Investment holding
Perfect Stage Investments Limited EBRZEHE /& TmRIET REER
Just Right Ventures Limited BVI/Hong Kong Ordinary share US$1 - 100%  Consultancy and corporate
solution services
Just Right Ventures Limited EERAEE /A% LTBRIET BARTERASRRE
Brave Unit Limited BVI/Hong Kong Ordinary share US$1 - 100%  Consultancy and corporate

solution services

BARTERASRRE
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38. SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 38. fiB AT (&)
Place of

incorporation or Issued share capital /

establishment/ paid-up registered Attributable equity interest  Principal
Name operations capital held by the Company activities
EMALRKL, BRITRA/
B ERBE EHREMER ERRRIEERE TEXER
Directly Indirectly
H# Bk

Sonic Dragon International BVI/Hong Kong Ordinary share US$1 - 100%  Consultancy and corporate
Limited solution services

Sonic Dragon International AERLEE /AR LTERIET BARTERASERS
Limited

Classic Blaze Limited BVI/Hong Kong Ordinary share US$1 - 100%  Consultancy and corporate

solution services

Classic Blaze Limited KBRLE/BE TRRIET BHARCERRARRS

Blissland Ventures Limited BVI/Hong Kong Ordinary share US$1 - 100%  Consultancy and corporate

solution services

Blissland Ventures Limited KBRLE/BE TRRIET BHARCERRARRS

Thriving Season Limited BVI/Hong Kong Ordinary share US$1 - 100%  Equity investment

Thriving Season Limited AERAEE /A% ETRBRIET RiEHRE

Hong Kong Bridge Capital Hong Kong Ordinary share - 100%  Advising on securities and asset
Partners Limited HK$5,800,000 management services

BRERAUAERRA EE % i®/R5,800,000/% 7T REFREBEARREHREEEER

%

Shenzhen HKBridge Equity The PRC Ordinary share - 100%  Assets and funds management
Investment Fund RMB20,000,000 and investment and financial
Management Limited® advisory

RYEBREREZSER HE LRBRARSE BERECEBURRERMBE
BRAR® 20,000,0007T A

Ningxia HKBridge Investment The PRC Ordinary share - 100% In liquidation
Management Limited RMB20,000,000

EERRREEERRAA HE LRBRARSE BB

20,000,0007T
Digital King Investment Limited ~ BVI/Hong Kong Ordinary share US$1 - 100%  Fund investment

Digital King Investment Limited

RERLRE/BE

ETRBRIET

HKBridge Financial Holdings Limited Annual Report 2019
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38. SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Place of
incorporation or

Issued share capital /

38. B AR (&)

establishment/ paid-up registered Attributable equity interest  Principal
Name operations capital held by the Company activities
EMALRKL, BRITRA/
A% ERME EHREMER ERRRIEERE TEER
Directly Indirectly
H# Bk
Idea Excel Investment Ltd BVI/Hong Kong Ordinary share US$1 - 100%  Fund investment
Idea Excel Investment Ltd KBRS/ BR TRRkIET EeRE
Great Merchant Investments Ltd ~ BVI/Hong Kong Ordinary share US$1 - 100%  Fund investment
Great Merchant Investments Ltd =~ ZBEREZEE /&5 TmRIET EeRE
Power Tiger Investments Ltd BVI/Hong Kong Ordinary share US$1 - 100%  Fund Investment
Power Tiger Investments Ltd KBRS/ BR TmRIET EeRE
Hong Kong Bridge Landmark The Cayman Island/Hong  HK$220,000,000 - 100% Equity and debt investments
Investment Fund, L.P.¥ Kong
Hong Kong Bridge Landmark Hels/B% 220,000,000% 7T BN EHRE
Investment Fund, L.P.*
Hong Kong Bridge One Belt The Cayman Island/Hong  HK$150,000,000 - 100%  Debt investments
One Road Infrastructure Kong
Investments Fund Il L.P.*
Hong Kong Bridge One Belt Hels/B% 150,000,000 7T EHERE
One Road Infrastructure
Investments Fund Il L.P.*
HK Bridge One Belt One Road The Cayman Islands/ HK$595,000,000 - 100%  Debt investments
Fixed Income Fund L.P* Hong Kong
HK Bridge One Belt One Road Hels/B% 595,000,000 7T EHERE
Fixed Income Fund L.P*
HK Bridge One Belt One Road The Cayman Islands/ HK$595,000,000 - 100%  Debt investments
Natural Resources Fund L.P.* Hong Kong
HK Bridge One Belt One Road Hels/B% 595,000,000 7T EHERE
Natural Resources Fund L.P.*
HKBridge Absolute Return The Cayman Islands/ HK$410,000,002 - 75%  Equity investment
Fund L.P* Hong Kong
HKBridge Absolute Return Hels/B% 410,000,002/ 7 B#ERE

Fund L.P*
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38. SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 38. Bﬁ%/&‘] (#&)
The non-voting deferred shares carry no rights to dividends, EREEREEROEEERRE HER
no rights to attend or vote at general meetings and no %K?iﬁ"‘\i? =T ((g@;pamxm%
rights to receive any surplus assets in a return of capital f&# 8 A& IR #500,000,000,000,000
upon winding-up unless a sum of HK$500,000,000,000,000 PEIT) P B R IR BB 1B B AN ] A B8R
has been distributed to each of the holders of the ordinary BE-o
shares.
2 Registered as wholly-foreign-owned enterprises under the ® BIERBEEEELDRIINEBEERE-
PRC law.
# The funds were established by the Group as Cayman Islands " ZECHASEK Y  RHAESHESEHRE
exempted partnership. aRhE-
None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities as RZE-—NAF+ZA=+—HIREEFE
at 31 December 2019 or at any time during the year. E(T B - BB B A R BT E BB E
%O
The above tables list the subsidiaries of the Company FREINARBNEERAETEERNAEE
which, in the opinion of the directors of the Company, BEXFENAAGNE AR - ARAE
principally comprised the Group's assets or results. To give ERE FINHMHMBARENZENRE
details of the other subsidiaries would, in the opinion BRI °

of the directors of the Company, result in particulars of
excessive length.
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39. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

39.

HKBridge Absolute Return Fund L.P. (“Absolute Return
Fund”), a 75%-owned subsidiary of the Company, has

material non-controlling interest (“NCI").

Summarised financial information in relation to the NCI of
Absolute Return Fund, before intra-group eliminations, is

presented below:

FERER

R RIBEBT75% I HE 2 Ht B X BIHKBridge
Absolute Return Fund L.P. ([#8%f [0 k&
Cl)BEBEERFERER ([FEZERE
zl) e

FRBHEBESHIFERER (RER
HEA) WM BERBMEZ50T

2019 2018
—E-nE Z2-NE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET T T
For the period ended 31 December HZE+=-BA=+—HIHHY
Revenue WA - -
Loss for the period AR (269) -
Total comprehensive income PHEHWRBE (269) -
Loss allocated to NCI D TIEERER 2 BB (67) -
Cash flows from operating activities REFZHZHEERE - -
Cash flows from investing activities KREZRBZEERE - -
Cash flows from financing activities BMEEFB I RERE - -
Net cashflows WMEMEFHE - -
As at 31 December R+=—A=+—H
Current assets mENE E 190,480
Non-current assets EMBEE - -
Current liabilities mE B E (200) -
Non-current liabilities ERBEME — -
Net assets BEFE 190,280 -
Accumulated NCI R IR R = 47,570 =
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40. BUSINESS ACQUISITIONS DURING THE 40. XEE 2 E K IWE
YEAR
On 16 May 2019, the First-tier Limited Partner | and the RZZBE—NEFRA+~H —REREE
First-tier Limited Partner Il withdrew from the Investment A—E—BEREBAZEDRELEE
Fund | and Investment Fund Il respectively and the funds Ee—RkEREEE - MHFEREXAR
has become subsidiaries of the Company as detailed in AAalzMB AR FI15RME22(3) -
note 22(a).
On 6 December 2019, the Group acquired 75% of the RZZFE—hhFE+ZANB AEEBEKE
equity interests of Absolute Return Fund, a company BELRES (—HETEEBRRAKE
whose principal activity is equity investment. The ZRE])ZT5%E BB EIRE T
acquisition was made with the aims to expand the Group's AEREBZRERAZHAES -

existing equity securities portfolio.
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40. BUSINESS ACQUISITIONS DURING THE 40. REE 2 EKWE (&)
YEAR (continued)
The fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities of the REWEBH  wER 2 #AEE KX
acquirees as at respective dates of acquisition were: BEZATESR:
Investment Investment Absolute
Fund | Fund I Return Fund Total
1B ¥ | 3}
REES— REEEZ s et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTExT FTET FET FET
Loan receivables fEd B X 223,098 223,667 - 446,765
Note receivables e E % 387,289 386,793 - 774,082
Deposit and other receivables %% [ H b & W 3B 45,289 47,930 4,812 98,031
Financial assets at FVTPL BATEFAEBEN
TREE - - 186,029 186,029
Bank balances and deposits ~ $EfT&E 8 R 1F 10 10 - 20
Trade and other payables BORNERRREM
& KIB - - (292) (292)
Tax payable JER i (25,629) (25,445) - (51,074)
Net identifiable assets AERIEEFE 630,057 632,955 190,549 1,453,561
Less: NCI B FEE R E R - - (47,637) (47,637)
Net identifiable assets AEBEGAHEER
attribute to the Group BERE 630,057 632,955 142,912 1,405,924
The fair value of REEBR 2 QFE:
consideration transfer:
Cash consideration BeRE - - 160,000 160,000
Financial assets at FVTPL BATEFABREZ
PREE 630,057 632,955 - 1,263,012
630,057 632,955 160,000 1,423,012
Goodwill EES - - 17,088 17,088
Impairment loss recognised ~ WEBRER ZRERE
upon acquisition - - (17,088) (17,088)
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40. BUSINESS ACQUISITIONS DURING THE

236

YEAR (continued)

The fair value of loan and note receivables and other
receivables amounted to HK$1,318,878,000. The gross
amount of these receivables is HK$1,332,210,000 of which
loan receivables of HK$4,928,000 and note receivables of
HK$8,404,000 were expected to be uncollectible.

Since the respective acquisition dates, the Investment
Fund |, the Investment Fund Il and Absolute Return Fund
have contributed, HK$65,069,000 and HK$53,255,000
to Group's revenue and profit or loss respectively. If the
acquisition had occurred on 1 January 2019, the Group's
revenue and loss would have been HK$70,779,000 and
HK$893,371,000 respectively. This pro forma information
is for illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily an
indication of revenue and results of operations of the
Group that actually would have been achieved had the
acquisition been completed on 1 January 2019, nor is it
intended to be a projection of future performance.

The goodwill arising from the acquisition was allocated
to Absolute Return Fund, the cash-generating unit,
for impairment testing. At the acquisition date, the
recoverable amount of the Absolute Return Fund was
determined by the directors of the Company with reference
to the carrying value of net identifiable assets of the
Absolute Return Fund with major asset being investments
in listed shares. As a result, an impairment loss on goodwill
of HK$17,088,000 was recognised during the year.
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40. XEE 2 EBHWE (£)

JERERREKRZEREMEKRIEZ
NF{EE1,318,878,000/8 T ° 5% 5 FE I X
T8 7 4858 /%1,332,210,00058 7T - E b fE U
B 3%4,928,000% 7t & & W 2= 458,404,000
BITTEHE AT Y E o

BESEREBHUR - BEEE— &
EHS _RBEHLEHKRESE D ALK
£ 2 WA K18 % 5 B65,069,000/% 7T
553,255,000 Lo i S HE R =
T-NF—A—BA#BL AAEBZHK
AREEE DR A70,779,000/8 T &
893,371,000/ 7T ° I BZ &R T VERH BA
R AUBWMBEEEER T —LF
—A—BEKE AEEERITER 2K
AREEEE BT T IARERRREK
2 T8

AUBEAZAEEIEEZRBRRES
(REeELEBEAM)  UEREBERAS - Rk EE
HE - @Y EFES 2T KESRETIHA A
RAEEK2ERHOFES (ETEEE
BN ETMRNO2IRE) 2B HNEEFE
ZEHEmMEBE Bt mEBZREBE
17,088,000/ 7T B A AN F & TR ©
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41. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(@) In addition to the related party

41. BBA TR F

(a)

balances and

transactions set out in other notes to the consolidated

financial statements, during the ye

ar, the Group

entered into the following transactions with related

bR

R B B 5k E AL Y RE PR R

A TREHR LR 5N - AN 5 B R B
AITRAFEGETATRS:

parties:
Related party Nature of transaction 2019 2018
AL REME —E-hE —EF—-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Keentop Investment Limited Lease and management fee
("Keentop”) (Note (i) payments (2018: Rental
expense and management
fee expense) 2,337 2,328
HEREBRAR ([EE]) HEREBEMNK
(HaEa)) —E-N\F HeEH
REBEXH)
Instant Fortune Limited (Note 31) Interest expenses to a
related company 3,156 6,000
Instant Fortune Limited (#77%371) # TR AR ZFEZH
Shenzhen Shengda (Note 20(a)) Interest income from a
loan to an as§ociate 8,833 -
I E (Hat200a)) FHERFIZERZ
FEWA
China Tian Yuen International Rental expense and
Finance (Management) Limited management fee
(Note (ii) expense - 6,657
FEXTEEeR (FE)ARAR HextEkEEEX D
(HTEE )
Note: HiaF

(i)

The amounts paid to Keentop, which is beneficially
owned by Mr. Cheok, a director of the Company,
and his spouse, related to a property leased as their
residence. Pursuant to a tenancy agreement entered
into on 28 May 2014, the monthly rental and
management fees were revised to HK$165,000 and
HK$12,000 for three years from 1 June 2014 to 31
May 2017. The tenancy agreement was renewed on
26 May 2017 for three years from 1 June 2017 to
31 May 2020 under the same terms and conditions,
except that the monthly management fee was
increased to HK$18,000 (subject to adjustment).

RERHEEREER ZMESIN
FTARRBIEEEXRERERBE
mHBZEEZFIE-RBERZT
—mERA=-+NBFIZZEE
—E—OFENA—HE-_Z—+t
FRA=Z+T—H=ZAFEZAMA
NEERE D REF] /165,000 7T
12,0008 - HAER =T —+
ERA-F+ S NBEE=ZF H_T
—+tFEXNA—HBRE-_ZT-_FTFH
A=+—HB BREAEEBEMNE
18,0007 7 (A] a8 ) Hh - E A {5
ARG S T o

(i)
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41. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

238

(a)

(continued)

Note: (continued)

(i) (continued)
At 31 December 2018, the Group had commitments
for future minimum lease payments payable to
Keentop under non-cancellable leases which fall due

AM. BBALRR (£Z)

@ (&)
Kz (&)
M (&)

RZFE—NF+=ZA=+—H" 'K
SERETAIREz2HEERHZ A
REMTFTEEZREBASEAED

as follows: S 8

2018
—E—NF
HK$'000
FAT
Within one year —FR 1,980

In the second to fifth years E_EZERF (BEEEMSF)
inclusive 825
2,805

This related party transaction constitutes a continuing
connected transaction under the Listing Rules.

(i) China Tian Yuen International Finance (Management)
Limited (“China Tian Yuen") is beneficially owned by
Mr. Jia Tianjiang who is a then substantial shareholder
of the Company. Mr. Jia ceased to be a substantial
shareholder of the Company during the year. The
transaction constituted a connected transaction under
the Listing Rules.

Members of key management personnel during the
year comprised only those executive directors whose
remuneration is set out in note 13 to the consolidated
financial statements.

HKBridge Financial Holdings Limited Annual Report 2019

AR A TR BRE £ TR A

(i) HEXRTEESH (ER)FRAF
(MPEXRT) BARAERTIER
REABELERHEB -BEER
AEBTBRARAEIERE It
RHPBELHRAUNBKEERS -

by REAFEZIZEBABEENTES
Hi e #NGRa WIS RRMTE13 -



h o

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4RA B RS R R B
42. SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND 42. ZERE P ZERMEERSRMEA
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY BEHRE
(a) Categories of financial assets and financial (a) cRAEENRESHEBEZER
liabilities
2019 2018
—E-RF —E-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T&T
Financial assets T EE
Financial assets at FVTPL BAFEFTAER 2
TEREE 333,855 2,027,121
Financial assets at BB ER AR 2
amortised costs (including cash TREE (BEERE2X
and cash equivalents) ReZEEY) 3,284,406 2,292,836
Financial liabilities LB E
Financial liabilities at FVTPL BAFEFTAEBR 2
cREaE _
Financial liabilities at amortised cost IR K A EZ SR EE 2,078,053 2,161,704
(b) Fair values (b) A¥E

The fair values of financial assets and financial SPREEREMEEZAFETIIEN

liabilities are determined as follows: THAETE:

e  The fair values of financial assets which are e RNERMBLEBEZEMEE
traded on active markets are determined with ZAFETIZ2EMSE ARE
reference to quoted market bid prices; and BE: Rk

e The fair values of other financial assets and e HsmEENESRMEGBZA
financial liabilities are determined in accordance TFEDIBREAREEBEAEE -
with generally accepted pricing models.

The directors of the Company consider that the RRFEERA RNiREMBmMEKIE

carrying amounts of the financial assets and BERATERzeREENSRIBE

financial liabilities recorded at amortised costs in the ZEAEEEANFERSE-

consolidated financial statements approximate to
their fair values.
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42. SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY
(continued)

2. RERIE D 2ERMEERETHME

EME (&)

(b) Fair values (continued) (b) AFE(E)
The following table provides an analysis of financial THREATFESFAEREATETY R
instruments carried at fair value by level of fair value ZEmMIT AN
hierarchy:
Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active F1k: HRAEEXEBEBERNEERT
markets for identical assets or liabilities; BB (REHRAE)
Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included F2M . BIRWMEUIINZEERE
within Level 1 that are observable for BB R ABE &
the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. Bk (BMER) skfEk
as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from (BMRERERE) ETZ
prices); and E R
Level 3: Inputs for the asset or liability that are F3k:  WIHERABRMISER
not based on observable market data (TRAIBRBASE) 2&
(unobservable inputs). EXE8E 2@ AZUE-
2019
—E-NF
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
214 $28 £33 @
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
B B BT BT
Financial assets at FVTPL A FEARE 2
- Unlisted equity fund ~ —3F E A% #E
investment EeRE = - - -
— Club debentures - SHEERES - 4,266 - 4,266
- Listed equity —FiRERE
investments 329,589 - - 329,589
329,589 4,266 - 333,855

240 HKBridge Financial Holdings Limited Annual Report 2019



ﬂ - T e
3 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

bRE B TSR R K 5T
42. SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND 2. ZERE S zEeMEEREMA
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY BEHE (&)
(continued)
(b) Fair values (continued) (b) AFE(£&)
2018
—T-N\F
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
ENE EWE £3% @t
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT
Financial assets at FVTPL RAFEF AR Z
- Unlisted equity fund ~ —3F ETIAR#E
investments EeKE - - - -
— Unlisted debt fund —FLETEH
investments HeKE - - 1,397,187 1,397,187
- Club debentures -SEERE - 4,191 - 4,191
- Derivative - right to ~ — T4 TE-&&E
pledged assets ity - 293,000 - 293,000
- Listed equity - FHRkERE
investments 332,743 - - 332,743
332,743 297,191 1,397,187 2,027,121
The fair values of equity investments at FVTPL are BEAFEGFABRCBREAKRE 2 AT
determined with reference to quoted market prices in BENRERERM S 2HREET -
an active market.
—E-hEFH EEERMERARLTE 241
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42. SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND

242

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY
(continued)
(b) Fair values (continued)
Information about level 2 fair value
measurements

The fair value club debentures are measured based on

recent transaction prices.

The fair value of the right to underlying listed shares
in pledged agreements of the unlisted equity fund
investment was derived from quoted market price of

the listed shares.

Information about level 3 fair value
measurements

As at 31 December 2019

Type of Valuation
investment technique
REHEH HER %

2. RERIE D 2ERMEERETHME
EME (&)

DYE(F)
BHFE2R L FlEGTERHEH

(b)
SHEAEENAFERNTER5E
8-
3E b IR £ 12 M IE R T A

AT

LMkt XA FERE LMk zm
SERIE -

BHFEIRA FETBHEH
R-ZFB-AFE+Z=-A=+—H

Significant
unobservable

inputs Sensitivity analysis
BEATABERAZE HBREDN

Unlisted equity fund Equity allocation approach

investment
FLEMBREESKRE BRESRE

HKBridge Financial Holdings Limited Annual Report 2019

— Assumed liquidation of ~ Increase/decrease in the quoted
the fund; and

- quoted price of
underlying listed equity
investments of HK$0.18
each

-BERESAERIN: WELA/THES%GEIURE
K REEEM AL TET

—HE LT RERERER
FAR0.18%& T

price by 5% will increase/
decrease the carrying value
of the investment by HK$Nil
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iR B W AR M A

42. SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY

(continued)

(b) Fair values (continued)
Information about level 3 fair value
measurements (continued)

As at 31 December 2018

Type of
investment

REER

Valuation
technique

f&ER %

42. RERIE D 2ERMEERETHME
EHE (&)

(b) AV{E (&)
BHEIRL FETEHEH (F)

R-FBE-NF+=-A=+—H

Significant
unobservable
inputs

EXTUBRBARE

Sensitivity analysis

BRED N

Unlisted equity fund
investment

FLMBEESTE

Unlisted debt fund
investments

FEMEHEERE

There were no changes in valuation techniques during

both years.

Equity allocation approach

Pl

i 7 BoA

!

Lattice tree model

AR Y

- Assumed liquidation of
the fund; and

- quoted price of
underlying listed equity
investments of HK$1.80
each

- BEEZEBRDM:
N

— Bl EmRERE
WERTR1.80ETT

Discount rate:
4.29% - 4.37%

Recovery rate:
38.1% - 38.4%

BEIREK 1 4.29%%4.37%
Y e & :38.1% £38.4%

Increase/decrease in the quoted
price by 5% will increase/
decrease the carrying value
of the investment by HK$Nil

WE LA/ THS%EEHKRE
REEEN HLTET

Increase/decrease in discount
rate by 0.5% will decrease/
increase the carrying value
of the debt investments by
HK$4,814,000

B E EFtTR0.5% 18 B
BB EREER DM
4,814,000 7T

P {8 4F J2 i (B B0 3 SR AT (T 8
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EAMBEENE
42. SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND 42. REHES2eHEERSHME
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY BHE (&)
(continued)
(b) Fair values (continued) (b) A¥E (£&)

ERNBEBANABREH AR (F34)
BRAFEIRZ M T ALERNT

Reconciliation for financial instruments carried at fair
value based on significant unobservable inputs (level
3) are as follows:

Financial assets at FVTPL

BRAVEHFABSZESHMEE

244

A

Unlisted equity fund 2019 2018

investments (LETREESRE —E-hEF —E—N\F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FE T FHETT

At 1 January m—H—H - 340,000

Unrealised fair value loss REBWANFEERE - (340,000)

At 31 December R+—-_A=+—8H = -

Financial assets at FVTPL
BAFEFAEBRCERMEE

Unlisted debt fund 2019 2018

investments kLETEEKESRE —E-hEF —E-NF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FH&TT

At 1 January R—HA—H 1,397,187 640,000

Purchases ®eE = 750,000

Unrealised fair value gain REIE N TEINZ 37,290 7,187
Derecognitions BUH R

(Notes 22(b)(i) and 40) (Htat22(b)() f40) (1,434,477) -

At 31 December Bn+=—A=+—H - 1,397,187
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42. SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY
(continued)

(b) Fair values (continued)

43,

42.

RERNEI 2 EREERETHME
EME (&)
(b) BF{E (&)

Derivative financial liabilities

TESEmEs
2019 2018
Call option R —E-NEF —E-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET T T
At 1 January m—H—H - 53,957
Premium received B S - 48,450
Realised fair value gain B#IRAFERZE — (102,407)

At 31 December

Rt+-—A=+—H

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVE
AND POLICIES

The Group’s major financial instruments are disclosed in

respective notes. The risks associated with these financial
instruments include market risk (currency risk and interest
rate risk and macroeconomic risk), credit risk and liquidity

risk. The policies on how to mitigate these risks are set
out below. The management manages and monitors these
exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented

on a timely and effective manner. The Group’s overall
strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

()

Currency risk

Several subsidiaries of the Company have foreign
currency sales and purchases, which expose the
Group to foreign currency risk. The Group currently
does not have a foreign currency hedging policy.
However, management closely monitors foreign
exchange exposure and will consider hedging
significant foreign currency exposure should the need
arise.

43,

TE-AFEFH RESRMEEARALT

HEREREEEBRRBE

REBZIESMTARNEBHMEHE-
HZFeRITAFHEZRAREEMSAR
(B ERE &N EER R AZBEERR) -
EERRMREBE SRR - A& B AR
EZFRERMERZBRFINMAT &R
BeERhERZFRAR  AHERNEN
BRI IRBUEE 18 o AR B 2 BREREE
HEFHRTIE

(i) E¥mER
RRRETH B R R AINE &
B SAKEAAZINERR - K
[ 38 i I B SIS SO BOR © R 7T -
BEZIERIMNERR XNBEF
R B ¥R ERINE R -

NN
i
I

B DR O
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43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVE 43. IR EKREEBEERERE (&)
AND POLICIES (continued)

(i) Currency risk (continued) (i) E¥@EK (&)
The carrying amounts of the monetary assets AN (BB SE BRI T M LGN
and monetary liabilities denominated in foreign ZEEFECEBREERERERE
currencies, i.e. currency other than the functional (EZLEFERERER BKRER £
currency of the respective group entities, which are BABRRIZEHR EHE HEE
mainly trade receivables, loan receivables, intra-group RITEBKRETFR AREROR
companies balances, trade payables, bank balances R ZAEREERT

and deposits and borrowings at the end of the
reporting period, are as follows:

2019 2018
= =ik —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET T T
Assets BE
Us$ ETT 101,102 126,987
RMB AR 233,540 261,403
Singapore dollars ¥ N3 oo 43 43
Liabilities aE
RMB AR 1,911 1,977
us$ ETT 69,785 61,744
HK$ BT - 3
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43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVE
AND POLICIES (continued)

(i)

Currency risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity
to a 5% increase in the functional currencies of the
group entities, against relevant foreign currencies,
mainly US$ and RMB. The directors of the Company
are of the opinion that the Group’s sensitivity to the
change in US$ against HK$ is low as HK$ are pegged
to US$. In addition, the monetary assets denominated
in MOP, Singapore dollars and HK$ are not significant
and the directors of the Company consider that
the Company's exposure to the currency of MOP,
Singapore dollars and HK$ are minimal. As a result,
the following sensitivity table does not include the
impact of such changes. 5% is the sensitivity rate
used when reporting foreign currency risk internally
to key management personnel and represents
management'’s assessment of the reasonably possible
change in foreign currency rates. The sensitivity
analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency
denominated monetary items and adjusts their
translation at the year end for 5% change in foreign
currency rates.

43.

BHEBEEEERBEE (&)
() EWERE(E)
HRE DB

—hEFH BRESMEEARLT

TRHAVNAEEREEERLEER
(EBERETRARYE) L EREINE
2 ERIE 5% 2 BRAE - NN A E
ERR ARABITTEIZITHE UK

SEHXTHETEE cHREE -
LS+ LA P #E ~ 7 I0 3% 7T KB TT B

BZEBEEYTEAN ARAESR
RARRE)E S 2 RPTE - F 0K TT

LETEERBRAR- Bt Tl
BRENRITBREBESH 2 FE-
5%RAEMREREREABREINE
Rk 2 BURELL R REEEHER
BRI T h - WBERESN
EBEERAREBZIEHEERR
BRRFERERS%EEFHEE MR
o

247



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BT #R R MY o

=
B

43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVE
AND POLICIES (continued)

248

()

(i)

43. B EBREEBEEREE (£)

Currency risk (continued) (i) e¥RAk(&Z)
Sensitivity analysis (continued) BRESH ()
A negative number below indicates an increase in TRZEBEBETRIEEE LA B
loss for the year when the functional currencies have MEBRk 2 NFEERIEIN - ER
strengthened against the relevant foreign currencies. e B AEINEESSSS%  HA
For a 5% weakening of the functional currencies FEXEERBRKRAZEERTE-
against the relevant foreign currencies, there would
be an equal but opposite impact on the result for the
year.
2019 2018
—E-NF —E-N\F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
us$ E P
Decrease in loss for the year RFEEER D 2,395 3,741
RMB ARH
Decrease in loss for the year REEBERD 9,762 10,831
Interest rate risk (i) R E@BE

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk
in relation to fixed-rate loans to associates, loan
receivables, note receivables, borrowings, loan from a
related company and loans from directors.

The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest rate
risk in relation to bank balances and deposits with
floating interest rates. The directors of the Company
monitor the related cash flow interest rate risk
exposure closely and will consider hedging significant
cash flow interest rate risk exposure should the need
arise. No derivative contracts have been entered into
during both years. In the opinion of directors of the
Company, no sensitivity analysis for bank balances
and deposits is prepared as the effect of fluctuation
of interest rate is not significant.

HKBridge Financial Holdings Limited Annual Report 2019
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43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVE 43. IR EKREEBEERERE (&)
AND POLICIES (continued)

(iii) Credit risk (iii) EERR

The Group has policies in place to ensure that sales of
products are made to customers with an appropriate
credit history. The Group mainly trades with
recognised and creditworthy third parties. It is the
Group’s policy that credit terms are granted subject
to in-depth credit verification procedures. In addition,
trade receivable balances of are monitored on an
ongoing basis and trade receivables of manufacturing
segment substantially covered by credit insurance. In
this regard, management considers that the Group’s
credit risk is minimal. Since the Group mainly trades
with recognised and creditworthy third parties, there
is no requirement for collateral.

In respect of loans to associates, note receivables and
loan receivables, the Group assesses the background
and financial condition of the debtors, and requests
securities from the debtors and/or guarantee from the
debtors’ related parties in order to minimise credit
risk.

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk which
will cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure
to perform an obligation by the counterparties is
arising from the carrying amount of the respective
recognised financial assets as stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group has concentration of credit risk on liquid
funds which are deposited with several banks with
high credit ratings.

The Group also has concentration of credit risk as 8%
(2018:18%) of the total trade receivables were due
from the Group’s two largest customers; the entire
loans to associates were due from the Group's two
associates (2018: two) as detailed in note 20 to the
consolidated financial statements.

TE-AFEFH RESRMEEARALT

AEBERRERENAFEEEE
Rk BEFETEMHE -AKEE
RHRAAREBRFZIE=ZTETR
5 NEB 2 BRBIEERFBLER
AZBEEERFEIT ARG 1o
BHRVEREHREFEEST MK
EN BB HRBIRFAERA DT
XEERBRFEE-piltmE  E2E
RAAKE 2 EERRBR IR ARA
SETERIAANAGEZE=T
ETR S WEBRAEMM-

THEQARZER BRUREREKER
BEXOHE AEEFHEBAZER
KA - LA R BRAE T AR IR
Wb HERAZ A TR E
R-UBREREEERR-

AXZHFRERTEENIAEHE
BREMEEREZASERSEER
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AEERFHRRE T REEFRR?T
ZRBET TWHHEERREPZ
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43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVE

250

AND POLICIES (continued)
(iii) Credit risk (continued)
(a) Impairment of trade receivables of

manufacturing segment

The Group measures loss allowances for
trade receivables of manufacturing segment
at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, which
is calculated using a provision matrix which
is based on days past due for groupings of
customer segments that have similar loss
patterns.

The following tables provide information about
the Group's exposure to credit risk and ECLs for

43. B EBREEBEEREE (£)

(iii) EERR (&)
(a) HEREZEZEWKHE

AEERERE2HMEREES
BreRAEBRHENEZED
R RSB E R R BER
AERUEBEBREANTER DR
A 7l B B B B A B iR AR R AT

=
=3 °

TRIINHBEAKER RSN
RZBEZREEFEERR K

the trade receivables at the end of the reporting BHEEBEER:
period:
Gross

Expected carrying Loss
2019 —B2-NF loss rate amount allowance
BHERE RE&AE EERE
% HK$'000 HK$'000
% TET THET
Current B R 0.5 93,273 500
0 - 30 days past due HHI0E30H 0.6 14,272 81
31 - 90 days past due #HI31Z=90H 0.7 1,206 8
Over 90 days past due BHE90H A £ 59.2 2,281 1,351
111,032 1,940
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43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVE
AND POLICIES (continued)
(iii) Credit risk (continued)
(a) Impairment of trade receivables of

43. B EBREEBEREE (£)

(iii) EERK (&

(a) REDHEZE G EWRE R E

manufacturing segment (continued) (%)

Gross
Expected carrying Loss
2018 —E-N\§ loss rate amount allowance
BHERE IREAE BEEE
% HK$'000 HK$'000
% FET FET
Current BVER 0.2 77,906 135
0 - 30 days past due #HI0E30H 0.6 24,062 135
31 - 90 days past due #HI31Z=90H 13.8 5,738 64
Over 90 days past due BEI90H M £ 85.9 1,572 1,351
109,278 1,685

Expected loss rates are based on actual loss
experience over the past two years. These rates
are adjusted to reflect differences between
economic conditions during the period over
which the historic data has been collected,
insurance coverage on doubtful debts and
current conditions and the Group’s view of
economic conditions over the expected lives of
the receivables.

BHMERXRDERBEMFN
EREBBREREH ZFHLERE
YRR » DA BR U &2 38 1 BRI 2R
B B = R - RERA R
B B2 2R R AR 0 A B 7K S (B 4 B

Wk BTRF FHA

2R
B= o
B

KBRS EY
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43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVE
AND POLICIES (continued)
(iii) Credit risk (continued)

252

(a)

(b)

43. B EBREEBEEREE (£)

(iii) FERAR (&)

Impairment of trade receivables of (a) HESBZEZEWERBHE
manufacturing segment (continued) (%)
The following table reconciles the impairment TRARXFERPEHNFMEL
loss of trade receivables of manufacturing WEENHEE S ERETRE
segment arising from contracts with customers ez B
for the year:
2019 2018
ZE-NF —E-)N\F
HK$'000 HK$000
FET FHET
At 1 January m—H—H 1,685 1,641
Impairment loss recognised EERZBEEE 274 64
Exchange realignment B 5, 5 B (19) (20)
At 31 December W+—A=+—H 1,940 1,685
Change in gross carrying amounts of the trade FABSRERWESREREEEBSE
receivables during the year did not result in B EENEERERNEZY-
significant change in the loss allowance.
Impairment of financial assets not measured (b) BERERZMEBESE 2z
at FVTPL of treasury investment and HBERFEFABRZTEZE
financial service segments & E el B

The Group measures loss allowances for
trade receivables, other receivables, loans
to associates, loans receivables and note
receivables of treasury investment and financial
service segments using the general approach
under HKFRS 9. Impairment of these financial
assets was provided based on the “three-stage”
model by referring to the changes in credit
quality since initial recognition.
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43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVE
AND POLICIES (continued)
(iii) Credit risk (continued)

(b) Impairment of financial assets not measured
at FVTPL of treasury investment and
financial service segments (continued)
Financial assets that are not credit-impaired on
initial recognition are classified in “Stage 1" and
have their credit risk continuously monitored by
the Group. The ECL is measured on a 12-month
basis.

- If a significant increase in credit risk (as
defined in accounting policy note 4(i)(ii)
since initial recognition is identified, the
financial asset is moved to “Stage 2" but it
not yet deemed to be credit-impaired. The
ECL is measured on lifetime basis.

- If the financial asset is credit-impaired (as
defined in accounting policy note 4(i)ii),
the financial asset is then moved to “Stage
3". The ECL is measured on lifetime basis.

- At Stages 1 and 2, interest income is
calculated on the gross carrying amount
(without deducting the loss allowance).
If a financial asset subsequently becomes
credit-impaired (Stage 3), the Group is
required to calculate the interest income
by applying the effective interest method
in subsequent reporting periods to the
amortised cost of the financial asset
(the gross carrying amount net of loss
allowance) rather than the gross carrying
amount.

43.

MEEAREEEEREE (&)

(i) FERMRE (&)

(b) MEBEREREBBRBELEZIYL
HERFETARBNEZE
AEERE (&)
ROMRERT L BEERELZ
TREENERIEBERILK
REBRFBEEEEEERR-
BHEEERRI2(E A E £

=
= °

—  f MR HERE &R AE
ERBAEEMEER
S ET BOR MY EE4G)(G)) - Al
TRMEEEBRE(E K
Bl BT RREERE-
BHREEERREZHELE

5HE -

- MHMEeEMEECEERE
(E&ER G HEME
AGi)ii)) Rl EESER
EIE=ER] -BHEE
EERREHEESE-

- RE-—RE_EE B
WAz Bk E 2 E (T HDR
BEEEB)GFE-HE R
BERNRKBEERE
(F=FR) AEBAR
HewEHERemEE
Z B (BRTE AR E R
BEREEBEEHERE MERT
BB ) £ B B B A X ORE
BHEHBA-
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43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVE 43. IR EKREEBEERERE (&)
AND POLICIES (continued)

(iii) Credit risk (continued) (iii) 8RR (Z)

(b) Impairment of financial assets not measured (b) HIBRERZHBEHESBEZI
at FVTPL of treasury investment and HBERFEFABRTEZE
financial service segments (continued) BEERE (&)

The gross carrying amount of the financial assets MHRERERBRBESEZE
of treasury investment and financial service BMEEREAE (AEBEEEKRE
segments, and thus the maximum exposure to BT

loss, is as follows:

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
1287 H
FEER EHRAEERE
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
F-HR FTRR EZRR Bat
2019 —E-NEF HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET FET FER

Trade receivables 2 SRR - 55,715 96,406 152,121
Other receivables SFAENRE - RE R
included in Hip W R 2

prepayments, deposits  H b fE I T IE
and other receivables

- Normal* —EE* 297,774 - - 297,774

- Doubtful* — R - - 228,472 228,472
Loan receivables JE W E 5K

- Secured* —F 653,371 567,585 438,831 1,659,787
Note receivables R

- Secured* — Bk 986,837 220,137 - 1,206,974
Loans to associates THERAZER 288,638 - - 288,638

2,226,620 843,437 763,709 3,833,766
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43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVE 43. IR EKREEBEERERE (&)
AND POLICIES (continued)

(iii) Credit risk (continued) (iii) EERR (&

(b) Impairment of financial assets not measured (b)) HBERERTEBEBESEFZI
at FVTPL of treasury investment and HBERFEFABRZTEZE
financial service segments (continued) BEERE (&)

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
1218 A& 88
FEEAE THRNEERE
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
F-BR EREE E @t
2018 —E-N\F HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TET TET TET TET

Contract assets BHEE 32,974 - - 32,974
Trade receivables B 7 R X 57,441 92,979 11,106 161,526
Other receivables STAENRIE - RE R

included in Hih U R

prepayments, deposits £ & U 5B
and other receivables

- Normal* —E&* 375,078 - - 375,078

- Doubtful* — R - - 208,533 208,533
Loan receivables FE W E K

- Secured* — 675,452 127,286 456,229 1,258,967
Note receivables T

- Secured? — B 360,000 - - 360,000
Loans to associates FHENRZER 201,730 32,393 - 234,123

1,702,675 252,658 675,868 2,631,201
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43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVE
AND POLICIES (continued)
(iii) Credit risk (continued)
(b) Impairment of financial assets not measured
at FVTPL of treasury investment and
financial service segments (continued)

256

*

The credit quality of other receivables included
in prepayments, deposits and other receivables
is considered to be “normal” when they are not
past due and there is no information indicating
that the other receivables had a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition.
Otherwise, the credit quality of the financial

assets is considered to be “doubtful”.

Details of securities of loans receivables and
note receivables are set out in notes 26 and 27
respectively.

HHEEREERE

ERBUK (&)

(iii) FER (&)
(b) HBRRERSBERES BN
HBAFETIABZFSEZS
gﬂﬁéﬁt‘ﬁ (%)

At AR RUR - e R EAM
& Ui B R 2 B A B MR AR TR R
BRI EERRREME
WRIE B R R EE R
BAIRIZIN - MEEEERR
EIEE] B EMEEL
ERERGEIRE] -

JE U B 2 K e U i 2 KR
HIED RIEAR M E26 %27 ©

During the year, ECLs of these receivables were RNEE = RIE 7 FAH=
assessed on individual basis. The expected loss f‘f}éﬁﬂ%}i{ﬂﬁlj BT BN E
rates applied to each class of financial asset MBS EE 2 FEHEE
above are summarised below: g R NE
2019 2018
—2-hF —N\F

Default  Expected Default Expected

Note rate  loss rate rate loss rate

Haz ENE BHERER ENER BHEEX

Stage 1 E—[EE 2% 2% 2% 2%

Stage 2 FEIEER () 10%-30%  0%-30%  5%-20% 0%

Stage 3 E-BR (i) 95%-100% 21%-100% 82%-100% 9%-100%
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43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVE
AND POLICIES (continued)
(iii) Credit risk (continued)

(b) Impairment of financial assets not measured
at FVTPL of treasury investment and
financial service segments (continued)

Notes:

(i) No ECLs were recognised for trade receivables,
note receivables and loan receivables classified
in Stage 2 if the value of the collateral exceeds
the carrying value of the receivables.

(i) As at 31 December 2019, trade and loan
receivables due from debtors under control of
the same group with gross carrying amount of
HK$448,418,000 (2018: HK$465,815,000) were
in default and considered credit-impaired. The
amount of ECLs was estimated with reference
to the fair value of the rights to use of sea areas
in the PRC held as security as at 31 December
2019 of HK$1,707 million (2018: HK$2,395
million) adjusted for estimated amount of
charges imposed by other registered preferential
creditors, irrecoverable interest income and time
value of money.

43. B EBREEBEREE (£)

(i) FERRE (&

(b) HBERERZHBRHEDE I
HERFETARBNEZE
AEERE (&)
iz :

iy MHERGREERLEKKEA
FREE BIERSBERE K
B2 BHREIER BRER
REREFERBRBEEES

e

(i) RZEBE—hhF+ZA=+-—
H - BR H 4 {8 /448,418,000
(Z—Z — )\ : 465,815,000
Y& IT) AR S B fl 2 E S
AR E 5 Rk & &
WEFBEHNRGIEEER
B-BHEEBRESEL2ER
—E-hFE+-_A=+—8©
R 1R & BY B 1 (5 A
EAFEL7078EB T (=
T—)\F 239558 T)
et EPEAEMELE
HEANRE 2 (5T %8 - DAl
BB AREBEBERE
{EFEE
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43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVE

AND POLICIES (continued)
(iii) Credit risk (continued)

258

(b) Impairment of financial assets not measured
at FVTPL of treasury investment and
financial service segments (continued)

The following table reconciles the impairment
loss of trade receivables, other receivables, loan
receivables, note receivables and loan to an
associate of treasury investment and financial
service segments that were not arising from

43. B EBREEBEEREE (£)

(iii) EERK (&

(b) HBRRERSBERES BN
HBAFETIABZFSEZS
BEERME (&)
TERAAFEEYEKRARTFA
WZHBEREREBRBRE DB
T Z 5 W BR 5Kk - H b B UL K
B RERER BREERT—
ML RR2ERZRMERIE

contracts with customers for the year. HERe

Trade Note Other Loan Loans to
receivables  receivables  receivables  receivables associates Total

2019 “E-NF FTHENH
g EBER EREE HttEKZE EkER ER gt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET FET
At 1 January R—A—-H - - 189,597 177,564 36,429 403,590
Reclassification EHNE - - 32,393 - (32,393) =
Impairment loss recognised B #R 2 BEFSE 34,694 22,014 10,145 118,256 - 185,109
At 31 December R+-A=+—H 34,694 22,014 232,135 295,820 4,036 588,699

Other Loan Loans to
receivables receivables associates Total
2018 —E-N\F THig QA

Hh JE I FRIE E W E R B wEr
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAET FHET FAET
At 1 January n—H—H - - - -
Impairment loss recognised B #3825 EE 18 189,597 177,564 36,429 403,590
At 31 December R+ZA=+—H 189,597 177,564 36,429 403,590
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43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVE 43. IR EKREEBEERERE (&)
AND POLICIES (continued)

(iii) Credit risk (continued) (iii) EERR (&

(b) Impairment of financial assets not measured (b)) HBERERTEBEBESEFZI
at FVTPL of treasury investment and HBERFEFABRZTEZE
financial service segments (continued) BEERE (&)

The following significant changes in the THREEEEREHBEH
gross carrying amounts of contributed to the RNEEHEBRRKZIBEERE
increase in the loss allowances of the respective -

receivables during the year:

Changes in loss allowances

EERE2E
Trade Note Other Loan Loans to
receivables  receivables  receivables  receivables associates Total
2019 “E-0F FHELNT
g5 EWRR EURE HttEKFHE EWER ER st

HK$"000 HK$"000 HK$"000 HK$"000 HK$"000 HK$"000
TER TR TER TER TER TER

Changes in gross carrying lREAESH

amounts
At 1 January 2019 RZE-NE—A—8 - - 189,597 177,564 36,429 403,590
Reclassification ENNE - - 32,393 - (32,393) -
Origination of new EEN KRR

receivables net of those B & ERFE

settled 8,615 - 2,000 10,982 - 21,597
Increase in receivables BYREE MG

moved to stage 2 JEMFRIBIE - 22,014 - - - 22,014
Increase in receivables BYREE-RBL

moved to stage 3 JEU R AN 17,979 - - - - 17,979
Recovery of debts e &% = = (12,454) (1,003) = (13,457)
Other change: increase ~ H i 8): 5

in expected loss rate EBEEN 8,100 - 20,599 108,277 - 136,976
At 31 December RtZA=+-8H 34,694 22,014 232,135 295,820 4,036 588,699
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43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVE

260

AND POLICIES (continued)
(iii) Credit risk (continued)

(b) Impairment of financial assets not measured
at FVTPL of treasury investment and
financial service segments (continued)

43. B EBREEBEEREE (£)

(iii) EERK (Z)

(b) WBERERZBRBEL B
HERFETARBNEZE
EERE (&)

Changes in loss allowances

The Group adopts a prudent liquidity risk
management policy to regularly monitor current and
expected liquidity requirements and its compliance
with lending covenants, to ensure that it maintains
sufficient reserves of cash and adequate committed
lines of funding from major financial institutions
to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and
longer term. The Group also relies on the continuous
financial support from the banks and third party
lenders and the management closely monitors
its liquidity risk. Accordingly, the directors of the
Company considered that the Group's liquidity risk
is properly addressed and therefore prepared the
consolidated financial statements on a going concern
basis.

HKBridge Financial Holdings Limited Annual Report 2019

BlERES
Other Loan Loans to
receivables receivables associates Total
2018 —E-N\EF THiE AT
H B U FRIE W E T =8 @Et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FAEL FAEL
Changes in gross REAESS
carrying amounts
Origination of new 7 A T WO IE A bR
receivables net of those 2 & {< JE Ut 0B
settled 22,494 177,564 - 200,058
Increase in receivables BYEEE-BBE
moved to stage 3 JFE i SR TR 38 156,611 - 32,393 189,004
Other change: increase  Eftb & &) : JE 5
in expected loss rate EiE g 10,492 - 4,036 14,528
At 31 December R+ZA=+—H 189,597 177,564 36,429 403,590
(iv) Liquidity risk (iv) REIE SRR

AEERMERZADESARE
BRR UEHERAKRERRD
B2B/R URHBTEERE 2B
o NEREGEFENRESHE XL
EXZopEimRERETR ZER
B tMENEERLRERMARS
BEe®mR-AKENTERRITRE=
HERAZFHEMB R MEERE
FUERERDES AR - FHitt - &K
RABEFERR AREZRBETR
RO X RES WA RGELERE
REREMIEHREK -
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43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVE
AND POLICIES (continued)

43. B EBREEBEREE (£)

(iv) Liquidity risk (continued) (iv) REBESRAR (&)
The following table details the remaining contractual TRAVRBERRAREZIENTE
maturity at the end of the reporting period of the PHEBBEZHRTEANIHAZFE-
Group's non-derivative financial liabilities, which are ZRIIBBAREB AW ERNRZ
based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial XERH ZeRmBECRMERRS
liabilities based on the earliest date on which the MESL ZERBPEMNEEREASEE
Group can be required to pay. The table includes mE-WMANEBELE BIRMEESE
both interest and principal cash flows. To the extent TERBEMARZ XSG
that interest flows are floating rate, the undiscounted
amount is derived from interest rate at the end of
reporting period.
Total
Weighted Within contractual
average 1 yearoron undiscounted Carrying
interest rate demand 1 to 5 years cash flow amount
—FRH EHRER
mEFLgF = REX —ERF BLRELE REE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
% TER TERr TER THET
2019 ZE-NF
Non-derivatives: FTETIR:
Trade payables BAEAER - 113,319 - 113,319 113,319
Other payables HiER RN - 245,423 - 245,423 245,423
Loans from directors EZEN 0-7 106,359 - 106,359 91,055
Borrowings f& 5% 2.6-8 1,033,712 762,004 1,795,716 1,628,256
1,498,813 762,004 2,260,817 2,078,053

TE-AFEFH RESRMEEARALT
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43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVE 43. IR EKREEBEERERE (&)

262

AND POLICIES (continued)

business and economic environment, in particular,
the manufacturing segment. Manufacturing
segment is greatly affected by its customers which
are highly volatile combined with the rising labour
and production costs. The Group’s manufacturing
segment has to compete with is competitors on

various factors such as product variety, product
performance, customer service, quality, pricing,
new product innovation, timely delivery and brand

recognition.
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NHEIXEFRE

(iv) Liquidity risk (continued) (iv) "EBEE€RAM (&
Total
Weighted Within contractual
average 1 year or on undiscounted Carrying
interest rate demand 1105 years cash flow amount
—ERH BRIARMR
TN E BEX —E0F HERELHE FHE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
% FET TET TER TER
2018 —E-0\%
Non-derivatives: FTETR:
Trade payables B AR RN - 131,139 - 131,139 131,139
Other payables H it 1T BR X - 538,763 - 538,763 538,763
Loans from a director —ZEEEH 7 86,384 - 86,384 86,351
Loan from a related —RBEHLRER
company 204,882 - 204,882 200,000
Borrowings & 1-75 782,449 456,238 1,238,687 1,205,451
Financial guarantees PBER - 12,377 127,706 140,083 -
1,755,994 583,944 2,339,938 2,161,704
(v) Macroeconomic risk (v) ZEKERRE
The Group is operating in a highly competitive AEBEEBFHUNTEREERE

ETUAREDERE - BIE
EDR- RS Rl

BT MEERANITAE ik AEE
MEEN RV AREGFHFEZR
TREZTESES  fIERER -
EmxE FEPR®% @mE TE E
an BT - IR 8 R an R AT E
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43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVE

AND POLICIES (continued)

(v) Macroeconomic risk (continued)
On the other hand, volatility in Hong Kong securities
market may affect the Group’s performance on listed
securities investments resulting in fluctuations in
unrealised fair value gains or losses. An interest rate
hike is highly likely and this will affect not only the
Group's cost of borrowings but also costs of purchase
of materials.

44. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to
support its business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic
conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders,
return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. No
changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes
for managing capital during the years ended 31 December
2019 and 31 December 2018.

43.

44,

TE-AFEFH RESRMEEARALT

MEEAREEEEREE (&)

RERERR (&)

A—HE BEIELFMSNE IS
FEAGELIHTIESRENKR &
HAZHRAFERAXEERE - F
KIBAA LRI TMERFEAREH
HE B R - TR M RHR BB AN P

mE-

(v)

BEXEEEE
AEBEAEEBZTEZERZARELRAEE
FECE 2 AR MBEFBEE AR X
N HEXBERIEEREEE-

AEETEEENERE YEARBRLSEMRR
BEELAR BERABARELRLERE
AER g ABRREIRE ZKRE - FRE
REBAKBEITTRGD - REBEE=ZT—N
F+-—A=+—HEZ=ZZFE—NF+=A
St HEFERYEEREARAERE
= BERBRE -
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44. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

The Group monitors its capital using a gearing ratio, which
is net debt divided by the total capital plus net debt. The
Group’s policy is to maintain the gearing ratio of not
more than 80%. Net debt includes trade payables, other
payables and accruals, borrowings, loans from directors
and loan from a related company, less bank balances and
deposits. Capital represents total equity. The gearing ratios

as at the end of reporting period were as follows:

44. EXRBER (£Z)

AEEXRAEABELE (HAEFER
NERNBEMBEFE)EREER K
SEZBR/EREAARBELXRTEA
80% - BIEFHBHEEHEMEN  Hit
BNEALESHER BFX - BEFTEK
AR — BB QR ER BRTAER LT
R BAEERABR RBEHRZENR
BELRMT:

2019 2018

—E-hEF —E-N\F

HK$'000 HK$'000

TR FE&T

Trade payables 2 ENIRR 113,319 131,139
Other payables and accruals EMEMNERNESTER 245,423 538,763
Borrowings R 1,628,256 1,205,451
Loans from directors BEEEX 91,055 86,351
Loan from a related company — @B AR ER = 200,000
Less: Bank balances and deposits T IRITAE R M AE K (19,449) (134,031)
Net debt BEFHE 2,058,604 2,027,673
Total capital BARMREE 2,178,782 2,846,151
Total capital and net debt ERBEREKE] 4,237,386 4,873,824
Gearing ratio ERBEAELE 49% 42%
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45. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

Hong Kong

The Group participates in both a defined contribution
scheme which is registered under the Occupational
Retirement Scheme Ordinance (the “ORSO Scheme”)
and a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) established under the Mandatory Provident
Fund Ordinance. The assets of the schemes are held
separately from those of the Group, in funds under the
control of trustees. Employees who were members of
the ORSO Scheme prior to the establishment of the MPF
Scheme were offered a choice of staying within the ORSO
Scheme or switching to the MPF Scheme, whereas all new
employees joining the Group on or after 1 December 2000
are required to join the MPF Scheme.

The ORSO Scheme is funded by monthly contributions
from both employees and the Group based on a specified
percentage of the employee’s basic salary, depending on
the length of service with the Group. Where there are
employees who leave the ORSO Scheme prior to vesting,
the contributions payable by the Group are reduced
by the amount of forfeited contributions. No forfeited
contributions were utilised in this manner for both years.

For members of the MPF Scheme, the Group contributes
5% of relevant payroll costs to the scheme, which
contribution is matched by the employees subject to a limit
of HK$1,500 since 1 June 2014.

The PRC

The employees of the Group in the PRC are members of
state-managed retirement benefit schemes operated by
the local governments in the PRC. The Group is required
to contribute a specified percentage of the payroll costs to
the retirement benefit schemes to fund the benefits. The
only obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement
benefit schemes is to make the specified contributions.

45.

TE-AFEFH RESRMEEARALT

iR k48 R 5t 8

i

AEEE R 2 AR BB R KRB 5 8
& ad 2 EREKE 8 ([BERKRER
g1)  ARBREBERHIERTEE GROIKLZ
BEMERTEEE ([RERFE]) -ZF
AECEERAEECEEDHAIE I
HEEAETE -WEENBESFTEIKL
RMERERABERARREEZKE B
AR BEEE AR RNRER BB
2MEEHE MR _ZZTF+ A
—BRZBRNBAKEZ B EREHDA
2B FE

BERARREFEARFHEERRAEER
BEEAFEZHEEAOL (RTERBE
ENAKEZREFHAME) ZAELH
X o fist (8 8 7£ 7] HX [0 3R AT AR B R AR
REET S BBOR M 2 g BIEHIR A
SE RN Z MR- R EFEAS BRI
77 B AL K -

ERBEEFEKNETE AEBEEME
FAE B # & AN Z5% M at I 1EH 5K -
mESTERKFELEREBZHER 8
—E-FERNA—HELRM,5008T -

T E
AEBTEREESTEM T BNZELZ
BREEENENFTEHZKE - AEEA
BB AN 2 E B 7 L RR KR R E 8l
R M AEiiE‘RES - A%E
HRZFRNEHNEF S 2 E—BERED
EEMK
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46. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING

266

A

FROM FINANCING ACITIVITES

46. MEEHELE 2R BEHIK

Loan from a
Lease related Loans from Interest
liabilities ~ Borrowings company directors payable
—EE
HEEE RN AREX EEEX EAAE
(Note 19) (Note 30) (Note 31) (Note 32)
(Hiit19) 0 E) (Hfi£31) (H5t32)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL TET TERT TEL THERT
At 1 January 2019 as originally —Z-NE-A-H
presented (RERZ5) - 1,205,451 200,000 86,351 48,755
Initial application of HKFRS 16 NrEAREYBRE
(Note 2(a)) RRIE165 (H1it2()) 19,070 - - - -
At 1 January 2019 (restated) \:75 NE—
(E=E5)) 19,070 1,205,451 200,000 86,351 48,755
Changes from cash flows: REeRERE:
New borrowings SR - 945,629 - 1,000 -
Repayment of borrowings Etf ?A - (713,274) = (2,366) =
Repayment of loan interests BEERFE - - - - (39,551)
Lease payments i‘ﬁfﬁm (11,485) = = = =
Total changes from financing REReNEZBAR:
cash flows: (11,485) 232,355 - (1,366) (39,551)
Other change: Hitt#5:
Reclassification EE by - 200,000 (200,000) = =
New leases HHE 11,516 - - - -
Modification of Lease HEEYR (3,542) = = =
Interest expenses FER% 2,927 - - 6,137 70,148
10,901 200,000 - 6,137 70,148
Exchange adjustments: EXBE (59) (9,550) - (67) (1,078)
At 31 December 2019 RZZE—NF
+-A=1+—H 18,427 1,628,256 - 91,055 78,274
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46. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING
FROM FINANCING ACITIVITES (continued)

46. REFHELECEEHRKR (F

Loan from
a related Loans from Interest
Borrowings company a director payable
— B B
R NEER —REEEX JE 1 7118
(Note 30) (Note 37) (Note 32)
(H13230) (Htit31) (Hfit32)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FET FET FET
At 1 January 2018 RZE-N\F—A—H 1,246,743 200,000 86,619 43,517
Changes from cash flows: H&HRESE:
New borrowings MEER 264,918 - - -
Repayment of borrowings BEEX (296,165) - (3,201) -
Repayment of loan interests ~ EEEFH 78 - - (3,024) (75,375)
Total changes from financing BER & REL B L
cash flows: (31,247) - (6,225) (75,375)
Other change: Hin 25 :
Interest expenses FER - - 5,957 80,613
Exchange adjustments: ERHE: (10,045) - - -
At 31 December 2018 RZZE-NF+ZA
=+—H 1,205,451 200,000 86,351 48,755
- AEFH BEEMEREFERAT 267
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47. DIVIDEND 47. KB
The directors do not recommended a final dividend for the EEEIEERAFERNRERKRE -
current year.

48. CAPITAL AND OTHER COMMITMENTS 48. AR H & &
As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the Group had no RZE—NER T N\F+_A=1+—
material capital and other commitments. B AEBEWEEXNERRHE A ALE-

49. EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 49. FEMRSEE
Since the outbreak of Coronavirus Disease 2019 H-ZT-_ZTFY2019T K S F 1B %
("COVID-19 outbreak”) in early 2020, a series of ([COVID-1918 % | ) LAk - 2 B E B i
precautionary and control measures have been and —RIP R WASEENTT B IA
continued to be implemented across the PRC. The % EEEREBERPE  TUBHR
epidemic caused temporary disruption in business since —ETF A FHREESDE R EMRYG
then. It may foresee temporary impact on the sale and DRZHEREEEKERNTE - N
operation of the manufacturing segment and financial /“iEIHH REFIW A HAEHRCOVID-19
services segment in the first half year of 2020. As at the BEME AR MIEES fEWEET—JEﬁ
date of this announcement, the Group was not aware of B AEEBEREBIERAEREE
any material effect on the financial results of the Group BAHEBERE ) 7SR & ﬁ%\TK%I
as a result of the COVID-19 outbreak. The Group will EENMBRIR 2 ZE-
actively work utmost on epidemic prevention and control,
and daily operation management to reduce the impact
of the epidemic on the Group’s operations and financial
performance.

50. APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 50. Ttt;&,\ﬂ%%’z%
The financial statements were approved and authorised for EEgNRN_TTE=A-T+ELABER
issue by the Board of Directors on 27 March 2020. XIET B ARTHBHRE -
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R FINANCIAL SUMMARY

AFUBHRE

A summary of the published results and of the assets and
liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years, as

31 December 2019

—T-NF+=ZA=+—8

AEERBERLEYBRFERFACTRLSE
RMBBRRZETEREARBEERAGHE

extracted from the published audited financial statements, is set ~ Z %21 °
out below.
2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
“E-hE ZZ-0\F ZZ—tF ZZ-xF CZZT-8F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THER THIT T THT FHL
Revenue KA 208,941 388,892 1,347,408 803,194 566,630
(Loss)/profit before income tax FiEREe,/ (XA
credit/(expense) (B#8) /&7 (602,600) (509,579) 557,316 222,208 15,868
Income tax (expense)/credit FiE® (Zd) /B4 (56,086) 81,911 (101,203) (47,036) (2,413)
(Loss)/profit for the year KEE (BB) /5 (658,686) (427,668) 456,113 175,172 13,455
(Loss)/profit attributable to: ITALRES (BR)/
A
Owners of the Company ARAEEBA (658,619) (427,668) 456,113 177,228 17,904
Non-controlling interests FEiER (67) - - (2,056) (4,449)
Assets and liabilities EERAE
Total assets BELE 4,496,887 5,150,896 5,463,624 2,791,497 807,117
Total liabilities BELEE (2,318,105) 2,304,745)  (2,142,666)  (1,624,119) (466,808)
Total net assets EEFEAS 2,178,782 2,846,151 3,320,958 1,167,378 340,309
- AEFH BEEMEREFERAT 269
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GOVERNANCE REPORT

HKBridge Financial Holdings Limited with its subsidiaries
(hereafter "HKBridge”, the “Group” or “We") has
substantially grown its businesses spanning from Printed Circuit
Board ("PCB”) manufacturing to financial services. Aiming
to become an Asia’s leading asset manager and maintain
our competitive edge in PCB industry, we are committed to
integrating sustainability principles into our strategic planning
and daily operation through transparent measures,
of delivering enduring value to our major stakeholders —
shareholders, employees, customers, and the wider society.
Therefore, we attach great importance to employee care,
business integrity, customer satisfaction, environment
conservation, and community engagement with explicit missions
and objectives.

in view
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FEE RIERFNE-BRR BE BFME
ARteRESABE Fit #MEEERET
MR RHEXER TPMEE RERENRMRE
S8 WL B REES RER-
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Having a deep ambition to construct long-term trusted ties with
our stakeholders in the community, the Group is pleased to
publish our fifth environmental, social and governance (“ESG")
report (the “Report”) summarizing our ESG performance and
initiatives.
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SCOPE OF THE REPORT

The Report examines the Group’s ESG management approaches,
environmental and social performance and material topics
during the period from 1 January to 31 December, 2019 (the
“Reporting Period”, “2019") with the scope of our significant
operation including core activities in Hong Kong and the PCB
business segment in Mainland China.

REPORTING STANDARD

The Report has been prepared in accordance with the “Comply
or Explain” provisions of the Environmental, Social and
Governance Reporting Guide under Appendix 27 to the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited ("HKEx ESG Reporting Guide”).
The Report has been reviewed and approved by the board of
directors of the Company.

CONTACT & FEEDBACK

The Group believes a strong trusted relationship with our
community is critical for our business sustainability. We
strive to manage the Company with the best interests of our
stakeholders; therefore, we treasure your feedback on this
ESG report and our sustainability performance. If you have any
comments or suggestions, please feel free to contact us via
info@hkbridge.com.hk.

ABEERAEER _T-NF—A—HBHZE
T-A=+—BHE ((REHHE] =F-h
F])ZESGERTE REMMEBERARTE
e BEREAKREZEXNESEXRY B8ER
TR 2O ER K B A 2 BRI AR B AR 15

2B

HER
BRECRBEBEMARIHMAERRAESR LT
MBI 827 N 2 IRIR -8 RE A M E 15
(TR FTESGHEIESI ) 2 [ TE TRl | &
NRE -RECKRARFEESEH R AL

HBHEKE

AEBREHEMEER ZEERREEBKEE
BESAEA KMBNAFNENEANEE
BARAG: Bt BMEE B THRESGRE
RASBERAHBEERABACREER -0 BT
BEMERSNER  FEFEH Zinfo@hkbridge.
com.hk °
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

HKBridge understands the best way to manage its business is
having a strong collaboration with its stakeholders; thus values
their interests and views, and above all, their participation.

FtrESH
ARHAREREERBcHENAREERNE
HPBETAERE: B BRERKNEZHN
BMEBER UMREE-REZLHE-

To identify stakeholders’ insights and concerns in relevance to AN EWHBELEEZ TR LB

business operation, the Group has been maintaining regular
communication with the major stakeholders through various

channels, which are illustrated in the table below:

Types of stakeholder group
¥ 10 & 42 B B Rl

REE— EL@T%%NZXE BEREERF
ERFTEHEB

Communication channels

BBERE

Investors and shareholders o

REERER

Company website

NGIE

Company’s announcements
—J/‘\/_‘t

Annual general meeting
BRERBFRE
Annual and interim reports

FHRETHBE

Customers °

EF

Company website

yNCIEER

Customer direct communication
HEPHEEAER

Customer feedback and complaints
B RERKF

Customer satisfaction surveys

EPmEERAE

Employees Q

=]

Training and orientation

& 3 K Eh

Emails and opinion box
BHNERME

Regular meetings

g

Employee performance evaluation
8 TRFFE

Employee activities

8 TiEE
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Types of stakeholder group Communication channels
¥ & 4 B E Rl BERE
Suppliers and business partners e Selection assessment
HEEREEBF HUE AT
e Procurement process
REEME
e Performance assessment
R ATA

e Regular communication with business partners
(e.g. emails, meetings, on-site visit etc.)
HEEBGEHTHERE (NBREE SRANBEHERSE)

Government authorities and regulators e Documented information submission
BAHMREERE R R A0 8 B B
e Compliance inspections and checks
BRUERRE

e Regular meetings/luncheons with local government
representatives
HEMBNREREHRITERFTES

e Forums, conferences and workshops

Wi BB E

Non-governmental organizations e Emails
FBUFAER B
e Phones
==
=M

e Charity donations and voluntary services
RERBENERRE

Communities e Company website
HE YNSIFERA
e Community activities
[ % B
Media e Company website
e YNGIE SR

e Company's announcements
RARNE
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

In order to identify the ESG issues that are material to the
Group in formulating appropriate ESG strategies on ESG
management and determining the direction of the Report, the
Group has commissioned an independent consultant to conduct
a materiality assessment in form of an online questionnaire.
Both our internal and external stakeholders (e.g. board of
directors, investors, and employees) were invited to fill in the
guestionnaire and score the identified twenty seven ESG issues
in accordance with their relevance and importance to the
business operation and the stakeholders themselves respectively.
Based on the materiality of each of the ESG issues expressed by
the stakeholders, the ESG issues are prioritized and shown in
the materiality matrix below. The issues which fell in the upper
right corner of the matrix were defined as the topics that matter
most to the Group's business operation and our stakeholders
are concerned about.

Stage 1 e |dentify and map a list of ESG topics
HEB— e |dentify key stakeholder group

EEMFTMA

AENEAEEMEBEEEZMESGEE Ut
ESGERFIEEEMNESGRIE REBERE A -
AEBEZABYBREAELMESETES
MG AEBBFANBRIIE (HWEFE -
REEREE)ESHMSE UHRRBHEHER
CERBNEBSNEREREZHEE #HA
M-+ EEESGEBETHD - REFHEYHS
ESGEmumEE N N TllE ZE 1 EE A g
EBERFRINT -EBEALANZETE R
HASEEKEERASEE BAESERA
RS -

o HBRIRFBBESGEREYEK
o FBAIEERHEHER
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The materiality matrix based on the received responses and EZMEENHNEREEZOEEDNER-
analysis result.

Materiality Matrix
EEMER
®
®
®>D
2 00
£ D ® ©
3 b ®
@ 29 ®
i
] 4
S 1) 4]
g.E (s
S e o (1
(2]
(6]

Significance to the Group's Business & Operation

HAREXRBREENE RN

Social &

Environment &5

1. Air emission 9. Labour rights 18. Customer satisfaction
RE SRHERR BTN BERPMERE
2. Greenhouse gas emission 10. Labour-management relations 19. Customer service quality &
BERB N BB complaints handling
3. Climate change 11. Employee retention BERBHRRILH LR
SEEAL 2ET 20. Customer health and safety
Eﬁﬁ
4. Energy efficiency 12. Diversity and equal opportunity EERRARS
03B & Lol REEHRE 21. Mark_eting and .product and service
5 Water & effluent 13. Non-discriminati labelling compliance
. ater & effluents . Non-discrimination o6 o .
e 2 o ; BTG HREREMERBEEER
KE R BS5K TR - ’
) , 22. Intellectual property
6. Use of materials 14. Occupational health and safety A
A WERFRR2 i ,
2 Wast ; 15 Emol traini 23. Customer privacy and data protection
. aste managemen . Employee training . = o
- = N BEPMLE REBRRE
EyEE 8 T3 S
8 Envi tal i 16. Emol devel ; 24. Responsible supply chain management
. :wr?men al compliance . Dmp oyee developmen BB E
RIBEH BT®RE ) )
17 p " ¢ child 1ab & f d 1ab 25. Business ethics
. reveilon of c |W abour & forced labour g 2 g
B TRk T , _ _
26. Socio-economic compliance
B EEEER
27. Community investment
HERE
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According to the results of the materiality matrix, the Group
should focus on customer privacy and data protection, non-
discrimination, prevention of child labour & forced labour,
labour-management relations, socio-economic compliance,
occupational health and safety, employee retention, labour
rights, customer satisfaction, diversity and equal opportunity,
employee training, intellectual property, business ethics, and
employee development. Looking forward, the Group will
continue to review and develop corresponding ESG policies
and targets, as well as optimizing the ESG reporting disclosure
in order to pursue continuous improvement in our ESG
performance in future.

RESPECTING OUR EMPLOYEES

HKBridge believes attracting and retaining talents is the key
to our business sustainable development; thus, employment
conditions and standards have always been our prime concerns
aligned with the materiality matrix above. We endeavour to
construct a quality workplace which values communication,
innovation, execution, and diversity. Besides, we respect and
treat our people with dignity in accordance with relevant local
laws and international industrial standards, including Hong
Kong Employment Ordinance, the Labour Law and the Labour
Contract Law of the PRC, and Electronic Industry Citizenship
Coalition ("EICC") Code of Conduct.

REEEUEER AR ARERBITFPILE
REBUERE TER -HLEETREHST 5
BEREF BTHEREEIR BEREARE
BEET BIHMN ZEFPMEE ZTRF
SHe BIRI NBEE BXBREMET
R REARNK  AEBEBEE RS MHIERRE
ZESGHER N BIRA R BICESGREWE - AR
REFFEBEESGHE M °

}

BEST

BRRERSIRBEBEAS RAFERREBZ
s At - BREGURER —EANEENE
MEZUERE - 2FB@IFE-KMBEN
BEVBEIESH ERERESE 8IH 1T
N RZTTAb o AN - BAPIRIBABEE 30 75 A 51 [ E
ROTHEELE(RREBEEBED RRELEHE
K 85 &) & A VA & EF17 % 2 R EE B (Electronic
Industry Citizenship Coalition) ([EICC ]) 1T 4
EH)BEHFETL -

/

e Provide a diversified and discrimination-free
workplace

e Ensure employee occupational health and safety

e Enhance employee training and personal
development

e Comply fully with relevant laws and regulations

Employment Objectives {& & B 1Z

REZ T RERAR 2 TES R

REREBERELZ 2
‘IR BHE I R EAER

2mEE ST RBAIER
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EMPLOYMENT PRACTICES

The Group has developed a broad range of responsible
employment practices beyond the regulatory minimum within
our organization by the implementation of employment-
related policies and procedures, including “Staff Handbook”,
“Human Resources Management System” and “Labour and
Ethics Management Procedure”. These policies specify our
standards concerning employee compensation and dismissal,
recruitment and promotion, working hours, vacations, equal
opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and other benefits
and welfare, as well as prevention of child and forced labour.
The Human Resources Department is responsible for supervising
the enforcement of the above policies, and organizing training
to interpret policies for each new hires.

We believe competitive remuneration packages are crucial to
motivate and retain our talents. The Group conducts reviews
and benchmarking on the staff remuneration against the
peers regularly to ensure its competitiveness in the market.
Monthly monetary bonus and discretionary bonus are granted
to eligible employees, depending on their performance. Apart
from the attractive base wages, all employees are entitled to
comprehensive insurance coverage (eg. Five social insurance
schemes and one housing fund in PRC, and medical and
life insurance in Hong Kong), overtime compensation and
allowances etc. We also offer adequate family leave benefits,
including marriage and maternity leaves, and stipulate
appropriate working hours to ensure a work-life balance
workplace.

BR%EHR
ARECEBEREREBRRNERF (B
[BETFMI - TANEBEREREGE] R[ET Kk
BREEERF]) SITHEREZZEETRE
FRCOESEARNEBAT ZREEZRER-
ZERRIPAEHREREGELERE BELS
Tt IR FERE - 2Tl RERA R
Hi @Az ERIARTEHET REH|8 T2
e ANBERBEEER LABR 2H17T XA
BEdmERm ABRE TRERR-

BAREEBRF N ZH MG BY B B8 A
TMEEHEEZ - AKBERRTRUARER
BEGEETHM UARRENTS L2BEF
Hh- AEREEBRBRAERFEIRRET
BERBT -BREARSINZEXRTEIN FIBE
EHARZEREGRR (WFEZER—2 K
BEZERMASZRR) MMIIMHERERE-
BATRESEEREREEH  BREERR
ER WHTEEE TR AREER—ETEELERE
ZEEBCF BN TSR

ZE-hEFH BESMERBRLT 277



Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RE g kERHRE

At HKBridge, fair and anti-discrimination are our workplace
values. We insist on solely scrutinizing candidates’ competency,
experience, and personal performance with strict prohibition
against discrimination in any form in relation to recruitment,
remuneration, promotion and transfer, dismissal or retirement
process. There is zero tolerance on any kind of discriminatory
behaviour, harassment or victimization at HKBridge, on the basis
of but not limited to age, gender, religion, race, decent or place
of birth, physical disability, sexual orientation. An employee is
only dismissed for fair reasons such as lack of competence or
infringement of company polices. HKBridge is also committed
to providing equal opportunities for all employees in all aspects
of their work, from recruitment, training to performance
evaluation. A whistle-blowing system is in place with a
dedicated team to investigate any unfair treatment and take
prompt actions.

In terms of labour rights, we advocate the freedom of work
and human rights. We have established stringent procedures
for verifying candidates’ identity before they are officially on
board to ensure they have reached the statutory required age.
All staff must be employed on a voluntary basis by entering
into employee contract, and they are able to terminate their
employment with requested notice or pay in lieu of notice.
In addition, the Group supports freedom of association and
collective bargaining.

Besides, the Group seeks to promote a cohesive and harmonious
labour and management relationship with the belief that
mutual trust is the pre-requisite of employees’ loyalty. We
communicate with our staff regularly through staff meeting,
collecting opinions from the suggestion box and conducting
employee satisfaction survey bi-annually to identify their needs
and concerns. Their views and recommendations are highly
valued for advancing our working conditions. Furthermore, our
staff can also enjoy a wide range of recreational facilities such as
library and basketball court in the factory to take a break from
their work.
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During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any
material breach of applicable laws and regulations concerning
compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion,
working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-
discrimination, other benefits and welfare and the use of child
labour and forced labour.

Healthy and Safe Workplace

Perceiving a safe and healthy workplace is the cornerstone
of our business operation, we possess a scrupulous standard
beyond a full compliance with Law of the PRC on Safe
Production, Law of the PRC on the Prevention of Occupational
Diseases and Work Safety Law of the PRC. The Group’s plant
has obtained the OHSAS 18001 certification, the health,
safety and environment ("HSE”) management system of which
systemically identifies, manages and mitigates safety risks in the
production cycle. In order to minimize occupational injury and
illness at root, we also engage in raising staff awareness on safe
operation through regular trainings, especially for the new hires
to ensure regulatory compliance.

R|EME  AEERTIANEBEEAREERE
AHELERE BELRET TR KSHRE-
FERE  Zou REAR - B AR A R A8
BEIRBHE T ZBRERIOER BN

BRERTZEZWIESF

BMELZ2BREN T EGMAXKEECHE
A WEMBHEAETRRELE2EEE FEH
BERAERFPEIERLREEZBRIGLER]-
RNEE Z BB EEISOHSAS 1800152 » Hi#
L2 KIRE ([HSE ) BER RXHE R AL
Al BREERBEREERS CZ2ER - BHRAK
ERERLSIEBRER BT ERTHAEI
BRREET (LERMARET) 2L 2R 1E
B ARERESTIEM
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e Zero significant casualties o
e Zero fire and leakage incident o
e 100% safety training coverage o

2019 Goals and Achievements —Z— W E B EZER K

TEAGTEH
FASRIRES)

ZEEIIEZE100%
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Figure 1 Fire Drill
B—-XEEE

To nurture a safe and healthy workplace, the Group has
formulated safety operating procedures, in-house rules and
emergency preparedness plans, detailing the safety precautions
for various production processes and requested employees to
strictly abide by them. Safety training is arranged according to
the nature of the posts, such as electric work, welding, chemical
handling and working in confined area, so that employees’
competency is certified prior to starting work. In addition,
hazardous chemical drills are held regularly, to ensure employees
are familiarize with evacuation routes, skills of evacuation in
emergency situations, general knowledge on safe assembly and
proper application of relevant equipment to handle chemical
leakage. Apart from imprinting safety awareness into staff's
mind, we protect them physically by providing all necessary
personal protection equipment for corresponding workers.

During the Reporting Period, there were no material non-

compliance cases relating to occupational health and safety
identified.
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Figure 2 Hazardous Chemical Drill
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Development and Training

Professional competency and development of our employees
serve a pivotal role in our substantial business growth. It pays
great attention to cultivating a learning-centric corporate culture
and offering diversified training sessions. We have established a
comprehensive training system, in which annual training plan is
set in accordance with our employees’ development needs and
our growing business demands.

Our annual training plan is commenced by training needs
identification and analysis based on employees’ education
level, experience, and skill requirements in the form of staff
performance appraisal. Apart from enhancing our staff
competency, we also take close adherence to social and industry
norms into consideration. Keeping abreast of technological
advancement, and operational and job diversification, we offer
a variety of internal and external coaching programs, including
logical thinking strategies, management skills, and work
procedures for our competitive workers. Induction training,
internal training and external training are organized guided by
the “Training Management Procedure” for staff's knowledge
and skill advancement. For the asset management and financial-
related services, the Group always encourages its staff to learn
continuously and acquire related professional qualifications
through reimbursing professional membership expense to
eligible staff.
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Figure 3 Our workers studied hard to
improve their competitiveness
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Induction

A

e Overview of corporate
background

e Company rules, regulations
and code of practices

e Job related knowledge,
and basic knowledge
about our QMS and EMS

o BEESEHR
o RAIMRA-RERFEHRTA
o T{RHHBAFHIARQMS K

EMSEL 7S 2058
BUSINESS INTEGRITY BEEE
Anti-corruption REB

As an ethical corporate, the Group upholds the highest level of {EARLDE KEESIFEEE2TATE X
business integrity and exacts zero tolerance on any corruption, FE&EE/KFZEEEELETMNES BB 9
bribery, extortion and fraud by the establishment of rigorous RREMFFHRENT A AT o A5 B @R & B <7 F7
code of conduct. The Group strictly abides by all the relevant AR EZE AR BEEBEIITHRE D
laws and regulations, including Prevention of Bribery Ordinance  25201ZEB5 IEBEER K0 - P B N IE & 3 0%
(Cap.201) of the HKSAR, Anti-Unfair Competition Law of the HE&RMEHE L P RBIEZERTEAN K EI54A4
PRC, Anti-Money Laundering Law of the PRC, Tendering and J%°

Bidding Law of the PRC and Anti-corruption Organization Law.
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Our employees are strictly prohibited from offering or accepting
any forms of advantages such as gifts, entertainment, rewards
and commission, in exchange for jobs, sales and or work
location or assignment. We have Anti-corruption and Anti-
bribery policy and the code of conduct stipulated in the staff
handbook, and require all employees to read the relevant
contents and sign the declaration. Besides, employees are
expected to declare any actual or potential conflict of interest by
written declaration. Infringement of the Group’s policy is subject
to dismissal or other disciplinary actions. Internal control audits
are conducted regularly to ensure the compliance with polices.
The Group has set up whistle-blowing system, in which the
identities of whistle-blowers and reporting information are kept
in strict confidentiality. Independent investigation mechanisms
will handle all suspected cases on bribery, extortion, fraud,
money-laundering and competitive behaviour. We will report
the cases to relevant authorities (e.g. ICAC) for further handling
under any necessary circumstances.

During the Reporting Period, the Group confirmed that there
were no breaches of relevant laws and regulations, and no
concluded legal cases regarding corruption practices were
brought against the Group or our employees.

SATISFYING OUR CUSTOMERS

Supply Chain Management

Due to the PCB nature, various metals and raw materials such
as laminates, solder masks and copper foil are involved in the
manufacturing process. Therefore, it is of utmost importance
to select suppliers that provide reliable and quality services and
supply. We have developed and implemented supplier quality
("QMS”) management systems, including “Procurement Policy
and Procedure”.
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All the potential new suppliers are required to pass our stringent
evaluation before entering into cooperation. A vetting process is
conducted in respect of the business licenses, accreditations and
qualifications of suppliers, including various ISO accreditations,
test reports under the Restriction of Hazardous Substances
("ROHS"), and safety testing reports to ensure suppliers’
competency, experience and their compliance with our quality
requirements. For our raw materials and automotive product
suppliers, we demand their attainment of relevant quality
standards in their management systems, such as the ISO
9001, and IATF 16949. Assistance and necessary training are
offered to new suppliers in building their QMS towards the
mentioned standards. While for laminate suppliers, Production
Part Approval Process (“PPAP") Report is requested for the
laminates to reduce unexpected failure due to defects in design
and manufacturing. On-site product assessments are also
conducted by our designated committee which is comprised of
the representatives from the Group's procurement and quality
assurance department and engineers in PCBs business segment.
Only after suppliers fulfil our requirements and pass the
evaluation procedures can they be included in our “Qualified
Vendor List”. In addition, they are required to sign a declaration
and pledge to against the use of materials subjected to
environmental control before signing cooperating agreements.

For existing suppliers, regular performance reviews are
conducted, assessing their product quality, service performance,
material safety, process monitoring and environmental
performance. Their place of origin is also taken into account
to prevent unethical purchase. Suppliers who fail to meet the
standards should implement corrective actions promptly, and we
will discontinue the business cooperation if they cannot pass our
evaluation consecutively. Besides, all our suppliers should follow
the requirements under the Electronic Industry Citizenship
Coalition (“EICC") code of conduct in their operation to ensure
the compliance of the products and services with the principle
of sustainable development and avoid compromising the quality
and safety of the Group's products.
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Services/Product Excellence

Manufacture of PCB with supreme quality is our utmost
dedication. We place strong emphasis on securing product
superiority in every single stage, from engaging suppliers and
clients, business operation, after-sales services, to driving
customer satisfaction. We strictly abide by the relevant
national laws and regulations regarding product quality, safety
management and customer privacy, including the Product
Quality Law of the PRC and Law of the PRC on Protection
of Consumer Rights and Interests. We have established a
quality management system (“QMS"”) which is certified
with international standards of ISO 9001, IATF 16949 and
ISO 138475. These standards prescribe our requirements on
enhancement of customers’ experience, defect prevention,
product innovation and continual improvement of our QMS.

In terms of product quality and safety, the Group has formulated
and implemented a series of quality assurance management
standards and procedures, including Product Monitoring and
Measurement Control Procedure, Non-conforming Product
Control Procedure, Corrective and Preventive Measures Control
Procedure, Product Safety Control Procedure. Apart from regular
inspection of the effectiveness of the QMS, we also conduct
compliance check of every product prior to final packaging and
delivery to ensure the fulfilment beyond both the standards
of the products specifications and customers’ requirements.
Besides, we have obtained the UL certification for raw materials
such as laminates and solder masks, and all our products are
certified by the China Quality Certifications ("CQC") Centre so
that our product quality is guaranteed and are safe to use. Top
talents and advanced equipment are employed for our product
reliability. More details can be found in the following website:

http://www.topsearch.com.hk/en/Reliability.htm
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With the dedication to become Asia’s leading professional asset
manager which bridges China and overseas market, we always
stay thirsty and innovative to provide professional services that
exceeds the market standard. The Group endeavours to keep
inventing and revamping our capital management plans and
financial products to fulfil our clients’ ever-changing demands
timely, including enhancing our service standard and expanding
its coverage. Our professional team, which is comprised of
a group of experts in fund management, private equity and
discretionary asset management, offers tailored solutions
and advisory for proper and sustainable investment and asset
management. We have “Personal Account Trading Rules”
in place to govern activities related to investment trading.
Besides, the Group keeps abreast of the latest information
of the regulatory authorities and related financial institutions
for our investment and asset management strategies, so that
our services are complied with the relevant local laws and
regulations and potentially generate optimum financial return.

During the Reporting Period, there is no material breach of
relevant laws and regulations pertaining to health and safety,
advertising, and labelling matters relating to products and
services provided.

Product Innovation

The Group also puts strong focus on product innovation so as
to offer the state-of-the-art products and services. The Group
continues to invest in its research and development to pursue
technical excellence and deliver next generation solutions for
meeting our customers’ future demands and enhance cost-
efficiency. During the Reporting Period, the Group has jointly
collaborated and conduct research projects with two of the
top universities in the region — The Hong Kong Polytechnic
University and Tsinghua University, for improving its technical
competencies and bringing forth innovative ideas. More details
can be found in the following website:

http://www.topsearch.com.hk/en/Research_Development.htm
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Customer Satisfaction

The Group believes customer satisfaction paves the way to
its business growth; thus, values their opinion most. We
have “Customer Service Procedure” in place to maintain
an efficient communication with our customer. Customers’
feedback is annually collected and analysed by means of
customer satisfaction survey on product return rate, customers’
complaints, and delivery lead-time. The Group will identify the
area of improvement and formulate corresponding action plans
in accordance to the survey result. Therefore, our continuous
improvement on product and service quality is highly driven by
our customers’ feedback. The effectiveness of the implemented
measures are also regularly accessed by the quality assurance
department. In addition, we have published thorough
procedures on handling customer complaints. Prompt actions
will be taken to investigate the cases and respond to clients.
We will carry out remedial action plans where necessary and
the root cause(s) will be analysed to prevent similar cases from
reoccurrence to build up customer’s confidence and keep up
reputation.

Confidentiality and Privacy

The Group safeguards confidentiality throughout the
operations in all our business operation. We have formulated
“Corporate Management Manual” and “Information and
Data Confidentiality Regulation” to guide our departments
and staff at all levels to deal with the confidential and
sensitive information (e.g. employee personal data, corporate
information, inside information, trade secrets, customer’s
product designs and technologies and intellectual properties
etc.). The Group is committed to building mutual trust with
our customers at all times. Understanding how indispensable
privacy means to our clients, we always identify it as an issue
of critical concern. All our staff are required to follow general
provision of confidential information protection stipulated in
the Staff Handbook. Employees are prohibited from copying,
transferring and disclosing the restricted information without
prior consent from the management or customers. In addition,
all employees and suppliers are demanded to sign the non-
disclosure agreement before entering into contracts. Violation of
the company policy is subject to dismissal or other disciplinary
actions.
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During the Reporting Period, the Group did not identify any
material non-compliance of applicable laws and regulations
relating to privacy matters, including Securities and Futures
Ordinance and Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance.

PROTECTING THE ENVIRONMENT

As a listed firm that values and advocates sustainable
development, we recognize our obligation in establishing an
effective environmental management system for diminishing
our environmental footprint. We seek every opportunity to
relentlessly reinforce our operating efficiency by curtailing the
consumption of energy and raw materials. A comprehensive
set of environmental policies and supporting procedures,
covering greenhouse gas emission and resource usage, has been
launched.

The Group has established an environmental management
system ("EMS") which is certified by the ISO 14001, to identify,
manage and mitigate the environmental risks generated by PCB
manufacturing. It also drives us to achieve our environmental
objectives and formulate preventive measures for conserving
our environment. Environmental Policy is in place to guide us
on reducing pollutants and managing resources, as well as
complying with the relevant national and regional environmental
laws and regulations such as The Environmental Protection Law
of the PRC. We have also set up an Environmental Committee
dedicated to the supervision of the EMS, prompting its
continuous improvement. The committee is directly responsible
for monitoring the progress of environmental targets, reviewing
environmental risks, and evaluating the EMS regularly.
Therefore, we can identify national and local government
emission standards in a timely manner and formulate Group's
environmental protection strategy accordingly.
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During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any
significant non-compliance with laws and regulations relating
to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and
land, generation of waste and use of resources in Hong Kong
and Mainland China.

RmEHRE AEEY TMEBEEREBE LT
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e Optimize resource efficiency and reduce
wastage

e Reuse and recycle all valuable materials
e Procure green raw materials

e Comply fully with relevant laws and regulations

N

Environmental Conservation Objectives B B 1Z
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J

Air and Greenhouse Gas Emissions

To effectively trim our air emission, we start by pollutant source
identification and enforce correlating mitigation. Recognizing
volatile organic compounds (“VOCs”), ammonia and exhaust
gas with acidic/alkaline mist of our PCB factory is one of the
major air emission sources, we has installed gas purification
towers, such as wet scrubbers and acidic/alkaline degassing
chamber to absorb the organic particulates and neutralize
the mist. Those purification towers are regularly inspected in
accordance to "Air Emission Control Operational Procedure”.
To ensure the compliance with the growing national standards,
we constantly modify and upgrade the treatment system, of
organic gas purification towers. The organic gas treatment rate
has been surged up to 95% by the installation of water mist
separator and pH control automation system, and the addition
of activated carbon absorbent. We also keep close track on
the emission amount during our operation by a third-party
assessment, so as to ensure the emission level complies with the
regulatory norms.

HRBREEREHL

BBEBURD REHER  BME EHRNSREYE
TR N 01T AB B 4B R Fe e o B 1PT R B H ED R AR BE
Iz EEEEREEY ([VOCs]) ARk
HHBEEE 1, MUEEBNERABETEERSEY
PR B REBERF(E B LR KB
M BUEREDBEE  LRIE R A R
BT o ZEF LB TR [ RESHEpus #l 2 B 1R
Frl EEBIRE - BERETTEIER ZBERIE
ERM—EBTIREFNBEHRIBFLEZR
BER - BRLEKASPHEREDLERE
72 ) 248 LA KOS D0OE VE ik IR AR B - B SRS B
BREEEAZERZS% RPN EBRE=ZH
HEEYEREERIER CBENE - AREREE
HBUKFERFEEERE-

ZE-hEFH BESMERBRLT 289



Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RE e RERARE

GHG Emission
BERBHK
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Under our Environmental Policy and the use of a series of BBIRIFER LR — RRPEaR# M - 7
emission reduction equipment and technologies, we have fIE#_S({LIkxE ELFHRER D E57,143.01
reduced the total CO2e emission to 57,143.01 tonnes. Major WE - @EEHE N 2 EBLBRIFIRINT »

types of air emission are illustrated as follows.

Major types of air emissions Unit FY2019 FY2018

REHEREZEER B =ZE-h TN
MBEFE B RF B

Nitrogen oxides Tonne 4.53 5.52

=Kl a) 18

Sulphuric acid mist Tonne 9.24 11.43

Bk 72 148

Ammonia Tonne 17.63 20.79

2 ]

VOCs Tonne 0.22 0.35

VOCs Mg

Tin and its compounds Tonne 0.000067 0.000082

HLREAEY A
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Wastewater Discharge

As the production of PCBs generates wastewater with high
concentration of metal ions, acids/alkaline and organic
substances, the Group places its concern on the environmental
impacts wastewater discharge induced. All wastewater
generated in the production process is treated by our in-house
industrial and domestic wastewater treatment facilities based
on its characteristics before reuse or discharge. “Wastewater
Treatment Operational Procedure” has been put in place
to ensure its desirable level. Every year, we employ a third-
party institution to conduct routine tests on effluent to ensure
the fulfilment of national regulatory standards, including
Guangdong Provincial government — discharge standard of
water pollutants for electroplating (DB44/1597-2015).

Waste Management

Our factory inevitably generates certain amount of industrial
waste, such as chemical waste, acidic and alkaline waste
and waste with heavy metal in our manufacturing process.
Recognising the potential repercussion these waste could
have on the environment as well as our worker safety without
proper handling, we have established “Hazardous Waste
Management Procedure” in place. Under our internal policy,
all scheduled waste need to be properly segregated based on
their properties and characteristics so as to sort, collect and
store waste scientifically. Various measures are implemented to
manage hazardous wastes against leakage, spillage and escape
of content under normal conditions.
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Hazardous
Waste

BERY

Major types of non-hazardous waste generated in our operation
are waste paper, metals and plastic. Similar to the approach
of hazardous waste, we sort the non-hazardous waste at the
first place by placing recycling bins in the factory areas for
segregating recyclable and non-recyclable materials. All the
recyclables will be reused if possible before disposal. They are
consigned to licensed waste collectors for recycling process,

Stored in

1.

Lidded containers

2. Designated area

Appropriate labeling for

1.

Hazard classification

2. Safety warnings

Handled and disposed by HIA TATEREREE

1. Trained personnel
2. Licensed contractors

1. XIAE
2. FEAEE
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and all the data is recorded for evaluating our environmental

performance.
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Total non-hazardous waste
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Total hazardous waste
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Major types of non-hazardous waste Unit FY2019

BEEEMETEER B =E-N
M FE

Waste paper Tonne 118.11

& 4% 7

Waste metals Tonne 558.81

BEE B A

Waste plastic Tonne 10.72

& 2B &L 73

Major types of hazardous waste

BEEBEDETERR

Copper-containing sludge Tonne 2,445.50

EERENE 98

Acidic waste Tonne 1,708.44

i 1 B Y U

Alkaline waste Tonne 1,475.15

e 1t RE ) 7

PCB waste Tonne 518.66

EI il 43 5% R & 49) U7

Tin-containing wastewater Tonne 385.46

2 85 REK WA

Noise Management

The Group understands the noise we generate during the
manufacturing process may pose disturbance to nearby
residents, we have implemented sufficient noise control
measures for noise and vibration arising from the operation of
the plant. All the facilities and equipment that produce loud
noise level are surrounded by sound absorbing materials and are
installed with enclosure or erected barriers so as to abide by the
applicable national laws and provincial regulations. The Group
has hired third party professional companies to conduct regular
inspection to maintain the effectiveness of measures.
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Resource Management

Being one of the leading manufacturer of PCB, the Group
continues to explore opportunities to trim energy and resource
consumption, and to establish key performance indicators for
the energy and water consumption. We evaluate our goals
and performance on a monthly basis. In addition, the Group
supervises the compliance of plants with relevant environmental
laws and standards, and promotes effective measures and the
3Rs principle (i.e. reduce, reuse and recycle) to better utilizing
resources and reducing waste.

Employee participation has always been emphasized in addition
to the Group’s efforts. In order to imprint the conservation
practices into our employees’ mind, various resource saving
signs, such as electricity, water and paper have been placed in
conspicuous and relevant locations. Behaviour of staff, as well as
the Group’s consumption pattern has been highly supervised for
further initiatives, including our Green Office Guideline. Apart
from holding a strong advocacy on maintenance rather than
new replacement, we perform regular inspections for all our
electrical appliances and water taps to prevent any leakage and
extend their lifespan.

Electricit

e Procure equipment that is
energy saving or with greater
energy efficiency

e Set all the electrical appliances are not in use
to energy saving mode and
switch off when they are not

in use

at 23-25°C

e Maintain the office temperatue
at 23-25°C
o IREBERE S BB F F R R U
B4
s TIEERRTERIALERN KA
BT ERNES
s MAEREHRTFEK23E25E

2 RR
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294 HKBridge Financial Holdings Limited Annual Report 2019

A

e Carry out regular inspection
and faucet leakage tests

e Maintain the office temperatue
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Besides, wastewater being treated by the gas purification system
will be recycled and reused to reduce the use of fresh water and
discharge of effluents. During the Reporting Period, there was
no issue for sourcing water fit for the purpose of the production
and operation of the Group. In terms of raw materials, parts,
semi-components and packaging materials, procurement is
made based on the stock and future demand analysis rather
than economic reasons, so as to avoid over-ordering and
unnecessary resource consumption.

The Environment and Natural Resources

The alarming trend of climate change lately has brought us
unprecedented concern on environmental stewardship. The
Group stays proactive in managing emerging environmental risks
and advancing our performance in pursuit of long-term and
sustainable operation.
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We fulfil our sustainable commitment by prudent selection of
manufacturing materials. Apart from the implementation of EMS
which is accredited to ISO 14001, we follow the EU Restriction
of Hazardous Substances to restrict the use of hazardous
materials, including lead, mercury, cadmium, hexavalent
chromium, polybrominated biphenyls and polybrominated
diphenyl ethers for our whole production cycle. Besides,
realizing the devastating effects on soil and ozone, all our
products are lead-free and halogen-free by adopting various
surface finishing techniques such as Organic Solderability
Preservative (“OSP"), Electroless Nickel Immersion Gold
("ENIG") and Immersion Silver.

The Group also lays emphasis on handling emergencies
upon the occurrence of environmental risks. We have the
Environmental Emergency Preparedness and Response Plan
in place for our workers to follow in case of emergencies.
The plan is set based on risks and conditions that will occur
during production, including identified man-made and natural
workplace environmental hazard sources. In order to ensure
our workers are familiarize with the precautionary measures,
emergency response and reporting channels stipulated in the
plan, we offers training and emergency drills, fire and leakage of
hazardous chemicals and liquid in particular.
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The Environmental Performance
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! The increase in 2019 is due to the expansion of business !
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25,366.00

971.04

27,105.93

910.76

1,881.80

1.76

80,662.80

105.08
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Unit (Mote 1 FY2019 FY2018 FY2017
—E-1 —2-N —g-t
By BREE BHREE PBHEE
Water o3 m? 1,730,340.00 2,074,278.00 2,257,460.00
7k (3 K
Intensity m?3 per 1,000m? PU 3,118.84 3,056.68 2,940.74
e M FK,/1,000F 5 K 4 E B
Packaging Materials Tonne 121.26 154.63 178.40
AENH W
Intensity Tonne per 1,000m? PU 0.22 0.23 0.23
BE 1E,/1,000F 75 K E Ef
Paper Tonne 6.18 7.19 7.75
4 i
Refrigerant kilogram 957.00 894.40 904.90
42 B NI

- Non-hazardous Waste
—EEEY

Intensity

el

- Hazardous Waste
-BEEY

Intensity

BE

Wastewater discharge

BEKBEIR

Tonne 687.64
1
Tonne per 1000m? PU 1.24
W8,/1,000F 75 K £ E B
Tonne 6,881.39
1
Tonne per 1000m? PU 12.40
WE,/1,000 77 K 4 & B
m? 1,633,210.00

VK

706.71

1.04

8,506.11

12.53

1,794,196.00

837.47

1.09

9,556.37

12.45

1,890,718.00

Direct Emission (Scope 1)Mete ) Tonne of carbon dioxide 1,570.95 1,455.74 1,668.96
equivalent ("tCO2e")
BEER(SE—) M) M_SitixEe
QL P=-2(273-3-3))
Indirect Emission (Scope 2)tote® tCO2e 55,557.96 65,877.14 72,265.80
b (8E =) (o M-ailhiEe
Other Indirect Emission (Scope 3)Nete? tCOze 14.10 85.49 60.50
Hit g (BE=) W8 M_ftRkEE
Intensity Mote®
A EGED)
Manufacturing Operation tCO2e per 1000m? PU 102.80 99.09 96.39
HEXH W-f{tRES
1,000F 7 K& EE
Office Operation tCO2e per FTE 5.32 4.42 -
WMREB WoE{tEE/ 22RES
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Note 1:

Note 2:

Note 3:

Note 4.

Note 5:

Note 6:

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

RE e REAmE

The intensity of production unit refers to the total number of
products produced in the corresponding Reporting Period.

The conversion factors from volumetric units of unleaded
petrol and diesel oil consumption to energy units are in
reference to CDP Technical note: Conversion of fuel data to
MWh.

The volume of water use covers the consumption from the
PCBs manufacturing facilities only. There is no separate
water bill for actual water consumption calculation in Hong
Kong Office as it is included in the property management
fee.

The amount of generated hazardous waste and non-
hazardous waste covers the PCBs manufacturing facilities
only. The production of hazardous waste and non-hazardous
waste in Hong Kong Office considered as insignificant and
managed by the property management company, hence no
data was disclosed.

The direct emission (Scope 1) covers the emission from the
stationary sources combustion, mobile sources combustion,
and fugitive emissions from the use of refrigerants. The
calculation is using the published emission factors from
Guidelines to Account for and Report on Greenhouse
Gas Emissions and Removals for Buildings (Commercial,
Residential or Institutional Purposes) in Hong Kong,
published by EPD and Electrical and Mechanical Services
Department, 2006 IPCC Guidelines for National Greenhouse
Gas Inventories and the guidance worksheets of World
Resources Institute’'s GHG Protocol Tool for Mobile
Combustion and the GHG Protocol Tool for Stationary
Combustion.

The indirect emission (Scope 2) covers the emission from the
purchased electricity from Power Company. The calculation
is using the emission factors from Guidelines to Account
for and Report on Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Removals
for Buildings (Commercial, Residential or Institutional
Purposes) in Hong Kong, published by EPD and Electrical and
Mechanical Services Department and 2015 Emission Factors
for purchased electricity within Mainland China, published by
Climate Change Info-Net.

BiaEr

Haz2 .

Baz3 .

Hiita .

HtaEs

Hiize .

FEEMEREENERBSHREENE
A AR B o

mIUBREBEEERABEEMEN
BERBEALMEIRE T 2% (COPH M
BEBRERBIKFFHEMZA) (COP
Technical note: Conversion of fuel data to
MWh)

FR7K 8 (2% 2 Nl 4R B8 1R B3 R e HO OB
F-MEBIKBEAAERTERERED
BERKHRE EhAEBRENEERE
7] o

EENESERMNEZEEZENHRER
BMERIRBEREERE- BEMERE
ENBEERENREBETEEVEA /LT
BERAYHYWEEELREER  F &
BEHIE-

BEERHER(BE-)RERBETER B8
IR BRI N (E RSB RBIEBE N T
ARBERFREZENRETREZE AR LR
B[ EBREY (BE EERALMAR)
Vi = RS P D SR R R B R 4
Sl ZEZRFIPCCERAZREFE
R R R E RIS RHEE TIERR —
BPEHRENREEREBZE T ARBEERE
WREERERETAME-

BEER(EE ) REREAENAA
BEEIOHR DEARERERE
ENBETREARLRD [BEREY
(AE EETHAHAR)WABEREINK
NEBRZEMSRERES ] R EREE
LEBREAMHN T —RAFERENMING
ENNPRAE-

TE-AFEFH RESRMEEARALT 299



Environmental, Social and Governance Report
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Note 7. The other indirect emission (Scope 3) covers the emission
from the business travel of employees only.

Note 8 The GHG intensity the sum of Scope 1 emissions and
Scope 2 emissions, divided by the total number of products
produced in the Reporting Period.

ENGAGING THE COMMUNITY

HKBridge engages our community by taking into account
its interests. During the Reporting Period, the Group made
great contribution to the community environment. The Group
organized a low carbon day to foster employees’ habits
of conserving energy and resources. We believe only if we
treasure natural materials wholeheartedly can we educate
our community to protect the environment. We understand
environmental protection is of everyone responsibility and
we hope to organize more meaningful events relating to
environment for the public in the future.

KraE7 -

KiiEs -

HifEs R (BE=)ERERAEE
A BE -

RERERESNEE PR EHEE 5
M2 MR AR S HREENERBEI -

HEZH
BRERERHENAEAMBEME NBEH
A AEBHHRRRELERER AEESE
TEBMABEEEMOERLERNEE
MEEERZ2LE2BRBRAMER T AR
EHEBRERSE HAPBRRDIE —EADN
AT BHMFERARKRSARHEBEZ RIRE
HEZAERGE -

Figure 4 Encourage our staff to walk to work Figure 5 Promote turning off unnecessary lightings
E4ZBE TS T LI El5H BN R E R
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